

Special Issue Reprint

Influence of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Policies to Fight Poverty and Social Exclusion in Rural and Urban Contexts

Edited by Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

www.mdpi.com/journal/land



Influence of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Policies to Fight Poverty and Social Exclusion in Rural and Urban Contexts

Influence of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Policies to Fight Poverty and Social Exclusion in Rural and Urban Contexts

Editors

Antonio Sianes Luis A. Fernández-Portillo



Basel • Beijing • Wuhan • Barcelona • Belgrade • Novi Sad • Cluj • Manchester

Editors Antonio Sianes Universidad Loyola Andalucía Córdoba, Spain

Luis A. Fernández-Portillo Universidad Loyola Andalucía Córdoba, Spain

Editorial Office MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel, Switzerland

This is a reprint of articles from the Special Issue published online in the open access journal *Land* (ISSN 2073-445X) (available at: https://www.mdpi.com/journal/land/special_issues/ agenda2030).

For citation purposes, cite each article independently as indicated on the article page online and as indicated below:

Lastname, A.A.; Lastname, B.B. Article Title. Journal Name Year, Volume Number, Page Range.

ISBN 978-3-0365-8508-6 (Hbk) ISBN 978-3-0365-8509-3 (PDF) doi.org/10.3390/books978-3-0365-8509-3

© 2023 by the authors. Articles in this book are Open Access and distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. The book as a whole is distributed by MDPI under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND) license.

Contents

About the Editors
Prefaceix
Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-PortilloInfluence of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Policies to Fight Poverty and Social Exclusion inRural and Urban ContextsReprinted from: Land 2022, 11, 1627, doi:10.3390/land11101627
Robert P. Stoker and Michael J. RichFertile Ground: Implementing the 2030 Agenda in U.S. CitiesReprinted from: Land 2021, 10, 1122, doi:10.3390/land10111122
Etido EssienImpacts of Governance toward Sustainable Urbanization in a Midsized City: A Case Study ofUyo, NigeriaReprinted from: Land 2022, 11, 37, doi:10.3390/land1101003731
Rocío Vela-Jiménez, Antonio Sianes, Rocío López-Montero and Antonio Delgado-BaenaThe Incorporation of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Local Policies for Social Transformationin Disadvantaged Urban AreasReprinted from: Land 2022, 11, 197, doi:10.3390/land1102019745
Diego Martín and Rosa de la Fuente Global and Local Agendas: The Milan Urban Food Policy Pact and Innovative Sustainable Food Policies in Euro-Latin American Cities Reprinted from: <i>Land</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 202, doi:10.3390/land11020202
Sergio Luis Náñez Alonso, Javier Jorge-Vazquez, Miguel Ángel Echarte Fernández, KonradKolegowicz and Wojciech SzymlaFinancial Exclusion in Rural and Urban Contexts in Poland: A Threat to Achieving SDG Eight?Reprinted from: Land 2022, 11, 539, doi:10.3390/land1104053985
Jesús Delgado-Baena, Juan de Dios García-Serrano, Oscar Toro-Peña and Rocío Vela-Jiménez The Influence of the Organizational Culture of Andalusian Local Governments on the Localization of Sustainable Development Goals Reprinted from: <i>Land</i> 2021 , <i>11</i> , 214, doi:10.3390/land11020214
José María Larrú and Carlos Quesada González Aid, Multidimensional Poverty and Growth: Reversing the Micro-Macro Paradox in Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone Reprinted from: <i>Land</i> 2022 , <i>11</i> , 10, doi:10.3390/land11010010
Juan Antonio Senent-De Frutos and Johana Herrera Arango Contributions of Intercultural Socioenvironmental Justice to the 2030 Agenda in the Colombian Caribbean Reprinted from: <i>Land</i> 2022, 11, 835, doi:10.3390/land11060835
Raghu Dharmapuri Tirumala and Piyush Tiwari Importance of Land in SDG Policy Instruments: A Study of ASEAN Developing Countries Reprinted from: Land 2022, 11, 218, doi:10.3390/land11020218

Massoomeh Hedayati Marzbali, Aldrin Abdullah, Mohammad Javad Maghsoodi Tilaki and Mina Safizadeh

Moving the 2030 Agenda Ahead: Exploring the Role of Multiple Mediators toward Perceived	
Environment and Social Sustainability in Residential Neighbourhoods	
Reprinted from: Land 2021, 10, 1079, doi:10.3390/land10101079	215

About the Editors

Antonio Sianes

Antonio Sianes is the Director of the Research Institute on Policies for Social Transformation at Universidad Loyola Andalucía in Spain. His fields of research include development studies, specializing in public policies and their impact on people and territories with high levels of vulnerability. He is currently studying the influence of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development on national, and the local policies addressed to improve the quality of life of those more excluded from society, with a strong focus on the urban context and its dynamics.

Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

Luis A. Fernández-Portillo is professor at Univesidad Loyola Andalucía in Spain, a researcher at its Instituto de Desarrollo (Development Institute)-Fundación ETEA. His main research area is based on the design, implementation and evaluation of rural delopment policies. Currently, he is resarching the implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in developing countries.

Preface

This Special Issue focuses on the articulation of the 2030 Agenda at the domestic level, with policies addressing social exclusion in rural and urban contexts, both in countries from the Global North and the Global South. In such contexts, a complex multiactor governance mechanism is required to guarantee the participation of all relevant stakeholders in the policy cycle. This democratic governance is especially relevant to effectively address the problems faced by the most vulnerable people and groups in rural and urban areas, to guarantee that no one is left behind.

Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

Editors



Influence of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Policies to Fight Poverty and Social Exclusion in Rural and Urban Contexts

Antonio Sianes ^{1,*} and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo ²

- ¹ Research Institute on Policies for Social Transformation, Universidad Loyola Andalucia, 41704 Dos Hermanas, Spain
- ² Instituto de Desarrollo—Fundación ETEA, Universidad Loyola Andalucia, 14004 Córdoba, Spain
- Correspondence: asianes@uloyola.es

In 2015, the United Nations General Assembly formally adopted the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, establishing a set of 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to be pursued until 2030, acknowledging the need to adopt a more inclusive and sustainable development model at the global level. The achievement of the SDGs requires a global collective action; however, they must be implemented at the domestic level on a non-binding basis. The adoption of these aims increases tensions, as the pursuit of domestic interests may detract funds from the international commitments for global development. This is especially relevant for countries in the Global South, as they will be unable to reach the proposed goals without the help of more developed countries. In general, the 2030 Agenda lacks rules to reconcile such tensions.

In this Special Issue, we wanted to focus on the articulation of the 2030 Agenda at the domestic level on policies addressing social exclusion in rural and urban contexts, both in countries from the Global North and the Global South. In such contexts, a complex multiactor governance mechanism is required to guarantee the participation of all relevant stakeholders in the policy cycle to avoid the most powerful groups co-opt the process. This democratic governance is especially relevant to effectively address the problems faced by the most vulnerable people and groups in rural and urban areas.

Many elements that define the situation of vulnerability and deprivation that people face occur in relation to and are caused by the characteristics of the place where they live, be it a city or a rural area. It is well known that the rural milieu shows higher levels of poverty, hunger, unemployment, economic stagnation, and inequality, as well as a worse endowment of resources related to health, education, water, and sanitation, just to mention some issues included in different SDGs. Additionally, and according to the United Nations, in 2030, 60% of the population will live in urban areas, especially in developed countries. However, the major shift will take place in developing countries, where the percentage of people living in cities will grow from the current 52% to 57%. Consequently, cities will gain relevance as a space of social exclusion, vulnerability, and inequality; hence, the 2030 Agenda encourages us, in SDG 11, to "make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable". Finally, rural and urban vulnerabilities should not be studied as two separate realities, not only because they share common features, but also because the most deprived people in cities are likely to have migrated from the rural milieu in search of a better life. Thus, they can be regarded as two stages in time and space of a continuum of underdevelopment.

In this Special Issue, we invited scholars to explore questions such as: How is the 2030 Agenda influencing the design of domestic policies dealing with rural and urban poverty and inequality in those countries that are adopting it as an inspiring framework? How is the conflict between global and domestic interests being incorporated in the design of such policies? What elements of the policy design deal with the participation of the most vulnerable local stakeholders in the process? What learnings may be drawn from similar

Citation: Sianes, A.;

Fernández-Portillo, L.A. Influence of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Policies to Fight Poverty and Social Exclusion in Rural and Urban Contexts. *Land* **2022**, *11*, 1627. https://doi.org/10.3390/land 11101627

Received: 28 June 2022 Accepted: 5 September 2022 Published: 22 September 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). experiences of multilevel policy design (e.g., EU directives or EU recommendations) that could be applied to the 2030 Agenda? How and what diffusion models of the 2030 Agenda are being implemented? Most of these questions are still underexplored in the academic literature, in part due to the still recent adoption of the 2030 Agenda.

The topic attracted the attention of many scholars, and 10 research papers were published after a pertinent review process. Some figures might illustrate the outreach of the Special Issue:

- Scholars from seven different countries participated in this Special Issue, from countries in the Global North, such as the USA [1], Germany [2], Spain [3–8], Poland [5] or Australia [9], to countries in the Global South, such as Malaysia [10] and Colombia [8]. Despite being a small sample, it shows how analyses from institutions in the North are still predominant in the field.
- Regarding the spatial sphere where the studies are focused, 50% of the contributions analyze policies addressed to urban areas [1–4,10], 20% to rural areas [5,8], while the remaining contributions consider their interrelation of effects on both sides [6,7,9]. The attraction of more contributions focused on processes of inequality in urban areas is a sign of renewal in the field, traditionally more centered on issues of poverty in rural areas.
- In regard to the geographic scope of the contributions, half focus their analysis on countries in the Global North [1,3–6] and half on countries in the Global South [2,7–10], showing the deep transformation brought by this agenda to the territorial focus of research on development studies. It has to be determined whether this attention to development issues in the North does not come to the detriment of the interests of the Global South. According to the contributions in this Special Issue, such attention on the Global South could not only be lacking in terms of the research conducted by scholars but also missing cutting-edge themes.
- Considering the facet of the 2030 Agenda under analysis, 30% of the contributions question the influence of the 2030 Agenda as a whole [1,8,10], while the remaining 70% focus on specific SDGs. Within this body of papers, two contributions analyze the influence of all the SDGs [3,6], while the others focus, respectively, on SDG 2 [4], SDG 8 [5], SDG 11 [2] and a mix of certain SDGs [7,9].
- Finally, regarding the methodology, there is a certain bias towards qualitative approaches. Half the contributions are case studies [1–4,8], either individual or comparative, while only 20% are quantitative approaches with more sophisticated techniques such as structural equation modelling [10] or spatial analysis [7]. The remaining 30% also rely on qualitative approaches via content analysis [6,9] or descriptive analyses of indicators [5].

We believe that this Special Issue has shown the diversity of interests and approaches that this topic inspires in academia. The contributions collected here help us to better understand the links between the 2030 Agenda and social exclusion analyzed from a territorial point of view, but they do not cover all areas of the debate. There remain unanswered questions that, in turn, give rise to new questions, especially focused on other elements of the policy cycle, such as its implementation or its monitoring and evaluation. Perhaps it would be appropriate to open a second Special Issue more focused on these lessons, always in rural and urban contexts, and from the point of view of how the 2030 Agenda could contribute to reducing poverty and social exclusion.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.S. and L.A.F.-P.; methodology, A.S. and L.A.F.-P.; writing—original draft preparation, A.S. and L.A.F.-P.; writing—review and editing, A.S. and L.A.F.-P.; project administration, A.S. and L.A.F.-P. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This Special Issue was carried out within the research project 'GlobalGob2030', supported by the Spanish National R & D & I Plan, funded by the Ministry of Science and Innovation under Grant number 'PID2019-104967RB-I00'.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Stoker, R.P.; Rich, M.J. Fertile Ground: Implementing the 2030 Agenda in U.S. Cities. Land 2021, 10, 1122. [CrossRef]
- Essien, E. Impacts of Governance toward Sustainable Urbanization in a Midsized City: A Case Study of Uyo, Nigeria. Land 2021, 11, 37. [CrossRef]
- 3. Vela-Jiménez, R.; Sianes, A.; López-Montero, R.; Delgado-Baena, A. The Incorporation of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Local Policies for Social Transformation in Disadvantaged Urban Areas. *Land* **2022**, *11*, 197. [CrossRef]
- 4. Martín, D.; de la Fuente, R. Global and Local Agendas: The Milan Urban Food Policy Pact and Innovative Sustainable Food Policies in Euro-Latin American Cities. *Land* 2022, *11*, 202. [CrossRef]
- Náñez Alonso, S.L.; Jorge-Vazquez, J.; Echarte Fernández, M.Á.; Kolegowicz, K.; Szymla, W. Financial Exclusion in Rural and Ur-ban Contexts in Poland: A Threat to Achieving SDG Eight? *Land* 2022, *11*, 539. [CrossRef]
- 6. Delgado-Baena, J.; García-Serrano J de, D.; Toro-Peña, O.; Vela-Jiménez, R. The Influence of the Organizational Culture of An-dalusian Local Governments on the Localization of Sustainable Development Goals. *Land* **2022**, *11*, 214. [CrossRef]
- Larrú, J.M.; González, C.Q. Aid, Multidimensional Poverty and Growth: Reversing the Micro-Macro Paradox in Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone. Land 2021, 11, 10. [CrossRef]
- Frutos, J.A.S.; Arango, J.H. Contributions of Intercultural Socioenvironmental Justice to the 2030 Agenda in the Colombian Car-ibbean. Land 2021, 11, 835. [CrossRef]
- 9. Tirumala, R.D.; Tiwari, P. Importance of Land in SDG Policy Instruments: A Study of ASEAN Developing Countries. Land 2022, 11, 218. [CrossRef]
- Hedayati Marzbali, M.; Abdullah, A.; Maghsoodi Tilaki, M.J.; Safizadeh, M. Moving the 2030 agenda ahead: Exploring the role of multiple mediators toward perceived environment and social sustainability in residential neighbourhoods. *Land* 2021, 10, 1079. [CrossRef]



Article Fertile Ground: Implementing the 2030 Agenda in U.S. Cities

Robert P. Stoker ^{1,*} and Michael J. Rich ²

- ¹ Political Science, Public Policy, and Public Administration, George Washington University, Washington, DC 20052, USA
- ² Political Science and Environmental Sciences, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA; mrich@emory.edu
- * Correspondence: stoker@gwu.edu

Abstract: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development promotes sustainable global prosperity by encouraging the coordination of social, economic, and environmental policies and good governance reforms. Cities are expected to play an essential role in implementing the 2030 Agenda. Local programs are to be implemented by multi-actor governance systems (including government agencies, businesses, nonprofits, and philanthropic organizations) that operate across multiple policy domains and provide extensive opportunities for stakeholder participation. Local program finance may require a combination of public, private, and philanthropic resources. We analyze the prospects for local implementation of the 2030 Agenda in large U.S. cities by examining local capacity to plan and carry out cross-sectoral collaborative initiatives. We review sustainability planning in the cities that participated in the Sustainable Development Solutions Network planning demonstration. We analyze an inventory of urban revitalization initiatives to assess local capacity to carry out collaborations. We show that local capacity is associated with having an active local environmental agenda and making progress toward achieving sustainable development goals. However, local capacity appears to be concentrated in larger cities. Although the demands on local governance are daunting, our examination of local capacity to plan and execute cross-sectoral collaborative initiatives in large U.S. cities creates guarded optimism.

Keywords: urban; local capacity; sustainable development; collaboration; implementation

1. Introduction

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development is a United Nations (UN) initiative to promote sustainable global prosperity by encouraging the coordination of social, economic, and environmental policies and good governance reforms. The agenda identifies seventeen Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Though there are both synergies and trade-offs between the SDGs, the nature of the connections and the balance of trade-offs are likely to vary between and within nations [1,2]. Thus, initiatives to implement the SDGs are likely to vary nationally and locally [3]. The challenge is to create a "whole-of-government" and "whole-of-society" approach that establishes national priorities and mobilizes contributions from multiple stakeholders without dominating local implementation processes [4].

Cities are critical to achieving sustainable prosperity. Cities and metropolitan areas worldwide, as centers of population growth and economic vitality, are expected to play an essential role in implementing the SDGs [5,6]. However, the United Nations' global indicator framework, which is used to assess progress on SDG implementation, focuses on countries as the main spatial unit for which national governments and agencies should report. National measures mask disparities at the subnational level, particularly for regions and cities. In addition, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) has noted, "attainment of at least 105 of the 169 SDG targets included in the global indicator framework will require the full engagement and participation of regions and cities to deliver the intended outcomes" [7].

Citation: Stoker, R.P.; Rich, M.J. Fertile Ground: Implementing the 2030 Agenda in U.S. Cities. *Land* **2021**, *10*, 1122. https://doi.org/10.3390/ land10111122

Academic Editors: Antonio Sianes and Luis Fernandez-Portillo

Received: 18 September 2021 Accepted: 19 October 2021 Published: 22 October 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Although the U.S. participated in the development of the SDGs and adopted the goals along with other UN member states in 2015, follow-through at the national level has been limited. In part this reflects the Trump Administration's hostility toward climate change mitigation, sustainable development, and institutions that support international cooperation [8]. While the Biden Administration is likely to renew the U.S. commitment to implementing the SDGs and the president's support is expected to enhance the prospects for success, local capacity remains a significant concern [9,10].

Local programs are to be implemented by multi-actor governance systems (including government agencies, businesses, nonprofits, and philanthropic organizations) that operate across multiple policy domains and provide extensive opportunities for stakeholder participation. Implementing the SDGs locally will require sustained efforts in the face of inevitable local political change, mobilization across sectors, and coordination across existing policy silos from local governments that are "well-functioning" and "well-managed" [10]. Beyond this, finding the resources to implement local projects is likely to be a significant challenge that may require innovative arrangements that combine support from public, private, and philanthropic sources [11–13].

Are U.S. cities prepared to meet these daunting challenges? Our analysis of local capacity to plan and carry out cross-sectoral collaborative initiatives suggests there are reasons for guarded optimism.

2. Research Questions and Design

Our analysis uses a mixed-methods approach and draws upon several data sources to address five research questions about the capacity of U.S. cities to implement the SDGs. First, are U.S. cities capable of developing local sustainable development plans? We present case studies that review local sustainability plans and planning processes in Baltimore, New York, and San José, the cities selected to participate in the Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN) planning demonstration project (which was in operation from 2014 to 2017). Although the SDSN's framework is intended to be a guide, we use the ten-step process described in the guide to assess the extent to which local planning in the selected cities reflects the holistic approach the SDSN recommends [11]. However, our descriptions of local planning are not limited to the plans developed in response to the SDSN's demonstration project; we include information about sustainability planning before and after the SDSN's initiative. Our review shows that the selected cities, working in cooperation with civil society institutions and local stakeholders, made significant progress despite inaction by the Trump Administration [14,15]. All three cities completed sustainability plans that reflect the best practices identified by the SDSN [11], demonstrating that local sustainability planning is possible, even in the absence of supportive national policy.

Second, are U.S. cities capable of carrying out complex cross-sectoral initiatives that feature extensive community engagement and blended finances? To assess local capacity to implement the SDGs, we developed an indicator of city experience implementing similar policies. We present an original inventory of recent city collaborative initiatives to reduce poverty and promote economic mobility in sixty large (populous) U.S. cities to assess local experience implementing collaborative initiatives that featured cross-sector mobilizations, extensive community engagement, integration across multiple policy domains, and blended financing. Our goal was to create a thorough and geographically balanced inventory of collaborative initiatives implemented in large U.S. cities during the study period (from 2010 to 2018). The inventory includes the fifty largest U.S. cities (based on 2010 population) and ten additional cities that ranked between 51 and 70 in population size in 2010 (New Orleans, Honolulu, Tampa, St. Louis, Pittsburgh, Cincinnati, Toledo, St. Paul, Newark, and Buffalo). The additional cities were included in the inventory to balance geographic representation and provide more comprehensive coverage of major cities with experience implementing federal programs to combat urban distress.

We call this an inventory rather than survey because we are building a list of initiatives within the selected cities rather than selecting initiatives within each city from a sampling frame. A similar assessment of collaborative initiatives in education was undertaken by Henig and colleagues [16,17]. To create the inventory, we conducted two separate web-based searches. We initially searched for evidence of cross-sector collaborations within the selected cities and included all initiatives related to a comprehensive, holistic approach to reducing poverty and/or promoting economic mobility. We then searched in each of the selected cities for initiatives within four policy domains related to these goals: housing and neighborhood revitalization, education, workforce development, and economic development. Initiatives that featured cross-sectoral collaboration were included in the inventory. Additional details about the search process are presented in Appendix A. The inventory shows that large U.S. cities are not starting the SDG implementation process from scratch; many have substantial local capacity developed through several decades of experience planning and implementing collaborative initiatives. They are primed for success.

Third, is more extensive local experience implementing collaborative initiatives associated with local activity in the environmental policy domain? We gathered data from the inventory cities on local environmental policy actions from 2010 to 2021 in five areas related to environmental policy. These actions included:

- Adoption of a climate action plan or sustainability plan.
- Membership in the C40 Climate Leadership Group, a network of 97 of the world's largest cities that share knowledge and collaborate on efforts to address climate change [18].
- Membership in the Cities for Climate Protection Campaign (CCPC), an initiative
 of the International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives to assist cities in
 reducing local greenhouse gas emissions, improving air quality, and enhancing urban
 livability and sustainability. More than 650 local governments have joined the CCPC by
 passing resolutions pledging to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in local government
 operations and throughout their communities [19].
- Participation in Bloomberg Philanthropies' American Cities Climate Challenge, launched in 2018, to provide resources to mayors in 25 cities to accelerate action on climate change through a holistic approach focused on clean buildings and transportation.
- Receipt of a Sustainable Communities Initiative planning or implementation grant, a
 joint effort of the U.S. Departments of Housing and Urban Development and Transportation under the Obama Administration's Neighborhood Revitalization Initiative
 to improve regional and local planning that integrates housing and transportation
 investments and increases the capacity for land use and zoning decisions that promote
 private investments that support sustainable communities.

Although some of these initiatives have a low threshold for local participation, the evidence shows that cities in our inventory with more experience in cross-sector collaboration were more likely to have an extensive local environmental policy agenda.

Fourth, is more extensive local action in the environmental policy domain associated with making greater progress toward achieving the SDGs? To assess local progress in SDG implementation, we use the OECD's localized indicator framework [20], drawing on sources such as United Cities and Local Governments and the UN Sustainable Solutions Network, among others. OECD's localized indicator framework includes 135 indicators aggregated at the subnational level, covering all 17 SDGs for regions and cities, though coverage for cities is limited to 11 of the SDGs (Table A1). To promote comparability across countries, the OECD defined cities as functional urban areas, based on population density and travel-to-work, rather than local government boundaries. Fifty-six indicators (most of which are proxies for SDG targets) are currently available.

The OECD normalized the indicators using the min-max method, with the best and worst performers set to the maximum and minimum values. The minimum value is the average of the bottom 10 percent of all cities. The maximum value is the unweighted average of indicators in the top performing city in each country. In most cases, multiple indicators were combined into an additive index based on the unweighted means of the normalized indicators, with index values ranging from 0 to 100; the index value represents the percentage of the SDG goal that a given urban area has attained. Appendix B reports the mean value for U.S. cities and OECD cities for each SDG goal (normalized) and its component indicators (non-normalized).

Although data to assess local progress is limited, the available evidence indicates that more extensive local action in the environmental policy domain is associated with making greater progress toward achieving the SDGs.

Finally, is local capacity to implement the SDGs widespread across U.S. local governments or concentrated in larger cities? We examine a survey of U.S. local governments conducted by the International City/County Management Association in partnership with the Sustainable Communities and Small Town and Rural Planning divisions of the American Planning Association, the U.S. Department of Agriculture, and two U.S. universities [13]. When we compare the broader survey of local governments to the cities in our inventory, we are less confident about the potential to advance the 2030 Agenda uniformly across the U.S. The survey shows that local governments in smaller population centers are less likely to have an active and extensive environmental policy agenda, less likely to coordinate environmental policy across agencies, and less likely to extensively consult stakeholders in the process. In the U.S., local capacity to implement the SDGs is likely to be concentrated in larger cities.

3. Planning Local SDG Implementation

3.1. The SDSN Implementation Guide

The Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN) developed a guide for implementing the SDGs in American cities to jump-start local planning processes and encourage best practices in localization [11]. "Localization refers to the process of adapting, implementing, and monitoring the SDGs at the local level" [3]. The guide emphasizes the need for a "holistic approach" to planning with extensive input from stakeholders, including residents, civic institutions, and the private sector. The guide also notes that local variation is likely: "While the SDGs will not all apply in same way for all cities, they can be prioritized and customized to meet the conditions and requirements for any city". Are U.S. cities capable of developing local sustainable development plans?

The SDSN's guide promotes several good governance practices. Given the need to sustain initiatives over time, the guide recommends establishing a leadership/management structure (Step 1). To encourage local ownership of the SDGs, it is important to identify the city's core values and to identify local stakeholders, establish working relationships, and integrate their ideas into local plans (Steps 2 and 8). Given the expectation that sustainable development requires integration of action plans across policy domains, the SDSN guide recommends the establishment of work teams (Step 3). Given the emphasis on evidence-based policymaking, the guide recommends assembling baseline data and taking stock of existing projects (Steps 4 and 5). To meet the critical need for resources, the guide encourages cities to identify existing and potential sources of program support (Step 6). Of course, the policymaking process is iterative and SDSN's guide emphasizes the importance of assessment, feedback, and policy adjustment in response to what is learned (Steps 7, 9, and 10).

However, Step 9 is likely to be a source of local controversy. Decisions about aligning resources and directing funds to selected projects at the expense of others are likely to bring conflicts about the SDGs into sharp relief and may result in local controversy once the trade-offs of sustainable development plans become more evident. Controversial resource allocation decisions are unlikely to be ceded by local government officials to cross-sectoral planning processes. Beyond this, budgeting decisions for many programs related to accomplishing the SDGs may be beyond the reach of local government officials.

The potential strengths and limitations of sustainable development planning in U.S. cities are indicated by examining the planning processes and results in Baltimore, New York, and San José, the SDSN demonstration cities. In all cases sustainability was in-

tegrated into city planning processes and the cities completed one or more sustainable development plans.

3.2. Sustainability Planning in Baltimore

Baltimore's first sustainable development plan was approved in 2009. However, the selection of Baltimore by the USA Sustainable Cities Initiative as one of three cities to host demonstration projects related to implementing the SDGs resulted in an expansion of the city's sustainability plans. Resources provided by the SDSN helped Baltimore and the other cities selected for the demonstration to link existing projects with the SDGs, targets, and indicators [21].

Baltimore developed a local planning project to integrate the SDGs into the city's existing sustainability plans. The activities undertaken in the planning process included consultations with local stakeholders; organization of work teams; identification of existing sustainable policy initiatives in the city; and identification of local indicators to correspond to the SDGs [22]. Working in an iterative process with local partner organizations that had been active in sustainable development efforts, the project team identified 56 local indicators of progress toward implementing the SDGs. Members of the community were then invited to identify local priorities by scoring the indicators (see [22] for scores on all 56 indicators). The scoring process revealed that community stakeholders were most concerned about social and economic conditions including: racial equity; child poverty; hunger and food deserts (lack of access to nutritious foods); affordable housing and transportation; earning a living wage and gender income equity; infant mortality; preparing children for kindergarten and high school graduation rates; and health (indicated by life expectancy). Widespread environmental concerns included water quality (and specifically, lead contamination) and expanding the city's tree canopy.

Sustainability planning is now an established feature of local government in Baltimore. The SDSN guide emphasizes the importance of getting "buy-in" from city leadership [11]. A series of Baltimore's mayors endorsed the city's sustainability initiatives and advanced sustainability planning, indicating that momentum has continued through changes in local leadership. The latest iteration of Baltimore's sustainable development plan continues local efforts to integrate the SDGs into local planning. That plan has five themes (Community, Human-Made Systems, Climate and Resilience, Nature in the City, and the Economy), and identifies 23 topic areas and 243 action items. The planning process continues to emphasize extensive community engagement: "This plan is the result of hundreds of conversations, comments, and drafts among Baltimore's residents, those who work at its nonprofits, businesses, and in government, and the Sustainability Commission and the Baltimore Office of Sustainability" [23].

The plan was developed through an "equity lens", reflecting stakeholders' concerns about historic and structural inequality. Equity is defined as "*The condition that would be achieved if identities assigned to historically oppressed groups no longer acted as the most powerful predictors of how one fares*" [23] (italics in original). The most recent status report concludes: "As of the end of 2020, a total of 23%, or 55 actions, have reached mid-stages of implementation or beyond, with 71% of the actions reaching at least early stage implementation" [24].

Considering the ten steps the SDSN identified to encourage sustainability planning, significant progress has been made in Baltimore. Baltimore has developed a series of sustainable development plans and has established processes to work with key stakeholders. The city's Department of Planning has an Office of Sustainability (created in 2007) that is responsible for implementing the city's plans. In addition, Baltimore's Sustainability Commission oversees the continuing development and implementation of the city's sustainability plans; members include public officials and a broad array of local stakeholders. Baltimore has established a local vision that reflects the city's values. Working groups have been established and continue to function. Baseline data (through the Baltimore Neighborhood Indicators Alliance) have been assembled and analyzed. Baltimore provides periodic reports about the status of sustainable development initiatives.

While the planning, consultation, and monitoring infrastructure is in place, Baltimore has not yet found the financial resources that will be needed to advance much of its sustainable development agenda (though government grants, foundation awards, and local revenue have financed a series of demonstration projects). Financing local initiatives is a significant constraint, as Baltimore struggles to contend with population decline and a limited tax base. Consequently, the sustainable development plan has not been fully aligned with the city's budget, and only some elements of the plan have been launched.

3.3. Sustainability Planning in New York

New York City (NYC) first initiated sustainable development planning in 2007 when it launched *PlaNYC 2030*. Since then, the city has developed a series of plans to promote sustainable development and respond to climate change. To institutionalize sustainability concerns, NYC amended its charter to create a sustainability office in 2008. In 2013, the city amended its charter again in the aftermath of Hurricane Sandy to establish a resiliency office to develop plans to improve storm water management and help coastal communities adapt to the challenges of climate change. In 2015, the city adopted the *OneNYC: The Plan for a Strong and Just City*, which committed to the "principles of growth, equity, sustainability, and resiliency" by linking plans for environmentally friendly development with equity concerns [25]. In 2018, the *OneNYC* plan was updated and retitled *OneNYC 2050: Building a Strong and Fair City: "OneNYC 2050* consists of eight goals and 30 initiatives that together comprise a strategy to prepare New York City for the future" [26].

NYC initiated the *OneNYC* planning process in 2014, when more than 71 of the city's agency heads met to discuss inter-agency collaboration for sustainable development. Cross agency working teams were established to identify indicators to monitor conditions and track progress; baseline data were assembled, and ongoing data collection (featuring annual reporting) was instituted. The working groups established priorities and worked on collaborative policies that were assessed based on "feasibility, ambition, scalability, funding and external dependencies" with special emphasis placed on the importance of available local funding [25]. Members of the city's Office of Management and Budget were included in the process to analyze the financial implications of proposals. The process identified eight local goals as foundations for the city's development plans: a vibrant democracy; an inclusive economy; thriving neighborhoods; healthy lives; equity and excellence in education; a livable climate; efficient mobility; and modern infrastructure.

Significant outreach efforts and community consultations were undertaken during the initial planning process [25]. To solicit stakeholders' opinions, the city conducted surveys (online and by telephone); more than 1300 stakeholders participated in face-to-face meetings, town halls, and roundtable discussions; a business roundtable was conducted with leading employers; and a *OneNYC* Advisory Board was established with representatives of the five boroughs, civic leaders, and community leaders, working with policy experts. Consultations were initiated with surrounding authorities in New York, New Jersey, and Connecticut to discuss regional concerns.

The OneNYC 2050 planning process also included significant outreach and stakeholder participation. The OneNYC Advisory Board consulted with nonprofits and city agencies seeking to discover new approaches to local problems. Regional collaborations continued. Members of the public had direct input: "More than 16,000 New Yorkers' voices shaped the vision and priorities that make up OneNYC 2050" by sharing opinions while attending community forums and events or participating in a public survey [26]. The most common concerns stakeholders expressed were the need to improve public transit, housing affordability, and inequality of opportunity in the job market. Concern about resiliency planning was often expressed by stakeholders from coastal communities. The most recent progress report indicates that OneNYC 2050 initiatives are being actively managed; many have been implemented and completed, while others have been partially completed, time extended, or reconsidered [27].

NYC has strived to relate its sustainable development plans to the SDGs by presenting Voluntary Local Reviews (VLRs). The city has presented two VLRs and aspires to produce a series of reports [24,25]. Each report focuses on a limited number of the SDGs (identified in the reports as the "Priority Goals"). The 2018 VLR, based on the initial *OneNYC* plan, focused on providing clean water and sanitation (SDG 6); providing access to affordable, reliable, sustainable, and modern energy (SDG 7); making cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable (SDG 11); ensuring sustainable consumption and production patterns (SDG 12); and protecting, restoring, and promoting sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems (SDG 15). For each goal, a series of indicators was identified, and baseline data and the latest available data were reported. The second VLR was based on the revised plan, *OneNYC 2050*, and focused on: quality education (SDG 4); decent work and economic growth (SDG 8); reduced inequality (SDG 10); climate action (SDG 13); and peace, justice, and strong institutions (SDG 16).

The *OneNYC* planning process (including both the initial version and the revised version) displays the features identified in the SDSN implementation guide as the components needed for successful local SDG implementation [11]. A structure was created to lead and manage the planning process. Interagency work groups were organized to initiate planning and to take stock of ongoing initiatives, assemble and analyze baseline data, and identify budgetary resources within the city. Widespread consultations with stakeholders were conducted and stakeholders' ideas were included in a plan that identified core values and eight local goals. Outreach efforts continued as the initial plan was revised and updated. Annual reporting was instituted: The most recent annual progress report indicates that budgets have been aligned and accountability measures are in place, as initiatives are tracked and managed [27]. The plan has been launched and revisions to the plan that occurred in 2019 indicate that the process has effective accountability and feedback mechanisms to adjust local sustainability policies as new information becomes available.

3.4. Sustainable Development in San José

The city of San José is located within the San José–Sunnyvale–Santa Clara, California, metropolitan region, which the SDSN identified as the leading urban area in the U.S. for implementation of the SDGs [28]. San José has a history of environmental leadership, including a sustainability report that was commissioned in 1980; a series of local initiatives to reduce waste, improve air quality, encourage recycling, and conserve and reuse water; and a "Green Building Policy" [29]. The city has created two updated local sustainability plans since the SDGs were adopted: *Climate Smart San José* in 2018 and *Envision San José* 2040 (the city's General Plan, which was first adopted in 2011, but is updated on a four-year cycle, most recently in 2021).

Climate Smart San José is a revised and updated version of San José's *Green Vision* plan, a sustainable development plan that was adopted in 2007. The *Green Vision* plan focused on creating clean tech jobs, reducing energy consumption, generating power from renewable sources, reducing landfill waste, converting waste into energy, constructing green buildings, recycling and reusing wastewater, planting trees, building paths for walking and biking, and acquiring a fleet of public vehicles powered by alternative energy [30]. *Climate Smart San José* emphasizes the quality-of-life benefits the city's residents can enjoy by embracing sustainable development [31].

Climate Smart San José identifies three pillars and nine strategies to guide sustainable development. San José aspires to be sustainable and climate smart; vibrant and growing; and a source of inclusive economic opportunity. To be sustainable and climate smart, the city plans to expand the use of renewable energy and create opportunities to enjoy lifestyles that take advantage of California's climate. To focus and manage expected population growth, the city will increase the density of selected neighborhoods, make homes more affordable and energy efficient, create clean options for personal mobility, and develop integrated and accessible public transit. To create inclusive economic opportunities, San

José will create jobs, improve commercial buildings, and make commercial transportation cleaner and more efficient. *Climate Smart San José* also includes a detailed discussion of "Funding Models" (financing options) to implement the plan [31].

The planning process for *Climate Smart San José* included data analysis, consultation with experts, and community outreach. The analysis focused on energy use in the city and its connections to carbon dioxide emissions, suggesting ways in which emissions might be reduced. Elements of the plan were enhanced by the advice of hundreds of subject area experts in "energy, water, mobility, and land use and open space". The planning process also included numerous community consultations designed to heighten awareness of the plan, solicit insights and opinions from the community, and to understand how residents connected the plan's vision of enjoying life in San José to sustainability initiatives. Numerous events and activities (including multilingual announcements and events) were undertaken: 13 public meetings were held, and more than 2200 people responded to a survey [31].

Envision San José 2040 (the city's General Plan) guides land use planning. The plan aims to increase population density in designated growth areas, developing urban villages that encourage walking and use of mass transit [32]. Envision San José 2040 identifies four types of urban villages: Regional Transit Urban Villages (locations near regional transit infrastructure); Local Transit Urban Villages (locations served by light rail or bus facilities for local transit); Commercial Corridor and Center Urban Villages (locations with redevelopment potential due to underutilized commercial sites); and Neighborhood Urban Villages (locations in existing neighborhoods that can be enhanced through mixed-use development). Envision San José 2040 also identifies seven community values: "innovative economy" (to create job opportunities and provide ample fiscal resources); "environmental leadership" (sustainable and effective use of resources); "diversity and social equity" (achieving equity while celebrating the city's diverse cultures); "interconnected city" (activities are in close proximity and accessible by walking, biking, or mass transit); "healthy neighborhoods" (neighborhoods that are attractive, affordable, and safe); "quality education and services" (offering high quality local services for all); and "vibrant arts and culture" (supporting the creative energy that enriches the city's quality of life) [32].

There was extensive community participation in the *Envision San José* 2040 planning process. The latest update of the plan was developed by a 37-member Task Force composed of "dedicated community members, representing political, business, resident, development, religious, and labor interests, appointed by the City Council" who were "joined by numerous volunteer community members who participated in the Task Force meetings, at community workshops and through online engagement activities" [32]. The Task Force held 57 meetings and more than 125 outreach sessions, that reached more than 5000 residents. Five priority concerns were identified by this process: promoting economic development, ensuring fiscal stability, providing environmental leadership, building urban villages, and promoting transit use [32].

Progress toward achieving the goals established in *Envision San José* 2040 is monitored and reported by San José's Department of Environmental Services, which maintains a dashboard that displays baseline data and projections to report the city's progress on sustainable development goals. Graphic displays include data on energy production and consumption, use of different modes of transit (public, automobiles, and walking or biking), water consumption, job creation, and greenhouse gas emissions.

The planning processes for sustainable development in San José exhibit the features of effective local planning identified by the SDSN. The city has several institutions that are actively engaged in ongoing sustainability planning (including the Department of Planning and the Sustainability Department). Concerns about sustainable development are thoroughly embedded in the city's policymaking processes. The planning processes for both current sustainability plans included work teams that conducted outreach efforts to identify core values, took stock of ongoing projects, and analyzed baseline data. Experts were consulted. Plans were developed and implemented. Local planning processes emphasize mobilizing and working with key stakeholders. The city monitors progress and reports to the public through its sustainability dashboard.

3.5. Comparing Plans in the Demonstration Cities

Plans to implement the SDGs are expected to vary locally because of the complexity of the 2030 Agenda, which features seventeen SDGs that are expected to have complex interactions that vary from place to place [1–3]. Beyond this, respect for local differences in planning may enhance support among local elites and residents for SDG implementation [11].

All the sustainability plans developed in the SDSN demonstration cities reflect longstanding environmental concerns such as air quality, solid waste management, mass transit development, energy consumption, and water quality. All three cities are planting trees. All are trying to reduce solid waste. All are seeking to improve mass transit and to encourage alternative modes of transportation. All plan to increase density and encourage mixed-use development along existing and proposed mass transit lines. All plan to reduce the energy and water consumption in future construction (housing and commercial). Then, although all three cities express concern about water quality, each has distinctive priorities. Baltimore is concerned about contamination of its water supply and pollution related to its port; NYC is concerned about maintaining the high quality of its drinking water, with efforts to maintain and enhance its up-state supply infrastructure; and San José is concerned about managing a water shortage, prioritizing initiatives to conserve and recycle water.

All three cities express concern about housing affordability and displacement of existing residents in their sustainability plans. All three cities aspire to reduce rent burdens for lower income households. However, each city has a distinct view of housing affordability. In Baltimore, housing affordability is linked to poverty and substandard housing, which are seen as manifestations of historic inequities in federal policies related to housing finance. In NYC, concerns about housing affordability reflect high housing costs (and rent burdens) and income inequality, connected to the limitations of the city's past efforts to provide an adequate supply of affordable housing. In San José, concern about housing affordability reflects high demand (a shortage of housing units to rent or purchase), high housing costs (and rent burdens), and the location of housing in relation to other types of development.

There are also noteworthy differences in local sustainability plans. One of the most striking differences distinguishes San José. Baltimore and NYC did more to integrate social, economic, and political concerns into their sustainability plans. By comparison, the plans in San José focus more directly on environmental concerns and land use. This is not to suggest that San José is a laggard city in social, economic, or political policymaking. Rather, it is to observe that the social, economic, and political policy agendas in San José have not been fully integrated into the city's sustainability plans. By contrast, the sustainability plan in NYC stands out for its ambitious social, economic, and political agenda. The *OneNYC 2050* plan includes city-sponsored universal pre-school and universal healthcare and has an extensive discussion of democratic participation, including voting rights.

In sum, our case evidence indicates that local sustainability planning that reflects local concerns and context is ongoing in Baltimore, New York, and San José. The plans that have been developed conform to the process envisioned in the SDSN's implementation guide. However, in a broader sense the demonstration sites have accomplished much more; they have invested in the civic infrastructure that will be needed to continue to promote sustainable development. As Baltimore's SDSN demonstration project report observed: "The project team has convened government, non-profit and civil society representatives to provide feedback for these activities, and in so doing they have established a community of practice that can continue as a coalition for SDG achievement" [22].

4. Inventory of Local Capacity

Implementing the SDGs will place significant demands on local governance, broadly conceived to include local officials, foundations, anchor institutions, businesses, nonprofits,

and community stakeholders. The limited national progress made to date in the U.S. casts doubt on local capacity to convene, mobilize, and empower collaborative, cross-sector, comprehensive initiatives to address sustainable prosperity and climate change. Do U.S. cities have the capacity to carry out complex cross-sectoral collaborations that feature extensive community engagement and blended finances?

Many U.S. cities have developed substantial capacity to execute cross-sectoral collaborations through local efforts to combat urban distress, where such initiatives have been encouraged by federal policy and foundation sponsorship (sometimes in conjunction) for more than three decades. This section summarizes our recent research on city collaborative initiatives designed to reduce poverty and promote economic mobility, important components of urban revitalization and the 2030 Agenda.

Our assessment of the Empowerment Zones and Enterprise Communities initiative, the U.S. federal government's most ambitious effort to combat urban distress, concluded: "The quality of local governance distinguished the performance of the revitalization initiatives undertaken in the original urban EZs" [33]. The quality of local governance reflected the actions of stakeholders who were able to create the capacity to implement cross-sectoral collaborations, leading to successful local projects and programs to promote economic opportunity and reduce poverty. This finding was consistent with other studies that identified the importance of local capacity in community and economic development policymaking [34–37].

To assess local capacity, we constructed an inventory of local revitalization initiatives implemented in sixty large U.S. cities from 2010 to 2018. The inventory includes comprehensive initiatives (multi-sector initiatives that featured collaborative leadership) focused on poverty reduction and/or the promotion of economic mobility and collaborative initiatives within four policy domains related to these goals-housing and neighborhood revitalization, education, workforce development, and economic development. The selected cities were classified on a continuum to capture the breadth and depth of their recent experience with collaborative policymaking. Three primary groups are identified in Table 1: cities with no collaborative initiatives; cities with collaborative initiatives within a single policy domain; and cities with comprehensive collaborations and from zero to four domain-specific collaborations related to urban revitalization. The table further subdivides the second and third categories to show the number of collaborative efforts that were operating in the city during the study period. The results indicate that experience implementing collaborative revitalization initiatives is broad and deep. During the study period, only three of the sixty cities (5%) had no experience with collaborative initiatives; the vast majority of cities (43 of 60, 72%) had deep experience, engaging a variety of local stakeholders in multiple collaborative initiatives operating across several policy domains.

Table 1 also shows that cities with more extensive collaborative experience were more likely to have previous experience with community-based, cross-sectoral collaborations. Most of the cities with deep experience have a history of collaboration that can be traced back to comprehensive community initiatives (CCIs) that were launched in the 1980s and early 1990s, primarily through support provided by national and local foundations [38]. This initial experience was continued; these same cities were more likely to be successful in the following waves of revitalization initiatives launched during the Clinton and Bush administrations, including HOPE VI public housing revitalization [39], the Empowerment Zones and Enterprise Community initiative [33], and Renewal Communities [40]. A similar pattern holds for the Obama Administration's Neighborhood Revitalization Initiative (NRI): Cities with previous CCIs or earlier experience with federal revitalization programs were more likely to receive NRI planning and implementation grants [41–43].

	City Characteristics	No Collaborative	Collaboratic a Single Poli	ons within cy Domain	Cross-D Initiat	omain C ives Rela	Collabora ated to U	tions and Irban Revi	Number of talization
		Initiatives	One	Two	None	One	Two	Three	Four or More
Number of cities		e	ю	6	1	4	20	14	6
	Total population (thousands), ACS 2019–	467	464	602	1633	465	643	651	908
Population	% Change, 2000–2019	5.9	28.8	18.4	23.6	13.2	21.1	12.3	4.1
	% Nonwhite, 2000	30.5	28.3	35.7	44.2	49.8	50.9	49.3	69.2
	% Nonwhite, ACS 2015–2019	38.7	37.2	47.5	57.5	56.7	56.4	59.0	75.3
Percent of Persons	2000	8.9	11.2	14.6	15.8	16.4	17.7	18.7	24.4
Below Poverty	ACS 2015–2019	14.8	12.6	16.5	18.0	15.7	17.3	18.2	23.7
Doutont I Transland	2000	4.2	5.3	5.7	5.6	6.0	7.2	6.9	10.9
r ercerit Ortentibroyeu	ACS 2015–2019	4.9	5.6	4.9	5.4	6.1	6.3	5.3	7.1
	% with CCI (1984–1995)	0.0	0.0	16.7	0.0	0.0	40.0	71.4	66.7
	% with EZ/EC/RC (1995–2000)	0.0	0.0	66.7	100.0	75.0	80.0	92.9	100.0
	% with HOPE VI (1993–2010)	0.0	33.3	16.7	100.0	50.0	80.0	85.7	100.0
revitalization initiatives	% with NRI (2010–2016)	0.0	33.3	16.7	0.0	25.0	70.0	79.6	66.7
	Total collaborative initiatives, 2010–2018	0.0	1	2	1	2.5	~	8.5	11
	Total national intermediary organizations	1	0	1.5	2		7	ю	2
Philanthropy	Number of local foundations	7	27	42	44	50	77	162	75

Table 1. City characteristics by experience with collaborative initiatives. Median values: Sources: U.S. Bureau of the Census, Decennial Census of Population (2000)

116.60

169.46162

113.99 5

12.07 50

23.64 44

17.20 42

6.33 27

0.35

Local foundation dollars per capita,

Philanthropy

2010-2018

Cities with collaborative experience were not only more successful at securing federal funding, but they were also more likely to find local sources of support—state and local government and philanthropic grants—to support local initiatives. As Martinez-Cosio and Bussell [44] observe, the role of foundations in activating comprehensive community initiatives "cannot be underestimated". They add that "many foundations, both large and small, are convening strategic partnerships involving public partners, the corporate community, scholars, nonprofits, and other foundations to more effectively address the complex problems that keep residents in low-income neighborhoods, particularly children, from achieving success". Table 1 confirms their observation and shows that cities with more collaborative experience had a greater number of local foundations providing substantially more funding to support local revitalization initiatives.

In sum, data from the cities included in our inventory presented in Table 1 shows that many large U.S. cities have broad and deep experience with collaborative, cross-sectoral revitalization initiatives that operated in multiple policy domains and attracted blended funding (from governmental and foundation sources). Cities with broader and deeper experience tended to have higher rates of poverty and unemployment, more diverse populations, and lower population growth over the past two decades. Thus, there appears to be a relationship between the extent of need within a city and the breadth and depth of a city's collaborative initiatives. Experience with CCIs and federal revitalization programs contributed to local capacity, as cities with such experience were better able to develop and execute complex local initiatives in multiple policy domains.

5. Local Environmental Policies

Is local experience with collaborative revitalization initiatives related to the likelihood that cities undertake local initiatives in the environmental policy domain? We gathered information on local policy actions in the cities selected for the inventory over the past decade (from 2010 to 2021) in five areas related to environmental policy and examined how they aligned with local collaborative urban revitalization initiatives.

Table 2 shows a modest positive and statistically significant relationship (r = 0.29) between a city's collaborative experience in urban revitalization and recent local actions taken to address environmental issues, climate change, and sustainable development. While the list of recent environmental actions in the table is not comprehensive, our evidence does show that cities with more extensive collaborative experience in urban revitalization were more likely to engage in collaborative environmental policymaking. In a related analysis, we examined Portney's Taking Sustainable Cities Seriously Index [45]. We did find a stronger and statistically significant relationship between the number of environmental actions taken by cities and Portney's Index, an additive index based on 38 environmental, energy, and sustainability programs and policies adopted and implemented by the nation's 55 largest cities (r = 0.43). However, we also found a weak and insignificant relationship between our measure of the breadth and depth of city collaborative initiatives and Portney's Taking Sustainable Cities Seriously Index (r = 0.17). This suggests that our measure of local capacity may complement Portney's index in explaining local environmental policymaking by tapping into distinct elements of local capacity.

City Classification of	Total Environmental/ Sustainshility Actions	Adopted Climate Action or	C40 Climate	Cities for Climate Destoction Member	Bloomberg American Cities	HUD-DOT Sustainable
Collaborative Initiatives	Taken (Mean)	Sustainability Plan %	Member %	%	Climate Challenge Member %	Communities Recipient %
No collaboration $(n = 3)$	1.33	100	0	33	0	0
Collaboration within a single domain $(n = 3)$	1.00	33	0	33	0	33
Collaborations within two policy domains ($n = 6$)	2.33	83	17	50	67	17
Cross-domain collaboration only $(n = 1)$	3.00	100	100	0	0	100
Cross-domain and collaboration in an urban revitalization domain $(n = 4)$	1.75	75	0	25	50	25
Cross-domain and collaborations in two urban revitalization domains ($n = 20$)	2.60	06	25	35	35	75
Cross-domain and collaborations in three urban revitalization domains ($n = 14$)	2.86	79	29	43	50	86
Cross-domain and collaborations in four or more urban revitalization domains ($n = 9$)	2.44	89	33	44	33	44
Total $(n = 60)$	2.41	83	23	38	38	58

6. Advancing the SDGs

It is premature to evaluate SDG implementation locally. Nonetheless, Table 3 examines the relationship between local environmental actions taken (the actions we discussed in Table 2) and local progress toward SDG end values. Is more extensive local action in the environmental policy domain associated with greater progress toward achieving the SDGs?

The SDG end values are drawn from the OECD's localized indicator framework [20] which includes 135 subnational indicators covering all 17 SDGs for regions and cities, though coverage for cities is limited to 11 of the SDGs. The second column in the table reports the mean percentage of goal attainment for all the U.S. cities included in our inventory for which data are available. Columns three through seven present two sets of means. The first is the percentage of the SDG achieved in cities that did not take environmental action; the second is the percentage achieved in cities that did take environmental action. Overall, the cities in our inventory have made the most progress toward attaining SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities), SDG 16 (Peace and Institutions), and SDG 6 (Clean Water), with an average percentage of the SDG achieved of 80 percent or higher. The goals in which inventory cities have made the least progress are SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities), SDG 14 (Life Below Water), and SDG 9 (Industry and Innovation), with average completion rates of one-third or less.

To further assess the relationship between local environmental actions taken and progress toward achieving the SDGs, we conducted a correlation analysis. The number of local environmental actions taken is positively associated with progress toward SDG end values for seven of the eleven goals. Three of these relationships are statistically significant: SDG 1 Poverty (r = 0.33), SDG 9 Industry and Innovation (r = 0.51), and SDG 17 Partnerships and Enablers (r = 0.37). In terms of the substance of local environmental action, the data suggest that network membership is more important than individual actions in explaining progress toward the SDG end values. Six of the eight statistically significant relationships displayed in Table 3 were in the predicted direction (adopters achieved a higher percentage of goal attainment) for cities that were members of the C40 Climate Leadership Group, Cities for Climate Change, or the American Cities Climate Challenge. These differences represent progress toward SDG 1 (No Poverty), SDG 9 (Industry and Innovation), and SDG 17 (Partnerships and Enablers for SDGs). Network members reported progress toward SDG end values that were 19 to 28 percentage points higher than non-members. By contrast, for two goals, SDG 7 (Clean Energy) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities), non-members made greater progress than network members.

In sum, many of the cities in our inventory have extensive local experience implementing complex collaborative initiatives, an indication of local capacity to implement the SDGs. Local capacity is associated with local action in the environmental policy domain. Actions taken locally in the environmental policy domain, especially network membership, are associated with greater local progress on achieving several of the SDGs.

Sustainable Development Goal	Total	Adopted Actic Sustainab	Climate on or ility Plan	C40 C Leade Men	limate rship ıber	Cities fo: Protection	r Climate n Member	Bloomber Cities Clime Mei	g American ate Challenge mber	HUD. Sustai Comm Recij	-DOT inable unities pient
		No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
1. No poverty $(n = 48)$	54	62	53	52	60	47	68 **	45	65 **	50	57
6. Clean water $(n = 28)$	80	88	79	80	79	78	83	79	81	80	80
7. Clean energy $(n = 50)$	50	54	49	49	51	53	42 *	50	49	48	50
9. Industry and innovation $(n = 50)$	34	13	39*	27	54 **	31	42	23	51 **	31	37
10. Reduced inequalities $(n = 48)$	29	45	26*	33	17 **	27	32	29	28	31	28
11. Sustainable cities $(n = 50)$	94	98	93	95	06	93	95	92	95	96	92
13 Climate action ($n = 50$)	64	68	63	63	66	63	64	61	68	60	99
14. Life below water $(n = 16)$	30	19	31	28	31	29	31	32	26	31	29
15. Life on land $(n = 28)$	38	33	38	38	38	41	34	42	35	37	38
16. Peace and institutions $(n = 50)$	87	91	87	87	88	86	91	86	89	88	87
17. Partnerships and enablers for SDGs $(n = 50)$	44	45	43	36	63 **	36	58 *	38	51	35	49

Table 3. Mean Percentage Attainment of SDG Goals by Environmental and Sustainability Action, Sample Cities in Inventory of Collaborative Initiatives. Statistically

7. City Size and Local Capacity

Is local capacity to implement the SDGs widespread across U.S. local governments or concentrated in larger cities? The analysis presented thus far has focused on planning in the three large SDSN demonstration cities and on experience, actions, and achievements in the populous U.S. cities included in our inventory. In this section, we use data from a survey conducted by the International City/County Management Association (ICMA) to assess the scope of local government sustainability practices and local good governance practices in the environmental policy domain within a broader sample of U.S. local governments [13]. The survey, which asked local governments to report on sustainability policies and practices, was distributed to 8562 U.S. local governments via direct mail (with an online response option) and achieved a response rate of 22.2%.

Table 4 summarizes the ICMA survey data on sustainability policies and practices of U.S. local governments, by type of local government (county, municipality, town/township), population size, region, and form of local government. The evidence indicates that few local governments had a sustainability policy agenda in 2015 (when the survey was conducted). Overall, only about one-third of local governments had adopted a sustainability plan, one in five had dedicated a budget line for sustainability and/or environmental protection, one in seven had conducted a greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions inventory of local government operations, and only one out of ten had set GHG targets for local government operations. Less than 10 percent of U.S. local governments had adopted a climate mitigation plan, a climate adaptation plan, conducted a GHG inventory of the community or set GHG targets for the community.

Table 4 also shows that the tendency of local governments to adopt sustainability practices reflects population size, region, and form of government. Several previous studies have observed similar tendencies [46–49]. For example, Table 4 shows that more than three of four of the largest jurisdictions (those with populations of one million or more) had adopted a sustainability plan as compared to about half of the jurisdictions between 100,000 and one million, and only 29 percent of those with populations below 100,000. This pattern is consistent across the sustainability practices reported in the table, except for setting GHG targets for the community. The table also shows that U.S. local governments in the West were more likely to employ sustainability practices, particularly GHG inventories and GHG targets. A city's form of government also appears to be associated with taking some sustainability plans and dedicated budget lines for sustainability and environmental protection at about the same rate, council-manager cities were more likely to undertake GHG inventories and set GHG targets.

Table 5 shows that variation in local government sustainability practices continues to hold and in some cases is even more pronounced when local good governance processes in the environmental policy domain are examined. Most notably, nearly all the nation's largest local governments (those with populations of 250,000 or more) coordinated environmental programs and policies among their departments and with other localities in their region. Beyond this, consultation with community stakeholders is also much more common in the larger population centers. Almost seventy percent of the largest cities (those with populations over one million) had residents participate in the planning process. These observations suggest that local population are institutionalized. Smaller local government are less likely to exhibit good governance practices, especially in terms of inter-agency and regional coordination in response to climate change.

Table 4. Sustaina	U.S. Local Governm ability Practices Surv	ient Sust; ey [13].	ainability Practice:	s. Percent respc	nding yes. Sou	urce: International C	ity/County Mar	nagement Assoc	iation, Local Gc	vernment
U.S. Loc	al Governments	n	Adopted Sus- tainability Plan	Adopted Climate Mitigation Plan	Adopted Climate Adaptation Plan	Dedicated Budget Line for Sustainability/ Environmental Protection	Conducted GHG Inventory of Local Government Operations	Conducted GHG Inventory of the Community	Set GHG Targets for Local Government Operations	Set GHG Targets for the Community
Total		1899	31.5	6.4	3.2	18.6	14.1	9.1	10.7	7.0
Type	County Municipality Town/Township	424 1146 329	35.2 32.3 24.1	4.5 8.0 3.0	2.6 4.1 0.6	19.3 19.4 15.2	8.7 17.8 7.9	4.5 12.6 3.0	7.3 13.4 5.5	3.5 9.5 2.7
Population Group	Over 1 million 500,000–1 million 250,000–499,999 100,000–249,999 Less than 100,000	13 24 37 145 1680	76.9 50.0 46.5 29.0	46.2 20.8 11.7 5.1	38.5 8.3 9.0 2.2	69.2 54.2 35.2 15.7	69.2 45.8 33.1 11.0	30.8 25.0 25.5 22.6	61.5 33.3 29.7 24.1 8.3	7.7 20.8 15.2 5.8
Region	Northeast Midwest South West	348 652 537 362	27.0 27.0 41.5	4.9 3.4 3.5 17.4	2.0 2.4 8.8	17.5 15.6 18.1 26.0	12.1 7.1 32.3	5.5 4.1 25.7 25.7	8.3 5.4 9.1 24.9	5.2 3.1 19.3
City Form of Govern- ment	Mayor-Council Council-Manager	383 862	31.4 31.6	4.2 9.4	2.3 4.4	16.2 20.9	9.4 20.9	5.5 14.6	5.5 15.8	3.4 11.6

International Ci	ry/ County Manageme	ent Association, Local Gov	/ernment Sustainability I	ractices survey [13].		
U.S. Local C	Governments	Departments Coordinate on Environmental Programs or Policies	Departments Coordinate on Climate Change Programs or Policies	Localities in Region Coordinate on Environmental Programs or Policies	Localities in Region Coordinate on Climate Change Programs or Policies	Residents Participate in Planning Strategies through Committees, Commissions, or Task Forces
Total	n %	1730 64.6	1617 11.5	1703 61.0	1630 20.2	1899 37.7
Type	County Municipality Town/Township	61.2 65.5 65.3	5.6 14.7 6.8	58.2 62.0 60.5	17.9 22.4 15.3	34.0 39.2 37.4
Population Group	Over 1 million 500,000–1 million 250,000–499,999 100,000–249,999 Less than 100,000	92.3 90.5 77.0 62.2	69.2 30.0 20.6 9.5	91.7 90.5 77.8 72.0 58.9	83.3 52.4 33.3 26.2 18.4	69.2 50.0 48.6 33.1
Region	Northeast Midwest South West	71.9 53.9 67.7 71.3	9.0 6.5 27:9	63.1 54.5 66.7 61.8	16.9 14.1 34.8 34.8	43.4 35.3 34.8 40.9
City Form of Government	Mayor-Council Council-Manager	60.2 68.7	8.1 17.4	55.7 65.1	15.3 25.2	36.3 41.2

Table 5. U.S. Local Government Collaboration and Capacity Regarding Environmental and Sustainability Programs or Policies, 2015. Percent responding yes. Source:

Finally, the ICMA survey identified factors that are likely to limit sustainability policymaking in U.S. local governments (see Table 6). The largest local jurisdictions are much less likely to report concerns about lack of staff capacity or support and challenges in coordinating across agencies. Less than 10 percent of the largest jurisdictions reported they had no staffing, goal recognition, or task force/committee addressing sustainability as compared to about 18-24 percent of local governments with populations between 100,000 and one million and nearly half of local governments with populations less than 100,000. However, lack of funding was the most prominent factor identified by all local governments as hindering their sustainability efforts. All local governments with populations of 500,000 or more cited this as a very significant or significant factor as did more than eight out of ten local governments with populations less than 500,000. (The need for federal resources to support local sustainability initiatives was also cited in the local sustainability plans developed by the cities that participated in the SDSN demonstration projects.) A large proportion of local governments also cited state or federal funding restrictions as a constraint on their sustainability efforts and a slightly smaller share also expressed concerns regarding state or federal government policies.

In sum, the ICMA survey suggests that large U.S. cities have more local capacity (including staff) to develop and implement an active environmental agenda; to coordinate initiatives across policy silos and regionally; and to exhibit good governance practices. However, large local jurisdictions are much more likely to identify lack of funding, state and federal funding restrictions, and state and federal policies as significant constraints.

Table 6. Fact Source: Inter	ors that Hinder Sus national City/Cour	stainability Efforts in U.: nty Management Assoc	S. Local Governments, 20 iation, Local Governmen	15. Percent respond: t Sustainability Prac	ing yes. * Percent respon tices Survey [13].	ding "very significant"	or "significant".
US Local G	overnments	State or Federal Government Policies	State or Federal Funding Restrictions *	Lack of Funding *	Lack of Staff Capacity and/or Support *	No Staffing, Goal Recognition, or Task Force/Committee	Challenges Coordinating Across Agencies *
Total	n %	1589 46.3	1598 60.9	1633 88.0	1612 58.6	1792 42.2	1594 36.5
Type of local government	County Municipality Town/Township	51.2 44.9 45.0	62.6 60.9 58.5	87.2 88.9 85.3	52.7 60.3 59.9	42.1 40.9 46.9	38.7 35.0 39.8
Population size	Over 1 million 500 k-1 million 250–499 k 100 k–249 k Less than 100 k	83.3 23.8 51.2 45.8	91.7 47.6 62.1 65.1	100.0 100.0 84.8 89.3 87.7	41.7 61.9 51.5 56.9 59.0	7.7 18.2 22.2 23.7 44.9	16.7 33.3 48.5 33.1 36.8
Region	Northeast Midwest South West	44.1 47.8 44.7 47.8	60.1 60.3 59.2 64.9	89.1 86.4 87.4 90.5	61.9 58.1 54.8 61.9	41.4 47.8 40.4 35.8	38.4 35.0 35.3 38.9
City Form of Government	Mayor- Council Council- Manager	40.1 46.8	56.6 63.2	84.6 90.4	58.9 61.2	47.0 39.1	36.5 35.3

8. Conclusions

The prospects for successful implementation of the 2030 Agenda for sustainable development in U.S. cities are mixed. There are good reasons for optimism about the potential for large U.S. cities to successfully implement the SDGs: Large cities are fertile ground for developing plans and undertaking projects related to sustainable development. Though local implementation is challenging, many large U.S. cities have extensive experience developing and managing complex cross-sectoral initiatives because of participation in CCIs and federal urban revitalization programs. That experience created significant local capacity. That capacity was also reflected in the local environmental policy domain, resulting in more activity and more progress toward achieving many SDG goals locally. However, local capacity varies: Among large cities, it is widespread and deep, but not universal.

Despite this solid foundation to implement the SDGs in large cities, smaller local governments in the U.S. face more significant challenges. The ICMA survey placed the promising results of the planning review and our inventory of large U.S. cities in the broader context of U.S. local governments nationwide. Local capacity appears to be closely related to city size. The ICMA survey suggests that smaller local jurisdictions have less capacity, less extensive environmental agendas, and fewer good governance practices in the environmental policy domain. Local capacity to implement the SDGs appears to be concentrated in larger U.S. cities.

As we noted above, President Biden hopes to renew the nation's commitment to implementing the SDGs. President Biden, a Democratic president, is likely to have policy priorities that are aligned with those of Democratic mayors in the largest U.S. cities, which. are governed predominantly by Democratic mayors. Nearly two-thirds (63%) of the nation's 100 largest cities have a Democratic mayor, whereas Republican mayors are currently serving in twenty-six cities, the remainder are non-partisan, according to the most recent data compiled by Ballotpedia [50]. Only two Republican mayors are found among the twenty-five largest U.S. cities.

This political alignment and the evidence we have presented suggests that larger U.S. cities would welcome federal assistance to support SDG implementation. President Biden has appointed a Special Presidential Envoy for Climate and rejoined the Paris Climate Agreement. Other forms of federal assistance the Biden Administration may provide include restoring regulatory limits on carbon pollution emissions and planning and technical assistance from agencies such as the Environmental Protection Agency and the Department of Energy that significantly scaled back their activities supportive of climate change and sustainability during the Trump Administration. However, it remains to be seen whether the Biden Administration can deliver increased funding to state and local governments to support local initiatives to achieve the SDGs. The most likely vehicle to provide federal assistance is the Administration's "Build Back Better" agenda that is currently pending in Congress. The difficulties the Administration has encountered trying to advance that legislation indicate that creating national government financing for local sustainable development initiatives is a significant challenge.

If some form of the Build Back Better agenda moves forward, the distributional consequences of any new funding will largely depend on the structure of the grant programs through which the aid is delivered. Scholarship on the distribution of grants in the U.S. federal system has produced mixed findings regarding the extent to which federal aid is distributed largely in support of co-partisans at the state and local level as opposed to other factors such as the need, demand, and capacity of recipient governments [51–54]. However, the history of federal urban revitalization initiatives suggests that the assistance that Congress does provide is likely to be selective, domain specific, and competitively distributed. This will reflect and amplify local capacity differences and result in uneven implementation of the SDGs across cities and policy domains.
Author Contributions: All authors made substantial contributions to this work, with each drafting approximately 50% of the text. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Data sets analyzed in this article are available at https://scholarblogs. emory.edu/policyanalysislab/ (accessed on 19 September 2021).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A. Google Search Strategy to Construct an Inventory of Place-Based Collaborative Initiatives in Major U.S. Cities

Our identification of comprehensive community revitalization initiatives in the selected cities was based on an extensive web search using the following Google queries.

Step 1. "city name" AND comprehensive AND "collective impact" OR collaboration OR cooperation OR coalition OR collective OR "cross sector" OR "multi sector" OR collaborative OR partnership OR initiative

Based on the results of the search, every site on the first five pages of results was visited to identify and capture web pages that met the following criteria:

- I. Include only place-based initiatives (citywide, clusters of neighborhoods, or single neighborhood within city).
- II. Include only multi-sector initiatives (participation from two or more of the following: city government, other local government, business, nonprofits, philanthropic organizations, and resident associations or organizations).
- III. Include only initiatives with evidence of collaborative leadership (e.g., board, steering committee, advisory committee, etc. comprised of representatives from two or more sectors).
- IV. Include only initiatives with substantive focus on comprehensive, anti-poverty, housing and neighborhood revitalization, pre-K-12 education, workforce development, or economic development.
- V. Include only initiatives that were operational locally at some point during the period from 2010 to 2018.

Step 2. Repeat the query described in step 1 sequentially for each city, replacing comprehensive with each of the following keywords: poverty, housing, neighborhood, education, workforce development, economic development.

Based on the results of the search, the initiatives included in the inventory from the larger universe of collaborative initiatives identified were selected based on the following criteria:

- I. Include only place-based initiatives, with evidence of city participation.
- II. Include only multi-sector initiatives (includes additional participants from the public, private, nonprofit, philanthropic, faith-based, and/or community).
- III. Include only initiatives with collaborative leadership (does not include initiatives in which only one sector forms the leadership/governance team).
- IV. Include only initiatives focused on outcomes related to poverty reduction and/or promoting economic mobility.
- V. Include only initiatives that were operational locally at some point during the period from 2010 to 2018.

Step 3. Several characteristics of each initiative were then coded based on the material obtained from the inventory and from follow-up queries of officials affiliated with the initiative. These characteristics included year begun, year ended; lead agency or organization;

participating agencies, organizations, and groups; how initiative was started; geographic scope; policy domain(s); governance structure, status of the initiative, and progress to date.

Appendix B. SDG City Indexes and Indicators

Table A1. Average Scores for OECD City Indicators in the U.S. and OECD. Source: Authors calculations from OECD data [20]. Data download, extracted 19 August 2021. * Average year in the indicator for the sample of cities. ** The suggested end value to be achieved by 2030. When end values are not inferable from the UN framework, the OECD defines end values based on the knowledge of experts in the field, or alternatively, based on the best performance of cities in that indicator. For the latter, OECD estimates an unweighted average using the top performer in each country. For each SDG, the first row represents the percentage of the SDG goal attained based on the component indicator(s); subsequent rows report the indicator(s) used to assess goal attainment and their average value.

SDG Index/Indicator	Year *	US City Average	OECD City Average	End Value **
SDG 1. No Poverty		51.59	63.84	100.0
Percentage of population with a				
disposable income below the 60% of	2016	15.86	13.68	Best Performers
national median disposable income				
SDG 6. Clean Water		78.74	73.65	100.0
Change in water bodies (from 1992	2015	-0.01	-0.02	Best Performers
SDC 7 Clean Energy		57 16	61 78	100.0
Borcontago of total electricity		57.10	04.78	100.0
production that comes from	2019	28.44	56 63	Bost Porformore
renowable courses	2019	20.44	30:03	Dest l'enormers
Percentage of total electricity				
production that comes from coal	2019	17.62	72.34	0 Percent
Perceptage of total electricity				
production that comes from fossil				
fuels (natural gas and oil excluding	2019	44.92	75.14	0 Percent
coal)				
SDG 9. Industry and Innovation		35.76	28.28	100.0
Patent applications (PCT) per				
1.000.000 people	2014	280.15	266.58	Best Performers
SDG 10. Reduced Inequalities		34.56	51.02	100.0
Gini index of disposable income				
(after taxes and transfers)	2016	0.38	0.37	Best Performers
(from 0 to 1)				
SDG 11. Sustainable Cities		99.03	76.72	100.0
Difference between built-up area				
growth rate and population growth	2014	0.03	0.06	0 Percent
rate (percentage points)				
Exposure to PM2.5 in $\mu g/m^3$,				
population weighted (micrograms	2017	7.38	13.09	Less than 10 μ g/m ³
per cubic metre)				
SDG 13. Climate Action		68.20	72.67	100.0
CO2 emissions per electricity				
production (in tons of CO2	2019	378.89	444.31	Best Performers
equivalent per gigawatt hours)				
Change in cooling degree-days				
needed to maintain an average				
building indoor temperature of	2018	43.09	41.00	0 Percent
22 degree Celsius, from 1970–1984 to 2004–2018				
SDG 14. Life Below Water		38.75	40.31	100.0
Protected coastal area as a	2017	14.71	10.10	Deat Daufanne ar
percentage of total coastal area	2017	14.01	10.19	dest remormers

SDG Index/Indicator	Year *	US City Average	OECD City Average	End Value **
SDG 15. Life On Land		36.23	57.38	100.0
Change in tree cover (from 1992 to 2015, percentage points)	2015	-3.09	-0.66	Best Performers
Terrestrial protected areas as a percentage of total area	2017	7.82	15.03	Best Performers
SDG 16. Peace and Institutions		89.72	86.01	
Homicides per 100,000 persons	2017	5.67	6.41	Best Performers
SDG 17. Partnerships and Enablers for	SDGs	38.99	31.60	
Percentage of houses and buildings connected to optical fiber	2017	23.04	27.11	Best Performers

Table A1. Cont.

Source: OECD [20].

References

- Pradhan, P.; Costa, L.; Rybski, D.; Lucht, W.; Kropp, J. A Systematic Study of Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) Interactions. *Earth Future* 2017, 5, 1169–1179. [CrossRef]
- Nilsson, M.; Griggs, D.; Visbeck, M.; Ringler, C.; McCollum, D. Introduction: A Framework for Understanding Sustainable Development Goal Interactions. In A Guide to SDG Interactions: From Science to Implementation; Griggs, D., Nilsson, M., Stevance, A., McCollum, D., Eds.; International Council for Science: Paris, France, 2017.
- 3. Kanuri, C.; Revi, A.; Espey, J.; Kuhle, H. *Getting Started with the SDGs in Cities: A Guide for Stakeholders*; The Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York, NY, USA, 2016. Available online: https://www.unsdsn.org/cities (accessed on 8 August 2021).
- Gornitzka, C.; Pipa, A. A New Type of Leadership for National Governments Is Essential for Success of the SDGs; The Brookings Institution: Washington, DC, USA, 2018.
- Valencia, S.; Simon, D.; Croese, S.; Nordqvist, J.; Oloko, M.; Sharma, T.; Buck, N.; Versace, I. Adapting the Sustainable Development Goals and the New Urban Agenda to the city level: Initial reflections from a comparative research project. *Int. J. Urban Sustain.* Dev. 2019, 11, 4–23. [CrossRef]
- 6. United Nations. *DG 11 Synthesis Report 2018: Tracking Progress towards Inclusive, Safe, Resilient and Sustainable Cities and Human Settlements;* United Nations: Nairobi, Kenya, 2018.
- 7. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. A Territorial Approach to Sustainable Development Goals: Synthesis Report; OECD Urban Policy Reviews; OECD Publishing: Paris, France, 2020. [CrossRef]
- Patrick, S. Sustainable Development Takes Center Stage at the U.N. World Politics Review. 2019. Available online: https: //www.worldpoliticsreview.com/articles/28190/sustainable-development-takes-center-stage-at-the-u-n (accessed on 20 July 2021).
- Cordell, K. It's Time for the United States to Reengage with the SDGs, Starting with SDG 16; Center for Strategic and International Studies: Washington, DC, USA, 2021. Available online: https://www.csis.org/analysis/its-time-united-states-reengage-sdgsstarting-sdg-16 (accessed on 21 July 2021).
- Saner, R.; Saner-Yiu, L.; Gollub, N.; Sidibé, D. Implementing the SDGs by Subnational Governments: Urgent Need to Strengthen Administrative Capacities. *Public Adm. Policy* 2017, 20, 23–40.
- Mesa, N.; Edquist, M.; Espey, J. A Pathway to Sustainable American Cities: A Guide to Implementing the SDGs; The Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York, NY, USA, 2019. Available online: https://resources.unsdsn.org/a-pathway-tosustainable-american-cities-a-guide-to-implementing-the-sdgs (accessed on 18 July 2021).
- 12. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. *Making Blended Finance Work for Sustainable Development Goals;* OECD Publishing: Paris, France, 2018.
- International City/County Management Association. Local Government Sustainability Practices, 2015: Summary Report 2016; International City Management Association: Washington, DC, USA, 2016. Available online: https://icma.org/documents/icmasurvey-research-2015-local-government-sustainability-practices-survey-report (accessed on 18 October 2021).
- 14. Kharas, H.U.S. Global Leadership through an SDG Lens; The Brookings Institution: Washington, DC, USA, 2018.
- Pipa, A.; Brown, K. American Leadership on the Sustainable Development Goals; The Brookings Institution: Washington, DC, USA, 2019.
- Henig, J.; Riehl, C.; Houston, D.; Rebell, M.; Wolff, J. Collective Impact and the New Generation of Cross-Sector Collaborations for Education: A Nationwide Scan; Teachers College, Columbia University: New York, NY, USA, 2016.
- 17. Lyon, M.; Henig, J. Blurring Lines? How Locally Based Collaborations Handle the Redistribution/Development Tradeoff. *Urban* Aff. Rev. 2017, 55, 1100–1124. [CrossRef]
- Lee, T.; van de Meene, S. Who Teaches and Who Learns? Policy Learning through the C40 Cities Climate Network. *Policy Sci.* 2012, 45, 199–220. [CrossRef]

- 19. Zahran, S.; Grover, H.; Brody, S.; Vedlitz, A. Risk, Stress, and Capacity: Explaining Metropolitan Commitment to Climate Protection. *Urban Aff. Rev.* 2008, 43, 447–474. [CrossRef]
- 20. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. *Measuring the Distance to the SDGs in Regions and Cities*; OECD Publishing: Paris, France, 2020. Available online: https://www.oecd-local-sdgs.org/ (accessed on 19 August 2021).
- Ruckstuhl, S.; Espey, J.; Rae, L. The USA Sustainable Cities Initiative: Lessons for City-Level SDG Action; Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York, NY, USA, 2018.
- Iyer, S.; Howland, A.; Ruckstuhl, S.; Sheehan, I.; Samuelson, L.; Bowman, L. Baltimore's Sustainable Future: Localizing the UN Sustainable Development Goals, Strategies and Indicators; University of Baltimore, College of Public Affairs: Baltimore, MD, USA, 2016.
- Baltimore Office of Sustainability. *The 2019 Baltimore Sustainability Plan*; Baltimoresustainability.org: Baltimore, MD, USA, 2019. Available online: https://www.baltimoresustainability.org/plans/sustainability-plan/ (accessed on 5 August 2021).
- Baltimore Office of Sustainability. Annual Report 2019–2020; Baltimoresustainability.org: Baltimore, MD, USA, 2021. Available online: https://www.baltimoresustainability.org/about/achievements-2/ (accessed on 6 August 2021).
- City of New York. Voluntary Local Review: New York City's Implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; Mayor's Office of International Affairs: New York, NY, USA, 2018.
- City of New York. Voluntary Local Review: New York City's Implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; Mayor's Office of International Affairs: New York, NY, USA, 2019.
- City of New York. 2021 Progress Report: Delivering on the Green New Deal; Office of Climate and Sustainability: New York, NY, USA, 2021. Available online: http://onenyc.cityofnewyork.us/strategies/onenyc-2050/#main-content (accessed on 18 August 2021).
- Prakash, M.; Teksoz, K.; Espey, J.; Sachs, J.; Shank, M.; Schmidt-Traub, G. Achieving a Sustainable Urban America: The U.S. Cities Sustainable Development Goals Index 2017; Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York, NY, USA, 2017.
- Nixon, H. San José: Implementing the UN's Sustainable Development Goals at the Local Level; Mayor's Office of Strategic Initiatives: San José, CA, USA, 2016. Available online: https://partners.sanjosemayor.org/performance/sustainable-development/ (accessed on 14 August 2021).
- City of San José. San José Green Vision; Environmental Services Department: San José, CA, USA, 2021. Available online: https://www.sanjoseca.gov/your-government/environment/climate-smart-san-jos/green-vision (accessed on 16 August 2021).
- City of San José. Climate Smart San José: A People-Centered Plan for a Low-Carbon City; Environmental Services Department: San José, CA, USA, 2018. Available online: https://www.sanjoseca.gov/your-government/environment/climate-smart-san-jos (accessed on 14 August 2021).
- City of San José. Envision San José 2040: General Plan; Department of Planning, Building & Code Enforcement: San José, CA, USA, 2021. Available online: https://www.sanjoseca.gov/your-government/departments/planning-building-code-enforcement/planning-division/citywide-planning/envision-san-jos-2040-general-plan (accessed on 15 August 2021).
- 33. Rich, M.; Stoker, R. Collaborative Governance for Urban Revitalization: Lessons from Empowerment Zones; Cornell University Press: Ithaca, NY, USA, 2014.
- Greenberg, D.; Verma, N.; Dillman, K.; Chaskin, R. Creating a Platform for Sustained Neighborhood Improvement: Interim Findings from Chicago's New Communities Program; MDRC: New York, NY, USA, 2010.
- 35. Briggs, X. Democracy as Problem Solving: Civic Capacity in Communities Across the Globe; MIT Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2008.
- 36. Chaskin, R.; Brown, P.; Venkatesh, S.; Vidal, A. Building Community Capacity; Aldine de Gruyter: New York, NY, USA, 2001.
- Nye, N.; Glickman, N. Working Together: Building Capacity for Community Development. *Hous. Policy Debate* 2000, 11, 163–198. [CrossRef]
- Kubisch, A.; Auspos, P.; Brown, P.; Dewar, T. Voices from the Field III: Lessons and Challenges from Two Decades of Community Change Efforts; The Aspen Institute: Washington, DC, USA, 2010.
- Cisneros, H.; Engdahl, L. (Eds.) From Despair to HOPE: Hope VI and the New Promise of Public Housing in America's Cities; The Brookings Institution: Washington, DC, USA, 2009.
- 40. United States Government Accountability Office. *Revitalization Programs: Empowerment Zones, Enterprise Communities, and Renewal Communities*; Government Accountability Office: Washington, DC, USA, 2010.
- 41. Stoker, R.; Rich, M. Obama's Urban Legacy: The Limits of Braiding and Local Policy Coordination. Urban Aff. Rev. 2020, 56, 1607–1629. [CrossRef]
- 42. DeFilippis, J. (Ed.) Urban Policy in the Time of Obama; University of Minnesota Press: Minneapolis, MN, USA, 2016.
- 43. White House. Building Neighborhoods of Opportunity: White House Neighborhood Revitalization Initiative Report; The White House: Washington, DC, USA, 2011.
- Martinez-Cosio, M.; Bussell, M. Catalysts for Change: 21st Century Philanthropy and Community Development; Routledge: London, UK, 2013.
- 45. Portney, K. Taking Sustainable Cities Seriously: Economic Development, the Environment, and Quality of Life in American Cities; MIT Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2013.
- Fastiggi, M.; Meerow, S.; Miller, T. Governing Urban Resilience: Organizational Structures and Coordination Strategies in 20 North American City Governments. Urban Stud. 2021, 58, 1262–1285. [CrossRef]
- Hawkins, C.; Krause, R.; Feiock, R.; Curley, C. Making Meaningful Commitments: Accounting for Variation in Cities' Investments of Staff and Fiscal Resources to Sustainability. Urban Stud. 2016, 53, 1902–1924. [CrossRef]

- Opp, S.; Osgood, J., Jr.; Rugeley, C. Explaining the Adoption and Implementation of Local Environmental Policies in the United States. J. Urban Aff. 2014, 36, 854–875. [CrossRef]
- Krause, R. Policy Innovation, Intergovernmental Relations, and the Adoption of Climate Protection Initiatives by U.S. Cities. J. Urban Aff. 2011, 33, 45–60. [CrossRef]
- 50. Ballotpedia. List of Current Mayors of the Top 100 Cities of the United States. Available online: https://ballotpedia.org/List_of_ current_mayors_of_the_top_100_cities_in_the_United_States (accessed on 18 October 2021).
- 51. Kriner, D.; Reeves, A. *The Particularistic President: Executive Branch Politics and Political Inequality*; Cambridge University Press: New York, USA, 2015.
- 52. Berry, C.; Burden, B.; Howell, W. The President and the Distribution of Federal Spending. *Am. Political Sci. Rev.* 2010, 104, 783–799. [CrossRef]
- 53. Stein, R.; Bickers, K. Perpetuating the Pork Barrel: Policy Subsystems and American Democracy; Cambridge University Press: New York, NY, USA, 1995.
- 54. Rich, M. Distributive Politics and the Allocation of Federal Grants. Am. Political Sci. Rev. 1989, 83, 193–213. [CrossRef]



Article Impacts of Governance toward Sustainable Urbanization in a Midsized City: A Case Study of Uyo, Nigeria

Etido Essien

Climatology Research Group, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany; Etido.Essien@uni-bayreuth.de

Abstract: Urban studies in Nigeria mostly focus on large cities and metropolitan areas, with minimal attention given to sustainable urban development in midsized cities. In this study, we address this knowledge gap and examine the policies and practices driving urban growth in Uyo, a midsized city in Nigeria. Specifically, we evaluate to what extent the prevailing urban governance culture and practices move the city toward or away from being inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable—central tenets of UN Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 11. This study critically explores the strategic and operational approaches deployed by public stakeholders in pursuit of urban development, housing security, and economic and infrastructure development. We find the lack of continuity in commitment to urban infrastructural development projects and a flawed land tenure system that exacerbates housing insecurity are the two most critical challenges to address in attaining the goals of SDG11 in Uyo. The former calls for better fiscal management and adoption of good governance practices across the administrative hierarchy. The land tenure system can be made equitable and less cumbersome by overhauling the 1999 Land Use Act law of the country. Our findings can inform policies to make midsized cities facing similar challenges more inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable.

Keywords: urban sustainability; land tenure; urban growth; governance; development; urban planning

1. Introduction

The number of people living in urban areas has increased rapidly over the past decades, especially in developing regions of the world [1]. The urban growth in many developing countries has been much faster than the pace of infrastructure development [2]. Furthermore, the growth of small- and midsized cities has been a major contributor to high levels of urbanization [3]. Though Africa's high urbanization rates may look similar to those of other rapidly growing cities, it is important to note that factors that drive urbanization in this continent operate differently from those experienced in developed countries and even in other developing countries [4,5].

Nigeria is one of the largest countries in Sub-Saharan Africa, and has been the third most rapidly urbanizing country after China and India [6,7]. Farrell (2018) contended that most of the emerging cities in Sub-Saharan Africa are in Nigeria. Indeed, 50% of Nigeria's population resides in urban areas, and the urban population is projected to reach 87% by 2050 [7,8], which will require massive infrastructural development [1,9,10].

To date, most of the rapid growth of the cities in Nigeria has happened in an unplanned and unrestrained manner [9,11]. This points to the fact that both scientific and policy approaches to sustainable urban growth must urgently address these issues [12,13]. A review of the literature shows different approaches to how changes in technology, economic conditions, and governance influence change in cities as they develop [14] in addition to economic growth, demographic change, and environmental factors [15–17].

Globally, urban studies typically focus on large cities and metropolitan areas, with minimal attention given to sustainable urban development in midsized cities, characterized by widespread urban poverty and degradation of infrastructure [2,13,18,19]. Many midsized cities, having been subjected to various infrastructural development projects over the

Citation: Essien, E. Impacts of Governance toward Sustainable Urbanization in a Midsized City: A Case Study of Uyo, Nigeria. *Land* 2022, 11, 37. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/land11010037

Academic Editors: Antonio Sianes, Luis A. Fernández-Portillo and Jefferey Sellers

Received: 14 November 2021 Accepted: 24 December 2021 Published: 27 December 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). years, have experienced uneven urban growth, due to a lack of proper planning that takes into account urban sustainability [20]. Further, most urban studies rely on statistics from the United Nations, World Bank, and African development reports, which rely on official national data. To our knowledge, no other study in the African context has evaluated urban governance-based fieldwork and local data to compare cities' progress towards SDG 11 goals.

In this study, we evaluated the prevailing urban governance culture and practices in Uyo, a midsized city in Nigeria, to identify which governance factors are the most influential in moving the city toward or away from being inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable central tenets of UN Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 11—which acknowledges that a multitude of factors can influence urban sustainability both through strong national policy commitments and local governance initiatives [8,18]. To this end, we use Uyo as a representative case study to address the following questions: (1) What, if any, strategic and operational approaches are deployed by public stakeholders toward sustainable urban development in Uyo? (2) How do governance practices affect the economic growth, housing security, and infrastructural and urban development in Uyo?

2. Study Area and Materials

2.1. Study Area

Uyo, the capital of the state of Akwa Ibom, is a midsized city in Nigeria that has been rapidly developing over the past few years due to an increase in allocation of the state oil rent revenue in 2006 [21,22]. The state of Akwa Ibom is located in southeast Nigeria [20], and receives the highest oil rent revenue from the federal government compared to other states in the country, because the state has the highest oil production in the country. This revenue has prompted rapid infrastructural investment within the city [20,23], and has also resulted in the rural-urban and interstate migration of people to the city in search of better living conditions [24]. In 1960, the population of Uyo was 36,061, which grew to 847,480 by 2015 and is estimated to reach 1,135,775 by 2020 (Figure 1), representing a 6% annual change [25]. Thus, the city's population increased more, when it became the capital of the state in 1987 [24]. The city has attracted citizens from different ethnic groups with varying socioeconomic backgrounds. As it is the capital of Akwa Ibom, substantial financial resources have been channeled toward modernizing the city by successive governmental administrations [20]. Consequently, Uyo has been one of the few cities in Nigeria that has experienced continuous urban growth in recent years [23] (Figure 1). Urban growth in the city is relatively high compared to that of its neighboring cities because there are greater job opportunities and relatively better access to basic social amenities. However, one of the biggest problems in the city is the socio-spatial segregation of communities from different backgrounds [20]. Interactions among the different groups of urban dwellers across the city create challenges as well as opportunities in employment and education [6]. However, poor governance and planning practices have contributed to an increase in social and economic inequalities among its residents [26].



Figure 1. Urban population growth in Uyo (source: NPC, 2015).

2.2. Data Collection

In Uyo, qualitative data were examined and presented through a narrative event explored by the interviewers; as well, we reviewed governmental documentation data from each ministry related to urban development, which were examined and are discussed in our results. A structured technique and approach taken from [27,28] were used in formulating our research questions to answer important questions such as: How many projects have been completed, abandoned, or are still in progress since 2000? What is the role of the community in every project planning process? What are the criteria for compensation and what further provision does the government make to assist displaced people? The interview guide questions were presented to the respondents as a checklist and had been given to the respondents before the interviews. The checklist questions were designed as a guide for understanding and interpretation of the data [29].

Furthermore, we reviewed data from the state government's infrastructural development projects of each of the government ministries from 2000 to 2018 to gather more knowledge about the development strategies in the study area, because this was the peak period of infrastructural development in the city [20]. These data include project awards and commissioning, fund allocation to different sectors, housing schemes and policies, population growth, urban infrastructural development and maintenance plans, which were compiled to assess the developmental trend and future sustainable plans [8,30]. We critically studied all of the gathered information to evaluate to what extent the policies were aligned with the guidelines stated in SDG 11 to make cities inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable.

3. Method

3.1. Structured Interviews

The data for this research were collected through structured interviews, fieldwork, and a reconnaissance survey of the city. We followed the approach suggested by [27], that 10 to 20 in-depth interview cases are adequate to obtain information. However, a higher number of respondents could be used if more respondents were accessible and willing to take part in the interview process [28]. As well, we visited different infrastructural facilities in Uyo's urban and suburban areas to establish detailed knowledge of the existing urban growth. We also reviewed governmental documents to assess the urban governance and policies in the city.

First, we conducted discussions and interviews with key urban policymakers to obtain information about government policies and planning in response to the rapid growth of the city. During this process, the focus was on six target governmental ministries related to urban planning, policy, and economic development, and 60 public participants (Table 1). These were the Ministry of Works, the Ministry of Land and Housing, the Ministry of Economic and Rural Development, the Ministry of Urban and Town Planning, the Ministry of Internal Revenue, and the Ministry of Information and Strategy. We identified one key respondent from each of these ministries. The criteria for the selection of these key respondents were based on their rank (directorate level) and the number of years they were employed in the ministry. The respondents were people that had at least twenty-five years' experience working with different governmental heads.

	Key Respondents	Positions
1	Ministry of Information and Strategy	Director
2	Ministry of Work	Director
3	Ministry of Land and Housing	Director
4	Ministry of Economic and Rural development	Director
5	Ministry of Urban and Town Planning	Director
6	Ministry of Internal Revenue	Director
7	Community Stakeholders	Leaders
8	Academic sector	Researchers
9	Commercial Businesses	Business owners
10	Public servants	Level 12
11	Private professional experts	CEO

Table 1. List of key respondents in different sectors.

3.2. Qualitative Data Analysis

The interpretation and grouping of the classified data were done following theoreticalbased models proposed by [31]. The objective was to group different classes of data to obtain information about factors that influence urban sustainability in the study area. The interview was structured with insightful questions and guided checklist questions. We began each interview by elaborating on the objective of the interview to the respondent, to inform the respondent on how the generated data would be used to respond to our research questions. We used a three-step data framework of grouping data into different categories [31]. This approach separates data that are similar to each other based on respondents having the same questions [27,28]. Most of the responses were similar, and we computed them to generate data. We grouped similar data into the same categories and extracted vital information from the data. Our findings are discussed in detail in the sections below.

4. Results and Discussion

4.1. Economic Growth in Uyo

Sustainable economic growth can drive high production levels, create modest jobs for all and encourage entrepreneurship [8]. This would entail accountability and responsibility that would bring changes within the different economic sectors in various communities and economic enlightenment to handle its impact on society and urban areas [8]. In Uyo, according to the interview results (Figure 2), economic reforms and infrastructural development have transformed the city into a rapidly growing urban area due to high revenue obtained from the extraction of its main natural resource (crude oil) [20]. These revenues, channeled from the federal government, have been the primary source of income driving the state economy for years, even though the state government had created a few industries within the city neighborhoods, such as a paper mill in Oku Iboku and a paint factory in Etinan [32]. These industries create employment for the young labor force, and also aid in sustaining the economic growth of the city and the state. Moreover, a significant chunk of the generated revenue is reinvested in the city because of its position as the state capital based on our government data report.





Economic growth and reform (Figure 2) have also created employment in different sectors of the city economy (Figure 3), but manufacturing is among the slowest-growing sectors, despite most of the labor force increasing (Figure 3). Studies have shown that manufacturing industries managed by the governments in some African countries have struggled in contemporary times [5], even though there have been improvements in the education and informal economic sectors (Figure 3). These results were attributed to governmental decisions (Figure 2), the frequent turnover of governmental administrations, poor accountability, and the collapse of state-owned industries (Figure 2). This probably explains why the Nigerian government has recently embarked on large-scale privatization of state assets built during the post-independence era [33].

In response to unplanned urban growth in the city, the state's masterplan was redesigned toward achieving its urban development plans [20]. However, though few heads of administrations have focused on completing the projects that were already initiated prior to their terms, most instead emphasize creating small-scale industries such as pencil, toothpick, and cassava processing mills to provide quick employment opportunities for the growing labor force and export purposes. However, because of poor product quality and inconsistency in these industries, the goods manufactured with these raw materials are rarely used within the state, being more expensive than comparable products on the market, and are not exported as intended. Furthermore, the funds generated from these companies are misused [34].



Figure 3. Employment sectors in Uyo (source: Essien & Samimi 2021).

Consequently, these industries usually fold up at the end of the tenure of the administration that opened them due to changes in management by the new government (Figure 2). Based on our respondents' data, governmental decisions (Figure 2) have hindered the successful, sustained diversification of the city's economy, which is essential to attain SDG 11. Our data show (Figure 2) that governmental heads channel most of the revenue generated from natural resources to investment in small-scale projects with different products, such as wine, tomato, and flour mill industries. Although these industries were meant to alleviate poverty by providing employment to citizens, they were also designed for export to boost the economy [35]; however, these goals do not appear to have been achieved and do not support SDG 11.3, which entails sustainable planning and management in all countries. To address these issues, government administrations need to focus more on the continuity of governmental projects and the regulation of small-scale businesses in urban areas. This would also help governmental heads assess how their economic growth plans align with SDG 11.A, which endorses positive economic growth.

4.2. Large-Scale Infrastructural Development in Uyo

Sustainable infrastructure development must be inclusive and respect human rights; that is, such infrastructure must meet the needs of the poor by increasing infrastructure access, supporting general poverty reduction, and positively impacting GDP per capita [35]. However, the development trend in Uyo shows that the city is yet to follow any of the strategies that may lead to sustainable and just urban growth in the provision of energy, water, and affordable housing [36]. Based on the reviewed governmental data, there are no plans to provide a structured public transportation system in the city to reduce traffic congestion. The government efforts instead center on improving road infrastructure and providing free education for primary and high school levels.

According to some of the governmental respondents, a major urban transition of Uyo depends on infrastructure development, but sustaining this development is a major concern for stakeholders. There are many urban sustainability problems in Nigeria, such as poor energy supply, unregulated water supply, indiscriminate sewage disposal, unpaved streets, and loss of urban vegetation [37]. Due to their importance for quality of life and economic development, some administrations have tried to mitigate some of these problems. For example, past administrations invested more in roads, yet the city is still congested because

infrastructure for public transportation, such as buses and railways, has been neglected. The respondents highlighted that most of the large-scale infrastructure in the state does not serve its intended purpose.

Based on our governmental data, the state invested USD 1 billion into building a power plant for reliable energy supply to the city, but abandoned the project after a change in administration, claiming the project went over budget. Hence, parts of the city have no electricity, while others experience frequent outages. Most occupants and companies use alternative means of power supply, such as power generators, causing a lot of noise and air pollution [38]. In addition, most government-sponsored projects take much longer than scheduled to complete because of poor planning and lack of proper oversight.

Furthermore, some respondents are concerned that most of the large-scale investments in the state do not receive any capital return. Based on our review of the governmental data, the administration invested USD 52.3 million in buying the first state-owned commercial airline (Ibom Air) in the country, rather than maintaining the recently constructed airport that was aimed to function as an international airport. Due to the state's geographical location, the airport was to serve not only local travelers but also international travelers of the southern region of Nigeria. The most pressing question is what are the existing plans and policies to sustain such investments from collapsing at the end of each government's tenure. Policies that encourage such investments tend not to be linked with the SDG 11.3 target.

4.3. Housing Security in Uyo

The very first target of SDG 11 stipulates ensuring access for all to adequate, safe and affordable housing and basic services, and upgrading slums by 2030 [8]. The UN report states that the provision of affordable housing and shelter is a fundamental human right, and it is considered an essential requirement of better living conditions [39]. Although major inequalities exist among many urban dwellers, there is a critical need for better housing conditions in developing countries [39], particularly with their rapidly growing urban centers and populations, adjudged to be the fastest growing in the world [40].

Uyo is one of the few capitals in Nigeria where a remarkably high proportion of state population resides in the city [24], and according to the respondents, the city has experienced drastic population growth due to migrants coming from poorer parts of the country in search of better opportunities (Figure 2). Consequently, housing costs are high in the city center, and this has generated heterogeneous patterns of built-up areas (Figure 4). Public housing programs meant for middle-income earners and civil servants are grossly insufficient to meet demand (Figure 5); also, qualifying for such housing means overcoming many bureaucratic hurdles [35,40]. This situation results in people sourcing alternative means of housing such as converting cargo containers meant for importing and exporting goods to dwellings and shops on the suburban fringes of the city (Figure 4).

In our review, many of the respondents adjudged the poor housing security in Uyo to formal residential buildings often being demolished to open up space for the construction of various public infrastructure projects, such as the construction of a recreation center (Ibom Plaza) and an overpass (Atiku Abubakar). Although the development of the overpass has helped boost economic integration of the city with other states and eased traffic, many people were forcefully displaced and poorly compensated for the loss of their homes and properties for development purposes (Figure 2). This resulted from the 1999 Land Use Act law of the country, which posits that all land within the state belongs to the government [41], and as such, the compensation paid to such individuals only reflects the value of the existing building structures or agricultural crop grown on the land.



Figure 4. Land cover maps of Uyo for 1986, 2003, and 2017 (source: Essien & Samimi, 2019).



Figure 5. Breakdown of housing type in Uyo.

Based on data from respondents in the governmental ministries, there have been government initiatives in the past to build affordable housing units for the civil servants in the state, but these initiatives were hijacked by corrupt politicians who claimed to be civil servants to buy the houses and resell them at a higher rate to the general public. Therefore, in addition to the provision of affordable housing for low-income citizens through governmental funding, there should also be legislation to regulate housing prices within the urban centers [35]. However, at present, there is not even an affordable housing plan for non-governmental and low-income earners. This is contrary to SDG 11.1, which supports affordable and adequate housing for all.

4.4. Governance Practices

Urban governance in Nigeria is highly compartmentalized, without adequate interdepartmental collaboration [42]. Moreover, the state planning authority (i.e., the Ministry of Town Planning and Rural Development (MTPRD)) rarely adheres to its stated environmental planning ethics or follows its existing master plan [43]. Though this ministry was tasked with planning and ensuring that every approved building meets specified quality levels and standards, most buildings are approved without proper scrutiny. Importantly, it is expected that more than 60% of the urban centers to be opened in Nigeria by 2050 have yet to be planned [6]. This calls not only for provision of strict planning laws but also their effective enforcement by public stakeholders to regulate urban infrastructural development [40].

According to the information gathered from the governmental ministries and related literature of many other developing countries [5,40], Uyo follows a system of disbursing funds from the state to the local governments, and this limits the financial independence of local governments [44]. Generally, even though the state generates revenue from taxpayers from the local governments under its jurisdiction, they still depend largely on federal funds. The state government usually requests financial support from the federal government for large-scale projects and sometimes even for minor projects, and in turn, the federal government usually sources foreign investment for the state government. This support may come in the form of a loan, depending on the bilateral relationship with the foreign country [45]. Initially, foreign loans were meant to provide support to huge projects that cannot be financed by the state, but at present, such loans are being used to service major and minor infrastructural projects within states depending on the governmental head decision (Figure 2). However, the focus should instead be on generating funds within the state to support, at least, minor projects rather than collecting foreign loans. Funds can be generated within the community if there is a good and transparent system of tax collection from high-, medium-, and low-income earners [46].

The majority of the respondents are of the view that beyond tax accountability [46], fiscal policy and budget management also need to become more transparent at all levels of government. Proper assessment should be done by the federal government before releasing funds to the state governments for project implementation, and continuous project auditing should be done to ensure that these projects are executed at the planned time to achieve their purpose. This will help to achieve sustainable infrastructural development goals that alleviate poverty for vulnerable people [30], reduce misuse of public funds for unsustainable projects that burden the governments with debt they may not repay, and/or avoid establishing tariffs that end users cannot afford [30,36].

A comprehensive review of our respondents' data from the different governmental ministries shows that the Nigerian system of governance is characterized by turnover of administrations every four years, and this is mostly accompanied by a change in planning and administrative policy by the incoming heads of the administrations (Figure 2). It is common for government heads to squander public funds on their pet projects (Figure 2). For example, a previous government head liked golf and decided to build a golf resort in the city just because of his love of golf, while his predecessor liked football and decided to build one of the best stadiums in Nigeria (Godswill Akpabio Stadium) although the

city already had a stadium that could have been renovated or restructured, using the vast amount of bare land surrounding it for expansion. Instead, this old stadium was simply abandoned and is no longer maintained. If the old stadium had been renovated instead, the funds used towards building the new stadium could have been channeled into other needed infrastructure developments such as industries capable of creating more employment opportunities for the majority of the city's urban dwellers, who work in unskilled jobs [47].

Furthermore, based on the view of governmental stakeholders, even sound infrastructure developments often fall victim to rivalry among political parties. A new government might simply discontinue the project it inherited from the previous administration, claiming corruption or mismanagement, and spend the first two years of its administration investigating its predecessor's governmentally awarded contracts. Often, there is also incentive to re-award these projects to political allies or cronies. All these issues easily distract an incoming administration from delivering good governance to its constituents, resulting in incomplete infrastructural development projects in the city [43]. This approach needs to be reviewed because it has restrained most of the cities not only in Nigeria but across Sub-Saharan Africa from being appropriately developed [5].

Finally, as asserted by some of the respondents (Figure 2), the opinions of community leaders are rarely taken into consideration when making urban development plans within the state. Community leaders should act as a direct link between the people and the government when implementing urban development projects [48], yet these leaders are hardly consulted. There is evidence of productive collaborations among community leaders, government officials, and private investors in cities such as Navi Mumbai in India, Pudong in China, and New Town in Vietnam, bringing their respective cities closer to the community dwellers to achieve unified development [48]. This system of governance should be adopted in Uyo and SDG 11.A should be integrated into every piece of legislation and policy at all levels of the government in Nigeria.

4.5. Toward Sustainable Urban Growth in Uyo

In 2015, the United Nations (UN) member states adopted 17 goals (referred to as the Sustainable Development Goals, SDG) as part of the vision of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, and a period of 15 years was proposed to achieve these SDGs [8]. Although progress in achieving these goals has been made in many cities across the globe, there are many more that have yet to take any tangible action [8]. With just a few years left to achieve these goals, during the 2019 summit, world leaders called for speedy action to be taken and institutions to be strengthened to achieve these SDGs by the target date of 2030 [8].

Many countries in Sub-Saharan Africa face enormous challenges in achieving SDGs. Never-ending power struggles and contestation of authority distract the elected governments from implementing good governance in cities [49]. Likewise, in Uyo, there is an urgent need for tighter interaction and coordination among respective urban governance entities. Decision-makers should always try to properly manage friction during the transition of power between governmental administrations to promote sustainable infrastructural development. This will help increase productivity [35], reduce the number of incomplete projects within the state, and promote unification in achieving the overall goals of every project. Strategies for managing state-owned industries should be designed to achieve high-quality and affordable products. These sustainability strategies will also help to eliminate the chances of industries and infrastructure collapsing as a result of poor management or governance.

Currently, in Nigeria, the land-use law provides the government sovereignty over all land in the state, neglecting the communal and land tenure system of land ownership [41,50]. Land can only be owned after proper land registration at the Ministry of Land and Housing, although the associated administrative processes mean years of bureaucratic hurdles [40]. Citizens with little knowledge of the law or limited financial means to register their land may begin building structures for shelter without proper registration and approval. The provisions of SDG 11 should be integrated into legislation and policy at all levels of government in Nigeria. This should include rules and regulations that govern land use planning practices in the country. Regarding this aspect, the 1999 Land Use Act law that governs land in the country needs to be reviewed. A systemic approach to urban governance that can educate the people, speed up land registration processes, and promote collaboration among different departments toward moving the city toward SDG 11.A should be encouraged.

Housing challenges have been largely overlooked within the city (Figure 2). The state government should aim at providing housing security for urban dwellers, especially the poor and displaced people. Housing policy should be designed and implemented by the Ministry of Land and Housing. Housing rent should be regulated and made affordable to the public without constant increases, which will help to reduce the existing level of inequality among urban dwellers [35,40]. The government should properly monitor the implementation of all these strategies to ensure that the aims and objectives of SDG 11.1 are achieved in the city.

Poor accountability and lack of transparency in revenue collection [46] and implementation of infrastructural projects have increased the fiscal challenges in Uyo. An efficient and transparent system of tax collection from businesses and workers, as well as the remitting of these taxes to the government, should be designed and implemented by the ministry of internal revenue. These taxes will help to boost the city's economy, as well as the development and maintenance of some infrastructural facilities.

5. Conclusions

In this study, we examined the urban governance policies and practices in Uyo, a midsized city in Nigeria, in light of SDG 11: Sustainable cities and communities. This study agrees with other related scientific studies, and it is the first in Sub-Saharan Africa to analyze urban governance towards sustainable development. Specifically, we analyzed the influence of governance practices in the city on infrastructural development, housing security, economic growth, and urban development. Our findings show that the main causes of the poorly planned development in the city are: (i) the friction between successive governmental administrations, (ii) the lack of allocated funds for housing security and the maintenance of many existing infrastructures, and (iii) the lack of transparency and accountability in revenue collection and execution of projects within the city. Using Uyo as a case study, we highlighted the specific challenges that many other midsized cities in Sub-Saharan Africa and other developing countries share. We also identified potential ways to address these challenges in creating healthy, just, and equitable environments with a high quality of life from the local to the national level.

Funding: This research was funded by the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), grant number 91666076.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: I would like to acknowledge the support of Burak Güneralp for his many constructive comments and contributions that helped to improve this paper. I am also grateful for the support and advice from Cyrus Samimi.

Conflicts of Interest: The author declares no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Montgomery, M. The urban transformation of the developing world. Science 2008, 319, 761–764. [CrossRef]
- Nyström, M.; Lindgren, E.S. Sustainable Urban development and environment. In A Research Agenda for Africa 2005; SIDA: Stockholm, Sweden, 2005.
- Güneralp, B.; Meredith, R.; Billy, U.; Elizabeth, A.; Seto, K. Trends in urban land expansion, density, and land transitions from 1970 to 2010: A global synthesis. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2020, 15, 044015. [CrossRef]

- 4. Güneralp, B.; Shuaib, L.; Hillary, M.; Susan, P.; Karen, S. Urbanization in Africa: Challenges and opportunities for conservation. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2017, 13, 015002. [CrossRef]
- 5. Pieterse, E. *The Potential for Sustainable Urbanisation in Africa;* Centre for Cities; University of Cape Town: Cape Town, South Africa, 2019.
- 6. Avis, W. Urban Expansion in Nigeria. K4D Helpdesk Report 692; Institute of Development Studies: Brighton, UK, 2019.
- UN DESA. World Urbanization Prospects 2018: Highlights. UN DESA. 2019. Available online: https://population.un.org/wup/ Publications/Files/WUP2018-Highlights.pdf (accessed on 21 April 2021).
- United Nation Development Programme (UNDP). 2018. Available online: www.ng.undp.org/content/nigeria/en/home/ sustainable-development-goals (accessed on 13 June 2021).
- 9. Farrell, K. An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of Nigeria's Rapid Urban Transition. Urban Forum 2018, 29, 277–298. [CrossRef]
- 10. McDonnell, J.; MacGregor-Fors, I. The ecological future of cities. Science 2016, 352, 936–938. [CrossRef]
- 11. The Cities Alliance; Foundation for Urban Development in Africa. *The Legacy of Akin Mabogunje*; The Cities Alliance: Washington, DC, USA, 2007.
- 12. Ramaswami, A.; Russell, G.; Culligan, J.; Sharma, R.; Kumar, E. Meta-principles for developing smart, sustainable, and healthy cities. *Science* 2016, 352, 940–943. [CrossRef]
- 13. Wachsmuth, D.; Cohen, D.; Angelo, H. Expand the frontiers of urban sustainability. Nature 2016, 536, 391–393. [CrossRef]
- 14. Swilling, M.; Hajer, M. Governance of urban transitions: Towards sustainable resource efficient urban infrastructures. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **2017**, *12*, 125007. [CrossRef]
- Singh, S.; Kennedy, C. Estimating future energy use and CO₂ emissions of the World's cities. *Environ. Pollut.* 2015, 203, 271–278. [CrossRef]
- Kennedy, C.; Ibrahim, N.; Hoornweg, D. Low-carbon infrastructure strategies for cities. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2014, 4, 343–346. [CrossRef]
- Kennedy, C.; Steinberger, J.; Gasson, B.; Hansen, Y.; Hillman, T.; Havránek, M.; Pataki, D.; Phdungsilp, A.; Ramaswami, A.; Mendez, G. Greenhouse gas emissions from global cities. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, 43, 7297–7302. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bai, X.; Surveyer, A.; Elmqvist, T.; Gatzweiler, F.W.; Güneralp, B.; Parnell, S.; Prieur-Richard, A.-H.; Shrivastava, P.; Siri, J.G.; Stafford-Smith, M.; et al. Defining and advancing a system approach for sustainable cities. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* 2016, 23, 69–78. [CrossRef]
- Seto, K.; Golden, J.; Marina, A.; Turner, L. Sustainability in an urbanizing planet. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2017, 114, 8935–8938. [CrossRef]
- 20. Essien, E.; Samimi, C. Detection of Urban Development in Uyo (Nigeria) Using Remote Sensing. Land 2019, 8, 102. [CrossRef]
- 21. Egugbo, C.C. Resource Control and the Politics of Revenue Allocation in Nigerian Federation. *Int. J. Arts Humanit.* 2016, *5*, 186–201. [CrossRef]
- Onuigbo, R.; Innocent, E. State Governors and Revenue Allocation Formula in Nigeria: A Case of the Fourth Republic. Int. J. Account. Res. 2015, 2, 14–36. [CrossRef]
- Akpan-Ebe, N.; Udotong, R.; Ekpenyong, E. Ecological Consequences of Urbanization of Uyo Capital City, Akwa Ibom State, Nigeria. J. Agric. Ecol. Res. Int. 2015, 3, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- 24. National Population Commission. Annual Population Projection. Federal Republic of Nigeria. 2015. Available online: http://population.city/nigeria/uyo/ (accessed on 18 May 2021).
- 25. Africapolis, I. Update, West African Studies; OECD Publishing: Paris, France, 2019.
- 26. Israel, U.E. Urbanization and Conflict: A Study of Uyo, 1900–2015. Afr. J. Hist. Archaeol. 2018, 3, 35–49.
- 27. Miles, B.; Huberman, M. Qualitative Data Analysis; Sage Publications: Newbury Park, London, UK, 1994; pp. 228–245.
- 28. Guest, G.; Bunce, A.; Johnson, L. How Many Interviews Are Enough? Field Methods 2016, 18, 59-82. [CrossRef]
- 29. Amin, M. The impact of heritage decline on urban social life. J. Environ. Psychol. 2018, 55, 34-47. [CrossRef]
- Aina, Y.; Wafer, A.; Ahmed, F.; Alshuwikhat, M. Top-down sustainable urban development? Urban governance transformation in Saudi Arabia. *Cities* 2019, 90, 272–281. [CrossRef]
- 31. Jarah, S.H.A.; Zhou, B.; Abdullah, R.J.; Lu, Y.; Yu, W. Urbanization and Urban Sprawl Issues in City Structure: A Case of the Sulaymaniah Iraqi Kurdistan Region. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11*, 485. [CrossRef]
- Akpabio, M.; Akpan, N. Governance and Oil Politics in Nigeria's Niger Delta: The Question of Distributive Equity. J. Hum. Ecol. 2010, 30, 111–121. [CrossRef]
- Bakre, O.M.; Lauwo, S. Privatisation and accountability in a "Crony capitalist" Nigerian state. Crit. Perspect. Account. 2016, 39, 45–58. [CrossRef]
- 34. Ovunda, A. Burning Issues in the Nigeria Tax System and Tax Reforms on Revenue Generation: Evidence from Rivers State. *Int. J. Financ. Account.* **2018**, *7*, 36–48.
- 35. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). Economic Diversification in Africa: A Review of Selected Countries. Available online: https://www.oecd.org/development/investmentfordevelopment/economicdiversificationinafricaa reviewofselectedcountries2011.htm (accessed on 25 October 2020).
- Deakina, M.; Alasdair, R. Sustainable urban development: Use of the environmental assessment methods. Sustain. Cities Soc. 2013, 10, 39–48. [CrossRef]

- 37. Onibokun, A.; Faniran, A. Urbanization and Urban Problems in Nigeria. Urban Research in Nigeria. 2006. Available online: http://www.books.openedition.org/ifra (accessed on 7 January 2021).
- 38. Montes-González, D.; Vílchez-Gómez, R.; Barrigón-Morillas, M.; Atanasio-Moraga, P.; Rey-Gozalo, G.; Trujillo-Carmona, J. Noise and Air Pollution Related to Health in Urban Environments. *Multidiscip. Digit. Publ. Inst. Proc.* **2018**, *2*, 1311. [CrossRef]
- 39. Tusting, L.; Donal, B.; Graham, A.; Ewan, C.; Richard, C.; Michael, D.; Seth, F.; Harry, G.; Jakob, K.; Charles, M.; et al. Mapping changes in housing in sub-Saharan Africa from 2000 to 2015. *Nature* **2019**, *568*, 391–394. [CrossRef]
- 40. Mahendra, A.; Seto, K. Upward and Outward Growth: Managing Urban Expansion for More Equitable Cities in the Global South; Towards a More Equal City; World Resources Report: London, UK, 2019.
- Otubu, A. The Land Use Act and Land Administration in 21st Century Nigeria: Need for Reforms. J. Sustain. Dev. Law Policy 2018, 9, 80–108. [CrossRef]
- 42. Smith, R.; Wiek, A. Achievements and opportunities in initiating governance for urban sustainability. *Environ. Planning. C Gov. Policy* 2012, 30, 429–447. [CrossRef]
- 43. Essien, E.; Samimi, C. Evaluation of Economic Linkage between Urban Built-Up Areas in a Mid-Sized City of Uyo (Nigeria). *Land* **2021**, *10*, 1094. [CrossRef]
- Nkechi, O. New Revenue Sharing Formula Clamour by the Nigerian State Governors: Propelling Factors and Matters Arising. Public Policy Adm. Res. 2013, 3, 27–36.
- 45. Investment Guide 2017/2018. Available online: https://www.africalegalnetwork.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Nigeria-Investment-Guide-2018 (accessed on 14 March 2021).
- Evans, O. Fiscal Discipline, Financial Development & Economic Growth in Nigeria. In Dynamics of Fiscal and Monetary Policies in ECOWAS Countries; Nwaogwugwu, C.I., Ed.; University of Lagos Press: Lagos, Nigeria, 2020.
- Eni, D.; Ubong, E. Poverty and Environmental Degradation in Uyo Urban, Akwa Ibom State, Nigeria. Afr. J. Educ. Stud. Math. Sci. 2008, 6, 56–64. [CrossRef]
- Gotsch, P.; Peterek, M. New Settlements in the South—Urban Models for the 21st Century? In Proceedings of the International Conference Megacities III: Action Models and Strategic Solutions, Wesseling, Germany, 24–26 November 2003.
- Schuberth, M. Hybrid Security Governance, Post-election Violence and the Legitimacy of Community-based Armed Groups in Urban Kenya. J. East. Afr. Stud. 2018, 12, 386–404. [CrossRef]
- Nuhu, M.; Aliyu, A. Compulsory Acquisition of Communal Land and Compensation Issues: The Case of Minna Metropolis. In Proceedings of the FIG Working Week 2009 Surveyors Key Role in Accelerated Development, Eilat, Israel, 3–8 May 2009.





Article The Incorporation of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Local Policies for Social Transformation in Disadvantaged Urban Areas

Rocío Vela-Jiménez, Antonio Sianes*, Rocío López-Montero and Antonio Delgado-Baena

Research Institute on Policies for Social Transformation, Universidad Loyola Andalucía, 41704 Seville, Spain; mrvela@uloyola.es (R.V.-J.); rlopezm@uloyola.es (R.L.-M.); adelgadob@uloyola.es (A.D.-B.) * Correspondence: asianes@uloyola.es; Tel.: +34-611099523

Abstract: According to the United Nations, the current COVID-19 crisis is threatening decades of development gains. This situation is aggravated in disadvantaged urban areas where 25% of the world's population lives. Such concentration has aggravated the multidimensional problem that requires an integrated policy approach. Internationally, this approach has materialized in the formulation of global policies such as the 2030 Agenda. However, many doubts remain about the extent to which global policy such as the 2030 Agenda is able to inspire the formulation of local policies from the multidimensional perspective proposed by the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). To answer this question, in this contribution we rely on a comparative case study of two public policies aimed at promoting the social inclusion of the most vulnerable groups in the urban context: the "Andalusian Regional Strategy for Social Cohesion and Inclusion. Intervention in disadvantaged areas" (ERACIS) and the "Barcelona Strategy for Inclusion and Reduction of Social Inequalities 2017–2027". The results show how the government sphere, the logic of intervention, and other aspects of policy design influence the incorporation of the principles of the 2030 Agenda in local policies, highlighting both risks and potentials of such policy transfer, crucial to the effective achievement of the SDGs.

Keywords: inclusive and sustainable urban development; public policy; social policy; policy transfer; design policy; multidimensionality approach; social exclusion; social transformation; disadvantaged urban areas; 2030 Agenda

1. Introduction

According to the Report on the 2021 Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations, the current crisis caused by COVID-19 threatens decades of progress in development, further disrupting the progress on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) [1]. Inequalities have increased considerably worldwide [1–3], not only in terms of health but also in social and economic spheres, which has turned COVID-19 into a syndemic [4]. Cities, where more than half of the world's population lives [2], have become the epicenters of COVID-19. This has aggravated the situation regarding disadvantaged neighbourhoods that were already affected by urban fragmentation and social segregation that occur in urban areas. The people who live in these neighborhoods, currently 24% of the world's population [1,2], have seen their situation worsen because of the impact of the pandemic on low-income households and on people who work in the informal sector [1].

This situation has given a renewed impetus to existing global efforts to address the challenges derived from the increase in social inequalities, especially in cities. New Urban Agenda-Habitat III (United Nations, 2017) was approved in 2016 with the objective of addressing urban segregation and social exclusion at the local level. Additionally, the urban dimension of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (United Nations, 2015) [5],

Citation: Vela-Jiménez, R.; Sianes, A.; López-Montero, R.; Delgado-Baena, A. The Incorporation of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Local Policies for Social Transformation in Disadvantaged Urban Areas. *Land* **2022**, *11*, 197. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/land11020197

Academic Editor: Wenze Yue

Received: 16 December 2021 Accepted: 26 January 2022 Published: 27 January 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). which was approved in 2015, set the objective of achieving inclusive, resilient, and sustainable urbanization, supported directly by SDG 11 "sustainable cities and communities" and in an integrated manner by the other SDGs.

These international policies are clear examples of global solidarity wherein the world is transformed, together. However, to make these policies effective, they must be implemented at the regional, national, and local levels. At these levels, public policies can truly materialize and directly influence the reduction in social inequalities in each specific context because they can be used to direct resources more efficiently [6]. However, as the academic literature has highlighted, the localization of transnational policies is a difficult challenge to achieve, especially at the regional and local government levels [7].

With the aim of shedding light on this debate, this article sets the following objective: to analyze how two Spanish policies aimed at promoting social inclusion have been adapted to the comprehensive mandate of the 2030 Agenda to improve the situation in disadvantaged neighborhoods. For this, two policies formulated after the approval of the 2030 Agenda in different territorial contexts of the Spanish state, i.e., Andalusia and Catalonia, were selected: the Andalusian Regional Strategy for Cohesion and Social Inclusion (ERACIS) [8], which was approved in 2018 as a strategy aimed at improving the social inclusion of disadvantaged neighborhoods at a regional level; and the Strategy for Inclusion and Reduction of Social Inequalities of Barcelona 2017–2027 (Barcelona Strategy) [9], a strategy aimed at reducing territorial inequality at a local (city) level.

1.1. Social Inequality and Urbanism: Disadvantaged Urban Areas

Social inequality is not a new phenomenon, nor does it affect only those countries that have historically been affected by processes of exclusion [10]. In fact, this phenomenon has re-emerged in recent years with greater force in countries with more advanced economies, such as the OECD countries [3]. In these countries, social inequality has increased, especially since the financial crisis of 2008, a situation that has been aggravated by the COVID-19 pandemic. These events have led to the loss of public confidence in the government [3] and in the increasingly incipient fragmentation of society [11–19], marked by a multipolarity, where multiple centers of political and corporate power, housing markets, etc., exercise social predation from a systemic relationship, configuring diverse realities of social inequality, which are accentuated in cities all over the world [12,20–25].

The concern for the progressive formation of this dual and unequal society is not new [6,19,26–31]. Authors such as David Harvey [29,31] and Manuel Castells [30] have already noted how cities, responding to the capitalist mode of production, have been built based on urban planning conceived in a relational way, where the urban center is defined in relation to a periphery without which it cannot exist [12,16,19,29,31,32]. This configuration of spatial forms influences the social processes that occur in cities, where the characteristics of urban planning have created both physical and social barriers that individuals cannot overcome, providing an environment for social injustice [12,16,19,23,29–31,33].

Urbanism is configured as a heterogeneous and dynamic process of social, economic, political, and material division and fracture, which lands in different ways in each context, varying geographically not only between cities but also within them [13–18]. This fragmentation configures in cities urbanism of exception [34], where wealth concentrated in different political and economic powers generates zones of impoverishment and neglect, allowing elites to carve out new urban areas where life can develop separately from the vast majority of people living in the city [13–15,17–19,24,25,35].

Metropolitan systems are increasingly articulated as a range of production and consumption, revaluing processes and life. Relationships, characterized by competition and distinction, disarticulate places and lives that are devalued [17,18,24,25]. This is shaping new privileged zones and new urban identities and at the same time a shadow world [15,24].

Thus, these processes of urban fragmentation and social segregation are carried out based on an unequal distribution and a lack of interaction between different social groups in an urban space [6,18,19,29,31], generating so-called disadvantaged urban areas [15,17,24–27,29–31,36]. When talking about social and urban fragmentation and segregation, two different approaches are used: a sociological approach, in which segregation is defined as the lack of interaction between individuals from different social groups; and a geographical approach, the most commonly used, which refers to the unequal distribution of different social groups in the urban space [6,12,23,33]. Thus, urban fragmentation and social segregation give way to the monopolization of some to the detriment of others, based on two dimensions: a drawing of physical boundaries and a restriction to valuable resources considered by society to be able to participate in the benefits of urban life that attenuate inequality [17,19,35,37,38]. This segregation of cities conditions the lives of people residing in disadvantaged urban areas, where they experience low quality of life indices and have fewer life opportunities than the inhabitants of other areas of the city [6,15,17,28,39].

In addition to the general characteristics of unequal distribution in cities that facilitate functional segregation, disadvantaged urban areas are affected by specific characteristics that hinder the development of these areas and the people who inhabit them [6,18,27,39–41]. As identified by Arias and later other authors, due to the temporary persistence of social exclusion in these areas, there are several factors that influence the process of exclusion and segregation in disadvantaged neighborhoods [6,26,27,41,42], various factors influence the process of exclusion and segregation of disadvantaged neighborhoods. These are physical factors, inadequate housing, and urban layout or deficient services; socioeconomic factors, low levels of education, unemployment or proliferation of illegal activities; and political factors, little attention from public administrations, real estate policies that negatively affect the sociodemographic profile of the inhabitants or social inclusion policies characterized by uncoordinated or unintegrated sectorial actions that have not managed to transform the exclusionary reality of these neighborhoods.

This triple gap weakens the social fabric of disadvantaged neighborhoods, with differentiating characteristics according to each specific context, by maintaining over time the urban fragmentation and social exclusion that affects the life expectations of the young population and increasing unstructured families. Exclusion favors the constant arrival of new vulnerable populations, such as the working poor, ethnic minorities, or immigrant populations, who cannot access other spaces in the city due to the fragmentation caused by urbanism of exception, leading to a concentration of social groups with similar characteristics [15,17,33,34]. All these factors weaken coexistence and social cohesion, generating a stigma that deepens and continues the spiral of social exclusion [6,19,26,27,36,39,41].

An increasing number of authors argue that addressing this multidimensional and dynamic problem of disadvantaged urban areas requires a comprehensive approach [6,26,27,41-44]. Urban problems and social segregation are complex and multidimensional, where various problems interact in a systemic way that is not only physical, economic, or material, but also problems that hinder the social participation of citizens with equal rights, such as coexistence in safe environments, education, or health [6,32,42,45]. Urban space and the way in which the population is distributed is not a neutral scenario; it is a reflection of the interaction between different economic and social agents that contribute to making a city at any given moment. To address the social inequality that is generated in this interaction that fragments society, a combination of different policy instruments is needed to improve the urban space and the social situation [15,34,44]. The policies implemented in these neighborhoods should be based on the specific characteristics of each neighborhood and should encourage the participation of the population in their own development process [17,26,27,29,31,32,39,42]. It is therefore necessary to generate policies that are comprehensive and inclusive to fight against the social inequality and segregation that characterize urban areas today [17,27,42,44].

1.2. A Global Political Framework to Comprehensively Address the Challenge of Disadvantaged Urban Areas

Aware of the growing social inequality that is facilitating the proliferation of increasingly fragmented and segregated societies, the international community is designing global political frameworks focused on providing a multidimensional and comprehensive perspective to address such challenges.

In the field of urban development, two global policies stand out at the international level: New Urban Agenda-Habitat III [2] and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [5]. Both frameworks are based on international commitment to generate regional, national, and local policies that comprehensively favor inclusiveness and sustainability in cities. However, while the New Urban Agenda focuses on promoting inclusive and sustainable urban development in cities [2], the 2030 Agenda reinforces the promotion of such urban development, specifically in SDG 11 and with a comprehensive approach involving all 17 SDGs, which also incorporate other challenges that more broadly affect cities today [45–47].

The 2030 Agenda is designed as a comprehensive policy that highlights the challenges faced today by all countries in the world and the interconnection among these challenges. The academic literature has widely identified how all SDGs and targets are interconnected [46–50], which favors a multidimensional approach when addressing social exclusion in the context of disadvantaged urban areas [42]. SDG targets can be achieved collaterally as a result of policies and social interventions that can be carried out in disadvantaged urban areas. For example, if education improves in these areas, employment opportunities would improve [44,51]. Similarly, focusing on a territorial policy with a bottom-up participatory approach could reduce social segregation by improving social cohesion and coexistence [36,45].

This comprehensiveness and interdependence posed by the 2030 Agenda require a global effort to address the challenges facing today's societies; therefore, most governments are aligning their policies to the 2030 Agenda, referencing relevant SDGs for each type of policy. However, the policies that most need to incorporate the comprehensive and inclusive approach of the 2030 Agenda are those aimed at fighting poverty and social exclusion. These policies must take into account the multidimensionality involved in addressing this issue, especially with regard to combating the urban fragmentation and social segregation faced by cities, in which disadvantaged neighborhoods are the greatest exponent of social inequality [15,17,19,24,27,42–44].

1.3. The Necessary Localization of the 2030 Agenda at the Regional and Local Levels

The academic literature echoes the need to analyze the incorporation of the 2030 Agenda into specific policies. Thus, recent studies such as that by García Serrano [52], which analyses how evaluation policies in Costa Rica integrate the 2030 Agenda, or that by Spinazzola [53], which analyses the integration of the 2030 Agenda into the departmental policies of several countries, can be highlighted. These studies indicate that to analyze the extent to which global efforts such as the 2030 Agenda are materializing in local public policies, it is necessary to have an analytical framework. Only in this way will it be possible to evaluate the extent to which policies are being designed that comprehensively address the generation of inclusive and sustainable cities and settlements consistent with the mandates of the 2030 Agenda.

Previous analyses that have tried to identify the influence of the 2030 Agenda on local policies have chosen to perform a general evaluation of policies as a whole [46,47]. Notably, the literature has identified the need for other frameworks of analysis to truly determine if local policies adapt to and implement the 2030 Agenda because many times, the references in the design of a policy remain declarative and normative and are not based on instruments, implementation structures, or in the shaping of the beneficiaries of the policies themselves [54–57].

To achieve this objective, we rely on models previously developed by academia. Authors such as Salamon [58], Peters [59–61], Curley [57], and Schneider and Ingram [62], have developed methodologies for analyzing policy design to test the effectiveness of its implementation. The literature has emphasized the need to pay attention to where and how policies are designed, as this design will affect the success of the policy. They point to certain elements that need to be taken into account, such as understanding the dynamics of the social problem to be addressed, the importance of the design of the policy implementation itself, as well as the instruments used to implement it [59,60]. Authors such as Schneider and Ingram [62] and Curley [57] point out the need to take into account the beneficiaries of the policies, and the social construction that is made of them [62], as well as the design of the instruments that can determine who participates in policy and how [57,62]. Any policy design is based on assumptions about citizens' behavior, which can lead to an overly simplistic understanding of their reactions to policy [60]. There is therefore a proposal from academia for a more participatory and collaborative policy design, where the flexibility of institutions, from a systemic approach, can actually respond effectively to the problem it is intended to solve [59,60].

In this contribution, the model of Schneider and Ingram will be utilized [62] to analyze whether the design of public policies is truly aimed at generating democratic societies that solve the challenges facing societies, and that other authors such as Jones et al. [63] or Kash [64] have used to analyze the design of health or environmental policies. Democracies are sustained by the participation of a universal subject with equal rights to participate in public life [32]. Urban fragmentation and social segregation have an impact on relational poverty where multidimensional economic, political, and cultural processes, which converge at different geo-historical conjunctures, lead many people to be in a daily struggle for survival, leaving little time and limited access to spaces for participation, deliberation, and social inclusion [32]. This reality leads to the need for the design of comprehensive policies that democratically guarantee the participation of all citizens in the urban sphere, effectively reversing these multiple situations of exclusion derived from fragmented urbanism that has increased social inequalities [19,32,42,44].

Schneider and Ingram point out in their proposal that public policies have recognizable designs in the text and in the practices through which policies are transmitted and have consequences [62]. Policymaking is a human action, and its design aims to fulfill objectives. This design arises from a context in which different agents are involved in a given social construction of reality and of the target populations to which the policy is directed [62]. From this social construction, the elements of the policy are organized to serve certain purposes, where the ideas included have real consequences [62]. They also point out that policy analysis requires great sensitivity to the context in which it is applied, since an excellent design in one context may not be very useful in another [62].

To assess the impact of policy design on democratic values such as justice, citizenship, democratic institutions, or problem solving, the authors argue that there are a number of basic observable empirical elements found in all policies [62]. To this end, Schneider and Ingram offer an analytical framework based on the analysis of the architecture of any policy. Through the analysis of this structure, information can be obtained on whether a certain policy is truly inclusive and on the consequences derived from its design to address the challenge in question [62].

In their proposal, these authors identify six elements of this architecture present in the design of any policy: goals or problems to be solved, target populations, agents and implementation structures, tools, rules, rationales, and assumptions [62]. Goals refer to what the policy aims to accomplish and what should be modified or achieved as a result of the policy. Target populations are the recipients of the policy. Agents and implementation structures refer to those who will develop and enact a policy. Tools refer to how the policy will be created, and the instruments and methods required to support the planned changes. Rules specify the procedures for political action and the guidelines that establish who should do what, when, and with what resources. Finally, rationales and assumptions refer to the reasons for the policy, justifying the design of the policy as a whole [62].

The application of an analytical framework such as that of Schneider and Ingram will allow us to examine the way in which local policies are designed to address social exclusion and segregation and to what extent they do so from the integral and participatory perspective that indicates the global commitment to the 2030 Agenda.

1.4. Case Study: Spanish Policies for Social Inclusion

Spain presents an alarming situation with respect to poverty and social exclusion. In 2020, the United Nations Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights, Philip Alston, concluded, after his visit to Spain, that it has one of the highest rates of poverty and social exclusion in Europe, approximately 26% [65]. In his report, he highlights the serious situation in certain urban areas of the country, where the living conditions of the population are surprisingly marginal, and reports that these populations have reasons to feel abandoned by political leaders [65]. The report highlights the existence of deep structural problems that keep Spain from meeting objectives with regard to the effectiveness of social protection programs, as indicated in the 2020 Report on Efficacy and Equity of Social Spending of the International Monetary Fund [66].

In his report, the United Nations Special Rapporteur indicates the key challenges that Spain must address in order to promote a country that guarantees social rights [65]. These challenges are mostly aimed at the socially excluded population living in disadvantaged urban areas [65]. Among the challenges that Spain must face are those related to social protection, which does not have an impact on reducing social inequality; education, where 72% of students in vulnerable situations study in segregated schools; health care, despite being one of the countries with an excellent health system, there are significant gaps in access for the most vulnerable population; and housing, where urban planning has not been able to reduce social inequality; housing, where urban planning has meant that the population has serious difficulties in accessing affordable housing, with a socio-demographic profile characterized by poverty concentrated in deprived urban areas; or climate change, which will have devastating consequences for people living in poverty and a strong impact on policies to support them [65].

To address these challenges, Spain has developed various policies at the state level aimed at reducing social inequality. A notable example is the National Strategy for the Prevention and Fight against Poverty and Social Exclusion 2019–2023 [67], which, under the 2030 Agenda, in particular SDGs 1 and 10, aims to meet the needs of citizens, especially those who are the most vulnerable. At the regional and local levels, there are also numerous policies that promote social inclusion based on the mandates of the 2030 Agenda, at both the autonomous community and city levels. The design of social inclusion policies at the regional and local level can address more concretely the particular problems of the territories, especially in disadvantaged urban areas [68]. The tendency in the design of social inclusion policies has revolved around responding to sectoral problems, without incorporating the territorial and comprehensive dimension in order to respond to the situation that cities face today with the increase in social inequalities [68,69]. In Spain we can find some policies that address territorial inclusion from a comprehensive and community-based approach, although so far, they have presented some limitations in practice [68]. Given this situation, it is necessary to make an effort to design social inclusion policies that truly incorporate the comprehensive and participatory approach proposed by the 2030 Agenda, taking into account the specific contexts to respond effectively to the challenges presented by the territories [59].

This article aims to analyze how two Spanish policies have been adapted to the mandates of the 2030 Agenda to combat the social exclusion present in many cities in Spain that is facilitating the proliferation and worsening of social inequality in disadvantaged urban areas. Specifically, this study examines policies implemented in Andalusia and Catalonia, where comprehensive urban policies in favor of inclusive and sustainable development have been enacted, paying special attention to disadvantaged neighborhoods [43].

For Andalusia, the Andalusian Regional Strategy for Cohesion and Social Inclusion (from now on "ERACIS") will be examined [8]. Approved in 2018, the aim of ERACIS is to socially transform disadvantaged urban areas of Andalusia, with an emphasis on SDGs 1 and 11. For Catalonia, the Strategy of Inclusion and Reduction of Social Inequalities of Barcelona 2017–2027 (from now on "Barcelona Strategy") will be examined [9]. The aim of this strategy is to reduce territorial inequalities in the city of Barcelona based on all SDGs.

The reason for selecting these two policies as references is that both address territorial inequality in disadvantaged urban areas. Furthermore, one policy is designed to address the issue from the regional level and has a territorial approach (ERACIS), and the other policy is designed to address the issue from the local level and has an individual-centered approach (Barcelona Strategy).

An analysis of these two policies will not only allow an assessment of the effective incorporation of the 2030 Agenda in regional/local but will also contribute to shedding light on some of the numerous debates that exist in social research regarding the design of public policies to generate effective social transformation in disadvantaged urban areas. There is profuse debate on the level of government (regional or local) responsible for designing these policies [6,42]. Additionally, there is debate on whether these policies should focus on the specific needs of territories as the context that generates social exclusion [6,70–72] or focus on individuals in situations of social exclusion and on minimizing the factors that limit life opportunities [73,74].

To address these objectives, a three-step analysis is carried out. First, the SDGs that address the challenges of disadvantaged urban areas are identified. Second, through the policy design structure proposed by Schneider and Ingram [62], the elements of both policies that best reflect the mandates of the 2030 Agenda are identified. Third, a comparative analysis of the design of the two policies and the presence of the SDGs that affect disadvantaged urban areas in the policies is conducted to identify how and to what extent both policies incorporate the mandates of the 2030 Agenda. The comparative analysis concludes by discussing the extent to which the level of government (regional/local) and the policy approach (territories/individuals) may be favoring or hindering the incorporation of the comprehensive and participatory approach of the 2030 Agenda.

2. Materials and Methods

To achieve the identified objectives, a comparative case study was conducted. Specifically, two regional and local Spanish public policies aimed at the fight against poverty and social exclusion in the urban environment were selected as study materials: the Andalusian Regional Strategy for Cohesion and Social Inclusion (ERACIS) [8] and the Inclusion Strategy and Reduction of Social Inequalities in Barcelona 2017–2027 [9]. The method used to analyze these policies was conducted in three steps.

Step 1. To analyze the sensitivity of the 2030 Agenda with regard to addressing the challenges in disadvantaged urban areas, the first step was to identify the relevant SDGs that influence the dimensions that can generate social inclusion in these areas. The breadth of the 2030 Agenda has encouraged numerous authors to elucidate which SDGs apply to a particular issue, for example, Medina Rey et al. (human right to food) [75], Ramírez-Rubio et al. (urban health) [47], Maes et al. (urban ecosystems) [48], Seifollahi-Aghmiuni et al. (wetland ecosystems) [49], Farnia et al. (urban level) [50], or Sisto et al. (local administrations Budget) [55]. This study did the same by identifying SDGs that affect disadvantaged urban areas. However, given the nature of these territories, apart from identifying the relevant SDGs, a distinction was made between them: SDGs that address general urban problems that are aggravated in disadvantaged urban areas are referred to as general SDGs, such as poverty reduction or ensuring women's equal participation, which affect society in general but are aggravated in these areas; and SDGs that address urban problems that are specific to disadvantaged areas are referred to as specific SDGs, such as school failure, which specifically affects the life opportunities of a large part of the population living in these areas, the need to promote cities that reduce the existence of these marginal neighborhoods by promoting inclusive urbanization or improving coexistence and social cohesion within these areas characterized by insecurity and lack of habitable spaces.

Step 2. To determine if the 2030 Agenda can be found in the justifying, normative, or instrumental elements of these policies, an analysis was carried out using the policy design structure described by Schneider and Ingram [62]. These authors propose a framework to analyze the design of public policies, arguing that policies contain an architecture that can

be observed through a series of empirical elements, i.e., goals or problems to be solved, target populations, agents, and implementation structures, tools, rules, rationales, and assumptions. This policy design structure has been used to analyze sectorial policies in different countries by authors such as Jones et al. and Kash [63,64].

Step 3. To facilitate locating SDG targets in both policies, each policy will be searched for a list of keywords, which have been selected by highlighting those words that summarise the purpose of each SDG target. For example, SDG target 1.3. Implement nationally adequate social protection systems and measures for all, including floors, and achieve by 2030 substantial coverage of the poor and vulnerable corresponds to the keyword "social protection". This will allow locating, in each policy, the general and specific SDGs, an approach used in other studies [53,56,76]. The identification of SDG targets will allow a qualitative evaluation of the inclusion of the principles and objectives of the 2030 Agenda into the structure of each of the two policies analyzed, which have been organized according to the proposed policy design structure. For example, in Goals, the text of each policy is unified in terms of the objectives it pursues, and in Tools, the same is done by unifying the text that includes the instruments designed by the policy for its implementation. This qualitative assessment of the presence of SDG targets in each policy was carried out to distinguish between the appearances of these keywords in an explicit form, when the keyword appears the same in the policy text, implicit form, even if the keyword does not appear in the text literally, but the context refers in other words to its inclusion, or it simply does not appear in the text of the policy. This is a common practice in studies that analyze the presence of the 2030 Agenda in certain policies, for example, the study by Ilieva [46] on the explicit presence of SDGs in food strategies of ten large cities in North America or that by Birner [76] on the influence and integration of the SDGs in the institutional framework of governance in Germany.

Carrying out these three steps will allow the discussion to focus on evaluating to what extent each of the two policies analyzed incorporated the mandates of the 2030 Agenda, in what elements of the policy the mandates are included, and to what extent the level of government (regional/local) and structuring approach (territories/individuals) may be facilitating or hindering the effective incorporation of the 2030 Agenda.

3. Results

3.1. Step 1: 2030 Agenda and Disadvantaged Urban Areas

As in other analogous studies that analyze the influence of the 2030 Agenda on certain issues [47–50,75], the first step was to identify which SDGs influence the reality of social exclusion in disadvantaged urban areas. Based on previous studies that address the dimensions that affect social exclusion in disadvantaged urban areas [6,26,27,41,42], 51 of the 169 SDG targets were selected [77]. These 51 targets, which represent 30.18% of the total, corresponding to 14 SDGs. Consistent with previous studies that have investigated relevant SDGs for urban areas [47], the SDGs corresponding to combating climate change (SDG 13), conserving the oceans (SGD 14), and protecting terrestrial ecosystems (SDG 15) were included.

Because disadvantaged urban areas are territories within cities, various authors have distinguished between shared urban problems and endogenous urban problems [6,27,29,30,36,41–43,50,78–81]. Similarly, this study distinguishes between general SDG targets, i.e., those that address general urban problems that are aggravated in disadvantaged urban areas, and specific SDG targets, i.e., those that address problems specific to disadvantaged urban areas. Of the 51 selected targets, 25 were general SDG targets, and 26 were specific SDG targets.

Figure 1 provides the list of SDG targets that promote inclusive and sustainable development in disadvantaged urban areas, with the general SDGs (unshaded box) distinguished from the specific SDGs (shaded box).



Figure 1. General and specific SDGs to impact disadvantaged urban areas.

The general SDG targets were contained in SDGs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 11, 12, and 16. SDG 1 includes 1.2, 1.3, and 1.4, which address the reduction in the population living in poverty in cities, guaranteeing their access to social protection, economic resources, and basic services. SDG 2 includes 2.1, which refers to access to adequate food for the vulnerable population. SDG 3 includes 3.6, 3.7, and 3.9, which refer to access to sexual and reproductive health and the prevention of death due to traffic accidents and pollution, situations that are becoming increasingly worrisome in cities [82]. SDG 4 and SDG 8 cover two of the most common challenges in disadvantaged urban areas: education and employment [51]. SDG 4 includes 4.3 and 4.6, which address literacy and technical and higher training, and SDG 8 includes 8.3, 8.5, 8.8, and 8.b, which address the promotion of employment, safe work environments, and employment strategies for young people. SDG 5 includes SDGs 5.2, 5.4, 5.5, and 5.6, which are related to eliminating all forms of violence against women, recognizing and valuing care work, ensuring the full participation of women, and ensuring access to sexual and reproductive health. SDG 11 includes 11.6 and 11.a, which aim to strengthen economic and social links between urban areas and reduce the environmental impact of cities, a situation that is aggravated in disadvantaged urban areas [36,81]. SDG 12 includes 12.5, which is related to waste reduction through recycling. SDG 16 includes 16.1, 16.2, 16.3, 16.9, and 16.10, which focus on the prevention of violence and abuse and access to justice, information, and legal identity.

The specific SDG targets were contained in SDGs 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 16, and 17. SDG 1 includes 1.b, which refers to creating development strategies for the poor, one of the challenges that characterize policies developed for disadvantaged urban areas [81]. SDG 3 includes 3.4 and 3.5, which refer to the prevention and treatment of mental health disorders, well-being and the consumption of addictive substances, situations of risk that

affect the population of these areas [51]. SDG 4 includes specific targets 4.1, 4.2, 4.4, and 4.5, which refer to facilitating access, permanence in education, and technical training of the most vulnerable groups, such as children and youth. SDG 5 includes 5.4, which is considered typical of these areas, referring to the prevention of early marriage, sometimes accompanied by adolescent pregnancy [83,84]. SDG 6 and SDG 7 include 6.3, 6.b, and 7.1, which aim to improve wastewater treatment and access to energy services and community participation, issues that in recent years have received special attention in disadvantaged urban areas [85,86]. SDG 8 includes 8.6, which refers to the promotion of employment of young people who do not work or study, a population characteristic of disadvantaged urban areas [51,81]. SDG 9 and SDG 17 include 9.c and 17.8, which address the digital divide [87]. SDG 10 and SDG 11 have the most direct relationship with disadvantaged urban areas insofar as they are oriented to a reduction in social inequalities (targets 10.1, 10.2, 10.3, and 10.4) and inclusion and sustainability of cities (targets 11.1, 11.2, 11.3, and 11.7). Finally, SDG 16 includes 16.1, 16.2, 16.3, 16.9, and 16.10, which are related to the reduction in illegal activities and insecurity and the promotion of citizen participation in decision-making, issues that are relevant when seeking to promote processes of social inclusion in these disadvantaged urban areas [36,45,88].

3.2. Step 2: Policy Design of ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy

The theoretical review has demonstrated that the policies that are inspired by the 2030 Agenda tend to have declarative and normative structures, without the inclusion of instruments and structures of implementation. To investigate this possible misjudgment, this analysis will follow the model of Jones et al. [63], coding each policy, i.e., ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy, based on the six elements of policy design proposed by Schneider and Ingram [62]: goals, target populations, agents, tools, rules and rationales, and assumptions. This analysis of policy design will allow for a comparative analysis of the architecture of the two policies. Table 1 summarises each of the elements of policy design in ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy.

Schneider and Ingram's Policy Desing Structure	ERACIS	Barcelona Strategy
Goals	Improve the living conditions of people living in disadvantaged areas of Andalusia favouring their participation and access to the social protection system, specifically to the labour market.	To transform the city of Barcelona into a European and Mediterranean benchmark of a city by 2027, that guarantees the social rights of all citizens, eliminating stigmatization and segregation and reducing territorial inequalities.
Target Populations	99 Identified Disadvantaged Areas of Andalusia.	The population of the city of Barcelona in a situation of social inequality.
Agent(s) and Implementation Structures	The Regional Government of Andalusia promoted and designed ERACIS. The municipalities implement, coordinate, monitor and evaluate the community development process, with the participation of the public and private agents.	The strategy is promoted and designed by Barcelona City Council and more than 700 organizations that have signed the Citizens' Agreement for an Inclusive Barcelona. 167 social organizations and municipal bodies implement the strategy through projects.

Table 1. Comparing policy design elements in ERACIS and Barcelona Strategy.

Land 2022, 11, 197

Schneider and Ingram's Policy Desing Structure	ERACIS	Barcelona Strategy
Tools	The main instrument for the implementation of the strategy is the Local Zone Plans, designed in participatory way as a intervention tool with a community approach.	The main instrument for the implementation of the strategy is the Structuring Projects that provide the necessary transversality and coordination to the 892 sectoral projects
Rules	Policy with a regional policy framework. 12 guiding principles provide the framework for the incorporation of different stakeholders in the process of design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation through Local Zone Plans. Only some of the operational objectives and targets are mandatory.	Policy with a local policy framework. Two lines of action are regulated: a sectoral one, which includes the plans and programs already underway, and a transversal action through the Structuring Projects.
Rationales and Assumptions	The segregating tendency of contemporary societies has led to the existence of socially excluded neighborhoods. A comprehensive and community intervention model is the key to reversing inequality and social exclusion in these areas.	Barcelona has become a more unequal and unjust city since the 2008 crisis, with 12,904 people currently living in residential exclusion. To reverse this situation of social inequality, the strategy aims to be a benchmark in transformative urban policies, from the promotion of proximity policies implemented by local governments with a territorial approach.

Table 1. Cont.

3.2.1. Goals

The main objective of the ERACIS policy is to improve the living conditions of people living in disadvantaged areas of Andalusia, emphasizing the population's access to the labour market. The main objective of the Barcelona Strategy is achieving a city model that guarantees social rights by reducing territorial inequalities.

The two policies have similar axes or lines of action regarding the objectives to be pursued to reduce social inequalities in the urban environment. However, the axes of ERACIS focus on the community as a whole: Axis 1—Sustainable economic and community development; Axis 2—Public policies for well-being and social cohesion; Axis 3—Improvement of the habitat and coexistence; and Axis 4—Networking and innovation in community social intervention. The axes of the Barcelona Strategy focus on both the individual level (Line 1—Reduce inequality in income distribution and guarantee social rights, especially access to housing, quality employment, and basic needs; and Line 2—Increase educational equity and lifelong learning and cultural opportunities) and the community level (Line 3—Strengthen and articulate services and relational and community support networks that facilitate personal and collective empowerment; Line 4—Eliminate stigmatization and social segregation; and Line 5—Reduce territorial social inequalities).

3.2.2. Target Populations

Although both policies are aimed at populations in situations of vulnerability or social exclusion in urban areas, there is a nuance between the two when defining the target population. ERACIS defines 99 disadvantaged areas identified in municipalities of the eight provinces of Andalusia as its target population (914,103 inhabitants). These areas are identified based on five territorial criteria: high level of unemployment, immigrant population, public housing, problems of security and coexistence, and history of social intervention. The Barcelona Strategy defines its target population as the entire population of a city where social inequality has been identified, based on eight dimensions, in addition to a determination of the degree of territorial inequality at the city level, district level, and on some occasions the neighborhood level (e.g., at this sublevel, 12,904 people were

identified who are in a situation of residential exclusion). These individuals are identified based on eight personal dimensions: poverty and inequality, employment, education, health, housing, relational and community support networks, coexistence, and civility.

3.2.3. Agent(s) and Implementation Structures

The main difference between the two policies is that ERACIS is promoted and designed by a regional political body, and the Barcelona Strategy is driven and designed by a local political body. However, for the two policies, implementation is the responsibility of the municipalities, as these political bodies are closer to the reality of the citizenry. For both policies, such implementation must also be carried out together with other public and private entities as well as with organized civil society, which will not only execute the policies but also monitor and evaluate their implementation.

Both policies define, for each axis or line of action, the specific agents responsible for the execution of the different measures and actions. However, ERACIS only includes a list of public administration agents and private entities, without including citizen agents. The Barcelona Strategy includes the participation of 167 entities, of which 73% are social entities, 23% are municipal organizations and 4% are citizen action networks.

3.2.4. Tools

Both policies design tools to be implemented. For ERACIS, the Local Zone Plans include 129 measures that compose the four axes of the policy. Of these measures, only four address mandatory inclusion, related to labor insertion plans linked to the minimum insertion income and the hiring of professionals. In the Barcelona Strategy, the Structuring Projects coordinate 892 projects and sectorial actions distributed based on the objectives of each of the five strategic lines.

Although the tools for both policies are designed, implemented, and coordinated by all the agents involved, public, private, and civil organizations, there is a differentiating nuance in the typology of the tools proposed in the two policies. For ERACIS, the Local Zone Plans articulate and define the actions to be implemented in each disadvantaged area based on the objectives and measures proposed in the policy. For the Barcelona Strategy, the Structuring Projects provide transversality to different projects and sectorial actions that are already underway; that is, there is no definition of the projects to be implemented in different districts and neighborhoods of the city. Finally, the two policies establish a system of indicators for monitoring and evaluating the objectives of each strategy.

3.2.5. Rules

There are several differences in the regulatory framework of the two policies analyzed. ERACIS is a regional policy approved by the Official Gazette of the Junta de Andalucía with the status of a norm, with a regulatory framework and international (European Social Fund 2014–2020), national (National Action Plan for Social Inclusion 2013–2016), and autonomous community (Law 9/2016, of 27 December, on Social Services in Andalusia) funding. The Barcelona Strategy is a local policy approved by the municipal Plenary of the Barcelona City Council, with a framework regulated by the City Council and more than 700 public and private entities within the framework of Citizens for an Inclusive Barcelona.

Regarding the regulation of financing for the two policies, ERACIS includes a budget and subsidy requirements to finance Local Zone Plans for both local and social entities. However, the Barcelona Strategy does not include a financing plan for actions that are already underway or for the Structuring Projects. Finally, the two policies provide a time frame for their actions. The term for ERACIS is 4 years, and that for the Barcelona Strategy is 10 years, i.e., 2017–2027.

3.2.6. Rationales and Assumptions

Both policies cite increasing social exclusion and segregation as justifications for their actions, arguing the need to implement urban policies that reduce social inequalities in cities.

ERACIS limits the scope of its interventions to the neighborhood level, with a territorial approach, through a characterization of the general situation in disadvantaged urban areas in each province of Andalusia. The Barcelona Strategy circumscribes its actions to the city level, more specifically the district level, with a person-centered approach, characterizing the population residing in each district using the aforementioned eight dimensions.

Both policies justify the implementation of community development approaches that promote the social participation of target populations in their own transformation processes. The objective is to minimize inequality in cities and neighborhoods under the protection of international and national policies that promote sustainability and social inclusion, e.g., the 2030 Agenda. The policies promote networking among different stakeholders in each neighborhood and area of intervention, emphasizing the importance of local governments in the implementation of these strategies because they are political bodies closer to social reality.

3.3. Step 3: Identifying the 2030 Agenda in Policy Design

To identify the SDG targets in the two policies analyzed, a list of keywords was developed for searching each policy. Table A1 (in Appendix A) shows the relationship of the SDG and SDG targets, both general and specific, with their keywords. Here, an improvement is introduced based on other studies that locate SDGs in certain policies [53,56,76], i.e., the keywords used to refer to both the SDGs and each target SDG. This approach makes it possible to locate, in a more exhaustive way, which specific targets and SDGs are present in each policy analyzed.

The identification of each target SDG through the proposed keywords allowed locating targets in each element of the policy design structure proposed by Schneider and Ingram [62]. For the qualitative analysis of the presence of the 2030 Agenda in each policy, the systematization process used in other studies that investigated the degree of presence of the SDGs in certain policies was followed [46]. The presence of each general and specific SDG target was systematized based on whether the policy includes a target explicitly, implicitly, or not at all. This qualitative judgment was performed independently by all authors of this article. For 84% of the elements, the analysis was convergent, with the majority of authors agreeing on the value given. Finally, the cumulative percentages of the presence of each SDG in each element of the policy design were obtained by calculating the arithmetic mean, assigning a value of 100% if the inclusion of the target is explicit, 50% if the inclusion of the target is implicit, and 0% if a target is not mentioned. A consensus summary of the presence of general SDGs and specific SDG targets is provided in Tables 2 and 3, respectively.

egy.
Straf
elona
Barce
and
ACIS
n ER.
)Gs ii
al SL
Gener
e 2. (
Tabl

neral			ERAC	SIS					Darcelona	a strategy		
DGs rgets	Goals	Target Pop- ulations	Agents and Structures	Tools	Rules	Rationales and Assumptions	Goals	Target Pop- ulations	Agents and Structures	Tools	Rules	Rationales and Assumptions
otal	60%	26%	18%	60%	26%	66%	58%	20%	56%	72%	44%	64%
1.2	:	•	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
1.3	:	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
1.4	:	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
2.1	•	•		•		:	•	:		:	:	•
3.6												
3.7	:			:		:		:	•	•		
3.9												
4.3	:	•		:		:	:	:	:	:	•	:
4.6	•	•		:		•	•	•	•	•	•	•
5.2		•			•	:	•	:	•	•		:
5.4	:			•	•	:	•	:	:	•	•	:
5.5	•	•	•	•	•	:	•	:	•	:	•	:
5.6	:			:		:		:	•	•		
8.3.	:	•	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
8.5	:	•		:		:	:	:	:	:	:	:
8.8							•	:	:	•	•	•
8.b	:			:		:	•	:	:	:	•	:
1.6	:			:								
1.a	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	•	:	:
2.5												
.6.1	•	•		•		:	:	:	•	:	•	:
16.2								:	•	:		:
16.3							:			•		•
16.9							•			•		•
6.10	•			•		:	:		•	•		•

Strategy.
3arcelona
and]
ERACIS
DGs in l
pecific S
Table 3. S

SDCs Tigget Pop Berry 1 unitonsTagget Pop and LutionsSerut LutionsAgent LutionsAgent LutionsAgent LutionsAgent LutionsAgent LutionsRut Lutions104 <th>Specific</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>ERAC</th> <th>CIS</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>Barcelona</th> <th>Strategy</th> <th></th> <th></th>	Specific			ERAC	CIS					Barcelona	Strategy		
Dial 794 334, 374, 81%, 38%, 62%, 63%, 71%, 62%, 63%, 71%, 1b <td< th=""><th>SDGs Targets</th><th>Goals</th><th>Target Pop- ulations</th><th>Agents and Structures</th><th>Tools</th><th>Rules</th><th>Rationales and Assumptions</th><th>Goals</th><th>Target Pop- ulations</th><th>Agents and Structures</th><th>Tools</th><th>Rules</th><th>Rationales and Assumptions</th></td<>	SDGs Targets	Goals	Target Pop- ulations	Agents and Structures	Tools	Rules	Rationales and Assumptions	Goals	Target Pop- ulations	Agents and Structures	Tools	Rules	Rationales and Assumptions
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Total	79%	33%	37%	81%	38%	62%	%69	71%	62%	87%	65%	77%
34 1	1.b.	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
35. 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 5.3 5.3 5.3 5.3 5.3 5.3 5.4 4.1 4.1 6.5 6.1 4.1 6.5 6.1 4.1 7.1 7.1 7.1 8.6 7.1 7.1 8.6 7.1 7.1 8.7 7.1 7.1 9.8 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7.1 9.1 7.1 7	3.4.	:	•		:		•	:	:	•	:	:	:
4.1 4.1 4.2 4.1 4.3 4.2 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 5.3 5.3 5.3 5.3 6.4 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 7.1 7.1 7.1 8.5 9.5 9.5 9	3.5.	:	•		:		:	•	:	•	:	:	:
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4.1.	:	•		:		:	:	:	•	:	:	:
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4.2.	•	•		•		:	:	:	:	:	:	:
45 53 53 53 63 63 63 63 63 64 71 9 11 9 9 96 9 9 11 9 9 101 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 103 9 9 104 9 9 103 9 9 104 9 9 103 9 9 113 9 9 114 9 9 115 9 9 116 9 9 117 9 9 118 9 9 <td< td=""><td>4.4.</td><td>•</td><td>•</td><td></td><td>•</td><td>•</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td></td<>	4.4.	•	•		•	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
5.3. 6.4.	4.5.	•	•		•		:	:	:	:	:	:	:
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	5.3.									•			
6h 71. 7.1 86. 9. 9. 9. 9. 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.	6.3.	•			•			•	•				
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	6.b.	•			•			•				•	•
86. 9.2. 9.2. 101. 101. 102. 103. 103. 104. 111. 1	7.1.	:			:			•	:		:		:
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	8.6.	•	•		:	•	•	•	:	•	:	•	:
101. 102. 103.	9.c.	•		:	•			•			•		:
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10.1.	•	•		:	•	:	•	:	•	•	:	:
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10.2.	•	•	:	•	•	:	•	:	•	•	:	:
104. •• <	10.3.	:	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	•	:	:	:
111. •	10.4.	:	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	•	:	:	:
112 •• 113. •• 117. •• 117. •• 117. •• 117. •• 117. •• 118. •• 164. •• 165. •• 165. •• 166. •• 178. •• 178. ••	11.1.	:	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	•	:	:	:
11.3. ••	11.2.	•			:						:		•
11.7. •• •• •• 16.4. • •• •• •• 16.5. • • • •• •• 16.5. • • • • •• •• 16.5. • • • • •• •• •• 16.7. • • • • • ••	11.3.	•	•	:	•	•	:	•	:	•	•	:	:
164. • 165. • 165. • 167. • • • 167. • • • 167. • • •	11.7.	•	•		•		:	•	:		•	•	
16.5. • 16.7. • 16.7. • 16.9. • 16.9. • 16.9. • 17.8. •	16.4.	•			•						•	•	
16.7. •• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	16.5.	•			•						•		
16.b. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	16.7.	:	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	•	:	:	:
17.8. •• •• •• ••	16.b.	•		•	•	•	:	:	:	•	•	:	:
	17.8.	•		:	:						:		:

3.3.1. General SDG Targets in ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy

Among the 25 general SDG targets that address the challenges facing disadvantaged urban areas, the Barcelona Strategy incorporates more in its design than does the ERACIS in its design: the Barcelona Strategy incorporates five of the nine SDGs (1, 5, 8, 11, and 16), and ERACIS broadly incorporates only 1 (SDG 1).

Beginning with similarities between the two policies, both ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy broadly incorporate the targets of SDG 1 (poverty) in their design. This result was expected because both policies promote a strategy focused on improving the lives of people in situations of social vulnerability, emphasizing a reduction in economic poverty. Similarly, the community dimension of SDG 11 appears strongly in both policies through target 11.a., as both policies promote strengthening the social and economic links of the urban areas to which they are directed.

In contrast, it is striking that neither policy includes dimensions oriented to guaranteeing the environmental sustainability of disadvantaged urban areas. This is observed in the lack of dissemination of environmental targets of the 2030 Agenda in the design of the two policies. Thus, neither of the two policies aims to improve the welfare of the population through a reduction in pollution (3.9.), a reduction in the negative environmental impact of poor air quality (11.6), or a reduction in waste through recycling (12.5).

The main divergences in the two policies can be seen in the incorporation of SDGs 4, 5, and 8. Although neither of the two policies includes, in a decisive or homogeneous way, SDG 4 (education) in its design, the Barcelona Strategy expressly incorporates the target 4.3 by promoting education and professional training as keys to overcoming social exclusion; similarly, implicit consideration target 4.6 (literacy) is observed throughout the policy, to the extent that the policy aims to promote access to education at all stages of life.

In relation to SDG 5 (gender), the Barcelona Strategy, in general, promotes a more gender-based approach than does ERACIS. However, this incorporation is not homogeneous at the target level. For example, in the Barcelona Strategy, the gender-based approach is evidenced through the incorporation of target 5.4, which is explicitly considered throughout the policy by decisively promoting the recognition of care work. Notably, neither of the two policies promotes a strategy of access to sexual and reproductive health (5.6).

With respect to SDG 8 (labor market), neither policy clearly incorporates the achievement of labor rights (8.8.), although the Barcelona Strategy considers this target implicitly. In general, SDG 8 is present in a more multidimensional way in the Barcelona Strategy because it guides the design of the policy towards the promotion of full employment (8.5), employment strategies for young people (8.b), and the promotion of a developmentoriented policy of job creation (8.3). Target 8.3 is prominent in ERACIS because the entire strategy of this policy focuses on the creation of jobs for people living in disadvantaged urban areas.

Having analyzed the incorporation of general SDG targets in the two policies, we subsequently evaluated to what extent this presence occurs in each element of the policy design. Interestingly, despite being policies aimed at combating social exclusion in disadvantaged urban areas, the presence of the general SDG targets is relatively limited. Following the methodology described in the previous section, the coverage was 58% in the Barcelona Strategy and 60% in ERACIS.

There is a difference between the two policies regarding the target populations. The Barcelona Strategy incorporates the SDGs much more decisively (70%) than does ERACIS (26%). This can be explained by the fact that ERACIS diagnoses the situation of target populations, at the census section level, highlighting the general characteristics of 99 disadvantaged areas from a territorial perspective. The Barcelona Strategy, in addition to a territorial analysis of the city, incorporates an analysis of the situation of the populations at the city, district and neighbourhood levels based on eight dimensions, thus characterizing target populations with an individual approach.

There is also a significant difference between the policies regarding the degree of presence of general SDG targets at the level of agents and implementation structures,

with very little present in ERACIS (18%). Although this is not a prominent element in the Barcelona Strategy (58%), there is at least one integrative effort, among other aspects involving the 167 entities, public and private, that participate in its implementation. The identification of the participation of civil society organizations is scarce but higher than that for ERACIS, which at no time indicates the participation of citizen agents.

In relation to the design of tools, both policies incorporate, to a high degree, the general SDG targets: the Barcelona Strategy 72% and ERACIS 60%. Both policies carefully define the design of their main tools to be implemented. For ERACIS, the Local Zone Plans that municipal councils must design for each of the disadvantaged areas identified are already underway, as are the Structuring Projects of the Barcelona Strategy that will guide sectorial projects. The difference in weight can be explained by the fact that the Barcelona Strategy involves the coordination of 892 existing sectorial projects, and ERACIS leaves the responsibility of the design of Local Zone Plans to each municipality associated with the 99 zones.

Regarding the most normative aspects, with respect to rules, both policies present significant deficits when incorporating the perspective of the SDGs: the Barcelona Strategy 44% and ERACIS 26%. Regarding rationales and assumptions, the two policies are directed towards and justify the need to develop policies aimed at solving challenges facing urban areas, incorporating the SDGs into this reasoning. However, both are still far from having a comprehensive sustainability approach, as observed in the lack of targets that are aimed at promoting environmental sustainability in these areas.

3.3.2. Specific SDG Targets in ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy

Regarding the 26 specific SGDs that address the challenges facing disadvantaged urban areas, the Barcelona Strategy incorporates more in its design than does the ERACIS in its design: the Barcelona Strategy broadly incorporates five SDGs (1, 3, 4, 8, and 10), and ERACIS cross-sectionally incorporates only 2 SDGs (1 and 10).

With regard to similarities, both policies homogeneously incorporate SDGs 1 and 10. Both policies create a solid framework of development strategies aimed at reducing inequality and favoring the socioeconomic inclusion of the poor population living in urban areas, specifically in disadvantaged urban areas.

In contrast, both share weaknesses regarding the inclusion of other targets. For example, neither of the two policies aims to empower women and girls through the prevention of early marriage (SDG 5, target 5.3), which occurs with high incidence among adolescent girls of certain ethnic groups [83,84]. They also do not promote the participatory management of water and sanitation (SDG 6, targets 6.3 and 6.b), a challenge facing these areas due to the deterioration of public housing [81]. Along these lines, the most surprising aspect of this study emerges—neither of the two policies incorporates, with sufficient and homogeneous weight, the targets of SDG 11, which focuses precisely on cities and urban settlements. Thus, throughout their design, the actions within the two policies focus on ensuring access to housing and basic services (target 11.1) and favoring inclusive and sustainable urbanization in a participatory manner (target 11.3); however, targets 11.2. and 11.7, aimed at promoting access to public transport, green areas, and safe public spaces, are not clearly present.

Among the differences in the design of the two policies, the main divergences are seen in the incorporation of SDGs 3, 4, 8, and 16. The Barcelona Strategy gives significantly greater weight to SDGs 3, 4, and 8 than does ERACIS by designing a policy that has a stronger focus on improving mental health, preventing and treating addictions (targets 3.4 and 3.5), ensuring equal access to education in all stages of life, promoting technical and professional skills of young people and adults for their insertion into the labor market (targets 4.1, 4.2, 4.4 and 4.5), and reducing the young unemployed population and those who do not study (target 8.6), especially those who are in a situation of social inequality.

Regarding SDG 16, the Barcelona Strategy is strongly and differentially designed with respect to ERACIS as a non-discriminatory policy in favor of sustainable development
(16.b). Likewise, both policies promote the participation of all stakeholders in decisionmaking to respond to the needs of the target population (target 16.7). However, targets 16.4 and 16.5, related to illegal activities and crime, are not present, challenges that are necessary to address in disadvantaged areas because they affect the creation of an environment of insecurity that impacts coexistence and social cohesion [36,81].

Having analyzed the incorporation of specific SDG targets into the policies, we subsequently evaluated to what extent this presence occurs in each element of the policy design. Regarding the goals, both policies give strong weight to the mandates of the 2030 Agenda, with the percentage being significantly higher for ERACIS (79%) than for the Barcelona Strategy (69%).

However, when defining target populations, the Barcelona Strategy incorporates specific SDG targets to a greater extent (71%) than ERACIS (33%). This is derived from the analysis performed at the micro level to diagnose the situation of the target populations at the city, district, and neighborhood levels.

In relation to agents and implementation structures, the Barcelona Strategy incorporates specific SDGs to a greater extent (62%) than ERACIS (37%) because the former defines those agents and structures and the latter only defines the agents and implementation structures for public administration, as indicated in the general SDG targets.

Both policies, when determining their tools, incorporate the mandates of the 2030 Agenda, i.e., through the Structuring Projects and Sectorial Plans in the Barcelona Strategy and the Local Zone Plans in ERACIS. These tools detail both content and operation and show a capacity to achieve the proposed objectives, covering a greater spectrum of topics coinciding with the SDGs.

With respect to the regulatory aspect of these policies, there is again a difference between the two policies. The Barcelona Strategy incorporates specific SDGs to a greater extent (65%) than ERACIS (38%). Although both policies seem to incorporate more than half of the specific SDG targets in their rationale and assumptions, the Barcelona Strategy incorporates these targets to a greater extent (77%) than ERACIS (62%).

4. Discussion

The study framework has allowed us to determine to what extent the design of the two policies analyzed, i.e., ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy, incorporate the different SDGs that address disadvantaged urban areas. The analysis allowed us to identify common patterns and observe substantial differences between the two policies; in general, the Barcelona Strategy incorporates the SDGs, both general and specific, in a more apparent way than does ERACIS. These similarities and differences revealed in the comparative analysis allow us to advance knowledge on this topic with respect to the previously existing literature.

Regarding goals, although both policies are aimed at combating social inequality in urban areas through a multidimensional approach to minimize social exclusion, their designs reflect policies aimed at fighting poverty in its most material sense, in line with SDGs 1 and 10. The core of the two policies, both in their regulatory and implementation aspects, is the generation of employment and economic resources for the people of these territories. It is expected that this bias will limit the impact of the policies for social inclusion because the literature has widely identified the need to simultaneously address physical, political, and socioeconomic gaps [6,26,27,36,41–43,79–81].

Despite this undeniable conclusion, other aspects that minimize social exclusion are incorporated, although with varying representation. Thus, certain efforts are observed in both policies that orient their actions toward the generation of more inclusive cities, focusing on the improvement of marginal neighbourhoods through access to education, training, housing, and basic services, challenges that are included in SDGs 4, 8, and 11. However, some of the most decisive targets of these same SDGs to combat exclusion in disadvantaged urban areas are omitted, for example, improving employment through a rights-based approach; promoting educational inclusion; improving security; promoting liveable and

safe spaces; and improving coexistence and social cohesion. Furthermore, neither of the two policies incorporates in its design a sustainability approach when facing the challenges of social inclusion of disadvantaged urban areas (SDGs 3, 6, 7, 9, 12, and 17), nor is there a determined effort in their design to address the challenges from a gender perspective (SDG 5). These deficiencies denote a lack of comprehensiveness when addressing the specific challenges facing disadvantaged urban areas, a requirement widely identified by the literature as essential to address the multidimensional and dynamic problems of these areas [6,26,27,41–44].

This deficit of transversality in the policy approach is partially corrected in the design of the tools. Both policies provide details regarding operations, i.e., the Structuring Projects in the Barcelona Strategy and the Local Zone Plans in ERACIS. In this sense, the Barcelona Strategy foresees an implementation structure through these Structuring Projects that provides transversality to the 892 sectorial projects in the five strategic lines of the policy. ERACIS offers a catalog of 129 local measures in four proposed axes. However, only four of these 129 measures are mandatory, and all of them are related to the implementation and monitoring of labor insertion plans linked to the minimum insertion income and with the hiring of professionals to carry out this work. The analysis carried out lays the foundations to contribute to the academic debate on whether social inclusion policies should design ad hoc tools or focus on coordinating existing projects through tools that provide them with transversality. However, and as will be evidenced when noting the limitations of the study, the analysis of policy design is a compulsory but insufficient step to answer this overarching question.

In its normative elements, there are substantial differences that shed light on the level of government most suitable to address the fight against social exclusion in the urban environment. ERACIS has a regional regulatory nature. Approved by the Official Gazette of the Junta de Andalucía, it incorporates a multi-year budget; therefore, to a certain extent, it transcends government political parties. The Barcelona Strategy was approved by the Plenary of the City Council and therefore is more dependent on the municipal and local governments because it does not have a multi-year budget and must be supported by sectorial projects in progress. Given the necessary feasibility and predictability that the literature has identified as indispensable for the success of social inclusion interventions [43,44,80,81], the evidence seems to confirm certain weaknesses in purely local regulatory frameworks.

The two policies give relatively limited weight to implementation agents and strategies, especially in the design of ERACIS, where the presence of civil society is barely mentioned in the design of the Local Zone Plans. This weakness can compromise the effective inclusion of the 2030 Agenda, whose implementation is based on a multi-actor approach. In addition, there is abundant empirical evidence regarding the need for policies aimed at these disadvantaged urban areas to be based on the specific characteristics of each area and that the impact of such policies depends on the effective participation of the population in their own development process [17,26,27,29,31,32,39,42].

If political commitment is weakened both in its normative dimension and in the actors in charge of executing policies, the focus should be placed on the rationality of such interventions. In this sense, there is a significant difference between the two policies. ERACIS has a territorial approach at the regional level, which, as has been demonstrated in the analysis, causes it to lose detail and depth in proposing and identifying the specific characteristics and needs of disadvantaged urban areas. The Barcelona Strategy, by focusing on a single municipality, details in a more concrete way the characteristics and needs of urban areas, in particular the most disadvantaged. In addition, with an individual-centered approach, the Barcelona Strategy can identify in greater detail the human problems experienced in each neighborhood. Therefore, when designing policies aimed at disadvantaged urban areas, an approach focused on individuals has a greater capacity to incorporate the comprehensive and inclusive mandates proposed by the 2030 Agenda. However, as the literature has repeatedly noted [6,26,27,29,30,36,41–43,45,81], if only the people are transformed and not the territories, the cycle of exclusion will be reproduced. People will leave neighborhoods, again attracting vulnerable populations, deepening the social stigma and the loss of social cohesion. The analysis carried out highlights the need to generate in-depth knowledge about policies so that the 2030 Agenda does not deepen this tension between individuals and territories, especially in disadvantaged urban areas.

5. Conclusions

The 2030 Agenda is a regulatory framework aimed at favoring development processes through its 17 SDGs, with the goal of a more inclusive and sustainable world, under the premise of "leave no one behind." Among these SDGs is a framework to address one of the most important challenges facing cities today: social segregation and marginalization of people living in disadvantaged urban areas. However, for this global framework to guide effective policies that transform territories, it is necessary to develop models that allow us to evaluate, first, and then guide the way in which these precepts are adapted at the local and regional levels.

To understand the mechanisms that favor this transfer of policies, this article has proposed a methodological approach, testing its application with two local Spanish policies for social inclusion: ERACIS and the Barcelona Strategy. The methodological framework began with the identification of SDGs associated with the challenges facing disadvantaged urban areas. Next, following the methodology of Schneider and Ingram [62], the policy designs were decomposed into elements. Previous analyses allowed for a qualitative evaluation of the extent to which each of the policies incorporates the mandates of the 2030 Agenda. This analysis allowed not only the extraction of findings from a comparative study of both policies but also advanced knowledge of the topic with respect to the previously existing literature on social exclusion and urban segregation.

Notably, the framework design was analyzed for each policy. This limitation provides an opportunity for future research, e.g., in-depth analyses of the implementation of these policies through their main tools in each specific territory. Only in this way can knowledge continue to be generated on how these policies ultimately incorporated the mandates proposed in the 2030 Agenda to address the challenges of disadvantaged urban areas. Importantly, some weaknesses have already emerged from the regulatory analysis. For ERACIS, it is anticipated that the comprehensiveness of its approach may be limited because only those measures aimed at promoting employment pathways linked to social provision and the hiring of professionals in community social services are mandatory. For the Barcelona Strategy, it will be essential to analyze how the Structuring Projects have been designed and to what extent they are adequate to ensure the transversality of the numerous sectorial projects that already exist.

Comparative case studies such as the present study represent a great opportunity for researchers to generate knowledge about the effective integration of the 2030 Agenda into the local context. However, for these studies to generate transferable, replicable, and scalable knowledge, these studies must be compatible with other existing studies worldwide. This body of literature has taken shape in recent years, but its development is still incipient. With detailed presentations of methodological processes and the demonstration of the generation of knowledge, these types of studies will be conducted more broadly throughout the academic community. Only in this way will it be possible to know, based on the evidence, the effective impact of the 2030 Agenda in different territories and on the most vulnerable people.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization: R.V.-J. and A.S.; methodology: R.V.-J. and A.S.; validation: R.V.-J., A.S., R.L.-M. and A.D.-B.; formal analysis: R.V.-J. and A.S.; investigation: R.V.-J., A.S., R.L.-M. and A.D.-B.; resources: R.V.-J., A.S., R.L.-M. and A.D.-B.; data curation: R.V.-J.; writing—original draft preparation: R.V.-J.; writing—review and editing: A.S.; visualization: R.V.-J., A.S., R.L.-M. and A.D.-B.; supervision: A.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: This research was carried out within the research project GlobalGob 2030, supported by the Spanish National R&D&I Plan funded by the Ministry of Science and Innovation under Grant number PID2019-104967RB-I00. The authors also want to thank Laura Coca for her help in the design of Figure 1.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Table A1. Keywords SDGs Targets.

SDGs	Keywords Used in Spanish	Equivalent in English
SDG 1. End poverty in all its forms everywhere	Pobreza (target 1.2) Protección social (target 1.3) Recursos económicos y servicios básicos (target 1.4) Estrategias de desarrollo (target 1.b)	Poverty (target 1.2) Social protection (target 1.3) Economic resources and basic services (target 1.4) Development strategies (target 1.b)
SDG 2. End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture	Alimentación (target 2.1)	Food (target 2.1)
SDG 3. Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages	Salud mental y bienestar (target 3.4) drogas (target 3.5) Accidentes de tráfico (target 3.6) Salud sexual y reproductiva (target 3.7) Contaminación (target 3.9)	Mental health and well-being (target 3.4) drugs (target 3.5) Road traffic accidents (target 3.6) Sexual and reproductive health (target 3.7) Pollution (target 3.9)
SDG 4. Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all	Educación (target 4.1) Educación primera infancia (target 4.2) Formación profesional (target 4.3) Empleo decente (target 4.4) Educación igualitaria (target 4.5) Alfabetización (target 4.6)	Education (target 4.1) Early childhood education (target 4.2) Vocational Training (target 4.3) Decent employment (target 4.4) Equal education (target 4.5) Literacy (target 4.6)
SDG 5. Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls	Violencia (target 5.2) Matrimonio precoz (target 5.3) Cuidados (target 5.4) Género (target 5.4) Participación (target 5.5) Salud sexual y reproductiva (target 5.6)	Violence (target 5.2) Early marriage (target 5.3) Caregiving (target 5.4) Gender (target 5.4) Participation (target 5.5) Sexual and reproductive health (target 5.6)
SDG 6. Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all	Aguas residuales (target 6.3) Participación en gestión agua y saneamiento (target 6.b)	Wastewater (target 6.3) Participation in water and sanitation management (target 6.b)
SDG 7. Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all	Servicios energéticos asequibles (target 7.1)	Affordable energy services (target 7.1)
SDG 8. Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all	Políticas trabajo decente (target 8.3) Pleno empleo (target 8.5) Formación y reducción desempleo juvenil (target 8.6) Derechos laborales (target 8.8) Estrategia empleo jóvenes (target 8.b)	Decent work policies (target 8.3) Full employment (target 8.5) Training and reduction of youth unemployment (target 8.6) Labour rights (target 8.8) Youth employment strategy (target 8.b)

SDGs	Keywords Used in Spanish	Equivalent in English
SDG 9. Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation	Tecnologías información (target 9.c)	Information technologies (target 9.c)
SDG 10. Reduce inequality within and among countries	Aumento ingresos población pobre (target 10.1) Inclusión social, económica y política (target 10.2) Políticas Igualdad de oportunidades (target 10 3) Políticas protección social, fiscal y salariales (target 10.4)	Increase income of poor population (target 10. 1) Social, economic and political inclusion (target 10.2) Equal opportunities policies (target 10.3) Social, fiscal and wage protection policies (target 10.4)
SDG 11. Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable	Vivienda (target 11.1) Barrios marginales (target 11.1) Transporte público (target 11.2) Urbanización inclusiva (target 11.3) Gestión desechos municipales (target 11.6) Zonas verdes (target 11.7) Seguridad (target 11.7) Desarrollo (target 11.a)	Housing (target 11.1) Marginalized neighborhoods (target 11.1) Public transport (target 11.2) Inclusive urbanization (target 11.3) Municipal waste management (target 11.6) Green areas (target 11.7) Security (target 11.7) Development (objective 11.a)
SDG 12. Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns	Reducción y reciclaje desechos (target 12.5)	Waste reduction and recycling (target 12.5)
SDG 13. Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts		
SDG 14. Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development		
SDG 15. Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss		
SDG 16. Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels	Prevención violencia (target 16.1) Maltrato niños (target 16.2) Acceso a justicia (target 16.3) Delincuencia (target 16.4) Corrupción (target 16.5) Decisiones participativas (target 16.7) Identidad jurídica (target 16.9) Acceso a la información (target 16.10) Políticas no discriminatorias (target 16.b)	Violence prevention (target 16.1) Child abuse (target 16.2) Access to justice (target 16.3) Crime (target 16.4) Corruption (target 16.5) Participatory decision-making (target 16.7) Legal identity (target 16.9) Access to information (target 16.10) Non-discriminatory policies (target 16.b)
SDG 17. Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the global partnership for sustainable development	Acceso Internet (target 17.8)	Internet access (target 17.8)

Table A1. Cont.

References

1. United Nations. The Sustainable Development Goals Report. 2021. Available online: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2021 /The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2021.pdf (accessed on 16 December 2021).

2. United Nations. *New Urban Agenda (Habitat III);* UN-Habitat: Quito, Ecuador, 2017. Available online: www.habitat3.org (accessed on 16 December 2021).

- Fine, D.; Manyika, J.; Sjatil, P.E.; Tacke, T.; Tadjeddine, K.; Desmond, M. Inequality: A Persisting Challenge and Its Implications. 2019. Available online: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-and-social-sector/our-insights/inequality-a-persistingchallenge-and-its-implications (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 4. Singer, M. Introduction to Syndemics: A Systems Approach to Public and Community Health; Jossey-Bass: San Francisco, CA, USA, 2009.
- 5. United Nations. *Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development;* United Nations General Assembly: New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- 6. Aguado-Moralejo, I.; Echebarría, C.; Barrutia, J.M. Application of a cluster analysis for the study of social segregation in the municipality of Bilbao. *Boletín de la Asociación de Geógrafos. Españoles* **2019**, *81*, 2763. [CrossRef]
- Fenton, P.; Gustafsson, S. Moving from high-level words to local action—governance for urban sustainability in municipalities. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* 2017, 26–27, 129–133. [CrossRef]
- Junta de Andalucía. The Andalusian Regional Strategy for Social Cohesion and Inclusion (ERACIS). 2018. Available online: https://www.juntadeandalucia.es/sites/default/files/2020-12/Estrategia_Regional_Cohesion_Social-web.pdf (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 9. Ayuntament de Barcelona. 2017–2027 Strategy for Inclusion and Reducing Social Inequality in Barcelona. 2017. Available online: http://www.bcn.cat/barcelonainclusiva/ca/2018/6/strategy_inclusion_2017-2027_en.pdf (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 10. Rist, G. The History of Development: From Western Origins to Global Faith; Zed Books: New York, NY, USA, 2002.
- 11. Stiglitz, J.E. The Price of Inequality: How Today's Divided Society Endangers Our Future; W.W. Norton & Company: New York, NY, USA, 2012.
- 12. Musterd, S.; Marcińczak, S.; van Ham, M. Socioeconomic segregation in European capital cities. Increasing separation between poor and rich. *Urban Geogr.* 2017, *38*, 1062–1083. [CrossRef]
- 13. De Boeck, F.; Baloji, S. Positing the Polis: Topography as a Way to De-centre Urban Thinking. *Urbanisation* **2017**, *2*, 142–154. [CrossRef]
- 14. De Boeck, F. Urban expansion, the politics of land, and occupation as infrastructure in Kinshasa. *Land Use Policy* **2019**, *93*, 103880. [CrossRef]
- De Boeck, F. Death and the city. Necrological notes from Kinshasa. In *Global Urbanism. Knowledge, Power and the City;* Lancione, M., McFarlane, C., Eds.; Routledge: Abingdon, UK, 2021; pp. 164–173.
- 16. McFarlane, C. Fragment urbanism: Politics at the margins of the city. Environ. Plan. D Soc. Space 2018, 36, 1007–1025. [CrossRef]
- 17. Simone, A. (Non)Urban Humans: Questions for a Research Agenda (the Work the Urban Could Do). *Int. J. Urban Reg. Res.* 2020, 44, 755–767. [CrossRef]
- 18. Simone, A. Cities of the Global South. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 2020, 46, 603-624. [CrossRef]
- 19. Freemark, Y.; Steil, J.; Thelen, K. Varieties of Urbanism: A Comparative View of Inequality and the Dual Dimensions of Metropolitan Fragmentation. *Politics Soc.* 2020, *48*, 235–274. [CrossRef]
- Tran, V.K. Incorporate the rules of social segregation in solutions for the inhibition of the housing bubble in Vietnam. In Proceedings of the MATEC Web of Conferences. International Scientific Conference Environmental Science for Construction Industry—ESCI, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam, 2–5 March 2018; Volume 193, p. 05044. [CrossRef]
- 21. Rozenblat, C.; Pumain, D.; Velasquez, E. International and Transnational Perspectives on Urban Systems; Springer: Singapore, 2018. [CrossRef]
- 22. Hrabina, J. The Challenges of Future Leadership in International Affairs. RUDN J. Political Sci. 2021, 23, 407–423. [CrossRef]
- Maffini, A.L.; Maraschin, C. Urban Segregation and Socio-Spatial Interactions: A Configurational Approach. Urban Sci. 2018, 2, 55. [CrossRef]
- 24. Simone, A. Designing Space for the Majority: Urban Displacements of the Human. Cubic J. 2018, 1, 124–135. [CrossRef]
- 25. Simone, A.; Pieterse, E. New Urban Worlds: Inhabiting Dissonant Times; Polity Press: Cambridge, UK, 2017.
- 26. Arias, F. La Desigualdad Urbana en España; Ministerio de Fomento: Madrid, Spain, 2000.
- Arias, F. El Estudio de la Desigualdad Urbana. Urbano 2005, 8, 77–83. Available online: https://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id= 19801110 (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- Félix Tezanos, J.; Sotomayor, E.; Sánchez Morales, R. En los Bordes de la Pobreza. Las Familias Vulnerables en Contextos de Crisis; Editorial Biblioteca Nueva: Madrid, Spain, 2013.
- 29. Harvey, D. Social Justice and the City; The Johns Hopkins University Press: Baltimore, MD, USA, 1973.
- 30. Castells, M. La Cuestión Urbana; Siglo XXI: Madrid, Spain, 1974.
- 31. Harvey, D. *Rebel Cities. From the Right to the City to the Urban Revolution*; Verso: London, UK; New York, NY, USA, 2013.
- 32. Elwood, S.; Lawson, V.; Sheppard, E. Geographical relational poverty studies. Prog. Hum. Geogr. 2017, 41, 745–765. [CrossRef]
- Palacios, A.J.; Vidal, M.J. La distribución interurbana de los inmigrantes en las ciudades españolas: Un análisis de casos con SIG y técnicas cuantitativas. Cuad. Geográficos 2014, 53, 98–121. [CrossRef]
- 34. Murray, M.J. The Urbanism of Exception. The Dynamics of Global City Building in the Twenty-First Century; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2017.
- 35. Secchi, B. La Ciudad de Los Ricos y la Ciudad de Los Pobres; Los Libros de la Catarata: Madrid, Spain, 2015.
- Torres Gutiérrez, F.J. Polígono Sur en Sevilla. Historia de una marginación urbana y social. Scr. Nova Rev. Electrón. De Geogr. Y Cienc. Soc. 2021, 25, 105–129. [CrossRef]
- 37. Mack, J.; Lansley, S. Poor Britain; George Allen & Unwin: London, UK, 1985.

- 38. Townsend, P. Deprivation. J. Soc. Policy 1987, 16, 125-146. [CrossRef]
- 39. Lancione, M.; Simone, A. Dwelling in liminalities, thinking beyond inhabitation. *Environ. Plan. D Soc. Space* 2021, 39, 969–975. [CrossRef]
- Torres-Gutiérrez, F.J.; García Herrera, L.M. Metodologías para el análisis de la desigualdad urbana y la exclusión social. Aplicación al caso de la ciudad de Sevilla y sus barrios. *Ería Rev. Cuatrismestral De Geogr.* 2016, 84–85, 103–108. Available online: https://reunido.uniovi.es/index.php/RCG/article/view/9638 (accessed on 14 January 2022).
- 41. Fernández Aragón, I.; Ochoa de Aspuru Gulin, O.; Ruiz Ciarreta, I. Study of urban inequality. Proposal for a synthetic index of comprehensive urban vulnerability (isvui) in bilbao. *ACE Archit. City Environ.* **2021**, *15*, 9520. [CrossRef]
- Vela-Jiménez, R.; Sianes, A. Do Current Measures of Social Exclusion Depict the Multidimensional Challenges of Marginalized Urban Areas? Insights, Gaps and Future Research. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021, 18, 7993. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bruquetas Callejo, M.; Moreno, F.F.; Walliser Martínez, A. La Regeneración de Barrios Desfavorecidos; 67/2005; Fundación Alternativas: Madrid, Spain, 2005.
- 44. Navarro-Yáñez, C.J. The effectiveness of integral urban strategies: Policy theory and target scale. the European URBAN I Initiative and Employment. *Sustainability* **2021**, *13*, 6251. [CrossRef]
- 45. Sianes, A.; Vela-Jiménez, R. Can Differing opinions hinder partnerships for the localization of the sustainable development goals? Evidence from marginalized urban areas in Andalusia. *Sustainability* **2020**, *12*, 5797. [CrossRef]
- 46. Ilieva, R.T. Urban food systems strategies: A promising tool for implementing the SDGs in practice. *Sustainability* **2017**, *9*, 1707. [CrossRef]
- Ramirez-Rubio, O.; Daher, C.; Fanjul, G.; Gascon, M.; Mueller, N.; Pajín, L.; Plasencia, A.; Rojas-Rueda, D.; Thondoo, M.; Nieuwenhuijsen, M. Urban health: An example of a "health in all policies" approach in the context of SDGs implementation. *Glob. Heal.* 2019, 15, 87. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Maes, M.J.; Jones, K.; Toledano, M.B.; Milligan, B. Mapping synergies and trade-offs between urban ecosystems and the sustainable development goals. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 2019, 93, 181–188. [CrossRef]
- 49. Seifollahi-Aghmiuni, S.; Nockrach, M.; Kalantari, Z. The Potential of Wetlands in Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals of the 2030 Agenda. *Water* **2019**, *11*, 609. [CrossRef]
- Farnia, L.; Cavalli, L.; Lizzi, G.; Vergalli, S. Methodological insights to measure the Agenda 2030 at urban level in Italy. Sustainability 2019, 11, 4598. [CrossRef]
- Peruzzi, A. From Childhood Deprivation to Adult Social Exclusion: Evidence from the 1970 British Cohort Study. Soc. Indic. Res. 2015, 120, 117–135. [CrossRef]
- 52. Serrano, E.G. Adaptaciones al Subsistema Nacional de Evaluación de Costa Rica a partir de los ODS. *Cuad. Del CLAEH* 2020, 112, 77–90. [CrossRef]
- Spinazzola, M. 2030 Agenda Mainstreaming and Its Influence on Departmental Policies. 2020. Available online: http://dspace. library.uu.nl/handle/1874/398693 (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 54. Righettini, M.S. Framing sustainability. Evidence from participatory forums to taylor the regional 2030 agenda to local contexts. *Sustainability* **2021**, *13*, 4435. [CrossRef]
- Sisto, R.; López, J.G.; Quintanilla, A.; de Juanes, Á.; Mendoza, D.; Lumbreras, J.; Mataix, C. Quantitative Analysis of the Impact of Public Policies on the Sustainable Development Goals through Budget Allocation and Indicators. *Sustainability* 2020, 12, 10583. [CrossRef]
- 56. Pineda-Escobar, M.A. Moving the 2030 agenda forward: SDG implementation in Colombia. *Corp. Gov.* 2019, *19*, 176–188. [CrossRef]
- Curley, C.; Feiock, R.; Xu, K. Policy Analysis of Instrument Design: How Policy Design Affects Policy Constituency. J. Comp. Policy Anal. Res. Pract. 2020, 22, 536–557. [CrossRef]
- Salamon, L. The presidency and domestic policy formulation. In *The Illusion of Presidential Government*; Heclo, H., Salamon, L., Eds.; Routledge: New York, NY, USA, 1981; pp. 177–201. [CrossRef]
- Peters, B.G. Policy Design and its Relevance for Practice in Public Administration. In *The Choice-Architecture behind Policy Designs*. From Policy Design to Policy Practice in the European Integration Context; De Vries, M.S., Nemec, J., Junjan, V., Eds.; NISPAcee Press: Bratislava, Slovak Republic, 2020; pp. 35–44. Available online: https://www.nispa.org/files/publications/PRACTICmonograph-final.pdf (accessed on 11 January 2022).
- 60. Peters, B.G. Designing institutions for designing policy. *Policy Politics* 2020, 48, 131–147. [CrossRef]
- 61. Peters, B.G.; Fontaine, G. Handbook of Research Methods and Applications in Comparative Policy Analysis; Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham, UK, 2020.
- 62. Schneider, A.L.; Ingram, H. Policy Design for Democracy; University Press of Kansas: Lawrence, KS, USA, 1997.
- 63. Jones, C.M.; Clavier, C.; Potvin, L. Are national policies on global health in fact national policies on global health governance? A comparison of policy designs from Norway and Switzerland Chaire. *BMJ Glob. Health* **2017**, *2*, e000120. [CrossRef]
- Kash, J.P. Enemies to Allies: The role of policy-design adaptation in facilitating a farmer-environmentalist alliance. *Policy Stud. J.* 2008, 36, 39–60. [CrossRef]
- 65. United Nations. Report of the Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights. Visit to Spain. 2020. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/ (accessed on 16 December 2021).

- 66. Vtyurina, S. *Effectiveness and Equity in Social Spending—The Case of Spain;* IMF Working Papers; International Monetary Fund: Washington, DC, USA, 2020. [CrossRef]
- 67. Spanish Ministry of Rights and 2030 Agenda. National Strategy for Preventing and Fighting Poverty and Social Exclusion 2019–2023. 2019. Available online: https://www.mdsocialesa2030.gob.es/derechos-sociales/inclusion/contenido-actual-web/estrategia_en.pdf (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 68. Arroyo, J.; Portillo, G. The impact of local inclusion policies on disadvantaged urban areas: Perceptions in the case of Andalusia. *Investig. Reg. J. Reg. Res.* **2019**, *44*, 47–62.
- 69. Mallardi, M.W. The social question mystified: Boundaries and tensions in the wage society "crisis". *Cuad. De Trab. Soc.* 2013, 26, 421–430. [CrossRef]
- Van Ham, M.; Manley, D.; Bailey, N. Neighbourhood effects research: New perspectives. In Neighbourhood Effects Research: New Perspectives; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2012; pp. 1–21.
- Petrović, A.; van Ham, M.; Manley, D. Where Do Neighborhood Effects End? Moving to Multiscale Spatial Contextual Effects. Ann. Am. Assoc. Geogr. 2021, 1–21. [CrossRef]
- Miciukiewicz, K.; Moulaert, F.; Novy, A.; Musterd, S.; Hillier, J. Introduction: Problematising Urban Social Cohesion: A Transdisciplinary Endeavour. Urban Stud. 2012, 49, 1855–1872. [CrossRef]
- Darcy, M.; Gwyther, G. Recasting Research on 'Neighbourhood effects': A Collaborative, Participatory, Trans-National Approach. In Neighbourhood Effects Research: New Perspectives; Van Ham, M., Manley, D., Bailey, N., Simpson, L., Maclennan, D., Eds.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2012. [CrossRef]
- Cheshire, P. Are Mixed Community Policies Evidence Based? A Review of the Research on Neighbourhood Effects. In Neighbourhood Effects Research: New Perspectives; Van Ham, M., Manley, D., Bailey, N., Simpson, L., Maclennan, D., Eds.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2012. [CrossRef]
- Medina Rey, J.M.; Ortega Carpio, M.L. The Human Right to Adecuate Food in the Sustainable Development Goals Agenda. In Proceedings of the XIX Reunión de Economía Mundial, La Rábida, Huelva, Spain, 2007; Available online: http://www.fao.org/ webcast/home/en/item/4291/icode/ (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- Birner, J. Can Global Goals Enhance Integration on the National Level? The Transformative Potential of the Sustainable Development Goals on the Governance Architecture in Germany. 2020. Available online: http://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/18 74/399646 (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 77. United Nations. Global Indicator Framework for the Sustainable Development Goals and Targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. 2021. Available online: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/indicators/Global%20Indicator%20Framework% 20after%202021%20refinement_Eng.pdf (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 78. Deas, I.; Robson, B.; Wong, C.; Bradford, M. Measuring neighbourhood deprivation: A critique of the Index of Multiple Deprivation. *Environ. Plan. C Gov. Policy* 2003, 21, 883–903. [CrossRef]
- 79. Krivo, L.J.; Washington, H.M.; Peterson, R.D. Social isolation of disadvantage and advantage: The Reproduction of Inequality in Urban Space. *Soc. Forces* **2013**, *92*, 141–164. [CrossRef]
- Blanco, I.; Fleury, S.; Subirats, J. Nuevas Miradas Sobre Viejos Problemas. Periferias Urbanas y Transformación Social. Gestión Y Política Pública 2012, 2012, 3–40. Available online: http://www.scielo.org.mx/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1405-10792012 000300001 (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- 81. Palacios García, A.J. Los barrios desfavorecidos ¿existen guetos en las ciudades españolas? In *de la Extirpación a la Regeneración;* Valenzuela Rubio, M., Ed.; UAM Ediciones: Madrid, Spain, 2012.
- World Health Organization. Who Global Air Quality Guidelines. 2021. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/345329/9789240034228-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (accessed on 16 December 2021).
- Villacampa, C.; Torres, N. Prevalence, dynamics and characteristics of forced marriage in Spain. Crime Law Soc. Chang. 2020, 73, 509–529. [CrossRef]
- Escobar-Ballesta, M.; García-Ramírez, M.; Albar-Marín, M.J. Sexual and reproductive health in Roma women: The family planning programme of Polígono Sur in Seville (Spain). Gac. Sanit. 2019, 33, 222–228. [CrossRef]
- 85. Valiente González, M.; Caballos, M.G. Cuando los cortes de luz te quitan la salud. AMF 2020, 16, 451–457.
- Recalde, M.; Peralta, A.; Oliveras, L.; Tirado-Herrero, S.; Borrell, C.; Palència, L.; Gotsens, M.; Artazcoz, L.; Marí-Dell'Olmo, M. Structural energy poverty vulnerability and excess winter mortality in the European Union: Exploring the association between structural determinants and health. *Energy Policy* 2019, 133, 110869. [CrossRef]
- López-Montero, R.; Delgado-Baena, A.; Vela-Jiménez, R.; Sianes, A. Digital Borders: The impact of the digital divide in the educational process of minor migrants living in marginalized urban areas. In *INTED2021 Proceedings*; IATED: Valencia, Spain, 2021; pp. 5231–5239. [CrossRef]
- 88. Boelhouwer, J. Social Indicators and Living Conditions in the Netherlands. Soc. Indic. Res. 2002, 60, 89–113. [CrossRef]



Article



Global and Local Agendas: The Milan Urban Food Policy Pact and Innovative Sustainable Food Policies in Euro-Latin American Cities

Diego Martín and Rosa de la Fuente *

Faculty of Political Sciences and Sociology, Campus de Somosaguas s/n, Complutense University of Madrid, 28223 Madrid, Spain; dimart11@ucm.es

* Correspondence: rdelafuente@ucm.es

Abstract: This paper analyzes the relationship between the construction of international agendas and new sustainable local policies. Specifically, it analyzes the framework of sustainable food policy building at global and local scales. In this sense, we explore the international agreement called the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, and its influence on the development of local and global sustainable food-related policies through different innovative methods. To this end, the process of building the international alliance of local governments for the development of sustainable food systems is analyzed first, and secondly, its locations are investigated through the public actions and programs in three cities of the Euro-Latin American region: Madrid, Quito, and Valencia. Two conclusions are clear after our qualitative study: on one hand, local policies are designed and implemented through a double strategy: the substantive construction of the policy and its inclusion in the global agenda. On the other hand, both dimensions are fundamental and reinforce each other, specifically in the case of urban sustainable food policy.

Keywords: Milan Urban Food Policy Pact; local and international agendas of local governments; innovative urban food strategies; Madrid; Quito; Valencia

1. Introduction

In the context of globalization, rural and urban local governments have been forced to tackle global challenges due to their impact on local daily life [1,2]. In that sense, the capacity of local governments as political actors facing global problems has been gradually recognized from a functional perspective [3]. However, this theoretical recognition has slightly changed their institutional position in the international arena, especially in the United Nations system, where national governments are still those seated at the decision-making round table [4,5]. The progressive internationalization of local governments has been broadly studied, highlighting the relevance of the international agendas of local governments as political actors in the international arena [4–6]; (b) assuming collective political commitments through the building of international networks, associations, and alliances of local governments [7–9]; and (c) designing and implementing new decentralized development cooperation projects among cities, transmitting knowledge and transferring public programs inspired by the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [10–13].

Those strategies and activities have been accomplished following the new multilateral framework of development sponsored by United Nations conferences and programs since 2015. These conferences and programs include the 2030 Agenda, the Conference of Climate Change (Cop21), the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction in 2015 and later, and the New Urban Agenda in 2016, among others [14].

Around these international debates, the food issue has been gaining increasing attention as a core problem of human development. The academic and political debate to

Citation: Martín, D.; de la Fuente, R. Global and Local Agendas: The Milan Urban Food Policy Pact and Innovative Sustainable Food Policies in Euro-Latin American Cities. *Land* 2022, 11, 202. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/land11020202

Academic Editor: Antonio Sianes

Received: 29 December 2021 Accepted: 27 January 2022 Published: 28 January 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). conceptualize the food problem has manifested during international food conferences. During the official World Food Summit in 1996, the consensual concept developed was food security, understood as: "Food security exists when all the people have physical and financial access at any moment to enough safe and nutritious foods in order to satisfy their food needs and their preferences in order to enjoy an active and healthy life" [15]. Later, with a more critical perspective, during the World Food Summit (2001) in La Habana, the concept of food sovereignty was defined to not only include human needs, but also the right of peoples to define their own food strategies (production, distribution, and consumption) to guarantee the right to food as well as supporting sustainable strategies [16]. Lately, during the last World Food Summit (2021), the crucial relationship between food system strategies and the achievement of Sustainable Goal 2 (Zero Hunger) has been underlined.

In accordance with the global dimension of the sustainable goals, Sonnino [17] introduced another approach, "the new geography of food security", which presents a bimodal characteristic "encompassing issues of quantity and quality, under- and over-consumption, in both developed and developing countries alike" [17] (p. 190), where the local dimension of food security, in a world with most people living in cities, has a great impact.

This urban dimension of food security is related to historical conditions or dimensions producing inequalities in the access to and consumption of healthy food [17–19]. Those "conditions" [18] or "dimensions" [17] include, among other things, the increase in population, growing urbanization, the change in food habits, the spread of occidental patterns of consumption, the scarcity and exhaustion of resources, and the climate and social crisis.

Those conditions are expressed in different ways in urban contexts, and each city has different resources and capabilities to react, but increasingly, local authorities are facing the food issue. In the global arena, the international networks of local actors and the support of the UN and other governmental and non-governmental international organizations have been relevant in the politization of the food problem. At the local scale, the policy tool commonly used to tackle this issue has been the development of urban food strategies, using a bottom-up perspective [17–26].

To analyze this new context, Sonnino (2016) studied and compared fifteen urban food strategy documents, written by local governments in Canada, the United States and Great Britain, analyzing their aims, narrative building process, and beliefs concerning the role of cities in solving sustainable food problems [17] (p. 191). Moragues-Faus and Sonnino (2019) also explored the role of the UK's Sustainable Food Cities Network in promoting a food system based on trans-local governance [23].

Furthermore, also using Global North cities but with an analytical perspective more focused on the relationship between urban food strategies and the progress of accomplishing the Sustainable Development Goals, Ilieva [27] compared the sustainable urban food strategies of the ten largest cities in North America, trying to underline the capability of this tool to streamline global, national, and local efforts to implement the 2030 Agenda [27]. On the other hand, some researchers have shown how, in cities from the Global South, where food security has been a major issue since the 1970s, those urban food strategies have been less efficient at tackling the food problem through sustainable actions [28,29].

Thus, although the appearance of urban initiatives trying to change food production and promoting sustainable consumption and healthy eating have been recently studied [17–29], we believe it is relevant to develop new studies using the international relations perspective. In that sense, we consider it important to analyze more deeply the imbrication among local and global initiatives in the construction of a global and coherent answer to food security architecture. The aim is to try to analyze how local governments are using global arenas to reinforce their capabilities to implement food strategies at the local scale, and how the international commitments of local authorities are useful in creating a more sustainable global food system. Therefore, in this paper, firstly, we will study the process of building an international alliance of local governments for the development of sustainable food systems, i.e., the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact. Secondly, we will investigate its locations, and through which public actions and programs have been implemented different food strategies. Finally, we will compare the process of developing sustainable food systems in three cities, including two from Europe (Madrid and Valencia in Spain) and one from South America (Quito in Ecuador).

2. Materials and Methods

The study of local food strategies and the capacity of local governments to coproduce global sustainable actions in this article was carried out using a qualitative perspective and an empirical explicative approach [30] (p. 12). Our methodology can be divided into three different stages: the compilation of information, case selection, and an intensive synchronic strategy of comparison [30] (p. 68). In that sense, first, we have compiled main narratives (debates, policy papers, statements, etc.), considering the role of local authorities in the international arena as well as the role of urban food strategies and other innovative strategies to localize sustainable development goals. To test those narratives, we had the opportunity to gather in Madrid thirty-one key participants, representatives of local governments, city networks, and universities, in a two-day international workshop entitled "Local alliances to face global challenges", celebrated in September 2018 [9]. Secondly, we have selected three cases from the Ibero-American context, because we considered that this area has had a relevant role during the political building of local governments, networks, and statements regarding sustainable food security. To deeply explore those cases, we interviewed key informants in each city, including politicians and former politicians, civil servants, experts, and non-governmental organizations between 2018 and 2020 (Appendix A).

Because the results of Sonnino [17] (2016) and Moragues-Faus and Sonnino [23] (2019) were very interesting and led to a strong capacity to understand similarities and differences among cities, we considered it relevant to use the main questions they paid attention to, with the aim of producing data (ten semi-structured interviews) and analyzing secondary data.

Finally, with the objective of reviewing differences and similarities in local food security strategies and their relationship with the 2030 Agenda, we have compared the three cases in consideration of a significant number of variables but during a short period of time. The systematization and comparison of the different political actions and strategies have been carried out using these analytical categories: (a) main motivation to become engaged with urban food strategy; (b) main actors intervening in the design and implementation of the urban sustainable food strategy; (c) main plans and projects in the city regarding food security; (d) impact and changes after signing the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact (MUFPP); (e) detailed characteristics of its intervention in food security and nutrition; and (f) the perception of the impact of the international development agenda in their territories and the capacity of the cities to be part of it. Those categories were built starting from the theoretical studies of Roberta Sonnino [17] and Baker and de Zeeuw [25], from the content of MUFPP, and after using free coding to analyze our data.

The cases selected include: (1) Madrid, because it is the Spanish capital city with a strong leading role among Ibero-American cities, mainly through the city network of the Union of Ibero-American Capital Cities (UCCI); (2) Valencia, also in Spain, because it has the particularity of having a great historical area comprising a vegetable peri-urban garden called La Huerta (The Orchard), and it has been awarded internationally for its good practices and has received recognition for its sustainable food policy; and (3) Quito, in Ecuador, because it has also been recognized by the Food and Agriculture Organization due to its historical concern for the dimensions of food security. In all these cases, each city launched food strategies in 2018, after signing the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact.

3. Results

The main results of our research will be shown in this section. Firstly, we will explain how the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact (MUFPP) was developed and, secondly, we will provide a precise description of each case analysis, using similar categories in order to understand the similarities and differences between the motivations of each city to define their own urban food strategies.

3.1. The Milan Urban Food Policy Pact: The Beginning of an Urban Commitment

During Expo Milan 2015 titled "Feeding the Planet, Energy for Life", the mayor of the Italian city launched an international protocol to tackle food-related problems at the urban level, supported by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). The MUFPP was signed in October 2015 by 123 cities, and at present more than 200 cities have already entered the pact. On their official web page, this protocol is defined as: "an international agreement of mayors. It is more than a declaration; it is a concrete working tool for cities. It is composed by a preamble and a Framework for Action listing 37 recommended actions, clustered in 6 categories. For each recommended action there are specific indicators to monitor progresses in implementing the Pact. The Milan Pact Awards offer concrete examples of the food policies that cities are implementing in each of the 6 Pact categories" [31].

The categories defined are governance, sustainable diets and nutrition, social and economic equity, food production, food supply and distribution, and food waste. Because the main challenge was to prioritize building urban sustainable food systems, governance is a very relevant category; consequently, every city has to create the way of "ensuring an enabling environment for effective action in cities, such as: to facilitate collaboration across city agencies and departments; to strengthen urban stakeholder participation; to identify, map, and support local and grassroots initiatives; to develop or revise urban food policies and plans; and to develop a disaster risk reduction strategy" [31].

The pact has two types of actions: internal and external [32]. The internal and external functions are interlinked, because MUFPP is becoming a space for cooperation and political influence. Firstly, this is because it is a site for food-related policy exchange between those signatories' cities. Secondly, it is a network to interact collectively or individually with other global organizations such as the FAO, and other international foundations such as Local Governments for Sustainability (ICLEI) and Global Partnership on Sustainable Urban Agriculture and Food Systems (RUAF). Thirdly, it has inspired and received recognition by other institutions, especially in the European context.

Specifically, in the European region, the European Commission launched Food 2030 in 2016, a research and innovation policy to transform food systems and ensure everyone has enough affordable, nutritious food to lead a healthy life. Later in 2017, the Food 2030 Expert Group proposed and defined cities "as a new type of food-system partner, which can act as a multi-objective and multi-actor facilitator. In this respect, the 2015 Milan Urban Food Policy Pact was identified as a pioneer municipal project, which has since been strongly supported and followed up by different Food 2030 actions" [33]. In the same way, in 2017, the European Committee of the Regions, in its document entitled "Towards a sustainable EU food policy that creates jobs and growth in Europe's Regions and Cities", underlines the need to support the shift to more sustainable patterns through governance structures such as local food councils and local development partnerships as well as through new bottom-up initiatives such as the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact (MUFPP) [34,35]. In 2020, this institution also recognized the role of local and regional authorities in making food systems more sustainable [35]. Moreover, the European food strategy, known as Farm to Fork (F2F), which was launched in 2020, sets the basis for the transformation of food chains across the EU according to sustainability criteria, assuming that the transition to sustainable food systems "requires a collective approach involving public authorities at all levels of governance (including cities and rural and coastal communities), private-sector actors across the food value chain, non-governmental organizations, social partners, academics, and citizens" [36].

Three elements related to the government scales and political arenas are very significant in the Milan Agreement: (1) it is an initiative fostered by local leadership, which later obtained strong support from the FAO as well as other international recognition; (2) this agreement is the result of a bottom-up collective decision to face the systemic food-related problem shaped at the global scale; and (3) it has become a structuring and dynamizing axis for cities that could not have previously been involved in food policies. However, it is necessary to explore city cases to better show the capacity of the Pact.

3.2. Comparative Analysis of Sustainable Urban Food Strategies: Madrid, Quito and Valencia

In this section, we will show our analysis of each case using the categories described in Section 2, Materials and Methods, to show the differences and similarities in their approaches, the local coherence of local actions, and the international framework and the interrelation of local and global policies. Cases are presented in alphabetical order.

3.2.1. Madrid, Spain

In May 2015, Now Madrid, a new coalition of left-wing parties, grassroot movements, and civic organizations, won the municipal election. Moreover, many other Spanish cities experienced the arrival of "non-institutional" mayors supported by coalitions of environmental social movements and health and housing activists who had been politicized under the context of the economic and austerity crisis. Big cities such as Madrid, Barcelona, Zaragoza, and Valencia, among others, were labelled as the "cities of change". Following our analytical categories, we will now show the case of Madrid's building process of an urban food strategy in this context:

- Main motivations to sign the Milan Food Pact. According to the governmental informant, there were two main motivations: to guarantee the human right to food and to contribute to environmental sustainability (MI1, MI2). These two motivations were intrinsically linked with the main priorities for the city: to create a more sustainable environment through reducing pollution and promoting human rights. However, according to an ecological leader who was interviewed, "Madrid signed the Milan Urban Food Pact because there was a strong ecological movement which pushed the local authorities. Agroecological ideas had been present among social movements in Madrid since the 90s, and finally in 2014, the Platform for Agroecology organizations had signed the "Letter for Food Sovereignty in our Municipalities". In this public proposal, among other actions, the creation of agroecological councils in each city, the sustainable protection of agrarian soils, and support for agricultural employment and sustainable local economic development were claimed.
- *Main actors involved in the design and implementation of the urban food policy.* During the design and implementation of the food policy, the relevant actors were the local government, the Platform for Agroecology, the Association of Neighborhood Associations, and the FAO's Spanish Office. Inside the local government, many councils were involved (equity, social rights and employment, health, security and emergencies, and environmental issues and mobility, coordinated by the Council of Territorial Coordination) (MI2, MI2).
- *Impact and changes generated after signing MUFPP*. After signing the Pact, sustainable and healthy food issues were moved to the center of the political agenda. Until then, there were several actions that were dispersed and not strategically planned (MI1, MI2). In order to follow up on the commitments, a monitoring table was established with the usual participation of all the actors involved.
- Main programs and city projects. The main city hall program around food issues was
 the Urban Food Strategy (2018–2020), whose design began after engagement with
 the MUFP, and was finally presented in July 2018. The strategy tried to coordinate
 previous actions and outline new proposals. Some of those previous actions had
 been developed by the innovative action of social activists and associations, such as
 community green gardens and school green gardens, which were later supported by
 the town hall (MI3, MI4). New innovative mechanisms were introduced to change
 food dynamics; for example, innovative public procurement was used to include
 ecological and local food at nursery schools, and social economy was introduced in
 the local food distribution in two peripherical neighborhoods thanks to the financial

support of the MARES project selected as an Urban Innovative Action by the European Commission (MI4) [37–39].

There are two specific contributions to food security and nutrition in Madrid's strategy: one is its integrality and the other, the effort to guarantee the human right to food (MI1, MI2, MI4). Thanks to the multi-stakeholder and multisector composition of the monitoring table as well as the approval of the food strategy, the transversality of the policy was the key element of the policy. This systemic approach is one of the essential aspects underlined by Sonnino [17] (p. 197) regarding urban food strategies.

Another concern is the perception regarding the impact of the international agenda at a local scale, and the city's capacity to influence it. About this point, there was a positive perception concerning the role of local authorities developing food strategies and also regarding localizing the sustainable development goals (MI2, MI4). In that sense, they considered that international organizations were paying attention to the cities, because they have been the political actors more involved in localizing the 2030 Agenda, not only through individual policies, but also by working in networks and through political alliances.

3.2.2. Quito, Ecuador

Quito is one of the more relevant cities in the Latin-American region in relation to the urban and peri-urban food policies developed, as the FAO underlined in 2014 [40]. Moreover, because the UN Habitat Summit was held in Quito in 2016, many politicians, advisors, and city councilors were able to be involved in the debates regarding sustainable urban policies. Although the city joined the MUFP in January 2016, there was no urban food strategy at that time, just as there was none in Madrid or Valencia. However, since the 2000s, there has been several initiatives related to food production (QI3), such as a well-established urban agriculture policy and some small actions supporting small producers. The urban food strategy was presented in 2018.

- Main motivations to sign the Milan Food Policy Pact. In Quito, the main motivation to begin being involved in food-related policies was historically to "regulate the spontaneous urban agriculture production and secondly to promote the surplus commercialization" (QI1). According to the FAO [31], the historical proliferation of urban gardens in Quito can be explained as a spontaneous strategy to access food by the previous waves of internal migration since the 1980s. Since the beginning, those orchards were tolerated by urban planners, and an Urban Participatory Agriculture Program (AGRUPAR) was developed in 2000. In this case, the economical approach of the food policy is more relevant, because AGRUPAR has ben guided by the Metropolitan Agency for Economic Promotion (CONQUITO) since 2005. Therefore, this agency also supervised the urban food strategy.
- Main actors involved in the design and implementation of the urban food policy. Among
 the actors involved in the elaboration of the urban food strategy in this city, were the
 universities, the Agriculture Chamber of Zone 1, general consumers, food processing
 associations, agroecological producers and consumers, the touristic sector, the national
 government with representation of the Ministry of Agriculture and the Ministry of
 Health, and the Pichincha provincial-regional government. The coordination of the
 process was held by CONQUITO, where there were also two councilors from the
 Social Responsibility and Shared Value Area, which has the ability to localize the 2030
 Agenda. (QI1, QI2).
- Main programs and city projects. The oldest food-related action implemented in Quito
 was the Urban Participatory Agriculture Program (AGRUPAR), launched in 2000
 thanks to the support of the United Nations and other international organizations,
 located in the El Panecillo neighborhood, in the historical city center (QI1, QI2, QI3).
 After a long trajectory of AGRUPAR, between 2015 and 2017, Quito was part of an
 alliance of seven cities called "the City Region Food System Partner Cities", which
 was supported by the FAO and the RUAF foundation. This partnership provided the

city with a comprehensive diagnosis of its food system, which was the first step of the urban food strategy, which was finally launched in October 2018.

- Impact and changes generated after signing the MUFP. The international partnership and the MUFPP membership (2016) allowed the local authorities to increase the visibility of the food issue in the city. After this, the food question was progressively included in different strategies and programs, until the Agri-Food Strategy was presented in 2018. In this case, the rural and peri-urban relation with the city regarding the food system was clearly a focus of the strategy.
- Specific contribution to food security and nutrition. The main objective of the urban food
 strategy in Quito is to guarantee food security. This food security is focused not only
 on food access but also on the quality of food production and the way in which food is
 consumed. Therefore, sustainable and responsible consumption is relevant, as much
 as the aim to increase the capacity of production following agroecological, fair trade,
 and solidarity market practices.
- Perception regarding the impact of the international agenda at the local scale, and the city's capacity to influence it. In this sense, for the experts in Quito, ever since the MUFPP has been followed by the FAO, it is easier to work locally and internationally with the same agenda. Moreover, food-related problems and food policies have become key elements for local authorities' networks, such as C40, ICLEI, and UCCI (QI1). This confluence of objectives and approaches among local and global arenas is the best way to implement food strategies, because all efforts are joined (QI3).

3.2.3. Valencia, Spain

The economic crisis of 2008 had a deep impact in the city, even more than the Spanish average, because the real estate sector had a lot of weight in the local economy [32]. Moreover, the agriculture sector had been engulfed in a deep crisis, due to the decline of aging farmers, the fall in the prices of agricultural products, and the loss of more than 45% of agricultural soils since 2009 due to urban pressure [37]. Therefore, as much as in Madrid, the influence of the "Letter for the Sovereignty of our Municipalities" was important. Moreover, in Valencia, a historical social movement in defense of the territory and "La Huerta" (peripheral orchard area) exists. In that sense, many of the food-related projects were born thanks to the social innovation in the face of public inaction (VI1), such as the green communitarian gardens in abandoned urban plots, and the renaturation and cleaning of natural areas and wetlands [37–39].

In 2015, for the first time, a local and regional party called "Commitment" won the local elections, and a new mayor was elected with the support of left-wing parties, with the conservative party as the opposition. It was the greatest ideological change since 1991, when the conservative party had started ruling the city. It is important to add that the new mayor was very concerned with agriculture and food production, because he had studied agricultural engineering and taken several courses on food technology.

- Main motivations to sign the Milan Food Pact. In this case, there were economic and social
 motivations to sign the Milan Food Pact. The priority of the town hall was to defend
 and praise the farmer's role, guaranteeing the economic viability of farms' production
 activity. The city of Valencia is situated in the middle of the region called La Huerta
 (The Orchard) and, therefore, it was a priority to recover the food production and
 distribution of this area, as well as the heritage of the territory, in order to avoid the
 loss of knowledge.
- Main actors involved in the design and implementation of the urban food policy. With the
 arrival of the new local authority, a new Council of Agriculture for The Orchard
 and the town of Valencia was created in 2015. Other relevant actors involved in this
 municipal action were several non-governmental associations, such as the local section
 of Food Justice, and NGOs such as Mundubat, as well as academics from the Centre
 for Rural Studies and International Agriculture (CERAI) and the Chair of Sustainable
 Earth at the Polytechnic University of Valencia, among others.

- Main programs and city projects. In 2015, after signing the MUFPP, the Integral Action Plan for the Promotion of Municipal Agricultural Activities and Municipal AgriLand was launched. From the beginning, this plan was focused on supporting social and academic innovation practices that already existed (VI1, VI2). Later, in 2018, an advisory and participative body, the Municipal Food Council, was created to coordinate food policies, with a wide open and participatory structure trying to integrate actors, actions, and sectors. This was where the Valencia 2025 Agri-Food Strategy was designed, trying to establish a sustainable agri-food system in which relationships between the community and territories (urban, rural, and peri-urban) were balanced, and based on social and environmental justice [41,42].
- Impact and changes generated after signing MUFP. Although there was an already existing
 social and agroecological movement in the city, the Pact has had a clear influence as
 a starting point for creating the Municipal Food Council and, consequently, the food
 strategy (VI1, VI2, VI3). This process has generated a new governance structure in the
 city, based on mutual recognition and shared commitment around food-related policies.
- Specific contribution to food security and nutrition. According to our research and interviews, the most relevant contribution of the urban food strategy and food-related policies is to defend the uniqueness of its territory and the small-scale farmers. Analyzing the institutional policies and the social innovation practices, the reterritorialization of the food system, using Sonnino's concepts, was a key element of this strategy. Moreover, the creation of the first Municipal Food Council, as a participatory governmental structure, was very significant in diagnosing different problems affecting the local population, such as obesity, being overweight, and malnutrition, for example [42,43].
- Perception regarding the impact of the international agenda at the local scale, and the city's capacity to influence it. In 2017, 85 city delegations and more than 300 people met in Valencia for the 3rd Annual Gathering of the Milan Pact, and it was declared as the World Sustainable Food Capital. This was an international recognition of the city due to its development of food polices. Progressively, politicians and citizens are receiving more support from international and supranational organizations, such as the FAO and the European Commission. This means more funding and financial support for strategic projects to develop a systemic change (VI1, VI2, VI3). In that sense, Valencia was selected to be the headquarters of the World Center of Sustainable Food (CEMAS), which was promoted by the city hall in alliance with the FAO and opened in 2019. These kinds of alliances among local authorities and UN organizations to spread the need to develop sustainable urban food policies are very relevant to understanding the functioning of mutual (i.e., local and global) relationships.

4. Discussion

In this section, we will discuss our results and how they can be interpreted from the perspective of the studies of Sonnino [17], Moragues and Sonnino [23], Ilieva [27], Grasa and Sánchez [32], Salom, Pitarch, and Sales-Ten [38], Medina García, de la Fuente, and Van der Broeck [38] and of our working hypotheses, which state that, on the one hand, local policies are designed and implemented through a double strategy, the substantive construction of the policy, and its inclusion in the global agenda. On the other hand, both dimensions are fundamental and reinforce each other specifically in the case of urban sustainable food policy. We will present the results in an enunciative manner and then develop them in more detail.

First of all, it demonstrates the emergence of an urban dimension of food insecurity and the need for a public response to address this situation, with innovative elements that Sonnino claims as surpassing the traditional macro and micro approaches to the food issue [17]. These public responses, which are the urban food strategies tested in the three case studies, exist not only in the major North American [27] and English [17,23] cities, but also in continental Europe and South America. Secondly, it is also shown that urban food strategies are a useful tool to increase the level of localization of SDGs [27] in principle in large and intermediate cities.

Thirdly, it is shown that in the cases studied, the process of social innovation precedes and accompanies urban food strategies [37–39].

The development of the internal and external functions [32] of the network of cities of the Milan Pact is also demonstrated, as explained below.

One of our main objectives was to show the mutual relationship between local and global political arenas. One of the directions of this relationship has been clearly shown, especially after analyzing how food strategies have been spread among the three cities, and how the three cities have pursued a similar objective but used different approaches, after signing a common commitment. Meanwhile, international organizations and a supranational political structure have supported and followed the road started by local governments. The other direction with regards to cities' capacity to influence the international agenda, it can be said that Valencia and Quito have managed to position themselves as international references regarding urban food policies. However, as mentioned in the introduction and in Section 3.1, the capacity of cities to influence the international system should not necessarily be measured in individual terms, but through instruments of action such as networks of cities, such as the MUFPP. In this sense, the influence of cities, through the MUFPP, in the capacity to place the issue of sustainability of urban food systems is demonstrated, so that the FAO itself joined the Pact in 2015 and, in 2021, the General Secretary of the United Nations convened the United Nations Food Systems Summit, with criticism from academics and organizations [43].

In that sense, the role of the international development agenda to inspire and legitimate local actions and vice versa is also demonstrated [27]. Local food strategies are one aspect of localizing sustainable development goals, but not the only one, because they clearly influence the global and regional arena. However, the cocreation of food policies and the exchange of knowledge and experiences are also possible, not only because of the international alliances among local authorities, but also due to the capacity of international governmental organizations, such as the FAO, along with other non-governmental and private international foundations, to support them.

What the three cases analyzed demonstrate is a local dimension of food insecurity that demands a public response from local governments [17]. We have found similarities and differences between local innovative practices to accomplish the objectives and goals of the development agenda, particularly in relation to food-related issues. Long perspective analysis and the contextualization of each city has let us understand the relevance of the location of each city and the way they started to implement actions and programs to solve problems related to food security, although they shared the same international commitments. In that sense, the geography of food security, using Sonnino's concept, is asymmetrical and heterogeneous. Food access, the quality and quantity of food, and unbalanced consumption are dissimilar, both between each city, and within them. In the same way, political contexts and social backgrounds are different, as are the ways in which the food problems are politized.

In that sense, the comparison allows us to see how each city had their own motivation to sign the MUFPP. In fact, economic reasons are behind two cases: Valencia and Quito. Those cities are characterized by being territories in which urban and peri-urban areas live together, and where small farmers used to produce food, although without enough success or with progressive decline. However, in Madrid, although the local production and consumption of products in proximity to the city is important, the human rights and environmental issues are more relevant to engage MUFPP.

One important finding regarding urban responses to food problems has been the social origin of most of the actions before the MUFPP commitment. According to the recent literature concerning innovation, we can consider that social innovation is when social actors, neighbors, urban activists, grassroots associations, etc., organize themselves to find

creative solutions to the provision of individual and collective needs that have been not taken into account by the public institutions, and not even the market [37–39].

In that sense, in the three cases, local communities of neighbors in alliance with ecologists, peasants, or farmers had started to implement innovative solutions. Urban gardens were created in Quito after the arrival of migrant waves and the need to access food. In Valencia, although the great and historical orchard was declining, empty plots were used to create urban gardens as a mechanism of cohesive practices in the neighborhood, as well as in Madrid. In Madrid, the urban gardens were spaces symbolically gained for the real estate, and school urban gardens were used to raise awareness about the need for eating healthy food and to introduce ecological perspectives. Later, authorities recognized those efforts, converted them into policies, and replicated them. Moreover, clearly in the case of Madrid and Valencia, ecological and social movements put pressure on the local authorities to engage food strategies and policies that were more sustainable, because of the political alliance known as "cities for change".

Although it is important to underline how these social innovation practices started, it is also relevant to notice how local authorities, in the context of MUFPP, were able to introduce governance as a tool to implement the change in the global and local food systems. Those mechanisms of participation have been an essential part of the strategies' and policies' design, channeling demands and opening the possibility of follow-up actions, programs, and goals. This has been recognized by the European Commission, which introduced a similar approach to their own strategy.

In the case of Quito, the support of the FAO since the 2000s was essential to introduce food policies and strategies, as well as in the case of the city of Milan and Valencia. However, later, those cities themselves were able to become international sites from which new policies and experiences spread. In that sense, the proliferation of local authorities' alliances and networks show how international instruments are relevant to reinforce each other and each other's domestic policies, as much as to act as politically united in the global arena.

5. Conclusions

Following Sonnino, it can be said by way of synthesis that "[...] the concept of food security today evokes a series of interrelated public health, political, socioeconomic and ecological crises that threaten human survival and, for this reason, require strong public intervention" [17] (p. 191).

This series of interrelated crises takes on a more urgent dimension from an urban perspective, if it is noted that high poverty rates linked to growing situations of food insecurity occur mainly in cities [26]. In Latin America and the Caribbean, for example, it is estimated that there are 53.4 million people living in conditions of extreme urban poverty [26] (p. 8). Taking into account the OECD-FAO projections [44] that anticipate, in the medium term, an increase in food prices to values similar to those that existed before 2008, and the fact that the urban poor spend most of their income on food, we are facing a rather complex scenario, characterized by environmental unsustainability, health emergency, and food insecurity, which only deepens the multiple social inequalities existing at the global level.

Faced with such a scenario, a public response that could address this challenge from an integral point of view is imperative, overcoming the sectoral approaches that have predominated until now, and at the same time replacing the preeminence of mercantile and financial logic, under which food is directed to where it is best paid for, rather than where it is most needed [45].

In this context, we believe it is necessary to recover those experiences that have been implemented by numerous local governments, providing a comprehensive and innovative response to this challenge, which could be replicated at other scales. As mentioned in the introduction, more and more cities are developing urban food strategies to address the challenge of building more sustainable food systems and, at the same time, they are working together by taking collective steps towards changing the global food system. It is within this international agenda that local governments propose reconfigurations regarding roles and responsibilities, because many innovative experiences have emerged from this scale of government, having originated transformations in food production and consumption patterns.

These responses offer an alternative to global food production and consumption chains, in which the territorial component of the food system is proposed to be increased over the globalized one. It is argued here that a deepening and dissemination of these strategies on a larger scale could represent an alternative path that could avoid, in the future, a scenario such as the present one. However, it is important not to be confused: it is not being said that cities will feed everyone in the world in a sustainable way. This would not be possible, nor even desirable. What is being suggested is the need to study these integral models of approaching the food issue that holistically contemplate all the phases and actors of food systems, as a contribution for scaling up and, thus, working on the development of sustainable food systems in another dimension. How can we scale up this model? This is the challenge of international action and collective advocacy that local governments seem to be able to take up.

Future research should be conducted to analyze the relationship between those food strategies, which are locally and internationally supported, and the innovative answers to food access during the COVID-19 pandemic. In that sense, AGRUPAR and a new project called Healthy Markets have kept working to safeguard food access and the productive fabric in Quito, as well as in other Latin American cities such as San Salvador and Rio de Janeiro.

Finally, we also believe it is necessary to study the limitations of these strategies, due to issues such as the scale of the policies, budgets, or the alternation of governments of different political leanings in the cities, and what the response of the city networks is in these cases.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, D.M. and R.d.I.F.; methodology, D.M. and R.d.I.F.; analysis, D.M. and R.d.I.F.; investigation, D.M. and R.d.I.F.; resources, D.M.; data curation, D.M.; writing original draft preparation, D.M.; writing—review and editing, R.d.I.F.; supervision, R.d.I.F.; funding acquisition, R.d.I.F. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Ministry of Economy, Innovation, and Competitiveness, grant number "CITITALENT", CSO2016-74888-C4-4-R (AEI/FEDER, UE) and by the Ministry of Science and Innovation, grant number "IMAD COVID" I+D+i/PID2020-112734RB-C33, funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033/.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: The authors sincerely thank the invaluable support of the doctoral group (Lab IPPU-UCM) LAB IPPU (google.com (accessed on 25 January 2022)). Weekly inspiration and kindness are also sources of knowledge. We are also very grateful for the accurate comments and suggestions of the reviewers who helped us to improve our first manuscript's version.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript; or in the decision to publish the results.

Appendix A

Several interviews, informal conversations, and participatory observations were held in the cities (2016–2020). In September 2018, the authors gathered a meeting with thirtyone local authorities, techno-political advisors, and experts in local agendas from Spain and Latin American cities. This event was coordinated by UCCI and UCM University thanks to the financial support of EULAC. The reporting of the event as well as the result of a questionnaire have been used in the first stage of the research. Moreover, ten semi-structured interviews were held, of which seven were recorded and transcribed in Spanish and are quoted in the article. The interviews include: MI1 (informant in Madrid, techno-political advisor), MI2 (informant in Madrid, Council of Territorial Coordinator), MI3 (informant in Madrid, agroecological activist), MI4 (informant in Madrid, expert), MI5 (informant in Madrid, MARES project coordinator), QI1 (informant in Quito, techno-political advisor), QI2 (informant in Quito, NGO expert), QI3 (informant in Quito, former mayor), VI1 (informant in Valencia, expert), VI2 (informant in Valencia, techno-political advisor), and VI3 (informant in Valencia, agroecological activist). The main questions were: What are the main motivations for cities in general and your city in particular to start developing urban food strategies and related policies? How long has your city been developing food security policies? Are these motivations related to the signing of the Pact of Milan, and which one is it? What are the main programs and projects that are being developed in relation to food policies in your city? In relation to the participation of citizens and civil society organizations, how is this policy being built? What is the specific contribution that cities make to the field of food security? All those interviews were carried out and transcribed in Spanish.

References

- 1. Sassen, S. Local actor in global politics. In *Denationalization: Territory, Authority and Rights in a Global Digital Age;* Princeton University Press: Princeton, NJ, USA, 2004.
- 2. Curtis, S. Cities and Global Governance: State Failure or a New Global Order? Millenium J. Stud. 2016, 44, 455–477. [CrossRef]
- García Segura, C. La evolución del concepto de actor internacional en la teoría de las relaciones internacionales. *Pap. Rev. Sociol.* 1993, 41, 13–31.
- Russell, R. El Estado Nación y los actores gubernamentales no centrales: Una relación complementaria. In La Política Internacional Subnacional en América Latina, 1st ed.; Maira, L., Ed.; Libros del Zorzal: Buenos Aires, Argentina, 2010; pp. 83–106.
- Fernández de Losada, A.; Romero, M. Los Gobiernos Locales en la Agenda Internacional: ¿Actores o Espectadores? Cuadernos Para la Internacionalización de las Ciudades, nº 7, 1st ed.; Gobierno de la Ciudad de México: Mexico City, Mexico; Intendencia de Montevideo: Montevideo, Uruguay, 2016; ISBN 978 607 02 5093 4.
- Oosterlynck, S.; Beeckmans, L.; Bassens, D.; Derudder, B.; Segaert, B.; Braeckmans, L. The City as a Global Political Actor, 1st ed.; Routledge: New York, NY, USA, 2019.
- Sánchez Cano, J. Los Gobiernos no Centrales y sus Redes: Análisis de su rol Como Actores en la Gobernanza Global. Ph.D. Thesis, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Madrid, Spain, 2015.
- 8. Fernández de Losada, A.; Abdullah, H. Repensando el Ecosistema de Redes Internacionales de Ciudades: Retos y Oportunidades; CIDOB: Barcelona, Spain, 2019.
- de la Fuente, R.; Martín, J.; Agüero, B.; García, A.; Rodríguez, M.; Martín, D. Alianzas Locales Para los Retos Globales. Coleccion de Cuadernos Para la Internacionalización de las Ciudades, nº 9, CDMX, 1st ed.; UCCI, Universidad Complutense de Madrid: Madrid, Spain, 2019; ISBN 978 607 02 5093. Available online: https://www.acimedellin.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/cuadernoallas-09.pdf (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 10. UN: The Future We Want the United Nations We Need, Update on the Work of the Office on the Commemoration of the UN's 75th Anniversary. 2020. Available online: https://www.un.org/en/un75/presskit (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- GFT: The Role of Local and Regional Governments in the Future Global Governance of the International System, Global Task Force of Local and Regional Governments (GFT), VISIONING REPORT UN75. Available online: https://www.un7 5localandregionalvisionreport.global-taskforce.org/es/ (accessed on 12 December 2021).
- de la Fuente, R. La importancia de los actores locales y regionales en los procesos de desarrollo en el contexto de la globalización. In Los Nuevos Actores en la Cooperación Internacional. El Papel de los Gobiernos Locales y Regionales, 1st ed.; Instituto Universitario de Desarrollo y Cooperación, Los Libros de la Catarata: Madrid, Spain, 2010; pp. 15–34.
- United Cities and Local Governments. Our Post-2015 Journey. 2015. Available online: https://www.uclg.org/en/resources/ publications (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 14. World Food Summit. Rome Declaration on World Food Security and Plan of Action of the World Food Summit, Rome. 1996. Available online: https://www.fao.org/3/w3613e/w3613e00.htm (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 15. Vía Campesina. Declaración Final del Foro Mundial Sobre Soberanía Alimentaria. La Habana. 2001. Available online: http://www.movimientos.org/cloc/show_text.php3?key=1178 (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 16. Sonnino, R. The new geography of food security: Exploring the potential of urban food strategies. *Geogr. J.* **2016**, *182*, 190–200. [CrossRef]
- 17. Wiskerke, J. Urban Food Systems. In *Cities and Agriculture—Developing Resilient Urban Food Systems*; RUAF Foundation: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2015; pp. 1–25.
- Karanja, N.; Njenga, M. Alimentar las ciudades. In VVAA, La situación del Mundo; Fuhem Ecosocial/Icaria: Madrid, Spain; Barcelona, Spain, 2011.

- Yacamán, C. El Paradigma del Proyecto Agrourbano: La Agricultura Defendida Desde la Ciudad. Urbano. 2017. Available online: http://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=19853617002 (accessed on 4 May 2018).
- 20. Moragues, A. Cambiar la política alimentaria empezando desde abajo. In *Revista Soberanía Alimentaria, Biodiversidad y Culturas;* c/Girona 25, principal; GRAIN: Barcelona, Spain, 2014; pp. 16–20; ISSN 2013-7567.
- Dubbeling, M. CITYFOOD: Linking Cities on Urban Agriculture and Urban Food Systems. ICLEI—RUAF Foundation. 2013. Available online: http://www.iclei.org/index.php?id=1348 (accessed on 4 May 2018).
- Moragues-Faus, A.; Sonnino, R. Re-assembling sustainable food cities: An exploration of translocal governance and its multiple agencies. Urban Stud. 2019, 56, 778–794. [CrossRef]
- Pothukuchi, K.; Kaufman, J.L. Placing the food system on the urban agenda: The role of municipal institutions in food systems planning. In Agriculture and Human Values n°16; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1999; pp. 213–224.
- 24. Baker, L.; de Zeew, H. Urban food policies and programmes: An overview. In *Cities and Agriculture—Developing Resilient Urban Food Systems*; RUAF Foundation: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2015; pp. 26–55.
- CEPAL-FAO. Cómo Evitar que la Crisis del COVID-19 se Transforme en una Crisis Alimentaria. 2020. Available online: https:// www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/45702-como-evitar-que-la-crisis-covid-19-se-transforme-crisis-alimentaria-acciones (accessed on 25 January 2022).
- 26. Ilieva, R.T. Urban Food Systems Strategies: A Promising Tool for Implementing the SDGs in Practice. *Sustainability* 2017, 9, 1707. [CrossRef]
- 27. Lundqvist, A. Urban Food Systems Strategies in Latin America—A Tool for Local Implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals? Master's Thesis, Lund University, Lund, Sweden, 2019.
- 28. Warren, S. Urban governance and urban food systems in Africa: Examining the linkages. Cities 2016, 58, 80–86. [CrossRef]
- Anduiza, E.; Crespo, I.; Méndez, M. Metodología de la Ciencia Política. In *Colección Cuadernos Metodológicos nº 28*, 1st ed.; Centro de Investigaciones Sociológicas: Madrid, Spain, 2009.
- 30. Milan Urban Food Policy Pact. 2015. Available online: https://www.milanurbanfoodpolicypact.org (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- Grasa, R.; Sánchez Cano, J. Global and Networking Action of Local Governments: The Case of Development Aid; CIDOB d'Afers Internacionals: Barcelona, Spain, 2013; pp. 83–105. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/23611649 (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 32. European Cities Leading in Urban Food Systems Transformation: Connecting Milan & FOOD 2030. Available online: Europeancities-leading-in-urban-food-systems-transformation.pdf (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- Opinion of the European Committee of the Regions. Towards a Sustainable EU Food Policy that Creates Jobs and Growth in Europe's Regions and Cities. (2017/C 272/04). Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri= CELEX%3A52016IR3170 (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- European Union. The Role of Local and Regional Authorities in Making Food Systems More Sustainable. 2020. Available online: https://cor.europa.eu/en/engage/studies/Documents/Sustainable_food_systems.pdf (accessed on 28 December 2021). [CrossRef]
- 35. European Commission. The Farm the Fork, Farm to Fork Strategy—Food Safety. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/ horizontal-topics/farm-fork-strategy_es (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 36. Salom, J.; Pitarch, M.; Sales-Ten, A. Innovación social: Estrategias urbanas en un contexto de cambio. El caso de la ciudad de Valencia. CIRIEC-España. In *Revista de Economía Pública, Social y Cooperativa, nº 91*; Centre International de Recherches et d'Information sur l'Economie Publique, Sociale et Coopérative: Valencia, Spain, 2017; pp. 31–58.
- 37. Medina García, C.; de la Fuente, R.; Van der Broeck, P. Exploring the Emergence of Innovative Multi-Actor Collaborations toward a Progressive Urban Regime in Madrid (2015–2019). *Sustainability* **2021**, *13*, 415. [CrossRef]
- Yacamán, C.; Sánchez, S.; de la Fuente, R. La innovación social como herramienta para hacer frente a los retos urbanos: Una aproximación al proyecto "MARES-Alimentación" (Madrid). Doc. D'anàlisi Geogràfica 2021, 67, 365–387. [CrossRef]
- 39. FAO. Urban and Peri-Urban Agriculture in Latin America and the Caribbean. Rome. 2014. Available online: https://www.fao. org/ag/agp/greenercities/en/GGCLAC/downloads.html (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- Centro de Estudios Rurales y de Agricultura Internacional. La Maleta Pedagógica "Yo Consumo con Consciencia". 2015. Available online: https://cerai.org/publicaciones-de-cerai/ (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 41. Ajuntament de València. Estrategia Agroalimentaria Valencia 2025. 2018. Available online: https://valencia.consellagrari.com/ (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- Moragues, A. Caminando hacia un consejo alimentario en Valencia. Ayuntamiento de Valencia—Ayuntamiento de Barcelona. 2017. Available online: https://consellalimentari.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/caminando-hacia-un-consejo-alimentarioen-valencia.pdf (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- 43. Canfield, M.; Anderson, M.D.; Mc Michael, P. UN Food Systems Summit 2021: Dismantling Democracy and Resetting Corporate Control of Food Systems. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* **2021**, *5*, 103. [CrossRef]

- 44. United Nations Environmental Program. Collaborative Framework for Food Systems Transformation. A Multi-Stakeholder Pathway for Sustainable Food Systems. 2019. Available online: https://www.oneplanetnetwork.org/knowledge-centre/resources/collaborative-framework-food-systems-transformation-multi-stakeholder (accessed on 28 December 2021).
- Oteros-Rozas, E.; Ruiz-Almeida, A.; Aguado, M.; González, J.; Rivera-Ferre, M. A Social-Ecological Analysis of the Global Agrifood System. Arizona State University. 2019. Available online: https://www.pnas.org/content/116/52/26465 (accessed on 28 December 2021).





Sergio Luis Náñez Alonso¹, Javier Jorge-Vazquez¹, Miguel Ángel Echarte Fernández^{1,*}, Konrad Kolegowicz² and Wojciech Szymla²

- DEKIS Research Group, Department of Economics, Catholic University of Ávila, 05005 Avila, Spain; sergio.nanez@ucavila.es (S.L.N.A.); javier.jorge@ucavila.es (J.J.-V.)
- ² College of Management and Quality Sciences, Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Cracow, Poland; kolegowk@uek.krakow.pl (K.K.); szymlaw@uek.krakow.pl (W.S.)
- Correspondence: mangel.echarte@ucavila.es

Abstract: Financial inclusion, which consists of having a financial system that is easily accessible to citizens, is identified by various international organizations such as the new UN Agenda 2030, as a priority objective. This objective is particularly relevant in rural areas, where access to these services is more difficult, as citizens have to travel several kilometers to access them. In this study, we analyze the current situation of the Polish financial sector in terms of its accessibility, in order to measure the degree of financial inclusion. For this purpose, we use three combined methodologies. Initially, a data extraction from the Central Bank of Poland was carried out. Subsequently, three methodologies are applied to calculate financial inclusion. First, we apply the criteria of the Financial Access Survey (FAS) of the International Monetary Fund. Secondly, the Access to Cash Index (ACI) methodology by calculating a score that describes the access to banking services according to certain items. Finally, we applied the nearest neighbor methodology to detect in each voivodship those points where it is most difficult (measured in km distance) to access banking services. Some areas, especially in rural areas of the different voivodeships, present certain problems when it comes to accessing banking services. Therefore, the fulfillment of SDG 8.10 will be more difficult to achieve in these areas. The public authorities must pay attention to this, in order to reach the commitments acquired with the 2030 agenda, in terms of financial inclusion.

Keywords: social exclusion; financial exclusion; land economics; rural areas; spatial access to cash; access to cash index; sustainable development; sustainable access to cash; public policies

1. Introduction

Promoting an inclusive financial sector is one of the main objectives of different governments and international organizations [1–4]. In 2015 the new UN Agenda 2030 highlighted expanded access to financial services in 5 of its 17 new Sustainable Development Goals (hereafter SDGs) [5,6]. However, financial inclusion is a multidimensional concept. This characteristic makes it difficult to draw a single, clear map of causal relationships between financial inclusion and sustainable development, although several authors have shown that such a relationship does exist [7–9]. Theory tells us that access to financial services on favorable terms makes it easier to plan spending, control consumption patterns, address health-related risks and make investments not only in productive ventures, but also in training and education [10]. Several authors have studied the benefits of financial inclusion. Generally speaking, most have analyzed specific dimensions based on cases and evaluations of particular programs implemented around the world. Klapper et al. [5] summarize the empirical evidence on how financial inclusion can help achieve the SDGs. Based on the case studies analyzed, the paper argues that some goals are promoted directly (goals 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) while others (6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 16) are promoted indirectly. Similarly,

Citation: Náñez Alonso, S.L.; Jorge-Vazquez, J.; Echarte Fernández, M.Á.; Kolegowicz, K.; Szymla, W. Financial Exclusion in Rural and Urban Contexts in Poland: A Threat to Achieving SDG Eight? *Land* 2022, *11*, 539. https://doi.org/10.3390/ land11040539

Academic Editors: Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

Received: 18 February 2022 Accepted: 4 April 2022 Published: 7 April 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Demirguc-Kunt et. al. [6] conduct an analysis of the empirical evidence differentiating by categories of financial products.

However, the SDG with the strongest connection to financial inclusion is SDG 8: Decent work and economic growth; point 8.10 states the objective: Strengthen the capacity of domestic financial institutions to promote and expand access to banking, financial and insurance services for all. Therefore, the current situation of financial inclusion in Poland has been the subject of analysis in this article. To this end, we have first conducted a literature review on financial inclusion in Poland. Secondly, after extracting data from the Polish central bank, we have applied three methodologies to calculate financial inclusion. First, the application of the criteria of the Financial Access Survey (FAS), which is collected by the IMF at the voivodship level. Secondly, the Access to Cash Index methodology already tested by several authors on a city-by-city basis. Finally, the KNN nearest neighbor methodology to detect in each voivodship those points where it is most difficult (measured in km distance) to access banking services.

There are several studies on financial inclusion in Poland that show the importance of financial inclusion [11,12]. In [13] it is pointed out that in Poland there is a dominant position of cash payments in the payment system; and therefore the authorities should take this into account in order to promote financial inclusion, the same conclusion is endorsed by [14,15] in his study points out the importance of financial inclusion in Poland, especially among young people; [16], when studying the unbanked in Poland, detects a special need for protection of the elderly, young people and people living in rural areas. Additionally, it is precisely in these rural areas that financial inclusion is of great importance, as the study [17,18] points out that "financial inclusion is an essential component of the financial capability index in rural areas" as it determines economic development. Therefore, ensuring financial inclusion in Polish rural areas is necessary to fulfil sustained economic development [18,19], with access to banking services, ATMs, etc. in these areas being ensured, and financial education is also necessary for this [20]. It is also necessary to ensure financial inclusion through banking services to avoid the emergence of large groups of excluded people, as the results of this "non-use of banking services" clearly affect the economic development of a country [21].

As in any other place in the world, having access to banking institutions is essential to be able to carry out day-to-day tasks; however, while this seems so obvious, it is not always fulfilled in some rural municipalities of the country [20–24]. Financial inclusion ensures that the population has access to an appropriate level of financial services [22,23]. The significant reduction of bank branches in recent years has increased the risk of financial exclusion for some customers in rural areas [24,25]. In many cases, this reduction of banks is mainly due to two issues. On the one hand, the shrinking population, especially in municipalities with less than 10,000 inhabitants, and, on the other hand, the fact that the younger generation is increasingly using online banking [24,25]. Digitalization is playing an increasingly important role in this respect, but online banking needs to be brought closer to the population to help them carry out their daily transactions [26]. However, this is not enough, as the presence of bank branches in rural areas is vital for their population and for the survival of these areas [19,24].

To adequately answer this question, it is necessary to be aware of the profile of people in rural areas and the type of businesses that are developed in rural areas [27–30]. Firstly, we are talking about an ageing population, which finds it difficult to relate to digital banking and even "multi-function" ATMs, secondly, we also refer to agribusinesses, those that are attached to the land and need an advisor [17,18].

On the other hand, empirical evidence shows that rural areas subject to strong demographic stresses, in particular population ageing and low population density, are particularly at higher risk of financial exclusion [31,32].

The consequences of financial exclusion in rural areas have also been studied by academics. Sin Tian Ho & Berggren [29] examine the impact of bank branch closures on entrepreneurial activity beyond the administrative boundaries of a municipality. These

authors identify some influence between proximity to bank branches and new firm formation. Along the same lines [30] conclude that a greater functional distance between banks and local economies tightens financing constraints, especially for SMEs. Moreover, this restriction is not compensated by a greater availability of credit due to the reduction of the operating distance. Other authors, such as Devlin or Coppock [31,32] focus their study on the impact of financial exclusion on households in rural England [33]; or Panigyrakis [34] do so in remote island territories located in Greece, where the dissatisfaction of citizens residing in these areas is identified. Other research has designed a methodology to identify areas affected by the difficulty of access to financial services. Náñez Alonso et al. [35] propose the construction of an index to detect rural areas at risk of financial exclusion, taking the Spanish region of Ávila as a case study. The results of this study show that more than 80% of the municipalities in this area have difficulties in accessing financial services. The authors also apply the same method to the less densely populated areas of the Spanish region of Castilla y León, known as "Empty Spain" [36]. On the other hand, accelerated economic digitalization is transforming traditional models of economic and social organization [37]. The financial sector is no stranger to this transformation. On the contrary, it is one of the sectors most affected by the changes and opportunities offered by digital technologies. In this context, several studies have analyzed the impact of banking digitalization on digital exclusion in rural areas. Authors such as [38] conducted a study to identify the degree of penetration of digital financial services in rural areas and the behavioral pattern of e-banking users. Others such as [39] analyses the possible acceptance of a Central Bank Digital Currency (CBDC) in rural areas as an alternative to the difficulties of access to cash in areas at risk of financial exclusion. As indicated in the introduction and at the beginning of this section, financial inclusion is a tool that enhances the generation of opportunities and strengthens the capacity to achieve the SDGs. Specifically, it contributes to increasing the wellbeing of people, especially those living in rural areas, through greater access to and use of financial services. Although these are areas of great socio-economic diversity, they have a major influence on the development of Poland [40]. Rural areas are of great importance for the Polish economy and are a key player in achieving sustainable development [41–43]. The objective of this article was to measure compliance with SDG 8.10 (ensuring access to banking services) by combining a three-pronged methodology based, first, on the FAS indicators (number of bank branches per 100,000 inhabitants and offices per 1000 m²). Secondly, by applying the Access to Cash index (ACI) methodology and thirdly by measuring the distance required from the furthest point to access this type of financial services.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Data Collection

Firstly, data was extracted from the Central Bank of Poland (Narodowy Bank Polski) through its website with an advanced data search engine [44]. After extracting data on bank branches by voivodeship, municipality, city and postcode, as well as on branches with ATMs, we generated a dataset with 10,677 records on bank branches and another one with 3279 records. Given the size of the dataset, it is available online as Supplementary Materials to this manuscript. All data available in the study and analyzed were extracted in January 2022.

2.2. Methodology of Analysis

After extracting the data from the Polish central bank, as described in the Section 2.1, we have applied three methodologies to calculate financial inclusion. Firstly, the application of the criteria of the Financial Access Survey (FAS), which is collected by the International Monetary Fund, but in this case the novelty lies in applying it at the voivodeship level [45]. The two key indicators we have used are: Firstly, the number of commercial offices per 100,000 adult inhabitants; and secondly bank offices per 1000 m² [46].

Secondly, the Access to Cash Index (ACI) methodology by calculating a score that describes the situation of access to banking services according to certain items, and the

number of kilometers to travel to obtain access to cash and banking services; it has been already tested by several authors and city-by-city studies; as shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Studies on access to banking and financial services.

Area/Country/Region/City	Author(s)
Austria	[47]
Austria	[48]
Central, Eastern and South-eastern Europe	[49]
Wales	[50]
Bristol	[51]
Canada	[52]
Castilla y León	[36]
Ávila	[35]
Auctralia	[53]
Australia	[54]
France	[55]
Source: Own Elaboration.	

Thus, for the case of Poland, considering data availability, the equation (Equation (1)) for calculating access to cash would be denoted as follows:

$$ACI = \sum (x_1 \times 1) + (x_2 \times 3) \tag{1}$$

Equation (1) is based on Tischer et al., Evans et al. and Náñez Alonso et al. [24,39,50] where ACI is the score obtained (Access to Cash Index), x_1 would be the number of bank branches, and x_2 would be the number of ATMS. The score assigned (1), to each bank, is derived from the limited opening hours (business hours), the fact that they only deliver cash to customers of the bank or savings bank and the collection of possible fees from customers of other banks/savings banks. The score assigned (3) to ATMs derives from their 24 h availability, their being available to anyone, not only to the operator's customers and at no cost (withdrawal commission) to customers. Finally, the methodology nearest neighbor [56–61] to detect in each voivodeship those points where there is more difficulty (measured in km of distance) to access banking services. All of this was processed using Tableau Desktop professional edition software, which allowed the results to be displayed graphically, as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Methodology applied. Source: own elaboration.

The application of this triple methodology and the results obtained will therefore allow us to verify the degree of compliance with SDG number 8.10, which consists of "strengthening the capacity of national financial institutions to promote and expand access to banking, financial and insurance services for all". The application of this triple methodology and the results obtained will therefore allow us to verify the degree of compliance with SDG number 8.10, which consists of "strengthening the capacity of national financial institutions to promote and expand access to banking, financial and insurance services for all". The use of this triple methodology of financial inclusion analysis will allow us to obtain a better picture of the real situation by combining purely technical criteria used by the MFI's M&As, with geographical and spatial criteria derived from the ACI (which mixes economics and geography).

3. Results

3.1. Results Obtained from the Partial Application of the FAS

After extracting data from the Polish central bank, we have applied three methodologies to calculate financial inclusion. Firstly, the application of the criteria of the Financial Access Survey (FAS), which is collected by the International Monetary Fund, but in this case the novelty lies in applying it at the voivodeship level [45]. The two key indicators we have used are: the number of commercial offices per 100,000 adult inhabitants and bank offices per 1000 m² [46]. The results obtained are shown in the figure below (Figure 2) and also in Table A1 in the Appendix A.



Figure 2. Voivodeships with the fewest bank offices per 100,000 inhabitants and the fewest bank offices per 1000 m^2 . Source: Own elaboration based on data from Table A1 and Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.

As can be seen in Figure 2, left side, the voivodships that present a result furthest away from the Polish average (27.79 bank offices per 100,000 inhabitants) are Lubuskie (25.73), Małopolskie (24.94), Podkarpackie (24.94), Śląskie (23.47) and Świętokrzyskie (24.24). As can be seen, the southern part of Poland is clearly the worst performer in terms of bank branches per 100,000 inhabitants, and a pattern can be detected here, namely that the southern part, considering only this criterion, would be the most difficult to access banking services. The other area is the western area, bordering the German border. Although it is true that in the case of Małopolskie and Śląskie, which have high absolute values, the explanation is that they are also highly populated voivodships. In the rest of the voivodships below the average, the situation of access to cash and banking services may be more complicated. Additionally, from Figure 2, right-hand side, we can extract the result of those voivodeships that are further away from the Polish average (36.46) in terms of bank branches per 1000 m². In this case, the voivodships Lubelskie (25.87), Lubuskie (18.66), Opolskie (30.28), Podkarpackie (29.75), Podlaskie (17.73), Świętokrzyskie (25.70), Warmińsko-Mazurskie (20, 35) and Zachodniopomorskie (19,83) are below or far below, so it is on these voivodships that we will focus the analysis through the other

two methods. Again, there are three clear patterns in terms of possible difficulty in accessing banking services. Firstly, the south zone repeats this result and is configured as an area where there may be difficulties in accessing banking services and cash. Secondly, the western area bordering Germany repeats the result (and is even further extended) and is again identified as an area where there may be difficulties in accessing banking services and cash. In third place, the entire eastern area from the south to the north of the Polish–Ukrainian border appears by this criterion. From the combination of both results we can see that three voivodeships are below the average in both indicators: Lubuskie, Podkarpackie and Świętokrzyskie. In the Appendix B, the full maps for both items can be found as Figures A1 and A2. If we consider, the population density of the voivodeships we can observe the relations between high concentration of inhabitants and access to banking services or high dispersion of inhabitants and their access.

The voivodeships with the highest population density, as shown in Table A1 in Appendix A, are Dolnośląskie, Łódzkie, Małopolskie, Mazowieckie, Podkarpackie and Śląskie. If we compare this higher value (which implies high concentration of inhabitants), we observe how there is a relationship between this high population density and also with the number of bank offices per 100,000 inhabitants except in Dolnośląskie and Małopolskie which are slightly below the average. If we compare this result with bank offices per 1000 m², all voivodeships obtain high results. Therefore, in these voivodeships that are densely populated financial inclusion would be relatively easier.

On the contrary, the voivodeships with the lowest population density, as shown in Table A1 in the Appendix A would be Lubelskie, Lubuskie, Podlaskie, Warmińsko-Mazurskie and Zachodniopomorskie. If we compare this lower value (which implies great dispersion of inhabitants), we observe how there is a great relation between this dispersion and the number of bank offices per 100,000 inhabitants; Lubuskie, and Zachodniopomorskie are the ones that obtain a worse relation (higher population dispersion and lower number of bank offices). If we compare the data of population density per voivodeship with the number of bank offices per 1000 m², we observe how in these voivodeships (Lubelskie, Lubuskie, Podlaskie, Warmińsko-Mazurskie and Zachodniopomorskie) there is again a strong relationship between population dispersion and worse results in terms of access to banking services. Additionally, all these voivodeships (again highlighting Lubuskie, and Zachodniopomorskie) have the worst results.

3.2. Results Derived from the Application of the ACI

The application of the Access to cash index methodology developed in the Section 2.2, has allowed us to generate a series of maps (Figures 3–5), which represent in each Polish voivodeship, at province level, how easy or difficult it is to access financial services (bank office and ATM). Furthermore, as additional material, a dataset has been generated and can be accessed (see additional material), which shows the score province by province in each voivodeship. The interpretation of the maps to be made is as follows. First of all, the areas in each voivodeship that are shown in white mean that there is no score available in that area. Therefore, in this white area, there is no way to access financial services. Secondly, the light blue–dark blue color range is used for the scores (ranging from 1 to 73 points). Thus, the lighter the blue color, the lower the score in that area, the more difficult it is to access banking services. Conversely, the darker the color, the higher the score in this area, and, therefore, the easier it is to access banking services. Figure A3 in Appendix B shows the complete map of Poland.



Figure 3. Results of the Access to Cash index in Zachodniopomorskie, Wielkopolskie, Warmińsko-Mazurskie, Świętokrzyskie, Śląskie and Pomorskie voivodeships. Source: Prepared by the authors using Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.



Figure 4. Results of the Access to cash index in Podlaskie, Podkarpackie, Opolskie, Mazowieckie, Małopolskie and Lubuskie voivodships. Source: Prepared by the authors using Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.



Figure 5. Results of the Access to Cash index in Lubelskie, Łódzkie, Kujawsko-Pomorskie and Dolnośląskie voivodships. Source: Prepared by the authors using Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.

As can be seen in Figure 3, in Zachodniopomorskie voivodeship the highest ICA values are found in the capital city of Szczecin. There are, however, two areas in this voivodeship in white (no score), which indicate that financial services are not accessible. On the one hand, the central area east of Szczecin and on the other hand a curved line from the coast (Kolobzerg) to Walcz. As far as the Wielkopolskie voivodship is concerned, the distribution is quite good. The highest concentration is in Poznan and only a large area north of Kalisz is white, indicating that financial services are not accessible. In Warmińsko-Mazurskie, only a few isolated points are found, with access to financial services in this voivodeship having a very good spatial distribution. The highest values are concentrated in Olsztyn and Elblag. As for the Świętokrzyskie voivodeship, the same is true as in the previous case. Only a few isolated points are found, with access to financial services in this voivodeship having a very good spatial distribution. The highest values are concentrated in Kielce. In Śląskie voivodeship, we find high ACI scores and thus higher accessibility to financial services in Katowice, Gliwice, Bielsko-Biala and Czestochowa. Finally, in Pomorskie voivodeship we find an uneven distribution. On the one hand, Gdansk, Gdynia, and Sopot as well as the coastal area and the eastern area bordering Warmińsko-Mazurskie have a high concentration of points and therefore easy access to financial services. However, the south-western and central parts of the voivodeship have white areas indicating that financial services are not accessible.

As can be seen in Figure 4, in Podlaskie voivodeship the highest ICA values are found in the capital Bialystok as well as in Suwalki in the north and Lomza in the west. The distribution of financial services is in principle correct. There are, however, two white zones in this voivodeship in the area of the border with Belarus and Ukraine, and on the other hand in the southern hinterland. The Podkarpackie voivodeship concentrates large areas of access to financial services in Rzeszow and Mielec. However, in this southern voivodeship there are large white areas in the area of the border with Slovakia. In these areas it will be more difficult to access financial services. In the case of Opolskie voivodeship, the values are not very high. They are mainly concentrated in the capital Opole. The distribution of access to financial services is orderly, although there are three white areas, in the area of the border with Śląskie, with Dolnośląskie and on the southern border with the Czech Republic. The Mazowieckie voivodeship has the highest values in and around Warsaw, the capital of the voivodeship and Poland. Thus, the capital effect, which concentrates banking services, is noticeable. In the rest of the voivodeship only two areas are white. Firstly, in the north-eastern part of Warsaw, and secondly, a line in the south-eastern part bordering the voivodeships from Podlaskie in the east to Lubelskie in the south. In these areas it will be more difficult to access financial services. In the Małopolskie voivodeship there is a high concentration of access points to financial services in Kraków (the capital of the voivodeship) and adjacent areas and in other areas such as Tarnow and Nowy Sacz in the east. Precisely the white areas indicating that services are not accessible in this voivodship are located in the south-west of Tarnow and also in the west and south-west of Nowy Sacz. Lubuskie voivodeship has one of the lowest scores in Poland. While there are areas where access to financial services is easy, such as Zielona Gora Gorzów Wielkopolskie, there are also quite a few blank areas. Firstly, in the central Lubuskie area between Zielona Gora Gorzów Wielkopolskie, secondly, a whole parallel line in the northern area bordering the Wielkopolskie voivodship, thirdly, the whole area south-east and south-west of Zielona Gora, and fourthly and lastly, the area bordering Germany (Cottbus) in the west.

As far as Lubelskie voivodeship is concerned, as we can see in Figure 5, the distribution of access to financial services is orderly. There are few white areas and most of the access points to financial services are concentrated in Lublin (its capital) as well as in Biala Podlaskie in the north. As far as the Łódzkie voivodeship is concerned, the distribution of access to financial services is also orderly. There are few white areas and most of the access points to financial services are concentrated in Lodz (its capital). The most difficult area to access financial services is in the south-eastern part of Lodz, bordering Mazowieckie voivodeship. In Kujawsko-Pomorskie voivodeship the distribution of access to financial services is also orderly. There are few white areas and most of the access points to financial services are concentrated in Bydgoszcz (its capital). The area with the greatest difficulty in accessing financial services is in the central part of the voivodeship, as well as in the northeast and south-east. Finally, in the Dolnośląskie voivodeship, there is a high concentration of access points to financial services in Wroclaw and Legnica. There are three zones in white. Firstly, the north-east and south-east of Legnica, secondly, the area east and west of Wroclaw, and thirdly, the entire southern part of the voivodship bordering the Czech Republic. Figure A4 in Appendix B shows these points for the whole of Poland. The Appendix B also contains a table (Table A2) showing the highest ACI scores at the city level; Warsaw comes first with 770 points followed by Szczecin (648 points), Poznan (538 points) and Kraków (433 points).

A 3.3 km distance is needed to access financial services from the furthest point in each voivodship.

Finally, the application of the nearest neighbor methodology has allowed us to generate the following results. The points in each voivodeship where it is most difficult (measured in km distance to the nearest point) to access banking services have been detected. All this has been processed through the Tableau Desktop professional edition program, which has made it possible to display the results graphically. Figure 6 shows the results for all voivodships.



Figure 6. Kilometers of distance needed for access to financial services from the furthest point in Zachodniopomorskie, Wielkopolskie, Warmińsko-Mazurskie, Świętokrzyskie, Śląskie, Pomorskie, Podlaskie, Podkarpackie, Opolskie, Mazowieckie, Małopolskie, Lubuskie, Lubelskie, Łódzkie, Kujawsko-Pomorskie and Dolnośląskie voivodships. Source: Prepared by the authors using Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.

In the case of Zachodniopomorskie, we have detected with our methodology that at the furthest point citizens have to travel up to 22 km if they want to access financial services from that furthest point. In the case of Wielkopolskie, the distance that must be travelled to access these financial services is set at 15 km. In Warmińsko-Mazurskie voivodeship, the distance is shorter than in the previous case and is set at 9 km. In Świętokrzyskie, the distance to access financial services is somewhat longer, up to 12 km, although it is shorter than in the first two voivodships analyzed. In Śląskie we find 10 km and in Pomorskie 24 km, the latter being the one with the longest distance to travel to access financial services. As we can see in Podlaskie voivodeship, the distance needed to access financial services is 19 km. In the case of Podkarpackie voivodeship, it takes up to 20 km to access financial services and to withdraw cash. In Opolskie voivodeship, it takes only 11 km from the furthest point of the voivodeship to access financial services. It is also the shortest distance from the furthest point of the voivodships analyzed in Figure 7. In the case of Mazowieckie, it takes 14 km to access financial services. It is the voivodeship with the highest number of financial institutions due to the capital effect of Warsaw. In Małopolskie voivodeship it takes 12 km to access financial services, which is very similar to Mazowieckie voivodeship. Finally, in Lubuskie Voivodeship, it takes 13 km to access financial services from the furthest point. This figure is very similar to that obtained in the previous voivodships. Figure 6 shows that in Lubelskie voivodeship, it takes up to 17 km from the furthest point to access financial services. In the case of Łódzkie voivodeship, the figure is 15 km. For Kujawsko-Pomorskie voivodeship, 16 km are needed to access financial services from the furthest point. Finally, in Dolnośląskie Voivodeship, the distance needed to access the above-mentioned financial services is 17 km. If we compare the population density of each voivodeship shown in Table A1 in Appendix A with the number of kilometers needed to travel from the farthest point to access banking services, we can observe the relationship between high concentration of inhabitants and access to banking services or high dispersion

of inhabitants and mileage. If we take the voivodeships with a large population dispersion (lower population density): Lubelskie, Lubuskie, Podlaskie, Warmińsko-Mazurskie and Zachodniopomorskie; we observe how the distance to travel is considerable, although they are in some cases below the average for Poland. The two voivodeships with the worst results (low density and high number of kilometers) are: Zachodniopomorskie (22 km) and Podlaskie (19 km); followed by Lubelskie and Lubuskie, with 17 and 13 km, respectively.



Figure 7. Urban–rural typology for each voivodeship using NUTS-3. Source: own elaboration using Tableau Desktop professional edition based on data extracted from Eurostat.

To complete the analysis of kilometer distances from the farthest point of each voivodeship to access financial services, Figure 7 includes the delimitation of each voivodeship as a rural, intermediate or urban area. All this according to the classification made by Eurostat for each region at NUTS-3 level [62]. Eurostat defines these zones as follows: NUTS 3 regions are classified as follows, according to the proportion of their population in rural areas:

- 1. "Predominantly rural" if the proportion of the population living in rural areas is more than 50%.
- 2. "Intermediate" if the percentage of the population living in rural areas is between 20 and 50.
- 3. Predominantly urban" if the proportion of the population living in rural areas is less than 20%.

If we compare the results obtained in the maps contained in Figure 1, with the results obtained in the map representation in Figure 7 there is a perfect match between rural areas (marked with the number 3 and in dark red) in Figure 7; with the voivodeships with the fewest bank offices per 100,000 inhabitants and the fewest bank offices per 1000 m². As regards the result of bank offices per-100,000 inhabitants, the voivodeships with the worst result (and thus the greatest difficulty in accessing financial services) were Świętokrzyskie, Śląskie, Podkarpackie, Małopolskie and Lubuskie. These voivodeships according to the NUTS-3 classification are defined as rural, except partially Małopolskie and Lubuskie. As far as the result of bank offices per 1000 m² is concerned, the voivodeships with the worst result (and thus the greatest difficulty in accessing financial services) were Zachodniopomorskie, Warmińsko-Mazurskie, Świętokrzyskie, Podlaskie, Podkarpackie, Opolskie, Lubuskie and Lubelskie. In the case of Świętokrzyskie, Podkarpackie and Lubelskie are defined by the NUTS-3 classification as rural. In the case of Zachodniopomorskie, Warmińsko-Mazurskie and Podlaskie are defined as intermediate and partly rural areas. If we compare the results obtained on the maps contained in Figure 6, with the results obtained on the map representation in Figure 7 there is a perfect coincidence between rural areas (marked with the number 3 and in dark red color) in Figure 7; with the voivodeships with the greatest kilometers distance from the farthest point to access financial services this we clearly observe in Podkarpackie, Lubelskie or Zachodniopomorskie. These voivodeships have areas defined as rural or intermediate for the most part and the kilometers to be covered are above average (20, 17 and 22 km, respectively).

4. Discussion

The financial sector is one of the main vectors in the transition towards full sustainable development. Proof of this can be found in the huge number of initiatives, networks and sectoral organizations that bring together financial institutions from all over the world. These include the United Nations Environment Program Finance Initiative (UNEPFI), the Ecuador Principles and the Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI). Since its beginnings, the financial sector has had a special link to the economic development of the different economic sectors [1-4]. The symbiosis between the financial sector and companies and regions has a direct impact on the SDGs and generates a greater net positive contribution to their fulfillment: around SDGs 2, 6, 8, 11, 12 and 17 [5]. This paper has measured financial inclusion in Poland from a spatial perspective. For this purpose, three methodologies have been applied. First, we have calculated according to the FAS methodology, Bank Offices per 100,000 inhabitants and Bank Offices per 1000 m² for each voivodeship [45]. The voivodships with a result furthest away from the Polish average (27.79 Bank Offices per 100,000 inhabitants); are Lubuskie (25.73), Małopolskie (24.94), Podkarpackie (24.94), Śląskie (23.47) and Świętokrzyskie (24.24). As can be seen, the southern part of Poland is clearly the worst performer in terms of bank offices per 100,000 inhabitants. Nevertheless, these voivodships have higher figures than many EU countries, especially their neighbors in the Baltic Sea area, such as Lithuania (10.46), Latvia (6.99) or Estonia (7.92). They also have values much higher than those obtained in the Czech Republic (18.3), Romania (22.56) and values very close to those recorded by Slovakia (23.32) or Hungary (23.36). These values are also much higher than those obtained in Ukraine (0.41) or Belarus (0.35). However, when compared with southern European countries, such as Spain (45.53), Portugal (32.84) or Italy (37.63), they are far behind [45]. The voivodships that are furthest away from the Polish average (36.46) in terms of bank offices per 1000 m² are the voivodships of Ljubljana and Lubelskie voivodeships (Ljubljana voivodeship, 2022); are Lubelskie (25.87), Lubuskie (18.66), Opolskie (30.28), Podkarpackie (29.75), Podlaskie (17.73), Świętokrzyskie (25.70), Warmińsko-Mazurskie (20.35) and Zachodniopomorskie (19.83) voivodships. However, these voivodships have higher values than many EU countries, especially their neighboring countries in the Baltic Sea area, such as Lithuania (3.94), Latvia (1.79) or Estonia (2.02). They also have higher values (except for Podlaskie and Zachodniopomorskie) than the Czech Republic (21.35), higher than Romania (15.98) and very close to those of Slovakia (22.36) or Hungary (21.53), except for Podlaskie and Zachodniopomorskie, which are below. These values are also much higher than those obtained in Ukraine (0.26) or Belarus (0.13). However, when compared with southern European countries, such as Spain (36.94), Portugal (32.13) or Italy (66.29), they are far behind [46].

Secondly, the application of the Access to Cash Index methodology has allowed us to generate a series of maps showing the zones for each voivodeship in white. This means that in that area there is no score available; and therefore, in that area, there is no way to access financial services. The following zones can be highlighted: In Pomorskie Voivodeship, the south-western zone and the central parts of the voivodeship. In the case of Lubuskie, the central area between Zielona Gora and Gorzów Wielkopolskie. A parallel line in the northern part bordering the Wielkopolskie Voivodship. The area south-east and south-west of Zielona Gora, the border area with Germany (Cottbus) in the west and, in the case of Dolnoślaskie, three specific areas; firstly, the north-east and south-east of Legnica, secondly,

the area east and west of Wroclaw and, thirdly, the entire southern part of the voivodship bordering the Czech Republic. This same methodology allowed [35] to detect the northwest and southwest of the province of Ávila as an area with difficult access to financial services. Additionally, [36] in their study on Castilla y León (Spain), using the same methodology, detected several areas in the provinces of Ávila, Segovia, Soria, Palencia and Zamora where it is difficult to access banking services, especially in rural areas. Other authors who following this same methodology detected areas where it is difficult to access financial services have been [51] applied to the region of Wales, in the United Kingdom, and [50] in the case of the English city of Bristol, at a more local level. In the case of Australia, this method has also been validated and used to detect remote areas where banking services are difficult to access by [53].

Thirdly, the application of the nearest neighbor methodology has allowed us to detect in each voivodeship those points where it is most difficult (measured in km distance to the nearest point) to access banking services. This gives an average across Poland of 15.375 km to reach from the furthest point.

These data show divergences with previous studies conducted in other countries. [47,63] finds in his study that 2.9% of the population of Austria (about 260,000 residents); have to travel more than 5 km to reach the nearest ATM. The municipalities with a high percentage of residents travelling more than 5 km are located in all nine provinces of Austria (except Vienna). If we compare these 5 km to be travelled in Austria with the kilometers to be travelled in the voivodships, all of them are above this distance. In Germany, it is somewhat more difficult to access the cash withdrawal service in rural regions than in cities. According to the Deutsche Bundesbank's survey on payment behavior in Germany, the nearest cash source is on average 9.3 min away in urban areas (which is 8 km when driving at 50 km/h), and 10.7 min away in rural areas (which is 9.1 km when driving at 50 km/h) [64]. Again, compared to Germany (8 km and 9.1 km, respectively); the kilometers needed to be covered in the voivodeships are above this distance. In France, the majority of the population in these rural agglomerations (96%), do not have ATMs and are between 5 and 15 min away from the nearest ATM (which at a speed of 50 km/h would be between 4.2 and 8.4 km (Banque de France, 2019). Compared to France (4.2 and 8.4 km, respectively); the kilometers needed to travel in the voivodeships to access financial services are above this distance.

The authors of [53], in their study on Australia, show two realities. On the one hand, they estimate that 99% of the population has a cash withdrawal point within 15 km (and a cash deposit point within 17 km); but on the other hand, the remaining 1% (about 250,000 Australians) have to travel more than 15 km to the nearest cash access point. These data, compared to those obtained in our study for Poland, are very similar in terms of distance travelled. Caddy, et al. [54] in their study on Australia indicate that, in June 2020, 95% of the Australian population lived within 4.3 km of a cash withdrawal point and 5.5 km of a cash deposit point. These average distances were little changed compared to 2017, despite the fact that the total number of cash access points in Australia declined significantly during this period. However, some cities have poorer access to cash, with few alternative access points nearby. Compared to Australia (4.3 and 5.5 km, respectively), the kilometers needed to travel in the voivodships to access financial services are above this distance, except in rural areas which have similar data. Jiménez Gonzalo, et al. [65] note for the case of Spain that 249,407 inhabitants (2.7% of the Spanish population) do not have access to a bank branch. These municipalities are generally small and located in unpopulated areas. The regions with the highest number of municipalities without a branch are Castilla y León, Castilla-la Mancha, Catalonia and Aragón. Náñez Alonso, et al. [35] point out that more than 80% of the municipalities in Ávila have difficulties in accessing financial services and also Náñez Alonso, et al. [36] indicate that in the provinces of Ávila, Segovia, Soria, Palencia and Zamora it is difficult to access banking services, especially in rural areas, being necessary to travel between 9 and 16 km to access these services. Compared with these Spanish provinces (between 9 and 16 km), the kilometers needed to travel in the voivodeships to access financial services are close to this distance, except in rural
areas, where the figures are somewhat higher. Financial inclusion is a tool that enhances the generation of opportunities and strengthens the capacity to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Specifically, it contributes to increasing the well-being of people, especially those living in rural areas, through greater access to and use of financial services. The application of this triple methodology and the results obtained have therefore allowed us to verify the degree of compliance with SDG number 8.10, which consists of "strengthening the capacity of national financial institutions to promote and expand access to banking, financial and insurance services for all". As we have seen, some areas, especially in rural areas of the different voivodeships, present certain problems when it comes to accessing banking services. Therefore, the fulfillment of SDG 8.10 will be more difficult to achieve in these areas. The public authorities must pay attention to this, in order to achieve the commitments acquired with the 2030 agenda, in terms of financial inclusion. One of the limitations that could influence our study is that derived from the data. Since it is not a dynamic evolution, but a situation at a given time that checks its situation, following the data extracted from the Central Bank of Poland.

Some solutions that could be adopted in Poland to reduce these distances could consist of the following. First, the implementation of bank-office buses [65]; which travel around the provinces offering banking services. Secondly, increasing access to cash by adding new cash-back points [39,66,67]. Third, other technology-based solutions can be leveraged; they can in principle help to reverse this situation in rural areas. Many central banks are considering the implementation of a CBDC (Central Bank Digital Currency) [35,66]. It is necessary to consider that, as a result of COVID 19, the ways of payment and use of financial services are changing around the world. Poland is no exception, as the use of mobile banking services has increased, which can generate certain barriers to certain groups, as it points out [67], in addition to the physical ones. However, its feasibility and acceptance should be analyzed first [68,69]. Access to financial services and financial inclusion can help to avoid bankruptcy situations, especially for SMEs in the Polish industrial sector [70], especially if they are located in areas where access to financial services is difficult; this same situation has been described and analyzed for other countries by [71,72]. Business development involves the ability to adapt to changing environmental conditions in order to survive and compete and generally involves a process of formulating, choosing directions and implementing development activities [73], which requires access to adequate financing, both for SMEs and large companies [74].

5. Conclusions

One of the main objectives of international organizations is to promote financial inclusion and for countries to have a financial system that is easily accessible to their citizens. Of course, this is all in line with SDG 8.10, which involves promoting and expanding access to banking and financial services. This objective is especially relevant in rural areas, where access to these services is more complicated, as citizens have to travel several kilometers to access them. In this study, based on Poland, and using data from the Polish Central Bank, we can conclude the following:

- 1. Following the FAS methodology (Bank Offices per 100,00 inhabitants and Bank Offices per 1000 m² per Voivodeship); the southern part of Poland is clearly the worst performer in terms of Bank Offices per 100,000 inhabitants. Nevertheless, these voivodships show higher figures than many EU countries, especially their neighboring countries in the Baltic Sea area (Lithuania, Latvia or Estonia). They also show much higher values than those obtained in the Czech Republic or Romania. Values very close to those recorded by Slovakia or Hungary and values much higher than those obtained in Ukraine or Belarus. However, they have much lower values compared to most Central European and especially Southern European countries.
- The application of the Access to Cash Index methodology has allowed us to generate a series of maps showing the areas for each voivodeship in white. This means that in that area there is no score available; and therefore, in that area, there is no way to

access financial services. This has allowed us to detect some areas per voivodeship where there are difficulties in accessing banking services. The highest scores are concentrated in large Polish cities and the detected areas where access to financial services is not guaranteed are usually rural and sparsely populated areas.

3. The application of the nearest neighbor methodology, via Tableau, has allowed us to detect in each voivodship those points where it is most difficult (measured in km distance to the nearest point) to access banking services. The voivodship where the most kilometers have to be travelled to access financial services is in Pomorskie, with 24 km. On the other hand, the voivodeship with the shortest distance (from the furthest point) to access financial services is Warmińsko-Mazurskie, with 9 km.

Some areas, especially in rural areas of the different voivodeships, present certain problems when it comes to accessing banking services. Therefore, the fulfillment of SDG 8.10 will be more difficult to achieve in these areas. The public authorities must pay attention to this, in order to achieve the commitments acquired with the 2030 agenda, in terms of financial inclusion. Some solutions that could be adopted in Poland to reduce these distances could be the implementation of bank-office buses; increasing access to cash by adding new cash-back points or the implementation of a CBDC (Polish digital currency, which could be called ePLN).

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://cutt.ly/EA4uwUf.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, S.L.N.A.; Data curation, S.L.N.A., J.J.-V., K.K. and W.S.; Formal analysis, S.L.N.A., J.J.-V. and M.Á.E.F.; Investigation, S.L.N.A. and M.Á.E.F.; Methodology, S.L.N.A. and J.J.-V.; Project administration, K.K. and W.S.; Resources, M.Á.E.F. and W.S.; Software, S.L.N.A.; Supervision, J.J.-V. and W.S.; Validation, J.J.-V. and K.K.; Visualization, M.Á.E.F. and K.K.; Writing—original draft, S.L.N.A., M.Á.E.F. and K.K.; Writing—review and editing, J.J.-V., M.Á.E.F. and W.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was partially funded by the incentive granted to the authors by the Catholic University of Ávila and this research and publication was co-funded by a subvention granted to the Cracow University of Economics.

Data Availability Statement: The dataset generated for this study is available at: https://cutt.ly/ EA4uwUf (accessed on 3 April 2022).

Acknowledgments: The authors, would like to thank Bernard Ziebicki director of the "Katedra Metod Organizacji i Zarządzania" for all his support during their stay at UEK-Cracow. The authors would also like to thank the UCAV for making available the statistical program SPSS; and finally, the company Tableau Inc. for allowing them to use this analysis program free of charge for scientific purposes.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Table A1. Total bank branches, bank branches per 100,000 inhabitants and bank branches per 1000 m² for each voivodeship, population, surface and density.

Voivodeship	Total Bank Branches	Bank Branches per 100,000 Inhabitants	Bank Offices per 1000 m ²	Population	Surface (km ²)	Population Density (inhab/km ²)
Dolnośląskie	803	27.68	40.26	2,901,225	19,946.70	145.0
Kujawsko-Pomorskie	570	27.43	31.72	2,077,775	17,971.34	114.7
Łódzkie	725	29.40	39.79	2,466,322	18,218.95	133.8
Lubelskie	650	30.69	25.87	2,117,629	25,122.46	83.4
Lubuskie	261	25.73	18.66	1,014,548	13,987.93	72.0
Małopolskie	848	24.94	55.85	3,400,577	15,182.79	224.6
Mazowieckie	1730	32.02	48.65	5,403,412	35,558.47	152.6
Opolskie	285	28.89	30.28	986,506	9411.87	103.8
Podkarpackie	531	24.94	29.75	2,129,015	17,845.76	118.9
Podlaskie	358	30.30	17.73	1,181,533	20,187.02	58.1
Pomorskie	619	26.53	33.81	2,333,523	18,310.34	128.2
Śląskie	1064	23.47	86.27	4,533,565	12,333.09	364.3
Świętokrzyskie	301	24.24	25.70	1,241,546	11,710.5	103.8
Warmińsko-Mazurskie	492	34.43	20.35	1,428,983	24,173.47	58.6
Wielkopolskie	982	28.11	32.92	3,493,969	29,826.5	117.1
Zachodniopomorskie	454	26.69	19.83	1,701,030	22,892.48	73.7
Poland	10,673	27.79	36.46	38,411,158	292,732.97	122.4

Source: Own elaboration based on data from (Narodowy Bank Polski-Central Bank of Poland, 2022) and [75].

Appendix B



Figure A1. Voivodeships with the fewest bank branches per 100,000 inhabitants. Source: Own elaboration based on data from Table A1 and Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.



Figure A2. Voivodeships with the fewest bank offices per 1000 m². Source: Own elaboration based on data from Table A1 and Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.



Figure A3. Map with ACI results for the whole of Poland. Source: Prepared by the authors using Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.



Figure A4. Map with access to banking services points for the whole of Poland Source: Prepared by the authors using Tableau Desktop Professional Edition.

City	Score	
Warszawa	770	
Szczecin	648	
Poznań	538	
Kraków	433	
Łódź	356	
Rzeszów	320	
Lublin	262	
Katowice	241	
Wrocław	220	
Gdańsk	212	
Bydgoszcz	206	
Olsztyn	198	
Białystok	176	
Gdynia	137	
Kielce	125	

Table A2. Higher scores (per city) derived from applying the ACI.

Source: Own elaboration based on data from (Narodowy Bank Polski-Central Bank of Poland, 2022) and the application of the ACI.

References

- Chibba, M. Financial Inclusion, Poverty Reduction and the Millennium Development Goals. Eur. J. Dev. Res. 2009, 21, 213–230. [CrossRef]
- Prasad, E. Financial Sector Regulation and Reforms in Emerging Markets: An Overview; Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA): Bonn, Germany, 2010.
- 3. Sachs, J.D.; Schmidt-Traub, G.; Mazzucato, M.; Messner, D.; Nakicenovic, N.; Rockström, J. Six Transformations to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals. *Nat. Sustain.* **2019**, *2*, 805–814. [CrossRef]

- 4. Parkhouse, A. Agenda 2030 and the EU on migration and integration. In *Implementing Sustainable Development Goals in Europe;* Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham, UK, 2020; pp. 79–98.
- Klapper, L.; El-Zoghbi, M.; Hess, J. Achieving the sustainable development goals: The role of financial inclusion. In UN Secretary General's Special Advocate for Inclusive Finance for Development; CGAP (Consultative Group to Assist the Poor): Washington, DC, USA, 2017; pp. 1–20.
- Demirguc-Kunt, A.; Klapper, L.; Singer, D. Financial Inclusion and Inclusive Growth: A Review of Recent Empirical Evidence; The World Bank. 2017. Available online: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/26479 (accessed on 10 January 2022).
- Sethi, D.; Acharya, D. Financial inclusion and economic growth linkage: Some cross country evidence. J. Financ. Econ. Policy 2018, 10, 369–385. [CrossRef]
- Kim, D.-W.; Yu, J.-S.; Hassan, M.K. Financial inclusion and economic growth in OIC countries. *Res. Int. Bus. Financ.* 2018, 43, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 9. Obayori, J.B.; Chioma Chidinma, G.-A.B. Financial Inclusion and Economic Growth in Nigeria. *Bus. Perspect. Rev.* 2020, *2*, 46–56. [CrossRef]
- Van, L.T.-H.; Vo, A.T.; Nguyen, N.T.; Vo, D.H. Financial Inclusion and Economic GROWTH: An International Evidence. *Emerg. Mark. Finance Trade* 2021, 57, 239–263. [CrossRef]
- Miklaszewska, E. Economic Growth and the Financial Inclusion: The Case of Poland. In New Frontiers in Banking Services; Springer Science and Business Media LLC.: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2007; pp. 271–298.
- 12. Buszko, M.; Krupa, D.; Chojnacka, M. Young people and banking products and services in Poland: The results of empirical studies. *EÈkon. Prawo* 2019, *18*, 147–164. [CrossRef]
- 13. Gatnar, E. Financial Inclusion Indicators in Poland. Acta Univ. Lodz. Folia Oecon. 2013, 286, 225–233.
- 14. Świecka, B.; Terefenko, P.; Wiśniewski, T.; Xiao, J. Consumer Financial Knowledge and Cashless Payment Behavior for Sustainable Development in Poland. *Sustainability* **2021**, *13*, 6401. [CrossRef]
- 15. Idzik, M. Financial inclusion in Poland in the segment of young consumers (Inkluzja finansowa w Polsce w segmencie młodych konsumentów). *Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu* **2016**, *439*, 115–125. [CrossRef]
- 16. Szopinski, T. Who is Unbanked? Evidence from Poland. *Contemp. Econ.* **2019**, *13*, 415–424.
- Potocki, T.; Cierpiał-Wolan, M. Factors shaping the financial capability of low-income consumers from rural regions of Poland. Int. J. Consum. Stud. 2018, 43, 187–198. [CrossRef]
- 18. Potocki, T. Financial capability among low-income households in rural parts of Poland. *Argum. Oeconomic* **2019**, *2*, 85–114. [CrossRef]
- 19. Kata, R.; Walenia, A.; Pyrkos, D.S.; University of Rzeszow. Financial exclusion of the rural population in Poland. J. Agribus. Rural Dev. 2015, 4, 705–715. [CrossRef]
- Yue, X.-G.; Cao, Y.; Duarte, N.; Shao, X.-F.; Manta, O. Social and Financial Inclusion through Nonbanking Institutions: A Model for Rural Romania. J. Risk Financ. Manag. 2019, 12, 166. [CrossRef]
- 21. Horská, E.; Szafranska, M.; Matysik-Pejas, R. Knowledge and financial skills as the factors determining the financial exclusion process of rural dwellers in Poland. *Agric. Econ. Zemědělská Ekonomika* 2013, 59, 29–37. [CrossRef]
- BUSZKO, M.; KRUPA, D.; CHOJNACKA, M. Why young people do not use bank products—The case of Poland. Sci. Pap. Sil. Univ. Technol. Organ. Manag. Ser. 2019, 2019, 23–34. [CrossRef]
- Jastrzębska, M.E. State action aimed at limiting financial exclusion in Poland in terms of sustainable and inclusive development. Optimum. Econ. Stud. 2019, 28–43. [CrossRef]
- Náňez Alonso, S.L.; Jorge-Vazquez, J.; Reier Forradellas, R.F. Detection of Financial Inclusion Vulnerable Rural Areas through an Access to Cash Index: Solutions Based on the Pharmacy Network and a CBDC. Evidence Based on Ávila (Spain). Sustainability 2020, 12, 7480. [CrossRef]
- 25. Koku, P.S. Financial exclusion of the poor: A literature review. Int. J. Bank Mark. 2015, 33, 654–668. [CrossRef]
- Rajeev, M.; Vani, B.P. Financial Exclusion of the Poor: Global Experiences. In *Financial Access of the Urban Poor in India: A Story of Exclusion*; SpringerBriefs in Economics; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2017; pp. 15–37.
- 27. Martin-Oliver, A. Financial exclusion and branch closures in Spain after the Great Recession. *Reg. Stud.* 2018, 53, 562–573. [CrossRef]
- Wang, X.; He, G. Digital Financial Inclusion and Farmers' Vulnerability to Poverty: Evidence from Rural China. Sustainability 2020, 12, 1668. [CrossRef]
- Bonfim, D.; Nogueira, G.; Ongena, S. "Sorry, We're Closed" Bank Branch Closures, Loan Pricing, and Information Asymmetries. *Rev. Financ.* 2020, 25, 1211–1259. [CrossRef]
- Srouji, J. Digital Payments, the Cashless Economy, and Financial Inclusion in the United Arab Emirates: Why Is Everyone Still Transacting in Cash? J. Risk Financ. Manag. 2020, 13, 260. [CrossRef]
- Argent, N.; Rolley, F. Financial Exclusion in Rural and Remote New South Wales, Australia: A Geography of Bank Branch Rationalisation, 1981–1998. Aust. Geogr. Stud. 2000, 38, 182–203. [CrossRef]
- Camacho, J.A.; Molina, J.; Rodríguez, M. Financial accessibility in branchless municipalities: An analysis for Andalusia. *Eur. Plan.* Stud. 2021, 29, 883–898. [CrossRef]
- Sin Tian Ho, C.; Berggren, B. The effect of bank branch closures on new firm formation: The Swedish case. Ann. Reg. Sci. 2020, 65, 319–350.

- Alessandrini, P.; Presbitero, A.; Zazzaro, A. Banks, Distances and Firms' Financing Constraints. Rev. Finance 2008, 13, 261–307. [CrossRef]
- 35. Devlin, J.F. A Detailed Study of Financial Exclusion in the UK. J. Consum. Policy 2005, 28, 75–108. [CrossRef]
- Coppock, S. The everyday geographies of financialisation: Impacts, subjects and alternatives. Camb. J. Reg. Econ. Soc. 2013, 6, 479–500. [CrossRef]
- 37. Ozili, P.K. Financial inclusion research around the world: A review. Forum Soc. Econ. 2020, 50, 457-479. [CrossRef]
- Panigyrakis, G.G.; Theodoridis, P.K.; Veloutsou, C.A. All customers are not treated equally: Financial exclusion in isolated Greek islands. J. Financ. Serv. Mark. 2002, 7, 54–66. [CrossRef]
- Alonso, S.L.N.; Jorge-Vazquez, J.; Forradellas, R.F.R.; Dochado, E.A. Solutions to Financial Exclusion in Rural and Depopulated Areas: Evidence Based in Castilla y León (Spain). *Land* 2022, *11*, 74. [CrossRef]
- 40. Jorge-Vázquez, J.; Chivite-Cebolla, M.; Salinas-Ramos, F. The Digitalization of the European Agri-Food Cooperative Sector. Determining Factors to Embrace Information and Communication Technologies. *Agriculture* **2021**, *11*, 514. [CrossRef]
- Jorge-Vázquez, J.; Reier-Forradellas, R.; Náñez-Alonso, S.L.; Sáez-Herráez, I. La digitalización de los servicios bancarios y su incidencia en el medio rural. In Avances en Educación, TIC e Innovación: Aportaciones para la Mejora Empresarial y Social (Advances in Education, ICT and Innovation: Issues for Business and Social Enhancing); University Press of Florida: Gainesville, FL, USA, 2021; pp. 11–16.
- 42. Náñez Alonso, S.L.; Jorge-Vázquez, J.; Reier-Forradellas, R.F. Adopción de una moneda digital (CBDC) para prevenir la exclusión financiera en el medio rural. In *Advances in Education, ICT and Innovation: Issues for Business and Social Enhancing*; Dykinson: Madrid, Spain, 2021; pp. 17–21.
- Stanny, M.; Komorowski, Ł.; Rosner, A. The Socio-Economic Heterogeneity of Rural Areas: Towards a Rural Typology of Poland. Energies 2021, 14, 5030. [CrossRef]
- 44. Dudzińska, M.; Bacior, S.; Prus, B. Considering the level of socio-economic development of rural areas in the context of infrastructural and traditional consolidations in Poland. *Land Use Policy* **2018**, *79*, 759–773. [CrossRef]
- 45. Adamowicz, M.; Zwolińska-Ligaj, M. The "Smart Village" as a Way to Achieve Sustainable Development in Rural Areas of Poland. *Sustainability* 2020, 12, 6503. [CrossRef]
- Adamowicz, M. The Potential for Innovative and Smart Rural Development in the Peripheral Regions of Eastern Poland. Agriculture 2021, 11, 188. [CrossRef]
- Narodowy Bank Polski—Central Bank of Poland. The list of numbers and identifiers financial institutions assigned by Narodowy Bank Polski. 2022. Available online: https://www.nbp.pl/homen.aspx?f=/srodeken.htm (accessed on 20 January 2022).
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). Financial Access Survey (FAS). 2022. Available online: https://data.imf.org/?sk=E5DCAB7 E-A5CA-4892-A6EA-598B5463A34C (accessed on 20 January 2022).
- 49. International Monetary Fund (IMF). Number of commercial bank branches per 100,000 adults. 2021. Available online: https://www.imf.org/en/Home (accessed on 10 January 2022).
- Tischer, D.; Evans, J.; Davies, S. Mapping the Availability of Cash—A Case Study of Bristol's Financial Infrastructure; Bristol Poverty Institute, Personal Finance Research Centre (PFRC), University of Bristol: Bristol, UK, 2019.
- Khan, M.; Ding, Q.; Perrizo, W. K-Nearest Neighbor Classification on Spatial Data Streams Using P-trees. In Advances in Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2002; pp. 517–528.
- Kolahdouzan, M.R.; Shahabi, C. Alternative Solutions for Continuous K Nearest Neighbor Queries in Spatial Network Databases. GeoInformatica 2005, 9, 321–341. [CrossRef]
- Lu, J.; Lu, Y.; Cong, G. Reverse spatial and textual k nearest neighbor search. In Proceedings of the 2011 International Conference on Management of Data—SIGMOD '11, online. 12 June 2011; ACM Press: New York, NY, USA, 2011; p. 349.
- Chomboon, K.; Chujai, P.; Teerarassamee, P.; Kerdprasop, K.; Kerdprasop, N. An empirical study of distance metrics for k-nearest neighbor algorithm. In Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Industrial Application Engineering, Kitakyushu, Japan, 28–31 March 2015; pp. 280–285.
- 55. Gou, J.; Ma, H.; Ou, W.; Zeng, S.; Rao, Y.; Yang, H. A generalized mean distance-based k-nearest neighbor classifier. *Expert Syst. Appl.* **2019**, *115*, 356–372. [CrossRef]
- Abu Alfeilat, H.A.; Hassanat, A.; Lasassmeh, O.; Altarawneh, A.S.A.; Alhasanat, M.B.; Salman, H.S.E.; Prasath, S. Effects of Distance Measure Choice on K-Nearest Neighbor Classifier Performance: A Review. *Big Data* 2019, 7, 221–248. [CrossRef]
- 57. Eurostat Rural Development: Methodology. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/rural-development/ methodology (accessed on 28 March 2022).
- Evans, J.C.N.; Tischer, D.; Davies, S.V. Geographies of Access to Cash—Identifying Vulnerable Communities in a Case Study of South Wales. 2020. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338717001_Geographies_of_Access_to_Cash_ Identifying_Vulnerable_Communities_in_a_Case_Study_Of_South_Wales (accessed on 10 January 2022).
- Delaney, L.; O'Hara, A.; Finlay, R. Cash Withdrawal Symptoms. 2019. Available online: https://www.nintione.com.au/resources/ rao/cash-withdrawal-symptoms/ (accessed on 10 January 2022).
- 60. Stix, H. A spatial analysis of access to ATMs in Austria. Monet. Policy Econ. 2020, 39–59.
- 61. Stix, H. *The Austrian Bank Branch Network from 2000 to 2019 from a Spatial Perspective;* Oesterreichische Nationalbank: Vienna, Austria, 2020.

- Deutsche Bundesbank. Cash Withdrawals and Payments in Urban and Rural Areas. 2020. Available online: https://www. bundesbank.de/resource/blob/835308/883b0d7e02a4d9edbebb4069038fbebf/mL/2020-06-stadt-land-vergleich-data.pdf (accessed on 10 January 2022).
- 63. Caddy, J.; Zhang, Z. How Far Do Australians Need to Travel to Access Cash? Reserv. Bank Aust. 2021, 10–17.
- 64. Jiménez Gonzalo, C.; Tejero Sala, H. Bank Branch Closure and Cash access in Spain. Financ. Stab. Rev. 2018, 34.
- 65. Beckmann, E.; Reiter, S.; Stix, H. A geographic perspective on banking in Central, Eastern and Southeastern Europe. *Oesterreichische Natl.* 2018, 1–22.
- 66. Náñez Alonso, S.L.; Echarte Fernández, M.Á.; Sanz Bas, D.; Kaczmarek, J. Reasons Fostering or Discouraging the Implementation of Central Bank-Backed Digital Currency: A Review. *Economies* **2020**, *8*, 41. [CrossRef]
- 67. Solarz, M.; Adamek, J. Determinants of digital financial exclusion as a barrier to the adoption of mobile banking services in Poland. *Ekon. I Prawo* **2022**, *21*.
- Kim, G. Why is China going to issue CBDC (Central Bank Digital Currency)? J. Internet Electron. Commer. Res. 2020, 20, 161–177. [CrossRef]
- 69. Söilen, K.S.; Benhayoun, L. Household acceptance of central bank digital currency: The role of institutional trust. *Int. J. Bank Mark.* 2021, 40, 172–196. [CrossRef]
- Kaczmarek, J.; Alonso, S.L.N.; Sokołowski, A.; Fijorek, K.; Denkowska, S. Financial threat profiles of industrial enterprises in Poland. Oecon. Copernic. 2021, 12, 463–498. [CrossRef]
- Locurcio, M.; Tajani, F.; Morano, P.; Anelli, D.; Manganelli, B. Credit Risk Management of Property Investments through Multi-Criteria Indicators. *Risks* 2021, 9, 106. [CrossRef]
- 72. Eletter, S.F.; Yaseen, S.G. Loan decision models for the Jordanian commercial banks. Glob. Bus. Econ. Rev. 2017, 19, 323. [CrossRef]
- Kolegowicz, K.; Krzemiński, P. The influence of financial condition on investment decisions in enterprises in Poland. Sci. Pap. Sil. Univ. Technol. Organ. Manag. Ser. 2019, 2019, 243–255. [CrossRef]
- 74. Kolegowicz, K.; Sierpińska, M. Cash management in energy companies. J. Polish Miner. Eng. Soc. 2020, 2, 95–100. [CrossRef]
- 75. GUS Główny Urząd Statystyczny. Statistics Poland. 2022. Available online: https://stat.gov.pl/ (accessed on 20 January 2022).



Article



The Influence of the Organizational Culture of Andalusian Local Governments on the Localization of Sustainable Development Goals

Jesús Delgado-Baena^{1,*}, Juan de Dios García-Serrano², Oscar Toro-Peña³ and Rocío Vela-Jiménez⁴

- ¹ Department of Social Work and Social Services, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, 41013 Seville, Spain
- ² Department of Economics, Quantitative Methods and Economic History, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, 41013 Seville, Spain; jdgarser@upo.es
- ³ Ágora Research Group, Universidad de Huelva, 21004 Huelva, Spain; oscar.toro@alu.uhu.es
- ⁴ Research Institute on Policies for Social Transformation, Universidad Loyola Andalucía, 41704 Seville, Spain; mrvela@uloyola.es
- * Correspondence: jdelbae@upo.es; Tel.: +34-644025615

Abstract: Local governments are key to establishing public policies linked to the 2030 Agenda. To achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), public innovation is essential, and one of the essential pillars is transversality and partnerships (internal and external). This implies a transformative political, technical, and institutional culture that some authors have called, in the case of Andalusia, Spain, a "culture of solidarity", as many of the elements of the 2030 Agenda are established within local organizations. This article aims to answer the question: Do Andalusian local authorities have an organizational culture and structure that facilitates the localization of the SDGs? To do so, it analyzes the conditioning factors, facilitators, and barriers that exist in local governments to advance in the mainstreaming of the localization and development processes of the 2030 Agenda in their territories. A study has been carried out on the perception of local technicians and the assessment of their own organization aligned with the 2030 Agenda. The results obtained indicate that local governments in Andalusia have made efforts to establish social actions and policies against poverty. The 2030 Agenda is perceived as an opportunity to transform local entities, with more open, collaborative, transversal, and interconnected institutions.

Keywords: public policies; local development; decentralization; 2030 Agenda; human development; multilevel governance; organizational culture; culture of solidarity

1. Introduction

Territorial and local governments are essential organizations for generating local development processes [1] but they are not the only administrations within the territory, which is why multilevel articulation between the different levels of government ensures that local government is not isolated and invisible to national or international administrations, allowing for the proper localization of development processes and the 2030 Agenda [2].

This 2030 Agenda approved by the United Nations and its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) [3] represent an opportunity for local governments to incorporate solidarity and sustainability policies into their development plans and their own internal structures, emphasizing the importance of local governments through the localization concept of the SDGs.

"Localization relates both to how the SDGs can provide a framework for local development policy and to how local and regional governments can support the achievement of the SDGs through action from the bottom up and to how the SDGs can provide a framework for local development policy" [4].

This article will address the case of local governments in Andalusia. This region in southern Spain is the most populated in the country [5] but it is also recognized for

Citation: Delgado-Baena, J.;

García-Serrano, J.d.D.; Toro-Peña, O.; Vela-Jiménez, R. The Influence of the Organizational Culture of Andalusian Local Governments on the Localization of Sustainable Development Goals. *Land* **2022**, *11*, 214. https://doi.org/10.3390/ land11020214

Academic Editors: Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

Received: 23 December 2021 Accepted: 27 January 2022 Published: 29 January 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). its involvement in decentralized international cooperation and active participation in international platforms of local governments [6]. These international platforms prioritize the 2030 Agenda among their actions, thus allowing Andalusian local governments to be especially sensitive to the Agenda itself. This can be seen in some examples of localization of the SDGs carried out by Andalusian territories such as the Provincial Council of Huelva or the City Council of Palma del Río [6,7].

However, this article aims to develop a deeper understanding of how the 2030 Agenda has also entered the organizational structures of local governments in this region, in other words, how local governments that are sensitive to the Agenda are in turn organizational structures that internally have the values of the SDGs. This issue has already been addressed theoretically by the Andalusian Fund of Municipalities for International Solidarity (FAMSI), which published a study on the existence of a "culture of solidarity" [8] on the part of the Andalusian territories, which allows the generation of more supportive and just institutions and territories.

To carry out this research, the key informants have been the technicians who are part of some local administrations of Andalusia, which are the main agents of the territory. This will favour an initial perception that will allow the proposal of strategies for the mainstreaming of the 2030 Agenda by local governments.

Therefore, the key question of this research is the following: Do Andalusian local authorities have an organizational culture and structure that facilitates the localization of the SDGs? As basic cross-cutting elements of an institution's internal structure, communication, and innovation enable institutions to be strengthened in order to address the fight against poverty as a first-level strategic challenge. As this is a perception study, this question will be answered through the perception of local technicians in their own organizations. The result will allow us to assess whether the 2030 Agenda is an opportunity to innovate and promote a culture of solidarity that allows local governments to be more open and collaborative. To answer this question, a study was carried out on the perceptions of technicians from 35 local governments from different provinces of Andalusia. This study focuses on exploring these technicians' assessments of their organizations' alignment with the 2030 Agenda. This analysis is based on three fundamental elements: (1) innovation in the management of local governments as a strategic element to increase effectiveness and efficiency in the SDG localization processes; (2) communication, both internal and external to local entities, as an articulating axis of SDG localization, exploring the perception of the need to change the communication model that is being implemented; (3) the fight against poverty as a central challenge of the 2030 Agenda in the territorial context of Andalusia.

1.1. Sustainable Development: 2030 Agenda and Public Policies

The 2030 Agenda, which was approved by the United Nations Assembly in 2015 with the title "Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development", consists of an action plan that is specified in 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and 169 specific goals "in favour of people, the planet and prosperity" [3].

The SDGs that comprise the Agenda are characterized by being (a) universal, since to achieve their goals, the collaboration, coordination, and work of governments, the private sector, civil society, and citizens are necessary; (b) multidimensional, since they will address the interconnected elements of sustainable development: economic growth, social inclusion, environmental protection, and the necessary political-institutional response. The preamble of the Agenda itself recognizes that social development and economic development depend on the sustainable management of the Earth's natural resources [9]; (c) having a comprehensive approach that allows analysis and seeks answers from different areas; (d) leaving no one behind, which involves working on initiatives that promote integration and ensure that all inhabitants can live in cities and human settlements that are fair, safe, healthy, accessible, affordable, resilient, and sustainable; (e) measurable, since it is essential to analyze and evaluate the degree to which the goals are fulfilled [3]. As established in previous studies, it will be impossible to implement the SDGs without the work of local governments [10], as they are a fundamental space for meeting with the rest of the local actors within the territories. As such, local governments could develop their capacity to catalyze and coordinate the SDGs at the local level, supporting, strengthening, and empowering other territorial actors in their efforts and ensuring that the 2030 Agenda is addressed in a collaborative and pluralistic manner [11].

The fight against poverty has special relevance in the Agenda, as pointed out by the network of United Cities and Local Governments (UCLG). The Agenda asserts that poverty is the greatest problem facing humanity and that the SDGs must therefore prioritize the eradication of poverty and hunger, placing people "at the centre of sustainable development". However, it warns that this will depend on a true "global partnership for sustainable development", involving governments, society, the private sector, and multilateral agencies [12]. These interrelationships represent a strategy that must be supported by all actors in society and is important for the sustainable management of urban ecosystems [9]. In this study, this is particularly emphasized, since for Andalusian local governments, ending poverty is the main challenge of the Agenda, given that, as mentioned above, Andalusia is a region with a high level of inequality compared to the European context. SDG 1 addresses poverty from a multidimensional point of view and, therefore, requires multiple coordinated responses beyond the sector. Local governments have a leading position in identifying the reality on the ground and assessing the resources and services that are available and necessary for addressing this complex and multifactorial reality in a complex and innovative way. They should provide collaborative and coordinated leadership of territorial actors using strategies and initiatives for local economic development that allow the creation of jobs and increase income through a commitment to decent work; additionally, they should raise awareness and generate capacities to increase their communities' resilience to shocks and disasters [13].

To work on this universal roadmap, territorial and especially local governments must take a central role in the proposal; at the same time, they should take a broader perspective that considers the consequences of actions in the medium and long term [3].

These actions should bring together all social, cultural, educational, economic, and political agents and provide an opportunity to design frameworks of action that are adapted to each local reality in a participatory way, "without leaving anyone behind and endowing all public actions and policies with a transversal vision of sustainability in a triple economic, social and environmental dimension" [13].

1.2. The Articulation of Governance for Sustainable Development. New Perspectives on Management in Local Governments and the Inclusion of Citizenship in These Decisions

Among the lessons learned from the Millennium Development Goals (the antecedents of the SDGs), it should be noted that many of the expected results were not met because the role of local governments, essential actors for development, was instrumental [1]. In other words, they served to be used as channels for external universal development, without taking into account their capacities and their own territorial, social, and cultural context. To achieve the SDGs, there is a sine qua non condition, which is the design of stable institutions and structures capable of guaranteeing their development, as stated in SDG 16 (Peace, Justice and Solid Institutions). The role of local and regional governments and their associations in achieving the SDGs is crucial; it is at this level that one of the guiding principles of the Agenda, the equality approach or its slogan "Leave no one behind" can be preserved for implementation at the national level, since all of the SDGs are related to competencies and responsibilities of the local sphere, mainly in the provision of basic services and in the promotion of endogenous, inclusive, and sustainable territorial development [14]. In this regard, it is essential that local governments address the institutional and political barriers to Agenda developers while reflecting on the experiences of previous initiatives (such as Local Agenda 21) [11] and being encouraged to generate innovations.

Understanding public innovation from a broad perspective covers not only the "products" and/or services that are provided but also the processes, approaches, methodologies, and results (expected and contingent). It also contemplates the learning and knowledge that are generated and are sometimes unforeseen, even in an area where the systematization and transfer of knowledge is not very frequent. In short, public innovation is understood as changes that are not always disruptive and that have been shaping new approaches and working methods in local entities and have generated new visions of the role of local management in response to the needs of people and territories [15].

These initiatives involve the generation of organizational innovations that move from hierarchical, closed, compartmentalized organizations that are accustomed to communicating unidirectionally with citizens (which generates silos, bottlenecks, excess bureaucracy, authoritarian leadership, etc.) towards institutions that "learn, that think of themselves as networks and introduce rhizome dynamics into their architectures (opening and allowing spaces for the free circulation of ideas, where creativity is encouraged)" [16].

It is a matter of addressing global and local challenges that are complex, "wicked" problems [17] through collective and multidimensional contributions and designing polycentric governance systems based on decentralized and shared decision-making processes (diversity, participation) that are coordinated with each other (connectivity, feedback) [18].

From the municipal perspective, the local governance approach highlights the encounters of people and citizens with the public services that are provided in the territory and that seek to respond to the needs with the greatest impact on their daily life [19].

To this end, the collaborative governance experiences of community management systems that comprise intersectoral teams of public–private and citizen networks that address the problems and challenges of the territory in a systemic way that values collective intelligence [20].

This concept not only broadens the systems' radius of action and their external connectivity but also reactivates their internal strengths, reveals hidden leadership, multiplies the social value produced, and maximizes the efficient use of resources in a time of limitations [16].

This is especially significant given the need to generate new critical perspectives, effective responses, and social innovations in the local fight against poverty in a way that considers the multidimensional, systemic, complex nature of this structural challenge in Andalusian society.

Social and public innovation efforts involve focusing on the opportunity provided by the mainstreaming of the 2030 Agenda. It implies a new culture, a way of being and doing things that involves the "weaving" of relationships, learning, and complicities, advancing from knot to knot until a common, open, and diversified space is formed in which new initiatives, proposals, and endeavours are added [8].

Mainstreaming the SDGs into local management goes beyond interdisciplinarity and mere processes of consultation or dialogue (which are always necessary), since interdisciplinarity does not imply new points of view or new objectives that differ from those of a sectoral nature. In contrast, it requires planning, commitment, shared responsibility, and the full capacity to implement actions. It obeys a paradigm of public governance in which co-responsibility and teamwork prevail. It involves focusing the attention of local governments on localized universal objectives and goals and improving the consistency and coherence of the implemented strategy to achieve the intended purposes [8].

Previous studies on innovation management in public entities anticipate barriers to this process [21]. Such barriers include those who support a hierarchical, bureaucratic, compartmentalized, and disconnected organizational design with excessively departmentalized, siloed services that sometimes feed into a "not my job" logic [22]. Under such conditions, there is little transversality or capacity for anticipation and planning. Additionally, internal and external communication lack a transversal nature and adequate bottom-up flows [21].

Authors such as Cristina Sala Valdés [23] dismiss the weight placed on communication and information in the 2030 Agenda as irrelevant. For experts, little importance is given to communication processes. Communication for development is not mentioned, although this concept was present in the previous Millennium Development Goals [23].

The current SDGs focus mainly on a more instrumental conception of communication and are especially linked to information and communication technology (ICT). SDG 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure) cites the improvement of infrastructure, including digital infrastructure, as an essential element to guarantee inclusive, equitable, and sustainable socioeconomic development. Similarly, this objective focuses on the need to reduce the digital divide. As indicated in target 9.c, access to information and communication technology should be significantly increased, and universal and affordable access to the internet should be sought in the least developed countries by 2020. As indicated by the United Nations, more than 4 million people, 90% of whom are located in developing countries, do not have internet access [24]. This gap, which was aggravated by the COVID-19 crisis, is increasing among the most vulnerable groups in society. To the same extent, as recalled by Jones, Wyin, Hillier, and Comfor [24], this effort to expand and improve digital accessibility is of interest to large technology companies, which view this objective as a new business opportunity. For Van Deursen [25], a vicious circle is being fed in which the most vulnerable groups are being even more marginalized in times of crisis. However, it is necessary to turn to SDG 16 (Promote Just, Peaceful and Inclusive Societies), which, in its goal 16.10 (Guarantee Public Access to Information and Protect Fundamental Freedoms, In Accordance with National Laws and International Agreements) references the role of the media as information channels and the right of citizens to be informed and, therefore, moves away from the broad, transversal and co-responsible approach of communication for development, social change, or transformative work.

Additionally, it is important to note the commitment to construct, in a participatory way, an agenda led by multistakeholder representatives of society, administrations, and the academic and business world. Participation is granted such relevance that it is an essential element of a new governance proposal specified in some of the SDGs (see Table 1).

SDG	GOAL	Reference to Participation		
5	5.5	Ensure the full and effective participation of women and equal leadership opportunities at all decision-making levels in political, economic and public life.		
6	6.b	Support and strengthen the participation of local communities in improving water and sanitation management.		
11	11.3	By 2030, increase inclusive and sustainable urbanization and the capacity for participatory, integrated and sustainable planning and management of human settlements in all countries.		
16	16.7	Guarantee the adoption at all levels of inclusive, participatory and representative decisions that respond to needs.		
17	17.7	Encourage and promote the establishment of effective alliances in the public, public–private and civil society spheres, taking advantage of experience and strategies for obtaining resources from these alliances.		

Table 1. SDG goals with references to participation.

Source: Own elaboration.

The United Nations [26] recognizes the importance of citizen participation to the extent that for the Agenda to be carried out, the adoption of new behaviours and a reconfiguration of new social practices, values, and laws is required.

On the other hand, it is equally interesting to note the Agenda's initial concern regarding citizens' lack of knowledge of the purposes of the 17 SDGs. This concern was manifested in the declaration that "a citizenry committed to the tools to effect change—especially for groups that are at greater risk of being left behind—is an essential force for the advancement of sustainable development [...] Encouraging people to contribute, individually or collectively, expands resources for development and fosters human ingenuity for innovation" [26]. However, in 2019, the company IPSOS, in collaboration with the World Economic Fund, assessed the degree of knowledge of the 2030 Agenda in an adult population aged 16 to 74 years in 28 countries [27]. One of the results of this survey was that Spain was at the forefront of Europe in terms of knowledge of the Agenda, at 80% (only Sweden was ahead, with 86%).

The United Nations [26] notes that "individuals make decisions for many reasons and considering multiple sources of information. They are more likely to base their actions on firm evidence if it is communicated in a clear, interesting, and easy-to-understand way that stimulates action". This statement demonstrates the importance of communication and information as instruments for achieving the objectives and goals of the Agenda. It cannot be forgotten that this proposal is a roadmap towards models of more just, supportive, and sustainable societies with a clear aim to transform socioeconomic behaviours and practices towards a model of socioecological transition that guarantees well-being within the framework of the limits of the planet. In short, it means a change in attitude and aptitude that can only come from conviction and knowledge. For this purpose, it is necessary to resort to new communicative and informative models that favour this learning and these changes. As Blanca Miedes points out [28], this process involves learning to connect with the agency itself, with the capacity for transformation, and with other people, so that we finally believe that are capable of enacting transformation. To this end, a pluralistic communicative model is necessary and must be open to different voices and new narratives in which ICT provides assistance and tools for change.

1.3. Our Field of Study: Andalusia and the Organizational Culture for the Implementation of the 2030 Agenda

The political changes in Spain, especially in local governments, as a result of various elections since 2015 and the agreements reached in the framework of the 2030 Agenda at the end of 2015 have had an impact on the commitment of local and regional governments to the localization of the SDGs [29].

Andalusia is a region in southern Spain that is divided into 8 different provinces with a total of 785 municipalities and a population of 8,465,236 [30]. Andalusia is the most populated region in Spain, with an average density of 97 inhabitants per square kilometre [30]. Social inequality is a much more pressing problem in Andalusia than in the rest of Europe [31]. Thirty-five percent of the population of Andalusia is at risk of poverty or exclusion, a rate that is above the Spanish average [31] (see Figure 1).

This level of poverty and inequality, however, has not prevented Andalusia from decentralizing cooperation in official development aid data; that is, the economic amounts transferred by local governments in Andalusia for official development aid for impoverished countries or for humanitarian aid sometimes exceed the funds transferred from countries with higher incomes [6].

Despite the fact that many disadvantaged areas in the cities of Andalusia have been the focus of different strategies and local initiatives to combat poverty through European, national, and regional funding, social vulnerability persists, and the current context of the COVID-19 pandemic has created a situation of increased social conflict [32].

Currently, Andalusia faces the challenge of addressing public innovation at the local level through the promotion of open government initiatives, innovation plans, and digital transformation. This challenge is motivated by the attempts to make administrations more democratic and efficient through political programmes aimed at configuring a new social, green, and digital contract within the framework of the 2030 Agenda [16].

The regional strategy for localizing the SDGs is led by the Andalusian Agency for International Cooperation for Development (AACID) [33]. However, from the data provided by the FAMSI, we also see that some municipalities, mainly partners of this fund, have very specific strategies for the localization of the SDGs; examples include the municipality of Palma del Río [34] and the provincial council of Huelva [7]. As such, these localities promote and develop specific communication, awareness, and training actions for technical bodies, local politicians, and citizens in general that value the Agenda and promote collaborative governance among territorial actors to achieve the proposed objectives and goals. In the public space, the Agenda is proposed as an opportunity to adapt the administration and its services to citizens' demands with greater effectiveness, efficiency, and transparency. The transformation of local entities as agents of a paradigm shift in the administration in the face of the challenges and objectives that the 2030 Agenda proposes has made these organizations references for innovation due to their wide range of experiences, the diversity of their themes, and their results [15].



Figure 1. Andalusia map in Europe and provinces.

2. Materials and Methodology

The results presented in this study were obtained through a perception study conducted using two research techniques: a questionnaire and a focus group. As for the focus group, this qualitative technique allowed for the collection of data from the discussion and the subsequent qualitative analysis of the results obtained through a summative content analysis [35,36], used in other studies such as that of Pineda-Escobar [37]. These results are analyzed according to four questions (see Appendix B), in which participants' responses are grouped. With respect to the questionnaire, the data obtained through this quantitative technique were analyzed following the following steps, (1) coding, focusing on the assessment of the questions through the Likert scale [38], (2) analysis of the data once obtained and reviewed, and (3) qualitative analysis of the results obtained from the theoretical framework of the article [39].

Thirty-five local technicians from Andalusia, with a special focus on the provinces of Seville, Malaga, Huelva, Granada, and Cádiz, completed the questionnaire between January and September 2021. Questionnaires have been used in previous studies aimed at analyzing participants' perceptions on the topic of study [32]. The represented organizations are essentially the elected councils of local governments. Most of the people who completed the questionnaires were local government technicians, but some were local politicians.

The questionnaires were administered virtually through the FAMSI virtual platform for specific training on the localization of the SDGs in local governments.

The questionnaire comprised 20 questions, of which 10 focused on SDGs and organizational structure, 5 focused on organizational communication, and 5 focused on poverty and local governments (see Appendix A).

The people in the sample were not required to identify themselves in the questionnaires, which established anonymity that would not interfere with their ability to answer the questions.

The questionnaire began with several questions regarding the participants' sociodemographic data that took into account not only information about the institutions to which they belonged but also factors such as their gender or whether they worked in the same place that they lived. The intention of these questions was to obtain information about the participants as citizens, not only as technicians. Each item was presented as a statement followed by a Likert response scale on which 0 indicated total disagreement with the statement, and 5 indicated total agreement [38].

The questionnaire focused on three dimensions of mainstreaming the 2030 Agenda:

- Organizational culture and governance: This section was the broadest because it involves elements related to the internal functioning of local organizations, thereby establishing a broad vision of their functioning. This section included questions 1 to 10 of the proposed questionnaire, which were divided into three blocks: Block 1: knowledge, leadership, and commitment to the localization of the SDGs, Block 2: SDGs as public innovation, and Block 3: territory and alliances.
- Internal and external communication: This section pertained to the communication
 processes and tools that local organizations propose to generate a more supportive
 institution that promotes fluidity of communication both within the organization and
 between the organization and the citizens of the territory in question. Items 11 to 15
 addressed this issue.
- Local governance and poverty: This section focused on how local governments establish or prioritize public policies to combat poverty that promote the generation of processes for overcoming social exclusion or marginalization within their own territories. Items 16 to 20 of this questionnaire focused on this issue. The results of these 5 questions were divided into three blocks: Block 1: poverty and public policies, Block 2: poverty and influence of the organization on poverty situations, and Block 3: relevance Agenda 2030 with respect to poverty.

In order to deepen and discover the perception of the technicians responsible for the strategic and operational management of local governments regarding what generates or prevents a new perspective in local management to work on the 2030 Agenda analyzed in the organizational cultural dimension. Two focus groups were carried out with eleven people in each group made up of direct actors from local governments with experience in the process of localizing the SDGs at the territorial level in the eight provinces of Andalusia. These focus groups were held at the International University of Andalusia (UNIA) as part of a university postgraduate course on municipal international cooperation organized by FAMSI. In this research, Andalusian universities as territorial agents are important for their production of socially relevant knowledge [40]. With an understanding of the focus group as "an informal discussion among selected individuals about specific topics" [41], the topics were grouped into four open questions (see Appendix B), which allowed a deeper examination of two elements: mainstreaming and networking.

The focus group technique [42] allows us to stimulate the obtaining of a group response to a series of questions, thanks to the cooperation of those gathered to carry out a definite, clear, and consensual task. The aim was to gather the expert and well-founded opinions of a group of technical people directly linked to the strategic and operational management of local entities. It was clear to us that the analytical point of view should prevail over the hermeneutic point of view.

The two focus groups were conducted simultaneously on the same day by two members of the research team with experience in the technique. The duration of the working session was 2 hours, distributed in 30 min periods for each question put to the group. All the participants belonged to different entities and the assignment to the focus group (1 and 2) was random.

The time allotted for each question was distributed among the actions of the proposal and clarification of the question by the moderator, time for individual analysis, compilation of the different answers, group discussion, and debate, agreement by consent of the answers, and the recording of the answers.



A diagram of this research process is presented in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Chart diagram of the research design.

The results of the questionnaires and focus groups allowed an analysis of the perceptions of the technicians responsible for implementing local government policies aimed at sustainable development and the fight against poverty.

3. Results

3.1. Sociodemographic Profile of the Local Technicians

The results were analyzed taking into account the different responses for each territory. Andalusia has eight provinces, each of which comprises different municipalities. The majority of the municipalities of Eastern Andalusia (Granada, Jaen, Málaga, Córdoba, Almería) were treated as a single group since they had a lower number of responses than the rest of the provinces. Regarding the sociodemographic profile of the participants, the majority were middleaged men, which establishes a masculinized, adult profile. Women comprised 34.3 of the participants. The age range was 40 to 60 years.

In terms of the participants' area of residence, the majority lived in the municipality where the local organization where they worked was located. This allowed the results to be considered on a dual level: from the perspective of the participants as local agents as citizens.

Regarding the participants' duration of work at the local organization, 40% of the interviewees had been there for less than 5 years, while 25% had been there for more than 20 years. These large differences distinguished among the profiles of local technicians (see Table 2).

Sociodemographic Characteristics			
Provincie of origin	Group 1: Málaga, Jaén, Granada, Córdoba y Almería 23%	Group 2: Huelva 37%	
	Group 3: Sevilla	Group 4: Cádiz	
	31%	9%	
	+ 60	50-60	
Participants' ages –	5.8%	31.4%	
I SI	40–50	30-40	18-30
	37.1%	17.1%	8.6%
	+20	10–20	
Voars in local organizations	25.7%	11.4%	
rears in iocar organizations	5-10	0-5	
	22.9%	40%	

Table 2. Sociodemographic characteristics.

As the previous point indicates, this study focused on exploring local government experts' assessment of the alignment of their organizations with the 2030 Agenda. This analysis is based on three fundamental elements: first, exploring whether the implementation and localization of the SDGs requires a new organizational culture and innovative processes; second, determining how the internal and external communication of local entities is articulated to achieve the SDGs and exploring the perceived need to change the model of communication, and finally, identifying how the structure of the organization directly influences the fight against poverty. Below, the questionnaire results are discussed according to these three dimensions.

3.2. Results for the Organizational Culture and Governance Dimension

Regarding the results obtained for the organizational culture and governance dimension (Questions 1 to 10), for the first block, which was linked to "knowledge, leadership and commitment to localization" (Questions 1, 2, 3, 6, and 10), we can state the following:

- For the most part, the organizations know the SDGs, and there is interest in and commitment to the 2030 Agenda. The average response to these items was 3.71 out of 5 points, with 80% of the responses ranging from 3 to 5 and 60% ranging from 4 to 5.
- There is clear team leadership in the local entities for the promotion of the 2030 Agenda. The average score for related items was 3.74 out of 5 points, with 82.9% of the responses ranging from 3 to 5 and 60% ranging from 4 to 5.
- Although a 71.4% majority of the people surveyed affirmed that the SDGs are part of the design, planning, management, and evaluation of policies, programmes, and

budgets for their territory, there was a significant 28.6% rate of negative responses (0 and 1).

- 4. Regarding knowledge about the localization of the SDGs in local entities, there was a significant negative response rate of 22.9%.
- 5. More than 37% of the respondents stated that they do not work comprehensively with the 17 SDGs but focus more on some than others, while 37.1% indicated that they work with all of the SDGs without emphasizing some over others (indicated by scores of 4 to 5, inclusive) (see Figure 3).

Knowledge, leadership and commitment to localization



■ 1: total disagreement ■ 2: disagreeing ■ 3: neutral ■ 4: in agreement ■ 5: totally in agreement

Figure 3. Knowledge leadership and commitment to localization.

In terms of items related to "SDGs as public innovation", 100% of the respondents affirmed that to achieve the SDGs, it is essential to have more innovative, open, connected, and transparent entities. This affirms the view of the SDGs as an opportunity to work in a different way internally and promote collaborative and transversal work processes among different areas and/or units of local governments (see Figure 4).



SDGs as public innovation

Figure 4. SDGs as public innovation.

From the analysis of Block 2, "territory and alliances" (questions 7, 8, and 9), we can affirm the following findings:

- (1) Slightly more than half of the respondents (54.3% who responded with scores ranging from 4 to 5) affirmed that their work takes the state and regional programmatic framework on the localization of the SDGs into account, but 25.7% stated that they do not work under this contextual premise (as indicated by scores of 0 and 1).
- (2) There was a significant diversity of responses regarding the alignment of the SDGs and the 2030 Agenda with the instruments and tools of local planning, representing differences in realities and approaches. We observed responses throughout the range from 0 to 5, with 54.3% of the respondents providing positive responses and 28.6% providing negative responses.
- (3) Only 14.6% of the representatives of local entities stated that they do not interact or establish alliances with other key local agents, such as companies, social organizations, universities, etc., for the purpose of localizing the SDGs. The majority of the respondents (31.4%) claimed to occupy an intermediary position (3) (see Figure 5).



Territory and Alliances

■ 1: total disagreement ■ 2: disagreeing ■ 3: neutral ■ 4: in agreement ■ 5: totally in agreement

Figure 5. Territory and alliances.

These results were contrasted with the information obtained from the two focus groups of localization and local governance experts from local Andalusian governments.

3.3. Results for the Internal and External Communication Dimension

Regarding local organizations and communication, that is, in communicative terms, most of the participating Andalusian actors held the conviction that internal and external communication is necessary. The results can be observed in Figure 6.

Internal and external communication



■ 1: total disagreement ■ 2: disagreeing ■ 3: neutral ■ 4: in agreement ■ 5: totally in agreement

Figure 6. Internal and external communication.

3.4. Results for the Poverty and Local Governments Dimension

The responses to the questions related to poverty and local governments showed results similar to those of the other two dimensions. The scores were uneven with an upwards trend; that is, the location technicians from different provinces of Andalusia indicated that there has been a slight increase in the establishment of public policies that favour the 2030 Agenda and, more specifically, the fight against poverty. However, the result was not clear, and the degree of appreciation for this goal appears to be moderate, as Figure 7 shows.

Local governments and the fight against poverty in the 2030 Agenda



1: total disagreement 2: disagreeing 3: neutral 4: in agreement 5: totally in agreement

Figure 7. Local governments and the fight against poverty in the 2030 Agenda.

The results regarding the local technicians' perceptions of their organizations' influence in situations of poverty were also diverse. No clear positive or negative perception was evident, as Figure 8 shows.



Organisational structure and poverty

Figure 8. Organizational structure and poverty.

To conclude this section on poverty and local governments, the local technicians' perception of the relevance and adequacy of territories' actions to alleviate local poverty was established. The trend was similar to those of the previous dimensions of this block; that is, there was no clear direction of the local technicians' responses, but they were slightly favourable. The results of the responses for this section are presented in Figure 9.



Social actions and policies to combat poverty

Figure 9. Social actions and policies to combat poverty.

4. Discussion

In this article, several local governments representing the provinces of Andalusia were approached to determine technicians' perceptions regarding their organizations' localization of the 2030 Global Agenda.

On the one hand, regarding the sociodemographic aspect of the sample, it is interesting to note that most of the local technicians were men, and a minority were women, which establishes a lack of equality within the organizations themselves.

In terms of age, a high percentage of the local technicians in Andalusia were older than 40 years, which prompts a generational analysis of the results.

4.1. Organizational Culture and Public Innovation

Regarding the results obtained for Dimension 1, regarding organizational culture, the analysis of Block 1 affirmed that the SDGs are known by local entities. There is a certain interest in and commitment to the 2030 Agenda among the people who comprise the organization, and it is promoted by both political and technical leadership. Localization processes are known, although not all of the SDGs are addressed. The Agenda is considered in the design, planning, management, and evaluation of policies, programmes, and budgets for the territory and its citizens, in line with the contributions that have been made by the theory [43]. However, there was a degree of dispersion in the results that was not linked to the size of the locality, the type of entity (city council, county council), the function of the participant (political, technical), or the participant's seniority in the entity. Individual and motivational aspects may explain the differences in the knowledge of localization and the synergy among territorial planning processes. These results allowed the conclusion that the Andalusian local entities acknowledged the SDGs as a roadmap for the development of the territory and an opportunity to design and develop training and awareness actions to expand the radius of action and the impact of the SDGs. Within the same block, the responses to the questions related to the SDGs as public innovation showed that there is practically a consensus acceptance of this role as a sine qua non condition that allows Andalusian local entities to achieve the SDGs and to generate, promote and sustain these processes and public innovation initiatives. To this end, innovative, open, connected, and transparent local entities are needed, in line with those proposed in SDG 16. To advance these goals, working with and localizing the SDGs presents an opportunity to promote collaborative and transversal work processes among different units and/or areas. In this sense, Beck [44] proposes that the public sector must transform itself in terms of both its modes of internal organization and its relations with the other actors involved, to lead these processes. This commitment to mainstreaming as a public innovation implies a new culture, a new way of being and doing things in the local administration that is not exempt from difficulties, conditioning factors, barriers, and facilitators, as was previously pointed out in the contributions of Cerezo, F. [21] and by the focus groups conducted in the research. Hence, this article aims to delve into some of these elements from the perspective of the organizational praxis of local Andalusian entities.

To this end, focus groups were conducted to allow experts to contrast the results obtained regarding the articulation of networks and the mainstreaming of the SDGs. From the analysis of the contributions of the local management and cooperation experts who participated in the focus groups, we determined that mainstreaming the SDGs into Andalusian local governments necessitates the following steps:

- a. Publicize and recognize the 2030 Agenda as a framework for all sectoral areas and for all work teams and raise awareness of its impact and scope, relating the work of the different areas or services (structures, procedures, etc.) with the Agenda itself and the objectives, goals, and indicators aligned with the 5 "Ps" (Planet, People, Prosperity, Peace, Partnership).
- b. Identify with the local community (via a social map) its different and shared interests, achievable goals, and challenges (territorial missions) and integrate them into local work on the SDGs.
- c. Work on the coherence and integration of the strategic planning of the entity and the territory.
- d. Focus the organization's attention on a clear and shared purpose.
- e. Embrace the participatory nature of localization, being respectful of proposals that are made and agreed upon by the different areas. This guarantees the commitment of those who must manage these proposals since it reduces the likelihood of discrepancies in the goals, the means, and opportunities to achieve them.

The main barriers and facilitating elements that were considered to have the greatest relevance and impact by the group of local management technicians after validation and grouping are presented in Table 3.

Barriers Facilitators Comprehensive conception of citizenship (Global Citizenship) A shared assessment that allows the identification and understanding Resistance to change among the members of the local of the content and the areas' needs entity (due to a lack of information, knowledge, Commitment and institutional leadership that is open to change motivation, sense of purpose, and shared vision) and learning The difficulty of localizing an Agenda that is extensive A (cross-sectional) SDG organization team that promotes, manages, and complex monitors, and communicates Inflexible and innovative legislative frameworks and Economic, technical, human, and time resources administrative procedures Continuous evaluation, ongoing periodic monitoring, and the Poor work culture and horizontal participation. establishment of simple, measurable, and optimal indicators Exclusiveness of municipal areas and delegations Shared learning of technical staff and political representatives Lack of management policy and resources for A decentralized organization and organizational culture dynamization and transversal cooperation between areas of networking Lack of economic, technical, human, and time resources Communication and transparency as a means of involving the Lack of methodology that favours collaborative work entire organization Lack of coordination among institutions (local, Visibility of commitments and results regional, state) Communication, awareness, and knowledge of local organizations and citizens regarding the municipality's 2030 Agenda

Table 3. Barriers and facilitating elements.

Source: Own elaboration.

The analysis of Block 2, "territory and alliances" showed that local entities in coherence with the SDGs are aware that forming territorial and global alliances and working in a collaborative and coordinated way [45] with other local agents are keys to the successful localization of the SDGs and that it is necessary to advance the design and development of multilevel and multi-actor governance [46] within the state and regional programmatic framework on the localization of the SDGs.

There is an awareness, although it is not yet generalized among the study participants, of the need to articulate and align the SDGs with the other instruments and tools of territorial planning using well-founded indicators that are aligned with the objectives and goals of the 2030 Agenda.

4.2. The Importance of Communication in Local Governments

In the dimension focused on internal and external communication, the responses occupied a middle ground, probably because there was no alignment of communication strategies with the objectives for implementing the Agenda in the territories. In some way, communicative strategies continue to be oriented towards generating information to be shared by media and informative channels rather than towards communication.

This approach clashes with the idea that the Agenda involves a process of transformation that guarantees development and a clear commitment to promoting a new model of governance. This echoes Bordenave's [47] idea that to reach another possible world (the slogan of social movements in the summits and forums of the Millennium Development Goals), another communication model is necessary, one that is based on the hybridization of the knowledge and contributions of experts, academics, theorists, and professionals who have endowed communication and information with eco-social, edu-communicative and transformative values for social change, etc. We refer to the vision and educational action and dialogue of Freire [48]; of communication as an instrument for development, as proposed by Alfonso Gumucio [49] and Rosa María Alfaro [50], and the eco-social commitment argued in the communicative models of Manuel Chaparro [39,40] and Alejandro Barranquero [51].

Therefore, the question is whether transformative communication can contribute to the achievement of objectives and goals for the transformation of our world? Some previous studies have addressed this issue. Javier Erro [52] considered that communication with a social focus is a space that allows confluence and collective construction. Feijoo [53] discussed communication strategies for generating awareness and encouragement. The

Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations itself [54] endorsed the document known as the Rome Consensus, which stated that communication for development is a social process based on dialogue that uses a wide range of instruments and methods. It has to do with seeking change at different levels, which includes listening, building trust, sharing knowledge and skills, establishing policies, debating, and learning, with the aim of achieving sustained and significant change. This argument reinforces the idea of positioning communication as an essential factor in guaranteeing sustainable human development in terms of social and economic aspects [54].

It is proven that the 2030 Agenda goes beyond the spaces of international negotiation. It is a proposal that affects people and their territories. That forces an individual, collective response, from the local but without ceasing to be part of the global effort to solve the current challenges. That is why the importance of making the SDGs local and that they are present in the sphere of municipal politics and the daily life of citizens. This collective effort obliges in communicative terms to break its functional practice associated exclusively with disseminating content, mostly unidirectional, to move to environments that promote the participation and co-responsibility of citizens in the design and execution of sustainable development.

4.3. Local Governance and the Fight against Poverty

The last part of the analysis examined the dimension related to the fight against poverty. For the 2030 Agenda, poverty is the greatest problem facing humanity and that is why the SDGs prioritize the eradication of poverty and hunger, placing people "at the centre of sustainable development" [12], hence the importance of establishing this dimension within the organizational structures of local governments, linked to the localization of the SDGs, especially if we take into account the context of Andalusia where it is a central problem if we compare it with the rest of European countries. Moreover, despite the guaranteed income policies, the results in terms of escaping poverty have been satisfactory [55]. Three questions were established to focus on three aspects. First, we examined the relationship between the internal communication of the SDGs in relation to poverty. Finally, we considered the territories' and organizations' actions and social policies regarding poverty. It is worth highlighting the importance of SDG 1, "end poverty", which is perfectly related to SDG 11, "make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable" [56].

As we have previously shown, the organizational structure is an element of relevant importance in the present investigation. However, from this point of analysis, the aim was to develop a vision that is more closely linked to how organizations influence strategies to combat poverty. In Spain, and specifically in Andalusia, poverty and social exclusion face a triple challenge: multilevel governance, the fragmentation of social policies, and the diversity of the network of actors involved in the fight against poverty [57]. In these three complex spaces, local governments have a presence through their role in multilevel governance, as those responsible for social policies and as part of the network of actors fighting poverty.

The results obtained in this study indicate that local governments in Andalusia have made slight efforts to establish social actions and policies for fighting poverty in the territory and within the organization, for their own workers and citizens. It must be noted that sampling was performed during the COVID-19 pandemic, a period in which social policies have a greater role than in the past. There is an emergence of policies during this period of post-COVID-19 recovery, policies have emerged that aim to reduce poverty and fight inequality and thus allow a future marked by territorial and social development [58].

5. Conclusions

In this article, local technicians' perceptions regarding their organizations and the 2030 Agenda were analyzed along three dimensions. The sample comprised technicians from Andalusian local governments that were familiar with the SDGs and showed an initial political and technical will to work with them as a roadmap for sustainable development through their commitment to localizing these goals.

The results were analyzed to answer the research question "Do local technicians (technical staff) perceive that their organizations work transversally on the SDGs and the 2030 Agenda as an opportunity to innovate and promote a culture of solidarity that allows entities to be more open, collaborative, transversal and interconnected (within and among entities)?" The answer is certainly yes, since the SDGs and, therefore the 2030 Agenda, are perceived as an opportunity to transform local entities, with the understanding that localization requires a commitment to public innovation that allows entities to be more open, collaborative, transversal, and interconnected.

Although the answer to the research question is affirmative with respect to the technicians' perceptions, weaknesses were perceived in the mainstreaming of the 2030 Agenda within local organizations. These conclusions can serve to guide local governments in two ways. On the one hand, the importance of knowing the perception of the technicians in charge of implementing international policies, such as the 2030 Agenda; and on the other hand, the need to address a transformation of the organizational model of local governments for an efficient integration of the 2030 Agenda.

To ensure the robust mainstreaming of the Agenda within local governments with an emphasis on communication processes and the fight against poverty, the following key points are proposed:

- Training and awareness: There is significant room for the awareness and training of technical and political teams ("without leaving anyone behind") of the Andalusian local entities to guarantee the sustainability of this process, driven by the talent of the people of Andalusian public entities from the inside out.
- 2. The 2030 Agenda as a local strategy: Given the difficulties of localizing an Agenda that is extensive and complex such as the 2030 Agenda, this could be the strategic and programmatic umbrella that would give a sense of shared purpose to all initiatives of a more regional and/or local, sectoral, or conjunctural nature. There is a need and opportunity to connect the global, universal, and multidimensional Agenda with the rest of the initiatives and tools for planning, management, and evaluation that have historically been developed at the local level, such as strategic plans, sector plans, local economic development projects like Agenda 21, etc. In the current context, such efforts involve connecting the 2030 Agenda with strategies to combat rural depopulation, the fight against climate change, the Next Generation EU European recovery programme, and the Recovery, Transformation and Resilience Plan of the government of Spain, which is structured around 10 leverage policies, including a commitment to an "administration for the 21st century". It would be interesting to focus on territorial missions that are sustained by powerful public-private alliances with broad citizen participation to address current and future challenges. This innovative proposal implies an important transformation of state and local administrations to open up and connect with territorial actors to focus on generating value.
- 3. Efficiency and strengthening of local capacities: Now is an appropriate time to generate and apply new ideas or significant improvements for public services and public organizations, especially local ones, within the framework of a new contract with citizens (starting with a comprehensive conception) based on ethics and the value of the public sphere. It is necessary to test new organizational models in public management that respond more effectively and coherently to the complex challenges of our societies and the needs and aspirations of a citizenry that is global and local, with open, socially innovative cultures and organization practices of lifelong learning. Andalusian local public entities must strengthen their capacities and generate knowledge, learning, and creativity in the service of the necessary transformations, despite having legislative frameworks and administrative procedures that are not very flexible or innovative.
- Strengthen networking: There is awareness among local governments of the study of the need to network with territorial actors to provide more collaborative, democratic,

and connected governance for development that is aware of territorial challenges and includes citizens as co-creators and co-designers of innovative and effective responses and solutions to the problems experienced, among which poverty and inequality occupy a central place. It is important to enhance long-term visions, leadership and commitment, coordination, transversality, fluidity, and learning as key factors associated with institutional recognition and commitment, the exchange and permeability of experiences, and the sustainability of processes of necessary change. According to the experts who participated in the group interviews, it is necessary to design economic and fiscal incentives for networking and SDG alliances to ensure the transparency of the entities that make up the SDG ecosystem and to create plural and lasting spaces in which to build consensus.

- 5. Encourage participatory tools: Efforts to achieve the objectives set in the 2030 Agenda would involve strengthening the capacities of the local governments of Andalusia, including the development of participatory, innovative, and sustainable tools that guarantee transparency, good governance, participation, and citizenship as keys to promoting open governance that allows shared sustainable development and cocreation with citizens. Additionally, it would imply a commitment to transversal leadership that can mobilize the sectoral departments and does so from a comprehensive perspective.
- 6. A culture of solidarity as a foundation: We are facing an opportunity, if local and provincial government administrations in Andalusia understand the need to establish solidarity as a priority within the framework of the Sustainable Development Goals and the 2030 Agenda, and to prioritize solidarity and cooperation as central to their institutional purpose. Despite the resistance to change within these entities, the challenge is to generate innovative local administrations and establish powerful alliances to develop a transformative agenda, as anticipated in the 2030 Agenda and its well-intentioned title: "Transforming our world: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development".
- 7. Improvement of communication processes: Communication and information cannot be relegated or have a minor influence or scarce resources without being planned or evaluated. Access to quality content contributes to generating critical and coresponsible citizenship with actors who promote a change in the development model that aims to place people and the environment at the centre of progress and comply with the maxim of "leave no one behind". The digital divide cannot be fought exclusively with an instrumental approach to ICT. These have to be allies for sustainable development, and for this, it has to be accompanied by edu-communicative processes.
- 8. Poverty as a fundamental issue in Andalusia: The variety of responses to the questions related to the fight against poverty show the importance of the diversity of local governments, and future research should examine why some municipalities received very favourable scores and others received very unfavourable ones. The diversity within the participating local organizations demonstrates the rich institutional variety in the region of Andalusia. However, despite this variety, poverty remains a common element among the territories and must be made a territorial priority.

There is a need for future research based on comparative studies that explore the diversity of perceptions of different local governments, in different national and international territories, on the implementation of the 2030 Agenda, as well as the organizational innovation carried out for an effective integration of the challenges proposed by the Agenda.

The 2030 Agenda assumes a new global pact among multiple actors to collectively address the challenges of our hyperconnected societies. These challenges may be related to health, such as those caused by the COVID-19 pandemic; the environment, such as climate change; social inequalities; factors that condition urban planning, such as mobility; or they may be transverse factors, such as education or equality. Local administrations must necessarily match their implementation and localization processes with the rhythms of communication and participation.

It is necessary to recover space and presence in the 2030 Agenda to guarantee the focus on communication and information as keys to the sustainable development of the territories. To this end, a hybrid strategy is necessary, in which communication and information change from being considered transmitters of messages to processes that generate change and social transformation.

Additionally, poverty is established as a fundamental element of SDG 1 and a critical issue in Andalusia. The responses of a more efficient, interconnected, and innovative local administration within the framework of the 2030 Agenda will promote improvements in the quality of life of the people living in territories that are committed to the transformation.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S. and O.T.-P.; methodology: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S. and O.T.-P.; validation: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S., O.T.-P. and R.V.-J.; formal analysis: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S. and O.T.-P.; investigation: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S., O.T.-P. and R.V.-J.; resources: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S., O.T.-P. and R.V.-J.; data curation: J.D.-B.; writing—original draft preparation: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S. and O.T.-P.; writing—review and editing: J.D.-B.; visualization: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S., O.T.-P. and R.V.-J.; supervision: J.D.-B.; and O.T.-P.; writing—review and editing: J.D.-B.; visualization: J.D.-B., J.d.D.G.-S., O.T.-P. and R.V.-J.; and R.V.-J.; supervision: J.D.-B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Universidad Loyola Andalucía on 28 April 2021.

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: This research has been carried out within the training project "Local and Provincial Governments facing the challenges of localizing the SDGs" implemented by the Andalusian Foundation of Municipalities for International Solidarity FAMSI supported by the Andalusian Agency of International Cooperation for Development AACID.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Table A1. Questions asked in the questionnaire.

Questions Included in the Questionnaire. Scores Range from 0 (Total Disagreement) to 5 (Total Agreement)

1. The SDGs are known to our entity, and there is interest in and commitment to working on the 2030 Agenda.

2. The people and teams that lead the entity (politically and technically) promote the knowledge and development of the 2030 Agenda as part of their work, acting as an example for others.

 The SDGs and the 2030 Agenda are clearly present in our work of designing, planning, management and evaluation of policies, programmes and budgets for the territory and its citizens.

4. We understand that to achieve the SDGs, it is essential to have more innovative, open, connected and transparent local entities.

5. We understand that the SDGs provide an opportunity to work internally in a different way; they allow the promotion of collaborative and transversal work processes between different units and/or areas as a way of developing more appropriate responses to the challenges we face. 6. In our organization, there is a clear idea of what it means to localize the SDGs.

7. Our organization takes into account the status and the autonomous programmatic framework of the localization of the SDGs.

 We work in line with the local strategic plan (if it exists) or with known and clear strategic objectives that have well-founded indicators and are aligned with the SDGs and the 2030 Agenda.

9. Our organization interacts with and establishes alliances with other local key agents for the localization of the SDGs.

10. The organization establishes and works on the 17 SDGs without emphasizing any objective over another.

11. Communication (internal and external) is a priority for my organization.

12. Do you consider that you have adequate human/technical resources to develop your communication?

13. Do you consider that your organization positions communication as a strategic area/service?

14. To what extent do you consider communication key to achieving your goal of localizing the SDGs?

15. Do you think your communication model/strategy should change to achieve the objective of localizing the SDGs?

The communication from your organization that is being carried out regarding the 2030 Agenda is generating spaces to fight poverty.
 The structure of the organization directly affects poverty situations in the territory.

The structure of the organization directly uncers poverty structures in the territory.
 The localization of the SDGs by your organization will reduce the level of poverty in the territory.

19. Your organization develops actions that are directly linked to the fight against poverty.

20. The social action and social policies of your organization are aligned with SDG 1 to fight poverty.

Appendix B

Table A2. Questions asked in the focus group.

What does it mean to work on mainstreaming the 2030 Agenda in your organization?
 What are the barriers to mainstreaming?
 What would be the facilitators working on mainstreaming?

4. How can we strengthen partnerships to work on the 2030 Agenda?

References

- 1. López Pagán, J. La Agenda 2030 en Iberoamérica: Visión y misión desde el ámbito local. *Comillas J. Int. Relat.* 2019, *16*, 138–153. [CrossRef]
- 2. Gallicchio, E. ¿El desarrollo local está de moda? Int. J. Hum. Dev. Int. Coop. 2010, 2, 1–12.
- United Nations. Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; United Nations General Assembly: New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- 4. United Nations Development Program, UN Habitat and Global Taskforce of Local and Regional Governments. RoadMap for Localizing the SDGs: Implementation and Monitoring at Subnational Level. 2016. Available online: https://sustainabledevelopment. un.org/content/documents/commitments/818_11195_commitment_ROADMAP%20LOCALIZING%20SDGS.pdf (accessed on 15 January 2022).
- Instituto Nacional de Estadística (INE). Población por Comunidades y Ciudades Autónomas y Sexo (2853). Available online: https://www.ine.es/jaxiT3/Tabla.htm?t=2853&L=0 (accessed on 21 November 2021).
- 6. Zurita, A.C. *La Eficacia de la Ayuda y la Cooperación Descentralizada;* Andalucía Solidaria y el FAMSI, Andalucía Solidaria, Fondo Andaluz de Municipios para la Solidaridad Internacional–FAMSI: Málaga, Spain, 2012.
- 7. Diputación de Huelva. Objetivos de Desarrollo Sostenible. Available online: http://www.diphuelva.es/ODS/index.html (accessed on 17 November 2021).
- Rabasco, E.; Delgado-Baena, J.; García-Serrano, J. Transversalización de la Cultura de la Solidaridad en Entidades Locales. 2018. Available online: http://www.andaluciasolidaria.org/noticias/item/1213-famsi-publica-una-metodologia-para-convertir-entransversal-la-solidaridad-en-las-politicas-locales (accessed on 6 November 2021).
- Maes, M.J.A.; Jones, K.E.; Toledano, M.B.; Milligan, B. Mapping synergies and trade-offs between urban ecosystems and the sustainable development goals. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 2019, 93, 181–188. [CrossRef]
- 10. Guha, J.; Chakrabarti, B. Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) through decentralisation and the role of local governments: A systematic review. *Commonw. J. Local Gov.* **2019**, *22*, 1–21. [CrossRef]
- 11. Fenton, P.; Gustafsson, S. Moving from high-level words to local action—governance for urban sustainability in municipalities. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* 2017, 26–27, 129–133. [CrossRef]
- 12. Sanahuja, J.A.; Vázquez, S.T. Del milenio a la sostenibilidad: Retos y perspectivas de la Agenda 2030 para el desarrollo sostenible. *Política Soc.* 2017, 54, 521–543. [CrossRef]
- United Cities and Local Governments (UCLG). The Sustainable Development Goals. What Local Governments Need to Know. Available online: https://www.uclg.org/sites/default/files/the_sdgs_what_localgov_need_to_know_0.pdf (accessed on 16 November 2021).
- 14. Federación Española de Municipios y Provincias (FEMP). Compromiso 2030. Estrategia de la Federación Española de Municipios y Provincias Para el Cumplimiento de la Agenda 2030 y de los Objetivos de Desarrollo Sostenible. 2018. Available online: http://femp.femp.es/files/566-2312-archivo/Estrategia%20ODS%20_FEMP_Compromiso%202030_junio2018.pdf (accessed on 16 November 2021).
- 15. Medina, P.M. Innovación pública: Una propuesta de análisis de los factores que inciden en los procesos de innovación en el sector público local. *Cuad. Gob. Adm. Pública* 2020, 7, 53–61. [CrossRef]
- Oliván, R.; Instituciones que aprenden. HIP: Un Modelo de Innovación Pública para la Era Post-Covid. Informe para la XXVII Cumbre Iberoamericana de Jefes de Estado y de Gobierno. 2020. Available online: https://agendainnovacionpublica.org/ downloads/instituciones-que-aprenden.pdf (accessed on 21 November 2021).
- 17. Rittel, H.W.J.; Webber, M.M. Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. Policy Sci. 1973, 4, 155–169. [CrossRef]
- Miedes, B.; Transformar Nuestro Mundo. Tres Senderos de Aprendizaje para Agentes de Cambio. Available online: http://www. uhu.es/publicaciones/?q=libros&code=1267 (accessed on 13 November 2021).
- 19. Navarro, C.J. Innovación Social y Gobernanza Urbana, en Subirats J. et al: Innovación Social y Políticas Urbanas en España; García Bernardos, A., Ed.; Icaria Editorial: Barcelona, Spain, 2015; pp. 43–57. ISBN 978-84-9888-681-8.
- Klok, P.-J.; Denters, B.; Oude Vrielink, M. Effectiveness of the Social General Practitioner. The case of the Enschede neighbourhood coaches. In Proceedings of the EURA Conference, Enschede, The Netherlands, 3–6 July 2013; University of Twente, Institute for Innovation and Governance Studies (IGS): Enschede, The Netherlands, 2013.
- Peco, F.C. El Modelo MIMOS: Modelo de Innovación Pública. Pertsonak eta Antolakunde Publikoak Kudeatzeko Euskal Aldizkaria = Revista Vasca de Gestión de Personas y Organizaciones Públicas 2019. Available online: https://www.ivap.euskadi. eus/contenidos/informacion/especial_3_revgp/en_def/Cerezo%20156_189.pdf (accessed on 21 November 2021).

- 22. Lee, S.; Olshfski, D. Employee Commitment and Firefighters: It's My Job. Public Adm. Rev. 2002, 62, 108–114. [CrossRef]
- Valdés, C.S. Repensar los Objetivos de Desarrollo Sostenible desde la Comunicación. Available online: https://www.academia. edu/33669475/REPENSAR_LOS_OBJETIVOS_DE_DESARROLLO_SOSTENIBLE_DESDE_LA_COMUNICACI%C3%93N (accessed on 13 November 2021).
- Jones, P.; Wynn, M.; Hillier, D.; Comfort, D. The Sustainable Development Goals and Information and Communication Technologies. Indones. J. Sustain. Account. Manag. 2017, 1, 1. [CrossRef]
- Scheerder, A.; van Deursen, A.; van Dijk, J. Determinants of Internet skills, uses and outcomes. A systematic review of the second-and third-level digital divide. *Telemat. Inform.* 2017, 34, 1607–1624. [CrossRef]
- United Nations. The Future is Now. Science for Achieving Sustainable Development. 2019. Available online: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/24797GSDR_report_2019.pdf (accessed on 21 November 2021).
- Ipsos. Global Views on Local Economic Recovery from COVID-19. 29-Country Ipsos Survey for the World Economic Forum. 2021. Available online: https://www.ipsos.com/es-es/local-economic-recovery-wef-ipsos-global-advisor-survey (accessed on 17 November 2021).
- 28. Bornhauser, N.; Pezoa, C. Pasajes en cinta blanca. Aisthesis 2019, 65, 195–216. [CrossRef]
- Martínez-Córdoba, P.-J.; Amor-Esteban, V.; Benito, B.; García-Sánchez, I.M. The Commitment of Spanish Local Governments to Sustainable Development Goal 11 from a Multivariate Perspective. *Sustainability* 2021, 13, 1222. [CrossRef]
- Instituto Nacional de Estadística (INE). Número de Municipios por Comunidad Autónoma y Provincia y Tamaño de Municipio. Available online: https://www.ine.es/jaxi/Datos.htm?path=/t20/e245/p04/provi/l0/&file=0tamu001.px#!tabs-tabla (accessed on 6 November 2021).
- The European Anti-Poverty Network-Spain. El Estado de la Pobreza. Seguimiento del Indicador de Pobreza y Exclusión Social en España 2008–2019. 2020. Available online: https://www.eapn.es/estadodepobreza/ARCHIVO/documentos/Informe_AROPE_ 2020_Resumen_Ejecutivo_73kN5F2.pdf (accessed on 21 November 2021).
- 32. Sianes, A.; Vela-Jiménez, R. Can Differing Opinions Hinder Partnerships for the Localization of the Sustainable Development Goals? Evidence from Marginalized Urban Areas in Andalusia. *Sustainability* **2020**, *12*, 5797. [CrossRef]
- Junta de Andalucía. Estrategia Andaluza de Desarrollo Sostenible 2030. Available online: https://www.juntadeandalucia.es/ medioambiente/portal/documents/20151/585630/edas_2030.pdf/dd849beb-40a6-b981-20d5-2ba13f542e65?t=1558094330000 (accessed on 17 November 2021).
- 34. Fondo Andaluz de Municipios para la Solidaridad Internacional—FAMSI. 10 Pasos para Sensibilizar y Visibilizar la Cultura de la Solidaridad del Ayto. de Palma del Río. Available online: http://www.andaluciasolidaria.org/centro-de-recursos/descargas-de-documentos/documentos-y-publicaciones/transversali-za-cion-de-la-cultura-de-la-solidaridad/112-10-pasos-para-sensibilizar-y-visibilizar-la-cultura-de-la-solidaridad-del-ayuntamiento-de-palma-del-rio (accessed on 17 November 2021).
- 35. Guix Oliver, J. El análisis de contenidos: ¿Qué nos están diciendo? *Rev. Calid. Asist.* 2008, 23, 26–30. [CrossRef]
- Hsieh, H.-F.; Shannon, S.E. Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. *Qual. Health Res.* 2005, 15, 1277–1288. [CrossRef]
 Pineda-Escobar, M.A. Moving the 2030 agenda forward: SDG implementation in Colombia. *Corp. Gov. Int. J. Bus. Soc.* 2018, 19, 176–188. [CrossRef]
- Chyung, S.Y.; Roberts, K.; Swanson, I.; Hankinson, A. Evidence-Based Survey Design: The Use of a Midpoint on the Likert Scale. Perform. Improv. 2017, 56, 15–23. [CrossRef]
- Casas Anguita, J.; Repullo Labrador, J.R.; Donado Campos, J. La encuesta como técnica de investigación. Elaboración de cuestionarios y tratamiento estadístico de los datos (II). Atención Primaria 2003, 31, 592–600. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Canto, P.; Costamagna, P.; Eizagirre, A.; Larrea, M. Los retos de la co-generación en la búsqueda del impacto social de la universidad: Un caso de construcción de un espacio dialógico a través de la investigación acción. *Eur. Public Soc. Innov. Rev.* 2018, 3, 46–67. [CrossRef]
- 41. Beck, L.C.; Trombetta, W.L.; Share, S. Using focus group sessions before decisions are made. N. Carol. Med. J. 1986, 47, 73–74.
- 42. Gutiérrez, J. Grupo de Discusión: ¿Prolongación, variación o ruptura con el focus group? *Cinta Moebio* 2011, 41, 105–122. [CrossRef]
- 43. Maties, R.G. Las entidades locales y los objetivos de desarrollo sostenible. Algunas notas sobre la naturaleza jurídica de la Agenda 2030. *Rev. Estud. Adm. Local Autonómica* 2016, *5*, 96–105. [CrossRef]
- 44. Mazzucato, M. Mission Economy. A Moonshot Guide to Changing Capitalism; Penguin: London, UK, 2021.
- The World Bank. World Development Report 2017: Governance and the Law. 2017. Available online: https://www.worldbank. org/en/publication/wdr2017 (accessed on 14 January 2022).
- Gallicchio, E. Desarrollo local y cooperación al desarrollo: ¿Una nueva generación a plataformas de cooperación para el desarrollo local? *Cuad. Claeh* 2017, 36, 63–73. [CrossRef]
- Díaz Bordenave, J. Communication and Possible New World. Commons Revista de Comunicación y Ciudadanía Digital 2016. Available online: https://revistas.uca.es/index.php/cayp/article/view/3049 (accessed on 14 January 2022).
- 48. Freire, P. Educación y Mudanza; La Mano: Oaxaca, Mexico, 1979.
- 49. Dagron, A.G. El cuarto mosquetero: La comunicación para el cambio social. Investigación&Desarrollo. 2004, 12, 2–23.
- 50. Alfaro, R.M. La comunicación como relación para el desarrollo. In *Una Comunicación para Otro Desarrollo;* Calandria: Lima, Peru, 1993; pp. 27–39.

- 51. Barranquero, A. De la comunicación para el desarrollo a la justicia ecosocial y el buen vivir. *CIC Cuad. Inf. Comun.* 2012, 17, 63–78. [CrossRef]
- Erro, J. Descubrir y Construir Procesos de Comunicación Social: Aportes para Diseñar Políticas, Estrategias y Estructuras de Comunicación en las ONGD. Herramientas. HEGOA. 2003. Available online: https://publicaciones.hegoa.ehu.eus/uploads/ pdfs/54/Descubrir_y_construir_procesos_de_comun_social.pdf?1488539187 (accessed on 16 November 2021).
- Feijoo, F. Comunicación para activar el microcrédito y combatir la pobreza. Chasqui Rev. Latinoam. De Comun. 2007, 100, 28–33. [CrossRef]
- 54. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). World Congress on Communication for Development. 2007. Available online: https://www.fao.org/3/ai143e/ai143e00.pdf (accessed on 17 November 2021).
- 55. Rodríguez, M.R.G.; Santos, J.B. Una Evaluación de las Prestaciones Sociales en la Lucha Contra la Pobreza en Andalucía y España: Un análisis comparativo. *Cuad. Económicos ICE* 2004, 1, 135–212. Available online: http://www.revistasice.com/index.php/ CICE/article/view/5849 (accessed on 13 November 2021).
- Díez-Bermejo, A.; Rodríguez-Suárez, I.; Valle, L.Á.; Cordoba-Hernandez, R.; Sanchez-Toscano, G.; Hernandez-Aja, A. La Estrategia Regional Andaluza para la Cohesión e Inclusión Social: Intervención en Zonas Desfavorecidas (ERACIS). *Ciudad. Territ. Estud. Territ.* 2021, 53, 159–178. [CrossRef]
- 57. Brugué, Q.; Gomà, R.; Subirats, J. De la pobreza a la exclusión social. Nuevos retos para las políticas públicas. *Rev. Int. Sociol.* 2002, 60, 7–45. [CrossRef]
- Rodríguez-Cohard, J.C.; Juste-Carrión, J.J.; Vásquez-Barquero, A. Local Development Policies: Challenges for Post-COVID-19 Recovering in Spain. Symph. Emerg. Issues Manag. 2020, 2, 41–54. [CrossRef]



Article Aid, Multidimensional Poverty and Growth: Reversing the Micro-Macro Paradox in Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone

José María Larrú^{1,*} and Carlos Quesada González^{2,3}

- ¹ Faculty of Economics and Business, Universidad San Pablo-CEU, 28003 Madrid, Spain
- ² ImFINE Research Group, Health and Human Department, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, 28040 Madrid, Spain; carlos.quesada@upm.es
- ³ Departamento de Matemática Aplicada a las Tecnologías de la Información y la Comunicación, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, 28031 Madrid, Spain
- Correspondence: larram@ceu.es

Abstract: This article analyses whether Official Development Assistance (ODA) is linked to multidimensional poverty indicators in the context of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, the Sustainable Development Indictors and the principles stated by the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation. Focused on three western Sub-Saharan Africa and least developing countries such as Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone, this article uses Error Correction Vector Model to estimate if ODA and economic growth are cointegrated and a sectoral and spatial analysis to check if ODA are linked to Multidimensional Poverty Indicators in the sample countries. Despite the 2014 Ebola outbreak, the three countries have achieved noticeable good results in poverty alleviation. Results shows a certain macro-micro paradox because, despite a common trend between aid and growth identified at the macro level, we cannot find any sign of ODA contributions to the multidimensional poverty indicators when the micro level analysis is carried out. Our results may serve to increase the level of implementation of the ownership principle for effective development co-operation and achieve a significant improvement of several goals and targets included on the 2030 Agenda.

Keywords: 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; Sustainable Development Goals 1 and 7; official development assistance; multidimensional poverty; micro-macro paradox; aid effectiveness; Guinea; Liberia; Sierra Leone

1. Introduction

The aim of this article is to shed light on the effectiveness of Official Development Assistance (ODA) to reduce poverty. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development has emphasized that people, prosperity, peace, planet, and partnerships are the "5 Ps" that summarize the framework under the Sustainable Development Goals, which should be reached for our world to be transformed. The opposite of prosperity is poverty (another "P"). The preamble of the Agenda clearly states: "We recognize that eradicating poverty in all its forms and dimensions, including extreme poverty, is the greatest global challenge and an indispensable requirement for sustainable development". There are many ways and financial resources to reach this goal. Among others, economic growth and external flows such as ODA (or foreign aid) from donor countries to the most needy developing countries may be one of the more effective. However, are donors considering poverty "under its all forms and dimensions" as the real and main reason for allocating their ODA funds?

This knowledge gap deals with the following problems. First, multidimensional poverty data are only collected in the years in which each country conducts a household survey. This prevents a quantitative treatment through time series or balanced panel data, and cross-sectional comparison does not provide causal results¹.

Second, aid amounts are not usually geolocated and the sector classification offered by OECD_DAC does not allow for subnational spatial allocation of ODA. Nor does it allow

Citation: Larrú, J.M.; González, C.Q. Aid, Multidimensional Poverty and Growth: Reversing the Micro-Macro Paradox in Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone. Land 2022, 11, 10. https:// doi.org/10.3390/land11010010

Academic Editors: Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

Received: 19 November 2021 Accepted: 17 December 2021 Published: 21 December 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). for the allocation of ODA from each sector to the areas of the country that suffer the highest rates of multidimensional poverty.

Third, donors do not make aid allocations taking into account only the poverty of the country, as it coexists with other motivations such as the commercial and geostrategic [1–6]. With the current data, there is no way to know how much aid has the real objective of reducing the different dimensions of poverty that affect each country.

Fourth, it seems more appropriate to study country cases of special relevance compared to a global analysis of all foreign aid in all recipient countries. Studies that have attempted to capture the effect of aid on economic development continue to offer mixed results ([7–11], for an updated review of the literature). Donors select their ODA allocation country by country or region, but not jointly to all candidate countries. In addition, it is convenient to select the most successful cases in multidimensional poverty reduction to try to know to what extent these achievements are the result of aid or not [12,13].

In this article we explore the question analyzing if ODA to Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone (three western Sub-Saharan and least developing countries) are linked. If this were not the case, it would suggest that statements and principles, such as those that appeared after the High Level Fora on Aid Effectiveness (Rome 2003, Paris 2005, Accra 2008 and Busan 2008),² show a high level of rhetoric. After those Fora, a Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation was created. The aim of the partnership is to be a multi-stakeholder vehicle for driving development effectiveness, to "*maximize the effectiveness of all forms of co-operation for development for the shared benefits of people, planet, prosperity and peace.*" It brings together governments, bilateral and multilateral organizations, civil society, the private sector and representatives from parliaments and trade unions among others, who are committed to strengthening the effectiveness of their partnerships for development and the 2030 Agenda". What are their results? Beyond their good statements on intents such as the Busan Partnership Agreement (2008), the Mexico Communique (2014), the Nairobi Outcome Document (2016) and the Co-Chair's Statement on the Senior-Level Meeting (2019), is ODA really contributing to poverty eradication?

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development emphasized the "catalytic" role of ODA to reach SGDs and their targets³. In this article we examine to what extent ODA can be linked to some SDGs that are associated with multidimensional poverty indicators.

We carry out our research in two levels. Firstly, in a macro level, we explore if ODA flows are cointegrated with total GDP and its components (private and government consumption, investments, exports and imports) in Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone. Secondly, in a micro level, we analyze if sectoral and more disaggregated ODA flows can explain why these countries have reached some of the most remarkable results in multidimensional poverty index (MPI) and in its ten components. The advantage of using these poverty measures is that its three dimensions (education, health and standard of living) and ten indicators are linked to SDGs 2 (zero hunger), SDG 3 (good health and well-being), SDG 4 (quality education), SDG 7 (renewable, affordable and clean energy), SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities) and SDG 1 (no poverty).

We consider Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone for various reasons. Firstly, because they are underrepresented in the literature. Secondly, because they are least developing countries; 50% of the financial resources for development are ODA (Inter-Agency Task Force on Financing for Sustainable Development 2019 [14])⁴. Thirdly, despite suffering from the Ebola outbreak, they show remarkably positive results in poverty reduction.

According to UNDP's report "Global Poverty Index 2020" [15], Sierra Leone was the country where multidimensional poverty was cut down the most between 2013 and 2017, even during the Ebola epidemic. The poverty headcount reached 74% in 2013 and was only 58% in 2017 [16]. The reductions in poverty components of *cooking fuel* and access to *electricity* were the main indicators that explain Sierra Leone's success. Even more, Sierra Leone ranked first among the all countries that could reduce poverty in the *cooking fuel* component (-16%) and *child mortality* (-86%). Liberia ranked first in the access to *assets* indicator (-26.5% between 2007–2013) and Guinea in the living conditions of *housing*



(-17.5% between 2012-2016) (UNDP & OPHI 2020:12[15], Figure 8). For all these reasons, we believe that these three countries deserve an in-depth analysis (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Countries and indictors of poverty reduction where each country ranked first among developing countries analized by UNDP & OPHI (2020) [15]. Percentage change between surveys years and annuliazed change in parenthesis.

The hypothesis of this paper is that, conversely to the micro-macro paradox identified by Mosley (1986) [17], a macro-micro paradox might be detected, at least in these three Sub-Saharan countries. Mosley found that ODA flows might show positive results when the goals of the ODA projects were evaluated, but there was not any positive macro result when aid and growth were analysed. We believe that a positive cointegration may be detected between ODA and GDP (macro effect), but this result is not enough to show that ODA was an effective financial instrument to reduce multidimensional poverty when a sectorial and spatial analysis were carried out (meso or micro effect). In fact, the main findings of the paper are that, although a positive cointegration between ODA and GDP may be identified, ODA flows were not focused on the sectors that are more related to multidimensional poverty indicators and -at least in the case of Sierra Leone- neither on the districts where multidimensional poverty were higher.

It is worth bearing in mind that a macro predictive model between aid and growth is not our main interest. We do not want to offer policy measures based on past data, on how aid can increase economic growth. We are more interested in show how ODA flows and poverty indicators are linked, in the vein of the 2030 Agenda and Sustainable Development Goal 1 and target 1.2. "By 2030, reduce at least by half the proportion of men, women and children of all ages living in poverty *in all its dimensions* according to national definitions". If poverty is multidimensional and ODA flows try to reduce poverty, how are they linked? Our results show that ODA is not been able to help reduce multidimensional poverty because it is not focused on it, neither geographically nor sectorally. The first principle of the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation, ownership, is still rhetorical.

The paper is connected not only to the aid and growth literature in Sub-Saharan countries -either in a cross-countries framework [18–20] or case-studies [21,22]- but also, to the link between aid and multidimensional poverty [23,24] and to the methodological dialogue from micro to macro development [25].
The novelty of the paper is threefold. To our knowledge, this is the first time that (macro) Vector Error Correction Model (VECM) and cointegration analysis are carried out between ODA and GDP and its components for the three Sub-Saharan case studies. Second, a deep analysis for ODA flows and poverty indicators are carried out. Third, two different databases for ODA are used: the classical OECD-DAC (OECD 2021 [26]) and the AidData [27,28].

2. Materials and Methods

Our research strategy can be seen in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Research strategy. Author's elaboration.

2.1. Brief Countries Features

Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone are remarkably underrepresented among the research carried out for African countries⁵. All of them are Least Developed Countries⁶, they rank very low in the human development index⁷ and they shared the Ebola's outbreak in the recent past (2013–2017). They share frontiers and they belong to the African Union since 2001, the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) economic agreement⁸ since 1975, but trade among them is quite low. They are countries rich in natural resources. Guinea possesses the world's largest reserves of bauxite and largest untapped high-grade iron ore reserves, as well as gold and diamonds. Liberia main exports are iron ore, rubber, diamonds and gold. Sierra Leone is rich in diamond mining, iron ore, rutile and bauxite. These countries also have high levels of ethnic and linguistic fragmentation. The three of them have shown remarkable economic growth rates since the beginning of the 21st Century.

However, they are very different in some features: Guinea has 245,717 square kilometers and 12.5 million inhabitants, compared to 96,320 km² of Liberia with 5.07 million population and 71,620 km² of Sierra Leone with 6.6 million inhabitants. They also differ in their GDP per capita: USD 1532 in Liberia; USD 1702 Sierra Leone and USD 2557 in Guinea in 2018 (current PPP US Dollars).

Their economic structure is different as well (Table 1).

Country	Exports	Imports	Agriculture	Industry	Services
Guinea	21.9 (40% gold; 36% aluminum ores)	-36.9 (14% petroleum oils; 11% rice)	19.8	32.1	48.1
Liberia	17.5	-89.2	34	13.8	52.2
Sierra Leone	26.8 (17% motor vehicles; 14% cocoa beans)	-55.3 (rice 19%; 6.5% motor cars)	60.7	6.5	32.9

Table 1. Economic structure: selected indicators (in percentage of GDP).

Source: CIA Factbook and UN ComTrade database. Liberians values are for 2016 whereas for Guinea and Sierra Leone are 2017 estimations. Trade data for Liberia were not available in the UN ComTrade database.

Sierra Leone's main trade partners in 2017 were China (17% of total imports), India and Turkey (7% in both cases) whilst its main exports went to Netherlands (23%), China (13%) and Cote d'Ivoire (12%)⁹. Liberia and Guinea stand for less than 2% of Sierra Leone's imports and exports¹⁰.

Guinea's trade partners in 2015 were Ghana (22%), India (16%), the United Arab Emirates (10%), China (15%), the Netherlands (13%) and India (11%).

Their GDP growth has been unstable and remarkably dependent on the international prices of commodities (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Time series of GDP growth. Source: World Bank, World Development Indicators.

2.2. *ODA to Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone* 2.2.1. Net ODA Trends

As Figure 4 shows, ODA flows have diminished in recent decades and in relative terms (ODA to Liberia was 20.2% of GNI in 2018; and 13.3% to Sierra Leone, and 5.1% to Guinea).

Net ODA in constant dollars shows low levels until 1976 and a remarkable erratic trend since then (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Net ODA flows in relative terms. Source: World Bank: WDI.



Figure 5. Time series of net ODA in constant dollars. Source: World Bank; World Development Indicators.

The aim of this paper is to analyse if Official Development Assistance (ODA) is associated with these erratic trends of economic growth and, secondly, if ODA flows are associated with the reduction of the multidimensional poverty indicators recently experienced by these countries.

2.2.2. ODA Main Donors

As Figure 6 shows, multilateral donors are the main character in Guinea. They reach 71% in 2012 and they still concentrate the 41% of the ODA flows in 2018. IMF and African Development Fund are the multilateral donors whose contributions are remarkable. Among bilateral donors, United States, the United Kingdom and the European Union contribute the most. The sum of their contributions depicts more than one third of net ODA received by Guinea (31% in 2018). The European Union has maintained the highest amounts in recent years (18% in 2018). For 2017–2018 (the last couple of years with data available), the main donors have been the EU (17.7%), USA (14.2%) and World Bank's IDA (12.6%).

 Table 2. Analysis of the stationarity of time series: step 1.

	0	Guinea	L	iberia	Sierra Leona	
Variable	p-Value	Decision	<i>p</i> -Value	Decision	<i>p</i> -Value	Decision
Net ODA	0.0571	Non-Stationary	0.613	Non-Stationary	0.9586	Non-Stationary
GDP	0.8974	Non-Stationary	0.9841	Non-Stationary	0.9743	Non-Stationary
Gross Capital Form.	0.6418	Non-Stationary	0.0594	Non-Stationary	0.7923	Non-Stationary
Exports	0.9082	Non-Stationary	0.0	Stationary	0.8895	Non-Stationary
Imports	0.9306	Non-Stationary	0.0039	Stationary	0.9711	Non-Stationary
Consumption	0.9162	Non-Stationary	0.8734	Non-Stationary	0.9951	Non-Stationary



Source: Author's elaboration.

Figure 6. Main donors to Guinea. Source: Authors' elaboration with data from OECD-DAC Table 2a: net ODA total net disbursements in constant USD, 2018.

In the case of Liberia (Figure 7), bilateral donors dominate the contributions. The USA is clearly the main donor (more than 40% since 2015), followed by multilateral donors.

The peak in the share of multilateral donors in 1992 and 1995 is explained by a special World Food Program contribution (USD 94.5 and USD 76.1 million, respectively) and the maximum in 2007 was due to a contribution of the World Bank (USD 842.8 million). European Union contributions have been declining since the '90s (they only capture a 6% in 2018). For the period 2017–2018, the main donors have been the USA (42.6%), followed by IDA (10.6%) and both the European Union (6.7%) and African Development Fund (6.6%).



Figure 7. Main donors to Liberia. Source: Authors' elaboration with data from OECD-DAC Table 2a: net ODA total net disbursements in constant USD, 2018.

Considering the case of Sierra Leone (Figure 8), bilateral ODA amounts dominate. The sum of the UK, US and EU contributions are higher than the 40% in last years. The United Kingdom is the main donor (the share of its ODA reached 41% in 2014 and 26% in 2018), followed by the European Union. The amounts coming from multilateral donors were declining since 1994 (when an IMF loan for USD 155.7 million was approved) but their contributions are still in line with the USA. For 2107–2018, the main donors are UK (26.6%), the USA (12.5%) and the EU (12%).

2.3. Multidimensional Poverty Index

Surprisingly, the three countries have shown remarkably good results in many of the indicators of the global MPI that one can consider, as the next Figures 9–11 show.



Figure 8. Main donors to Sierra Leone. Source: Authors' elaboration with data from OECD-DAC Table 2a: net ODA total net disbursements in constant USD, 2018.



Figure 9. Reduction in the global MPI, and its headcount and intensity. Note: annualized relative changes in the Multidimensional Poverty Index harmonized for comparisons across time (MPIT). Time periods are: Guinea 2012–2016; Liberia 2007–2013; Sierra Leone 2013–2017. Source: Alkire et al. (2020) [16,29].



Figure 10. Reduction in each multidimensional poverty indicator. Notes: Annualized changes. This table provides censored headcount ratios for each of the 10 MPI indicators. Censored headcount ratios are the proportion of people who are MPI poor and experience deprivations in each of the indicators. Source: Alkire et al. (2020) [16,29].

Finally, there are some commonalities between urban and rural poverty in the three countries. Although rural poverty is much higher, cooking fuel, sanitation and electricity are the main deprivations both in urban and rural contexts.

Unfortunately, ODA data are not disaggregated for urban or rural allocations, and therefore we cannot carry out an impact analysis of ODA on urban/rural poverty.

2.4. Data Sources

The economic data are gathered from the World Bank's World Development Indicators. We consider Gross Domestic Product (GDP) amounts, and their demand components: final consumption expenditure, gross capital formation, exports and imports.

Net Official Development Assistance (ODA) comes from International Development Statistics (IDS) online databases. Net ODA consists of disbursements of loans made on concessional terms (net of repayments of principal) and grants by official agencies of the members of the Development Assistance Committee (DAC), by multilateral institutions, and by non-DAC countries to promote economic development and welfare in countries and territories in the DAC list of ODA recipients. It includes loans with a grant element of at least 25 percent (calculated at a rate of discount of 10 percent). Net official aid refers to aid flows (net of repayments) from official donors to countries and territories in the DAC list of recipients. Data are in constant 2015 U.S. dollars.



Figure 11. Poverty incidence in rural and urban locations. Source: Authors elaboration based on Alkire et al. (2021) [30].

The quality of ODA indicators comes from the Global Partnership for Effective Development Co-operation database.

Sectoral ODA. With the aim of analysing the sectoral distribution of ODA flows, we download the disbursements in constant US dollars from the OECD-Creditor Reporting System database (OECD 2021) for 2002–2018, and we split the period in two subperiods: 2002–2009 and 2010–2018. We get the sums for each period and sector, and we compare the percentage of each sector-period for the main donors

AidData. To our knowledge, we use for the first time, aid-disaggregated data from the AidData database [28] for Sierra Leone (AidData 2017 [27])¹¹. This dataset has 856 projects on 2314 locations for 1992–2014 and allows us to know the amount of aid disbursed by donor, sector and province (district) of the country. Data availability starts in 1992 and end in 2018. The total amount of aid compiled by AidData for Sierra Leone reached USD13,389,548,744.

Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI). Data for the MPI values, and their headcount and intensity comes from Alkire, S., J. M. Roche and A. Vaz (2014) [31]. There are two surveys for poverty indicators for Sierra Leone: a Demographic and Health Survey for 2013¹² and Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS) for 2017¹³. This fact implies that our period of analysis is 2013–2017.

2.5. Methods

2.5.1. Vector Error Correction Model

The aim of this section is to check whether there is a statistical (causal) association between the aid flows (measured by ODA) and the economic growth (measured by GDP and its components) in the three selected countries. We try to shed light in the aid-andgrowth academic corpus of literature. In particular, we bear in mind the "micro-macro paradox" [17]. The paradox is that, whether foreign aid seems to show good results at micro-level (projects tend to reach their specific results), there is no significative changes in macro indicators, such as poverty levels, human development indexes or GDP per capita.

For studying the possible relation between ODA and economic growth the paper uses several statistical methods, including some econometric ones. All calculations are done using either Microsoft Excel or Python 3.8.11 with the libraries *numpy*, pandas and *statsmodels*.

There is no consensus on which is the best mathematical tool to study how ODA relates to the economic system as there are huge amounts of factors that can influence and sometimes time scales are quite different among others [9–11,20,32–34],but plenty of research has been carried out using time series models [35–37]; such as Vector Autoregression (VAR) that, among other advantages, does not need to specify which variables are endogenous and exogenous. The main model that will be used here is the Vector Error Correction Model (VECM).

VECM models are built in order to examine short-term and long-term relations of non-stationary variables that are cointegrated. The main features of the model are:

- All variables are considered endogenous.
- All variables should be of order 1, some variables might be stationary, but none are to be of order 2.
- The system dynamics must show, at least, one cointegration relation (thus, it can be regarded as a VAR model with the restrictions driven by cointegration).

It is important to stress out that for the VECM model, the amount of data available for Liberia is rather scarce for the number of variables that we want to include and thus the analysis and results are affected. As a matter of fact, a model including the six variables at the same time cannot be computed for such a small number of observations and therefore a model with five variables is considered. Additionally, the maximum lags allowed for that model is smaller than for the other two.

After the preprocessing, the steps carried out to obtain the VECM model are as follows. First, we checked that the variance increases with mean in all series. As it is customary in these cases, a logarithmic transformation was used in all variables. Then, Augmented Dickey Fuller (ADF) tests were carried out for each of the variables in order to check whether they are stationary, setting a significance level of $\alpha = 0.01$.

2.5.2. Multidimensional Poverty Index

The global multidimensional poverty index is a quantitative assessment of the state of acute poverty in developing countries. Based on Alkire and Foster's methodology (2011) [38], it was updated [30,39] to closely align the measure to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) that are underlie the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [40]. Based on national surveys, the MPI can be disaggregated in urban and rural areas, ethnic groups, gender, age cohort or deprivation considered under its ten indicators.

The MPI has three equally weighted dimensions: health, education and living standards. Under the health dimension, two indicators are considered: nutrition (a household is deprived if any person under 70 years of age for whom there is nutritional information is undernourished) which is linked to SDG 2 (zero hunger), and child mortality (when a child under 18 has died in the household in the five-year period preceding the survey) linked to SDG 3 (good health and well-being). Under the education dimension, these two indicators are taken into account: years of schooling (when no eligible household member has completed six years of schooling) and school attendance (when any school-aged child is not attending school up to the age at which he or she would complete class 8) both linked to SDG 4 (quality education). Finally, under the living standards dimension, six indicators are considered: cooking fuel (a household cooks using solid fuel such as dung, agricultural crop, shrubs, wood, charcoal or coal) linked to SDG 7 (renewable energy); sanitation (the household has unimproved or no sanitation facility or it is improved but shared with other households) linked to SDG 6; drinking water (the household's source of drinking water is not safe or safe drinking water is a 30-min or longer walk from home, roundtrip) linked also to SDG 6; electricity (when the household has no electricity) linked to SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy); housing (the household has inadequate housing materials in any of the three components: floor, roof or walls) linked to SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities); and assets (the household does not own more than one of these assets: radio, TV, telephone, computer, animal cart, bicycle, motorbike or refrigerator, and does not own a car or a truck) linked to SDG 1 (no poverty).

The association of the MPI indicators with the SDGs has many advantages; among others, for assessing if ODA flows are being allocated in the countries and sectors where the deprivations are higher. In this paper, we will try to link MPI indicators, SDGs and sectorial ODA amounts to verify if ODA is contributing to multidimensional poverty results.

3. Results

3.1. ODA and GDP: Vector Error Correction Model

Following the method described above, Table 2 shows the results of the ADF tests *p*-values and stationary decisions for net ODA, GDP and its components.

Given these results, the first differences are taken for series that are non-stationary. Performing again ADF tests, now on the differentiated series, with the same significance level, we obtain Table 3:

	Guinea		I	liberia	Sierr	a Leona
Variable (1st diff)	<i>p</i> -Value	Decision	<i>p</i> -Value	Decision	<i>p</i> -Value	Decision
Net ODA	0.6781	Non-Stationary	0.6578	Non-Stationary	0.0001	Stationary
GDP	0.0004	Stationary	0.2638	Non-Stationary	0.0	Stationary
Gross Capital Form.	0.0001	Stationary	0.0	Stationary	0.0	Stationary
Exports	0.0	Stationary	-	-	0.0	Stationary
Imports	0.0044	Stationary	-	-	0.0	Stationary
Consumption	0.0003	Stationary	0.0001	Stationary	0.0064	Stationary

Table 3. Analysis of the stationarity of time series: step 2.

Source: Author's elaboration.

As stated before, it is correct to consider a model where one of the variables is nonstationary as long as all of them are considered only in first differences. Only for the first two series of Libera are the second differences considered, leading to *p*-values of 0.0 and 0.2077, respectively. Therefore, the final series for the models are considered as follows. All the series for Guinea and Sierra Leona are transformed logarithmically and taken in first differences, whereas the series for Liberia are transformed logarithmically and taken in first differences in the case of Gross Capital Formation and Consumption and in second differences in the case of Net ODA and GDP.

The next step is to choose an adequate order of lag; if it is too large significance in the coefficients might be reduced while if taking a small order, residuals might not be normal [41]. Thus, a trade-off between fit and parsimony is needed. The most frequent tools to help us find make this decision are the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). The last step consists on determining the cointegration rank which is done by means of the Johansen cointegration test using the trace test statistic with significance level $\alpha = 0.05$. The following lag orders and cointegration ranks were found (Table 4).

Table 4. Lags order and cointegration ranks.

	Guinea	Liberia	Sierra Leone
Lag order	2	0	2
Cointegration rank	4	0	1
Courses Author's alaboration			

Source: Author's elaboration.

All in all, we identify a positive and statistically significant association between ODA received by the three Sub-Saharan countries, their GDP and the demand components of the GDP.

Conversely to Mosley 1986 (he found positive micro level results, but he did not any macro impact) [17], we now want to know if there is some micro evidence that might support our VECM results. For this purpose, we analyzed the association between ODA flows and multidimensional poverty indicators.

3.2. ODA: Quality and Sectoral Distribution

3.2.1. ODA Quality

There are some quality indicators of ODA collected by surveys conducted by the Global Partnership for Effective Development Cooperation. The main results for the three countries and regional Africa averages are shown in Table 5. The indicators show that the quality of ODA is not bad, broadly speaking. The best practices seem to be interventions that draw objectives from country-led results framework (the so-called ownership principle in the Paris Declaration for Effective Development Cooperation), the annual predictability of aid funds (not for medium-term) and the low levels of tied aid (indicator 10).

indicators.
quality
ODA
Table 5.

Year	2	:008			20.	11			2(016			20	18	
Indicator/Country	Guinea Liberia	Sierra Leone	Africa	Guinea	Liberia	Sierra Leone	Africa	Guinea	Liberia	Sierra Leone	Africa	Guinea	Liberia	Sierra Leone	Africa
6 of use of country-owned results frameworks by providers of development co-operation (SDG 17.15.1)												72.1%	44.4%	49.4%	66.0%
% of new development interventions that draw objectives from country-led results frameworks								100%	100%	90.0%	84.8%	69.2%	100%	88.9%	79.7%
6 of results indicators drawn from country-led results frameworks								51.9%	51.8%	62.8%	60.5%	82.5%	33.3%	30.0%	62.8%
% of results indicators monitored using the partner country's own sources								48.1%	53.5%	40.6%	51.3%	64.7%	0.0%	29.2%	53.7%
6 of new interventions that plan a final evaluation with partner country involvement								66.7%	11.8%	70.4%	51.2%	25.0%	0.0%	35.7%	54.7%
Indicator 1b: Overall strength of national results framework (%)												0.0%	70.9%	70.5%	67.8%
ndicator 5a: Annual predictability of development co-operation	99.3 %	79.5%	79.3%	N.A.	33.3%	88.1%	79.5%	96.8%	75.1%	94.1%	72.4%	97.0%	98.1%	100%	86.0%
Indicator 5b: Medium-term predictability of development co-operation								100%	100%	53.3%	61.2%	N.A.	53.3%	N.A.	59.9%
Indicator 6: Development co-operation is on budgets which are subject to parliamentary scrutiny	N.A.	38.8%	54.0%	N.A.	100%	29.2%	21.3%	41.4%	100%	9.3%	45.0%	N.A.	100%	N.A.	50.2%
Indicator 9b: Use of partner countries public financial management and procurement systems to deliver development co-operation	24.0%	24.6%	31.8%	N.A.	39.6%	32.9%	34.8%	12.8%	81.1%	46.9%	36.8%	16.5%	8.8%	0.2%	28.1%
Indicator 10: Aid is untied	66.2%	38.3%	65.6%	87.6%	88.4%	91.3%	80.6%	91.9%	84.4%	95.8%	82.4%	N.A.	71.6%	94.2%	82.7%

All in all, donor practices seem to be good enough for development in the three countries. We cannot infer that this is translated into a poverty reduction automatically, but it is a useful evidence for our purpose.

3.2.2. ODA Sectoral Distribution

In the case of Guinea, the sectoral composition for all donors has not changed a lot between the two periods. Social infrastructure leads the ODA (42%), Economic infrastructure has increased a little (from 7% to 11%) and there has been some reductions in ODA for production (from 9% to 4%), in Multisector (specially in general environment protection) and in Debt relieve (from 20% to 17%). Some donor and sectoral specialization could be identified. For instance, European Union leads ODA for road transport (more than their 30% of ODA went to this sector). African Development Bank and IDA tend to concentrate their aid in Economic Infrastructure, whereas United Nations preferred to help Government and civil society, especially conflict, peace and security (14% of its ODA in 2010–2018).

One remarkable feature for all donors is that they do not tent to send ODA flows to sectors related to multidimensional poverty indicators. The highest percentage of ODA channelled to dimensions directly related to causes of poverty was education (16% 2002–2009). However, some donors tend to distribute their ODA more concentrated. For instance, education received 32% of IDA flows for 2002–2009, health 55% from other multilaterals (excluding EU, World Bank, IMF, regional development banks and UN). The IMF is clearly specialized in channelled its aid through General Budget Support (more than 80% in the two periods considered). Lastly, the UK focused a huge proportion of its aid to debt relive (33% in 2002–2009 and 69% in 2010–2018). It should bear in mind, that these amounts cannot be considered directly linked to poverty reduction. In fact, it is not "fresh money" for development agents, NGOs or practitioners.

In the case of Liberia, some features concur with Guinea. For instance, Social Infrastructure dominates in both periods (35%) and Economic infrastructure has increased from 6% to 17%. One quarter of ODA is for Debt relief and the proportion of Humanitarian Aid has declined from 19% to 11%. IMF and African Development Fund channeled their aid through general budget support (80% or more for 2002–2009). The US focused their aid in education (10% in 2010–2018) whereas health sector was mainly attended by IDA (22% of their funds were to that sector). Drinking water and sanitation received very little ODA. Only the share of the ADF (12%) was noticeable. Energy (electricity included) only was noteworthy for IDA (20% for 2010–2018).

In Sierra Leone, ODA has focused on Social Infrastructure (43.8% for 2010–2018) followed by humanitarian aid (17.6%), Health (14%) and General Budget Support (13%). It was very important the aid for Action related to Debt for 2002–2009 (25%). Education is helped by the United States (8.4% of its aid in 2010–2018).

United Kingdom was the main donor for Sierra Leone. The sectorial allocation of this donor was focused on Government and civil society for 2002–2009 (42.8%) followed by General Budget Support (33.1%) and Humanitarian aid for 2010–2018 (38.1%). This sector was also prioritized by the United States (34.7%). The European Union has focused on Road transport (19% in 2002–2009 and 27% for 2010–2018). IDA is specialized on Economic Infrastructure (19%), mainly on agriculture (14%) for 2010–2018.

The main idea that shows this sectoral structure is that there is some specialization in some sectors by different donors. Furthermore, the sectors more directly linked to the deprivations measured by the global Multidimensional Poverty Index, such as schooling, nutrition, housing, electricity, water or sanitation, are not privileged by any donor in relative terms. We may consider this fact as a first approach for having doubts about a direct and causal link between ODA flows and the multidimensional poverty reduction happened in the three countries that we are studying.

3.3. Poverty Incidence and ODA Flows: Is There a Link?

The goal of this section is to try to relate development aid flows to changes in the 10 multidimensional poverty indicators. To do this, the aid data by most relevant sectors and the corresponding years of the poverty surveys of the three countries, have been downloaded from *Creditor Reporting System* dataset (OECD 2021).

The following table (Table 6) provides the sum of ODA from all donors to the corresponding sectors, along with decreases in the 10 multidimensional poverty indicators (the last three columns).

Table 6. ODA by sector for Guinea (2012-16), Liberia (2007-13) and Sierra Leone (2013-17).

	Guinea	2012-16	Liberia	2007-13	Sierra Leo	ne 2013-17	Guinea	Liberia	Sierra Leone
Year	TOTAL	%	TOTAL	%	TOTAL	%			
Sector									
1000: Total All Sectors	3229.21		7122.85		3.783.63				
450: Total Sector Allocable	1657.40	51.3%	3270.15	45.9%	2004.48	53.0%	,	Years schoolin	g
100: I. Social Infrastructure & Services, Total	1203.38	37.3%	2276.06	32.0%	1479.48	39.1%	-2.7	-0.9	-1.1
110: I.1. Education, Total	195.52	6.1%	200.13	2.8%	132.69	3.5%	S	hool attendar	nce
112: I.1.b. Basic Education, Total	46.81	1.4%	108.58	1.5%	62.26	1.6%	-2.2	-5.5	-3.0
120: I.2. Health, Total	468.70	14.5%	381.38	5.4%	542.08	14.3%			
122: I.2.b. Basic Health, Total	394.46	12.2%	311.88	4.4%	433.52	11.5%			
130: I.3. Population Policies/Programmes & Reproductive Health, Total	153.14	4.7%	182.07	2.6%	259.62	6.9%			
140: I.4. Water Supply & Sanitation, Total	41.57	1.3%	54.84	0.8%	180.38	4.8%			
14030: Basic drinking water supply and basic sanitation	13.47	0.4%	21.09	0.3%	4.80	0.1%		drinking wáte	er
14031: Basic drinking water supply	6.63	0.2%	0.02	0.0%	1.78	0.0%	-1.6	-0.5	-2.9
14032: Basic sanitation	5.60	0.2%	0.12	0.0%	3.66	0.1%		Sanitation	
14050: Waste management/disposal	1.48	0.0%	2.59	0.0%	5.92	0.2%	-3.1	-2.9	-3.8
150: I.5. Government & Civil Society. Total	290.15	9.0%	1380.93	19.4%	280.67	7.4%			
160: I.6. Other Social Infrastructure & Services. Total	54.30	1.7%	76.71	1.1%	84.04	2.2%			
16030: Housing policy and administrative management			0.40	0.0%				Housing	
16040: Low-cost housing			0.02	0.0%	0.66	0.0%	-4.4	-2.2	-3.6
200: II. Economic Infrastructure & Services, Total	257.26	8.0%	687.91	9.7%	322.46	8.5%			
210: II.1. Transport & Storage, Total	153.77	4.8%	263.36	3.7%	207.37	5.5%			
220: II.2. Communications, Total	31.22	1.0%	22.96	0.3%	6.25	0.2%			
230: II.3. Energy, Total	68.75	2.1%	331.31	4.7%	75.72	2.0%		Electricity	
23630: Electric power transmission and distribution (centralised grids)	50.17	1.6%	85.17	1.2%	37.52	1.0%	-2.9	-3.2	-4.2
240: II.4. Banking & Financial Services, Total	0.93	0.0%	5.40	0.1%	19.12	0.5%			
300: III. Production Sectors, Total	99.23	3.1%	144.18	2.0%	144.19	3.8%			
400: IV. Multi-Sector/Cross-Cutting, Total	97.52	3.0%	162.00	2.3%	58.36	1.5%		Nutrition	
500: VI. Commodity Aid/General Programme Assistance, Total	390.01	12.1%	686.56	9.6%	570.45	15.1%	0.0	-1.5	-3.4
600: VII. Action Relating to Debt, Total	812.50	25.2%	2667.56	37.5%	135.34	3.6%			
700: VIII. Humanitarian Aid, Total	223.50	6.9%	489.09	6.9%	973.03	25.7%		cooking-fuel	
910: Administrative Costs of Donors, Total	8.70	0.3%	4.10	0.1%	13.85	0.4%	-2.4	-2.9	-4.0
930: Refugees in Donor Countries, Total	3.58	0.1%	0.53	0.0%	0.58	0.0%		Assets	
998: IX. Unallocated/Unspecified, Total	133.52	4.1%	4.86	0.1%	85.89	2.3%	-1.7	-4.4	-1.0

Note: For comparative purpose, last three columns show the differences in the MPI indicators. Source: author's elaboration. Based on OECD, Creditor Reporting System. Current USD million.

This information allows us to compare at first glance whether it is reasonable to think that aid could have contributed to the achievement of poverty reduction.

The hypothesis is that if a sufficient amount of aid has been produced in the sectors that are most closely related to poverty indicators, it could be expected that it has contributed in some way to said reduction. In cases where a possible impact is identified, we will look for which donor has been most responsible for this aid-poverty alleviation relationship.

(A) Regarding the dimension of deprivation in *education*, Guinea and Liberia receive a similar amount (USD 200 million) while Sierra Leone receives somewhat less (133 million). In relative terms, it is a very low proportion: 1.3% in the "basic education" sector. Liberia dedicated the majority of its ODA to education to this basic subsector (109 million out of 200). It contrasts that the reduction in "Years of schooling" was the lowest in the three countries among the 10 poverty indicators. In a way, it could be said that Liberia was the best profitable for aid to education. With USD 200 million he managed to reduce poverty by -5.5 points due to not being able to go to school attendance. It is noteworthy that most of the aid to education in Liberia was provided by the USA (73 million or 36.5% of the 200 million). Guinea also "profited" the aid well in terms of contribution to educational improvement, since with USD 196 million, it achieved a cumulative -4.9 points in educational poverty, while Sierra Leone received less (133 million) and reduced—4.1 educational poverty.

It is interesting to note how the aid is not mainly intended for education. It is also important to note how the percentages are somewhat skewed by the heavy burdens of debt relief in Guinea and Liberia and by Humanitarian Aid in Sierra Leone (Ebola years).

- (B) As regards *health*, it is complex to identify a representative sector of nutrition or infant mortality. In terms of nutrition, the reduction in Sierra Leone stands out (−3.4 points). Received food aid (there are two sectors that are not shown but that can be associated with nutrition: "Development food assistance" (sector 510 of the OECD-DAC classification) and "Emergency food assistance" (sector 72040 of the OECD-DAC classification within Humanitarian Aid). In both cases, aid to Sierra Leone came from the US and Japan. Together they represent 82% of what Sierra Leone received for food aid, which reached USD 126.4 million. It is possible that this aid could have contributed to the reduction of malnutrition in the country and partially explain this remarkable reduction of −3.4 points (in contrast to zero for Guinea and −1.5 for Liberia).
- (C) Regarding the dimension of *standard of living*, it is very difficult to assign any aid item that is associated with cooking fuel or with assets, so we do not comment on these two indicators.

With regard to *sanitation*, there is a subsector directly related to it "basic sanitation" but which barely received funding (the largest was Guinea with 5.6 million, which is only 0.2% of its ODA). The same happens with "basic drinking water supply" where Guinea once again received the maximum but only 6.6 million. If the aggregate of the "Water and sanitation" sector is considered, Sierra Leone received the most funds (USD 180 million), accounting for 4.8% of its ODA and this was concentrated in the contributions of the UK and the African Development Bank. The contributions of both represented 81% of what Sierra Leone received for water and sanitation.

In sum, it is highly unlikely that ODA could have contributed to poverty reduction in these two key water and sanitation indicators.

A similar diagnosis emerges from the *Housing* analysis (zero ODA, which does not explain the great reduction of -4.4 points in housing in Guinea). Neither did *electricity*, where Sierra Leone showed a record (-4.2) but barely received USD 37.5 million from the UK (USD 16.4 million and only between 2016-17 and from the IDA of the World bank USD 11, 1 million between 2015-17, the rest of the years was zero). Both contributions represent 73% of what Sierra Leone received in the period for electricity, which barely represents 1% of its ODA.

EU Institutions

International Development

Association [IDA] Sierra Leone Year

Official Donors, Total

Japan United Kingdom

African Development Fund

[AfDF] International Development

Association [IDA]

Looking at the data in detail, ODA for electricity was clearly very low for the three countries and periods (Table 7). Electricity is a key indicator due to its multiple spillovers and interlinkages with other deprivations [42]. It is very implausible that these amounts may explain the high levels of poverty in electrification. Alternative explanations may be data measurement error in the surveys or other financial source such as public budget or private investment funds.

17.917

3.253

% donor

100.0%

75.1%

0.03%

21.0%

3.8%

Guinea								
Year	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	Total	%	
Official Donors, Total	4.983	4.796	11.731	13.475	15.189	50.174	100.00%	
France	0.006					0.006	0.01%	
EU Institutions	0.118					0.118	0.2%	
African Development Fund [AfDF]	4.082	3.212	4.859	7.555	11.165	30.873	62%	
International Development Association [IDA]	0.776	1.584	6.872	5.920	4.024	19.177	38%	
Liberia								
Year	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	Total
Official Donors, Total	2.154	9.831	10.126	16.012	24.004	21.278	1.766	85.171
Norway	2.130	6.071	5.358	10.129	20.580	19.709		63.98
United States	0.024							0.024

4.767

2015

12.467

9.219

0.071

3.177

5.883

2016

14.039

0.201

13.835

0.003

3.302

0.123

2017

10.411

2 6 2 7

7.784

0.076

1.494

Total

37.521

10.025

16.462

0.071

10.964

0.129

1.637

%

100%

27%

44%

0.2%

29%

Table 7. ODA for electricity (millions USD).

3.760

2014

0.247

0.247

2013

0.357

0.357

Source: author's elaboration. Based on OECD, Creditor Reporting System. Current USD million.

In the case of Sierra Leone, a likely explanation for the improvement in rural electrification is the Rural Renewable Energy Project (RREP)¹⁴. The project is supported by the UK's Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO). It is implemented by the United Nations Office for Project Services (UNOPS) on behalf of the Ministry of Energy. The RREP, which spans from October 2016 to May 2022, provides access to clean energy, for sustainable growth of the country's energy capacity. With a budget of 37.7 million pounds, the project is being completed in several phases and aligned with the overall national strategy to tap into Sierra Leone's great renewable energy resources to provide more reliable, environmentally friendly and secure electricity to rural communities. The first phase, which involved the installation of solar power in 54 community health centres and network distribution to one school in Conakry Dee (Port Loko District), was successfully completed in July 2017. A further 44 installations were planned to be completed by 2020 through co-investment with the private sector operators. In total, the RREP will construct in total 94 solar-powered mini-grids and three stand-alone systems installed across the country. The RREP impact is to increase rural communities' welfare through social and economic growth, saved fuel costs, and improved health and education outcomes. The

project will also significantly reduce Sierra Leone's future Green House Gas emissions. To do so, it aims to provide up to four MegaWatts of sustainable renewable electricity in rural communities through mini-grid installations with private sector involvement. In 2018, the project expanded 50 of the previously constructed health centre solar power stations and installed distribution networks throughout each village, creating independent mini-grids. It is remarkably enough that any ODA fund was dedicated to "electric power transmission and distribution (isolated mini-grids)" as it is named in the OECD-DAC 23631 sector classification. Any donor, in any time, and none of the three countries considered in this study.

In a nutshell, the success of -4.2 in the multidimensional poverty indicator for electricity in Sierra Leone is better explained considering other resources than ODA. Only three donors gave foreign aid for centralised grids electric power transmission and distribution. Despite these successes, according to International Energy Agency, there were still 6 million people without access to electricity in 2019 and only 26% of Sierra Leonese have access to electricity: 52% in urban zones but only 6% in rural villages (IEA 2021 [43]).

3.4. Sierra Leone Case Study. Using Disaggregated ODA Data

The purpose of this section is to try to link the evolution of poverty and foreign aid (ODA ammounts). As we explained above, we use for the first time, aid-disaggregated data from the AidData database. As we also have disaggregated MPI, incidence (headcount), and intensity of poverty by districts, we could use this micro-level unit for the analysis. As Table 8 shows, ODA projects for 2013–2017 (the period between the two poverty surveys) came from seven multilateral and three bilateral donors (Ireland, United Kingdom, and Japan).

Sector	Donors	Projects
	DFID (UK)	14
Education	World Food Program	12
	Irish Aid	4
Health	Islamic Development Bank	1
	European Union	13
TA7 . 1	DFID (UK)	4
Water and sanitation	European Union	1
Energy	JICA (Japan)	1
	Irish Aid	1
	DFID (UK)	9
	African Development Bank	1
Government and civil society	International Organization for Migrations	2
	ŬNDP	1
	European Union	41
	JICA (Japan)	1
	OPEC	
Other sectors	European Union DFID (UK)	49

Table 8. Sectors, donors and projects for Sierra Leone collected by AidData.

Source: Author's elaboration.

Based on data form multidimensional poverty country briefs, we computed and ranked the changes in MPI, headcount (Hc) and intensity (A) of poverty and the aid received by district between 2013 and 2017 (Table 9).

Rank	MPI	Rank	Hc	Rank	κ A	AidData	2013–2017 by I	Districts
Kenema	-0.194	Kenema	-29.7	Kailahun	-9.8	Kono	17,141,417	17.8%
Kono	-0.194	Kono	-26.0	Kambia	-8.3	Tonkolili	12,759,820	13.2%
Kambia	-0.186	Во	-23.6	Tonkolili	-7.9	Kenema	10,610,602	11.0%
Port Loko	-0.175	Western rural	-23.5	Koinadugu	-7.6	Kailahun	7,514,619	7.8%
Kailahun	-0.172	Port Loko	-23.2	Moyamba	-7.5	Во	5,636,842	5.9%
Во	-0.170	Bombali	-22.8	Kono	-7.0	Bombali	5,611,655	5.8%
Moyamba	-0.161	Kambia	-20.3	Во	-6.7	Bonthe	5,395,457	5.6%
Koinadugu	-0.140	Western urban	-19.5	Port Loko	-6.0	Pujehun	5,277,832	5.5%
Tonkolili	-0.138	Moyamba	-17.2	Pujehun	-5.2	Koinadugu	4,802,252	5.0%
Bombali	-0.136	Kailahun	-16.8	Kenema	-4.9	Moyamba	4,686,429	4.9%
Western rural	-0.118	Tonkolili	-12.9	Western urban	-4.4	Port Loko	4,547,227	4.7%
Pujehun	-0.108	Koinadugu	-12.2	Bombali	-2.5	Western rural	4,546,554	4.7%
Western urban	-0.099	Pujehun	-11.4	Western rural	-1.6	Kambia	4,177,529	4.3%
Bonthe	-0.062	Bonthe	-10.3	Bonthe	-0.5	Western urban	3,601,264	3.7%

Table 9. Poverty and foreign aid by districts.

Source: Author's elaboration.

The Pearson correlation between aid (column 8) and change in MPI (column 2) is -0.4139; between aid (column 8) and poverty incidence (column 4) is -0.2682 and between aid (column 2) and intensity of poverty (column 6) is -0.2573.

Data of the table shows that Kenema district was where MPI decreased most, especially because of the incidence (-29.7%). Aid for the Kenema ranked the third with 11% of the total aid.

In the same vein, Kono district was the second in the reduction of MPI, incidence and was the district where more aid was allocated (17.8%).

Kambia is an example of a district where poverty was reduced especially in intensity (-8.3%) but was penultimate in aid allocation (4.3%).

Bonthe district was where the poverty reduction was smallest under the three indicators (MPI, incidence and intensity). Bonthe received 5.6% of total aid.

All in all, although we cannot show robust evidence that aid does not causally explain the poverty reduction in Sierra Leone, we show some evidence that -at least at district levelit is a reasonable hypothesis. Further and more detailed evidence could come from projects impact evaluations (using random control trials or other rigorous techniques for attributing causality), but this level of evidence is out of the purpose of this paper.

4. Discussion

The hypothesis of the paper was that, conversely the micro-macro paradox identified by Mosley (1986) [17] a macro-micro paradox might be detected, at least in these three Sub-Saharan countries. Mosley found that ODA flows might show positive results when the goals of the ODA projects were evaluated, but there was not any positive macro result when aid and growth were analysed. We have identified a positive cointegration between ODA and GDP (macro effect), but this result is not enough to show that ODA was an effective financial instrument to reduce multidimensional poverty when a sectorial and spatial analysis were carried out (meso or micro effect). In fact, the main findings of the paper are that, although a positive cointegration between ODA and GDP may be identified, ODA flows were not focused on the sectors that are more related to multidimensional poverty indicators and -at least in the case of Sierra Leone- neither on the districts where multidimensional poverty were higher.

It is worth bearing in mind that a macro predictive model between aid and growth was not our main interest. We did not want to offer policy measures based on past data, on how aid can increase economic growth. We are more interested in showing how ODA flows and poverty indicators are linked, in the vein of the 2030 Agenda and Sustainable Development Goal 1 and target 1.2. "By 2030, reduce at least by half the proportion of men, women and children of all ages living in poverty *in all its dimensions* according to national definitions". If poverty is multidimensional and ODA flows try to reduce poverty, how are they linked?

Thus, we propose a macro-micro paradox opposite to that of Mosley, who estimated that aid worked in the micro sphere but did not transfer to the macro (GDP per capita). Our argument is that, although cointegration (correlated trends) in macro variables can be identified with aid, this is not enough to believe that aid is reducing poverty (multidimensional). As such, our results suggest a reversal macro-micro paradox.

The political economy consequence of our results is that the analysis of the aid-growth nexus is not enough to state the effectiveness of foreign aid and its contribution to reach SDGs targets. A micro analysis based on disaggregated data is required¹⁵. Aid data based on geospatial allocation on ODA project and the poverty indicator that was intended to reduce, is necessary when the research question is whether ODA flows are linked to multidimensional poverty results at the country level¹⁶. The theory of change that underlies our framework can be seen in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Theory of the change that underlies the relationship between ODA and MPI. Source: Author's elaboration.

IPM allows for disaggregated poverty indicators by space (urban or rural, districts), groups (ethnic, gender), sex (male, female), ages (especially for youths and children) or deprivation (each of the ten indicators). This information is not being systematically considered by ODA donors in their plans and aid allocation criteria. In other words, the four effectiveness principles of the Global Partnership for Effective Development Cooperation (country ownership, focus on results, inclusive partnerships and transparency and mutual accountability) should be a norm, not an aspiration¹⁷. We have shown great room for maneuvering to improve their implementation in the cases of Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone (see Table 5).

Our results, especially in the case study of Sierra Leone, show that country ownership, defined as "countries set their own national development priorities, and development partners align their support accordingly while using country systems" is still more a wish than a reality. Donors might take advantage of Sierra Leonean national multidimensional poverty index and data [44] as a base line to align their ODA contributions, at least those that have the specific intention of reducing poverty (ODA for the poor). This would be a sign that the Global Partnership's work is going further than the irrelevance.

Linking ODA to MPI indicators can be a concrete and successful good practice in line with the Global Partnership Action Area 2.6. "strengthening development effectiveness at subnational level to achieve the SDGs". The Partnership echoes the low capacity that cities, municipalities, local and regional authorities have to exert a real influence on donors allocations, but the Partnership only offers a space for dialogue and knowledge sharing on how to overcome the challenges that implementing the 2030 Agenda implies. Our recommendation to associate ODA projects and programmes to multidimensional poverty indicators might help to overcome the level of vagueness and rhetoric of the Partnership discourse. We believe that linking ODA to multidimensional poverty indicators, disaggregated by space, groups, sex, ages and deprivations may be an effective contribution to "enhance international support for implementing effective and targeted capacity building in developing countries to support national plans to implement all the SDGs, including North-South, South-South and triangular cooperation" (target 17.9. of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development).

5. Conclusions

Using a VECM, we identified significant positive cointegration between ODA, GDP and its components for Guinea, Liberia (with caveats) and Sierra Leone. This finding is in line with the effect in other regions (see Dash 2021 [45] for South Asian countries) and the use of cointegration techniques [46].

However, when we analyse ODA by sectors and their links with multidimensional poverty indicators, we do not find a close relationship. Finally, in the case of Sierra Leone and using disaggregated aid data, we find that districts with higher poverty incidence and intensity are not those who received more aid. Regarding electricity access, it was other public and private funds that explain the success in the rural electrification coverage in Sierra Leone.

Instead of the Mosley's micro-macro paradox, we find a macro-micro paradox in the sense that despite the positive cointegration results, there is not enough convinced evidence that ODA has contributed to the remarkable positive multidimensional poverty results in these countries, even when the Ebola's outbreak has happened.

The policy implications of these findings are clear: ODA donors can make better contributions to multidimensional poverty reduction. They should incorporate the poverty indicators disaggregated in rural and urban zones in their foreign aid allocation plans. Their monitor and evaluation exercises should be focused on these poverty measures if the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development is taken seriously into account. The multidimensional poverty indicators are already aligned with Sustainable Development Goals. Better ownership is needed, especially when some recipient countries, such as Sierra Leone, have elaborated their own multidimensional poverty index and development plan [44] which has disaggregated information by rural and urban areas, regions and districts.

To improve our knowledge and certainty of the effects of ODA on poverty, it is necessary that aid projects are linked to a particular multidimensional poverty indicator. Nowadays this information is not available for many recipient countries. We could only use Sierra Leone's case for an initial study. More research is needed to link the, perhaps, rhetorical purpose of aid to eradicate poverty (SDGs target 17.2) and to get a clearer knowledge to what extent aid is responsible for the results of SDG-1, target 1.2., both in rural and urban places.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.M.L.; methodology, J.M.L. and C.Q.G.; software, C.Q.G.; validation, J.M.L. and C.Q.G.; formal analysis, C.Q.G.; investigation, J.M.L.; resources, J.M.L.; data curation, J.M.L.; writing—original draft preparation, J.M.L. and C.Q.G.; writing—review and editing, J.M.L. and C.Q.G.; visualization, J.M.L. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the correspondence author.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Notes

- ¹ One option is to use cluster analysis as Larrú et al. (2021) [24].
- ² See https://www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness/thehighlevelforaonaideffectivenessahistory.htm (accessed on 19 October 2021) for a brief summary of the Forums.
- ³ Literaly, "We emphasize that international public finance plays an important role in complementing the efforts of countries to mobilize public resources domestically, especially in the poorest and most vulnerable countries with limited domestic resources. An important use of international public finance, including official development assistance (ODA), is to catalyse additional resource mobilization from other sources, public and private. ODA providers reaffirm their respective commitments, including the commitment by many developed countries to achieve the target of 0.7 per cent of gross national income for official development assistance (ODA/GNI) to developing countries and 0.15 per cent to 0.2 per cent of ODA/GNI to least developed countries" (number 43).
- ⁴ The share is only 14% for developing countries. Foreign Direct Investment reaches 51% in developing countries, whereas is only 29% in least developing countries.
- ⁵ Porteus shows that 45% of all economics journal articles and 65% of articles in the top five economics journals are about five countries (namely, South Africa, Nigeria, Ghana, Kenya and Ethiopia) accounting for just 16% of the continent's population. 91% of the variation in the number of articles across countries can be explained by a peacefulness index, the number of international tourist arrivals, having English as an official language, and population. The majority of research is context-specific, so the continued lack of research on many African countries means that the evidence base for local policy-makers is much smaller in these countries. In the Porteus work, neither the volume of trade nor the foreign aid received by each country, could explained the attention received in academic journals [47].
- ⁶ According to UNCTAD classification among 47 countries: https://unctad.org/topic/vulnerable-economies/least-developedcountries/list (accessed on 25 November 2021).
- ⁷ Guinea ranked 175 out of 189 countries in the Human Development Report 2018, whereas Liberia was 181° and Sierra Leone 184°. Their HDI values were 0.459; 0.435 and 0.419 respectively.
- 8 The other members are Benin, Burkina Faso, Cabo Verde, Côte d'Ivoire, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Malí, Níger, Nigeria, Senegal y Togo.
- ⁹ The source of these data is UN ComTrade database.
- ¹⁰ Sierra Leone's exports to Guinea in 2017 were 1.84% of the total exports and 1.93% to Liberia. Imports from Guinea to Sierra Leone were 0.78% and 0.08% from Liberia.
- ¹¹ This dataset represents the most comprehensive project-level data tracking international development finance. The base of the Research Release is all core data exported from the AidData Portal at www.aiddata.org. The Research Release serves as (1) a time-stamped version of AidData's core data, which allows users and researchers to replicate their research results, and (2) a version of the data that is provided in a flat-table structure, allowing for users and researchers to analyze annual commitments more easily. This dataset was developed by AidData with the support of AidData's core funders, including the Hewlett Foundation.
- 12 Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative (2015). "Sierra Leone Country Briefing", Multidimensional Poverty Index Data Bank. OPHI, University of Oxford, January.
- ¹³ We get the data from OPHI (2020) Global MPI Country Briefing 2020: Sierra Leone (Sub-Saharan Africa).
- ¹⁴ Source http://www.energy.gov.sl/home/rural-renewable-energy-project/ (accessed on 9 November 2021).
- ¹⁵ See for example Shao & Wang (2021) [48] analysing the Japanese aid to China.

- ¹⁶ For instance, Dreher et al (2019) [49] used and geocoded 1650 Chinese development finance projects across 3097 physical locations committed to Africa over the 2000–2012 period to analyse if current African political leaders' birth regions receive substantially larger financial flows from China than other regions.
- ¹⁷ In fact, this was the main conclusion of the 21st meeting of the Global Partnership Steering Committee for the next High-Level Meeting scheduled for late 2022.

References

- 1. Alesina, A.; Dollar, D. Who Gives Foreign Aid to Whom and Why? J. Econ. Growth 2000, 5, 33-63. [CrossRef]
- 2. Annen, K.; Knack, S. Better Policies from Policy-Selective Aid? World Bank Econ. Rev. 2021, 35, 829–844. [CrossRef]
- 3. Bourguignon, F.; Plateau, J.F. Aid allocation: The role of external discipline. *Int. Econ.* **2021**, in press. [CrossRef]
- 4. Dreher, A.; Simon, J.; Valasek, J. Optimal decision rules in multilateral aid funds. Rev. Int. Organ. 2021, 16, 689–719. [CrossRef]
- 5. Dreher, A.; Lang, V.; Rosendorff, B.P.; Vreeland, J.R. Bilateral or Multilateral? International Financial Flows and the Dirty-Work Hypothesis. J. Politics 2021, in press. [CrossRef]
- Tengstam, S.; Isaksson, A.-S. Kill Your Darlings? Do New Aid Flows Help Achieve a Poverty Minimizing Allocation of Aid? IFN Working Paper No. 1415; Research Institute of Industrial Economics: Stockholm, Sweden, 2021.
- Asatullaeva, Z.; Aghdam, R.F.Z.; Ahmad, N.; Tashpulatova, L. The impact of foreign aid on economic development: A systematic literature review and content analysis of the top 50 most influential papers. J. Int. Dev. 2021, 33, 717–751. [CrossRef]
- 8. Clemens, M.; Radelet, S.; Bhavnani, R.; Bazzi, S. Counting chickens when they hatch: Timing and the effects of aid on growth. *Econ. J.* 2012, 122, 590–617. [CrossRef]
- 9. Minoiu, C.; Reddy, S. Development Aid and Economic Growth: A Positive Long-Run Relation. *Q. Rev. Econ. Financ.* 2010, 50, 27–39. [CrossRef]
- Roodman, D. The Anarchy of Numbers: Aid, Development, and Cross-country Empirics. World Bank Econ. Rev. 2007, 21, 255–277. [CrossRef]
- Roodman, D. A Replication of 'Counting Chickens When They Hatch' (Economic Journal 2012). Public Financ. Rev. 2015, 43, 256–281. [CrossRef]
- 12. Banerjee, A.; Duflo, E.; Goldberg, N.; Karlan, D.; Osei, R.; Parienté, W.; Shapiro, J.; Thuysbaert, B.; Udry, C. A multifaceted program causes lasting progress for the very poor: Evidence from six countries. *Science* **2015**, *348*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Butler, D. Short Term Aid Has Long-Term Impact. *Nature* 2015, 521, 269. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Inter-Agency Task Force on Financing for Sustainable Development. *Financing for Sustainable Development Report 2019;* United Nations: New York, NY, USA, 2019.
- 15. UNDP; OPHI. *Global Multidimensional Poverty index 2020—Charting Pathways out of Multidimensional Poverty: Achieving the SDGs;* Report; Unite Nations Development Programme and Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative: Oxford, UK, 2020.
- Alkire, S.; Kanagaratnam, U.; Suppa, N. *The Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2020*; OPHI MPI Methodological Notes, 49; Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford: Oxford, UK, 2020.
- 17. Mosley, P. Aid-Effectiveness: The Micro-Macro Paradox. IDS Bull. 1986, 17, 22–35. [CrossRef]
- Ferreira, I.A.; Simões, M.C. Aid and growth: A comparative study between Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia. *Appl. Econom. Int. Dev.* 2013, 13, 113–132.
- 19. Roberts, G.O. The role of foreign aid in independent Sierra Leone. J. Black Stud. 1975, 5, 339–373. [CrossRef]
- 20. Tang, K.B.; Bundhoo, D. Foreign Aid and Economic Growth in Developing Countries: Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa. *Theor. Econ. Lett.* **2017**, *7*, 1473–1491. [CrossRef]
- 21. Casey, K.; Glennerster, R.; Miguel, E.; Voors, M.J. Long Run Effects of Aid: Forecasts and Evidence from Sierra Leone. *Natl. Bur. Econ. Res.* 2021. [CrossRef]
- 22. Kargbo, P.M. Impact of Foreign Aid on Economic Growth in Sierra Leone: Empirical Analysis; WIDER Working Paper No. 2012/07; The United Nations University World Institute for Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER): Helsinki, Finland, 2012.
- 23. Larrú, J.M. Linking ODA to the MPI: A Proposal for Latin America. Glob. Econ. J. 2017, 17, 20170041. [CrossRef]
- 24. Larrú, J.M.; Ibar, R.; Quesada, C. Grouping foreign aid and the Multidimensional Poverty Index: A cluster analysis. J. Econ. Coop. Dev. 2021, 42.
- 25. Buera, F.J.; Kaboski, J.P.; Townsend, R.M. From Micro to Macro Development. Natl. Bur. Econ. Res. 2021. [CrossRef]
- OECD. Creditor Reporting System Database. 2021. Available online: https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?DataSetCode=CRS1 (accessed on 15 May 2021).
- AidData. SierraLeoneAIMS_GeocodedResearchRelease_Level1_v1.0 Geocoded Dataset; AidData: Williamsburg, VA, USA; Washington, DC, USA, 2017; Available online: http://aiddata.org/research-datasets.https://www.aiddata.org/datasets (accessed on 15 March 2021).
- Tierney, M.J.; Nielson, D.L.; Hawkins, D.G.; Roberts, J.T.; Findley, M.G.; Powers, R.M.; Parks, B.; Wilson, S.E.; Hicks, R.L. More dollars than sense: Refining our knowledge of development finance using AidData. World Dev. 2011, 39, 1891–1906. [CrossRef]
- Alkire, S.; Kovesdi, F.; Mitchell, C.; Pinilla-Roncancio, M.; Scharlin-Pettee, S. Changes over Time in the Global Multidimensional Poverty Index; OPHI MPI Methodological Notes 50; Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford: Oxford, UK, 2020.

- Alkire, S.; Kanagaratnam, U.; Suppa, N. *The Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2021*; OPHI MPI Methodological Notes 51; Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford: Oxford, UK, 2021.
- Alkire, S.; Roche, J.M.; Vaz, A. Multidimensional Poverty Dynamics: Methodology and Results for 34 Countries; Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, Oxford University: Oxford, UK, 2014.
- Doucouliagos, H.; Paldam, M. The Ineffectiveness of Development Aid on Growth: An Update Covering Four Years of Research. Eur. J. Political Econ. 2011, 27, 399–404. [CrossRef]
- Kalyvitis, S.; Stengos, T.; Vlachaki, I. Are Aid Flows Excessive or Insufficient? Estimating the Growth Impact of Aid in Threshold Regressions. Scott. J. Political Econ. 2012, 59, 298–315. [CrossRef]
- 34. Quibria, M.Q. Aid Effectiveness: Research, Policy and Unresolved Issues. Dev. Stud. Res. 2014, 1, 75–87. [CrossRef]
- Juselius, K.; Framroze, N.; Tarp, F. The Long-Run Impact of Foreign Aid in 36 African Countries. Insights from Multivariate Time Series Analysis. Oxf. Bull. Econ. Stat. 2014, 76, 153–184. [CrossRef]
- 36. Lof, M.; Mekasha, T.J.; Tarp, F. Aid and Income: Another Time-series Perspective. World Dev. 2015, 69, 19–30. [CrossRef]
- Nowak-Lehmann, D.F.; Dreher, A.; Herzer, D.; Klasen, S.; Martínez-Zarzoso, I. Does Foreign Aid Really Raise Per-Capita Income? A Time Series Perspective. Can. J. Econ. 2012, 45, 288–313. [CrossRef]
- 38. Alkire, S.; Foster, J. Counting and multidimensional poverty measurement. J. Public Econ. 2011, 95, 476–487. [CrossRef]
- Alkire, S.; Kanagaratnam, U.; Suppa, N. *The Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2018*; OPHI MPI Methodological Notes 46; Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, University of Oxford: Oxford, UK, 2018.
- Larrú, J.M. Poverty Index: Welfarist and Multidimensional Approaches. In No Poverty. Encyclopedia of the UN Sustainable Development Goals; Leal Filho, W., Azul, A., Brandli, L., Lange Salvia, A., Özuyar, P., Wall, T., Eds.; Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2020.
- 41. Green, W.H. Econometric Analysis, 5th ed.; New York University: New York, NY, USA; Prentice Hall: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2003.
- Alkire, S.; Kanagaratnam, U.; Vollmer, F. Interlinkages between Multidimensional Poverty and Electricity: A Study Using the Global Multidimensional Poverty Index; The Rockefeller Foundation and Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative: Oxford, UK, 2021.
- 43. IEA. World Energy Outlook 2020; International Energy Agency: Paris, France, 2021.
- Government of Sierra Leone. Sierra Leone Multidimensional Poverty Index 2019; UNDP and Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative: Oxford, UK, 2019.
- Dash, A.K. Does foreign aid influence economic growth? Evidence from South Asian countries. *Transnatl. Corp. Rev.* 2021. [CrossRef]
- 46. Herzer, D.; Grimm, M. Does foreign aid increase private investment? Evidence from panel cointegration. *Appl. Econ.* **2012**, *44*, 2537–2550. [CrossRef]
- 47. Porteus, O. Research Deserts and Oases: Evidence from 27 Thousand Economics Journal Articles on Africa. Working Paper. 2020. Available online: https://sites.google.com/site/oporteous/research (accessed on 15 October 2020).
- 48. Shao, J.; Wang, J.M. Revisiting Economic Effectiveness of Foreign Aid: The Case of Japanese Aid to China. *The World Economy* **2021**, in press. [CrossRef]
- Dreher, A.; Fuchs, A.; Hodler, R.; Parks, B.C.; Raschky, P.A.; Tierney, M.J. African leaders and the geography of China's foreign assistance. J. Dev. Econ. 2019, 140, 44–71. [CrossRef]



Article Contributions of Intercultural Socioenvironmental Justice to the 2030 Agenda in the Colombian Caribbean

Juan Antonio Senent-De Frutos¹ and Johana Herrera Arango^{2,3,*}

- Department of Humanities and Philosophy, Universidad Loyola Andalucía, 41704 Seville, Spain; jasenent@uloyola.es
- ² Doctorate Program in Inclusive and Sustainable Development, Universidad Loyola Andalucía, 41704 Seville, Spain
- ³ School of Rural and Environmental Studies, Pontificia Universidad Javeriana, Bogotá 110231, Colombia
- * Correspondence: jherreraarango@al.uloyola.es; Tel.: +34-677106231

Abstract: The 2030 Agenda has influenced the design of public policies in Colombia and other countries in the region, but there are many gaps in the way a global policy can be interpreted and adapted to the territories. Thus, this article aims to critically evaluate the public policy of sustainability implemented in the Colombian Caribbean and to suggest contributions from an intercultural socioenvironmental justice perspective. For this purpose, the public policy of sustainability that orients the plans for the use of insular ecosystems in Cartagena de Indias has been examined and confronted with local evidence that shows significant changes in the forms of life and ecological degradation in multi-temporally analysed coverages. Methodologically, this research is based on three aspects: the theoretical discussion of the notions of sustainability and justice in public policies, spatial databases to analyse the transformation of landscapes and ethnographic work with Afro-descendant peoples to recognise their socioecological systems. We found that the public policy of territorial planning aligned with the 2030 Agenda nominally includes a rights approach, but management practices or governance structures do not consider the very high asymmetry in land tenure, the growing private and non-participatory regulation of coasts and the sea or the exclusion of Afro-descendant peoples who claim tenure and autonomy rights. Then, we propose integrated dimensions of sustainability that overcome the socioecological negativity observed and articulate criteria of intercultural justice in public, social and environmental policies.

Keywords: sustainability; socioenvironmental justice; interculturality; 2030 Agenda; Colombian Caribbean; common goods; Afro-descendants

1. Introduction

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are an ambitious set of 17 goals and 169 targets that were defined and developed through an unprecedented conversation between UN member states and local authorities, civil society, the private sector and other stakeholders. Several researchers have analysed the implementation criteria and contextualisation at the regional and local scales [1–3]. In the Caribbean, for example, as a result of analyses of social inequality, socioenvironmental conflict and institutional weakness, it is imperative to adequately localise the SDGs by recognising existing barriers in local and regional governments and the deficit in social participation in development policies [4,5]. One of the most neglected issues in sustainability policies is the relationship between the rights of Caribbean coastal and fishing communities and the protection of marine life (SDG 14). A dualistic analysis seems to prevail that places ocean conservation on one side and the rights of fishing populations that face the rigorous challenges of climate variability on the other side. Studies such as Haughton [6] and Clay & Olson [7] have already noted the decline of fisheries and the impoverishment of communities that are highly dependent on the sea.

Citation: Senent-De Frutos, J.A.; Herrera Arango, J. Contributions of Intercultural Socioenvironmental Justice to the 2030 Agenda in the Colombian Caribbean. *Land* 2022, *11*, 835. https://doi.org/10.3390/ land11060835

Academic Editor: Thomas Panagopoulos

Received: 9 May 2022 Accepted: 29 May 2022 Published: 2 June 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). It is important to recognise that the meanings that have been assigned to sustainability are diverse, so it is necessary to identify the concepts and practices that underlie policies that adopt notions of sustainable development in their design and implementation [1,8]. A case that allows for a critical examination of the scope of sustainability is the Colombian Caribbean, a region in which various policies overlap. On the one hand, the state has reinforced protected areas in marine–coastal ecosystems, and on the other hand, on the same coasts, real estate and hotel growth has led to a relaxation of the land market and the issuance of environmental licences that have enabled large parts of the coastlines to be transformed into areas of urban expansion for tourism use. Both conservation and hotel growth policies have generated a framework of conflict with local communities that aspire to have their rights to land and sea recognised and, thus, to facilitate their equitable participation in the decisions that transform the region and compromise their present and future way of life.

The case of Barú shows that the struggle for sustainability—that is, the effort to make a community's way of life viable and enduring in an integral sense—is not the same as sustained or sustainable development in the terms in which public policy offers it to local communities. Tourism, conservation and real estate growth on the coasts, as will be shown, are aligned with the interpretation that the Colombian policy model applies to sustainable development. Therefore, differentiating sustainable development from sustainability is crucial [9], because the data show that the model adopted on the Caribbean coasts is unsustainable from a human and ecological point of view. The search for sustainability implies sociohistorical reflexivity regarding what is viable and what is not. Additionally, sustainability is not merely instrumental [10], since the subjects have built a model of occupation and use of nature that is based on the feasibility or reproducibility of their way of life, knowledge of the biophysical environment, commitment to future generations and affirmation of their way of life in the midst of many adversities.

In this context, the objectives of this research are: first, to critically evaluate the public policy of sustainability in the Caribbean, especially those related to the planning and management of coasts and seas; second, to analyse the changes in the island's ecosystems based on a multitemporal study that enables a biophysical verification of the state of the ecosystems and drivers of transformation; third, to delve into the systems of use of Afrodescendant people who inhabit the island and their perceptions and interactions with the public policies that are implemented in the region; fourth, to articulate an analytical framework of intercultural socioenvironmental justice that we consider necessary after analysis of the public policies and empirical evidence from the case study; and fifth, to offer analytical and practical guidelines for public policy to more adequately assemble the ecological, social and cultural sustainability, with a serious consideration of the socioecological systems and rights of communities that are affected by the design of public and private development strategies that tend to be imposed. Thus, this research presents an in-depth analysis of a conceptual framework to analyse how certain public policies of the Colombian state apply to these territories and their implications at the biophysical, social and cultural levels in regions such as the Caribbean with ecological fragility and settlements of ancestral peoples along the coasts. Achieving sustainability requires a more horizontal understanding that takes into account the socio-diverse communities that can contribute to the goals of the 2030 Agenda.

Beyond a common dispute in the sphere of environmental governance, the Caribbean shows that these problems involve profound social differences and various actors' valuations of the nature of common goods and how to incorporate them into economic development and conservation models. The processes of conservation and real estate development in the hotel sector are advancing in parallel with public policies that enable their consolidation. However, the agenda for the recognition of collective tenure rights is not advancing, even though Colombia ratified the ILO Convention 169 on the rights of indigenous and tribal peoples in 1991. Regardless of its legal commitments, the state has implemented a regressive approach in interpreting and recognising communities of the islands and Caribbean coasts that do not have legal security for their lands or areas of preferential use. This approach has generated intercultural conflict, because policies developed under the protection of discourses that pretend to combine sustainability and development do not respect the historical rights of these communities, leading to asymmetrical intercultural conflict between the state and traditional communities. Thus, the situation of legal pluralism that is expressed in Caribbean coastal communities' own rights and in the legal capacity of the state is not equitable.

There are two distinct cultural strategies. On the one hand, the state, together with the private sector, dissociates conservation and economic growth from the collective rights of the communities that have ancestrally inhabited the coasts. On the other hand, the strategy of the communities does not dissociate the conservation of nature from the practice of their rights in their way of life, which has coexisted with the marine–coastal ecosystems and, despite certain limitations, allowed them to harmonise their practices with ecological sustainability to a great degree. Responses to the challenge of environmental conservation, together with the promotion of dignified ways of life, lead to diverse cultural strategies that articulate different social identities, which must be examined for both correctness and sustainability before nature, society and equity with other communities are affected by the strategies.

2. Theoretical Framework

2.1. Environmental Crisis and Conservation in Coastal–Marine-Protected Areas

While biodiversity conservation is a necessity to ensure the structure and functionality of ecosystems [11], it must always be linked to the needs of local stakeholders and their historical or circumstantial relationship with areas affected by protected area declarations [12]. In the follow-up to SDG 14, the seas and marine resources are recognised as a key indicator insofar as the oceans cover three-quarters of the Earth's surface, support 5% of global GDP, directly and indirectly generate nearly 200 million jobs and, therefore, have the potential to contribute to food security [13].

Climate change, overfishing, marine pollution and a growing list of other anthropogenic factors threaten the oceans. Many marine environments are approaching or have reached their critical tipping points, and rising ocean temperatures and sea levels are projected to push ecosystems to their points of no return. This trend has been clear since the first global integrated assessment of the marine environment, and it is even more pronounced in the data presented in the most recent UN assessment [14,15]. Among the environmental problems of greatest concern for the use of the sea are aggregations of *Sargassum* algae (*Sargassum natans* and *fluitans* species) [16].

From the perspective of ocean use, a Lancet report details the variations and increases in the sea surface temperature, which pose a threat to seafood productivity, in the territorial waters of 95 countries [17]. In fact, the catch of marine fish has decreased since 1988, while the production of farmed fish has increased. This contrasts with the per capita fish consumption, which has increased steadily since 1960; in fact, the report notes that approximately 3.3 billion people, especially those living in coastal countries, depend on seafood. Regarding coastal countries, such as those of the Greater Caribbean, the Lancet report states that, of the 146 million people living in coastal areas, 27% are living in minimal development conditions.

2.2. Intercultural Socioenvironmental Justice and Territorial Rights

We consider it necessary to introduce and articulate a third dimension, intercultural justice, in addition to the dimensions of social and environmental justice, in a visible and operative way. These three dimensions are operationalised in the analysis of public policy, the transformation of ecosystems and the social impact of communities, along with their contributions to the SDG targets, since their ways of life and sustainable practices are based on nearly three centuries of historical experience on the island.

Thus, intercultural justice requires a context of social and cultural pluralism. This implies the right of communities or peoples who have a different way of life because of a historical practice of cultural self-determination not to be discriminated against in comparison to other social actors who may in fact be favoured by public development policies. Additionally, they have the right to be actors in their own model of human development. This implies not only consultations on public decisions that affect their territory and way of life but also the capacity to make autonomous decisions about these issues.

At the same time, the systematic articulation of socioenvironmental justice with intercultural justice makes it possible to recognise and evaluate the specific contributions and responsibilities of each group and its way of life or development in terms of the common challenges of society and humanity as a whole, as well as the ecological challenges of the planet. Therefore, the intended corrections of the demands of different groups or social actors must be evaluated systematically and considered in an integrated and inseparable manner for the sake of internal equity and equity within the group itself and correctness in relation to nature and ecological sustainability. Additionally, it must not prevent other sustainable ways of life of groups affected by their own demands or the particular intended model of social development [10].

In recent decades, a growing global awareness of inequities in human development for broad sectors of global society and an ecological crisis at the planetary level has emerged. The two problems can no longer be perceived or addressed in an unconnected manner, since public responses at different scales should not prescribe strategies dividing these two dimensions that negatively affect social existence. Therefore, we must consider a socioenvironmental crisis that, in various ways, weakens and threatens natural life and human ways of life, especially among social groups that suffer the greatest inequalities. This requires not only a factual but also an ethical recognition of the interdependence between nature and human communities. The articulation of just and sustainable relations within each society also requires the recognition of a sphere of duties towards nature and other living beings. However, precisely because of this interdependence, damage to nature also affects communities, especially the poorest and most vulnerable, and their sustainability [18]. Therefore, social justice today goes hand-in-hand with environmental justice, forming an inseparable construct.

In this context, we briefly point out some milestones where demands for justice have articulated and integrated social and environmental justice due to the inseparable correlation with human existence.

Environmental justice implies analysing the historical configuration of a territory, identifying the link between the ecological and political structures of environmental conflicts and carefully reviewing the economic, political, sociocultural and historical variables that underlie environmental conflicts [19]. This process incorporates variables such as social, economic and racial equity into not only the natural base but also the ways in which the territory is created and administered [20]. In a field that seeks an equitable distribution of environmental burdens and benefits across society, therefore, individual and collective recognition of the needs, capacities and identities of the affected communities is required to ensure their effective participation in the decisions that affect them [19]. This is a precondition for a process of redistributing access to natural resources and pollution burdens.

Environmental justice is closely related to ecological distributive conflicts, since this type of conflict involves access to and regulation of a set of common goods that are disputed by various actors with unequal power relations [20,21]. Such conflict can be explained by, among other factors, the mercantilist valuation of nature that leads to regimes of the invisibility of ecosystems and those who inhabit them as imaginaries and ways of life are imposed that reduce these ecosystems and communities through an economic and exploitative rationality [22].

However, the relationships and levels of justice are not only articulated internally within each community in terms of the necessary equity among its respective members and in its dealings with nature but also must be recognised before the affected ones, before the plurality of communities and, when necessary, in terms of different ways of life. Thus, the justice that articulates each society is also at stake in "external" relations [23]. A context of social and cultural pluralism exists both internally, in states such as Colombia, and internationally. This pluralism is not usually accompanied by relations of effective mutual recognition but is crossed by forms of power that articulate the hegemony of some groups over others and that distort and prevent equity between communities and their particular identities and ways of life.

According to Rodríguez [24], Colombia has incorporated into public policy crosscutting pacts that address sustainability by proposing producing by conserving and conserving by producing. These pacts are associated with the goals of responsible production and consumption, climate action (SDG 13), the life of terrestrial ecosystems (SDG 15) and affordable and non-polluting energy (SDG 7).

Thus, the development of public policies aligned with the 2030 Agenda, at both the national and international levels, requires the involvement of all those affected. All stake-holders should be included in the validation of development and sustainability policies, especially in regard to the management and governance of common goods, which are an essential part of the territorial rights of Afro-Colombian peoples.

The specialised literature uses the term common-pool resources to refer to a set of ecosystems that are used by groups of actors who build adaptive relationships governed by formal and informal institutions, i.e., formal as in rules and norms, such as laws, and informal as in explicit or tacit behavioural agreements [25]. The commons are characterised by the difficulty of excluding anyone from them and by the reduction in the availability of resource units as more people or groups use them [26,27]. This implies that many actors, not always under the same economic conditions or with the same possibility of exercising power, access and use or restrict the use of resources in different ways.

The theoretical debate on the effective management of common-pool resources and their sustainability covers several spectra. On the one hand, state institutionality and the promotion of centralised rules are increasing, and on the other hand, the commons are being privatised [28]. In contrast to the dichotomy of public and private, the idea of protecting collective management systems through local regulatory arrangements has emerged as a strategy for resource conservation [26,29]. It is essential to investigate the privatisation of environmental goods and services, which, in the literature, is associated with enclosures, exclusion and commodification of ecosystems, as a nodal concept in this research [30,31]. The privatisation of land for the implementation of projects that benefit groups translates into inequality [32].

In addition, the tension between collective property and private property has been the subject of interdisciplinary analyses that differentiate between property and rights to resources. On the one hand, ownership implies formality, since rules are established and protected by states [33], and although it encompasses a set of rights that qualify tenure (open access and communal property), it can be classified as public or private [34]. Natural resources are associated with rights of access, extraction, management, exclusion, and alienation [35], which are determining factors in nested systems of use and governance. The approach based on the relationship between culture and law, such as legal pluralism, which emphasises native peoples' own laws and customary practices that articulate or clash with formal normative systems of states with multiculturalist doctrines, is no less important [22].

One of the challenges of public policy on common goods in the context of the discourses and practices of sustainability in recent years—Ostrom detailed this challenge well into the 2000s—is the inexorable task of undertaking systematic institutional evaluations given the transformations of the problems; the positions of the actors; the patterns of interaction and the adaptive rules when confronting problems of degradation of natural systems, overexploitation, corruption and marginalisation. In addition, several authors have insisted on a transdisciplinary approach to the study of the commons and its contribution to sustainability [36,37].

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. The Colombian Caribbean as a Case Study: Barú as a Collective Space since Colonial Times

In the Colombian Caribbean, the region where the empirical cases of this research are located, there are communal lands and other common-pool resources, such as savannah and low-tide areas in the insular zone. Geographical, environmental, legal and economic studies have pointed out that these areas are characterised by richness in the functionality of their ecosystems and by being the ancestral lands of ethnic groups, mostly Afro-descendant populations [38]. However, these studies have considered the privatisation of spaces for community use and the degradation of resources that provide sustenance to native populations, particularly access to water, to be among the main problems [39,40]. In summary, the irruption of private use of collective territories is an important axis of discussion in the study of the sustainability of common-pool resources and development models.

It is well-known that the tourism industry is important in the Caribbean [41]. Much of the degradation of mangroves and other problems detailed below is the result of excessive use of coastlines for the hotel and real estate industries, which have represented and commodified the Caribbean as uninhabited leisure beaches [42]. One of these emblematic places is the island of Barú, located south of Cartagena. It is a region that has historically experienced tension between native populations and other private and state actors. Almost all disputes are related to the use, distribution, control of and access to environmental goods and services in the continental area and in the extensive marine space that constitutes the territoriality of the *baruleros*. This space is a maritorium, in the term of Ivelic & Segura [43], meaning a habitable sea without land as a limit or an obstacle.

To plan urban and rural land use in Colombia, regional governments have created land use plans and development plans. These instruments have served as the basis for the incorporation of the SDGs into local governance and are, to a great extent, the basis for the report that the state is preparing to follow up on the adoption of the 2030 Agenda in its domestic policy. A review of the Land Use Plan of Cartagena de Indias, one of the most important cities in the country and the Greater Caribbean, shows that its political, economic, and the administrative planning model is disconnected from the socioecological reality of the islands and coastal areas, because, among other reasons, it does not recognise that these are spaces inhabited by native communities. This plan was formulated 21 years ago, and recent studies have estimated that it is an insufficient instrument for 72.7% (32 out of 44) of the evaluated items [44].

Barú was not an island until 1649, when it was separated from the mainland by the construction of the Dique Canal. It is surrounded by the Bay of Cartagena and the Bay of Barbacoas and is inhabited by five Afro-descendant communities organised through legal instruments that have existed in Colombia since the proclamation of Law 70 of 1993, also known as the Black Communities Law. The immediate context is the Corales del Rosario National Natural Park, which, today, has 120,000 hectares of mangrove forests on the coastline and marine area under this figure of protection and is mainly in the immediate vicinity of the community of Barú¹. Since 2009, the inhabitants of this region have led important organisational movements in efforts to inscribe their ways of life, their territories and their political stakes in the framework of identity politics [45].

Anthropologist Carlos Duran broadly analysed the importance of the organisational life of the *baruleros* and the early achievement of the seven *caballerías* of land that today represent, above all, a symbolic foundation of a struggle that has not ceased². Duran (2007) affirmed that the community was organised around social, economic and cultural dynamics that differ from those propagated by the mestizo nation of capitalist development. The community continues to have serious difficulties in being recognised by the state for various reasons, including the rebellious character of the *palenqueros* and *arrochelados* [46].

In 1851, the year in which slavery was abolished in Colombia, the Afro-descendant settlers of Barú bought seven *caballerías* that were part of this territory; the local community retains the memory of the immense work that it undertook to pay the 1200 pesos that were the price of these lands. Wilmer Gómez, a leader and cultural manager of the community,

affirmed, "These lands were bought by 5 neighbours of Barú in representation of the whole community; they bought them on 19 June 1850, and finished paying on 27 May 1851". The collective character of these lands fell on the acquired *caballerías*, where these five *baruleros* yielded, renounced and transferred in favour of all the inhabitants of the town the right to use and enjoy them. The public deed itself states that "the mentioned lands in no time can become private property, nor patrimony of any person or family".

In this way, access to land was guaranteed for the entire community located in Figure 1 in an attempt to avoid what would inevitably happen years later: the individual appropriation of land. Today, Barú has a population of approximately 3000, and communal lands are scarce. The people live on an estuary protected by mangroves amidst coasts that have been privatised for the use of hotels and the luxury houses of people from outside the community. Their main common good is the Caribbean Sea, since fishing and sailing are historical practices of this community.



Figure 1. Location of Barú in the Caribbean.

Faced with the imminent loss of land and marine areas, in 2017, the community of Barú asked the Colombian state to award it approximately 2400 hectares as collective lands and requested that the state recognise the coasts and the sea as areas of preferential use. Community leaders inventoried the main fishing areas and estimated for at least 19,000 miles the areas of maritime use for navigation routes, links with neighbouring peoples and, in general, the sustenance of their ways of life. After many legal and social tensions, the Colombian state has still not responded substantively to the community's request, which is inexplicable given that this community has been present in the territory for more than 300 years and has a property deed dating back to 1851. The state claims that this deed is no longer valid and that, today, the entire island is owned by people who are mostly from outside the community [47].

3.2. Methodology

The methodological strategy combined spatial analysis of coverage; analysis of cadastral mapping for tenure status and structures; fieldwork guided by focus groups, semistructured interviews and questionnaires [48] and a documentary review of Caribbean environmental public policy aligned with the 2030 Agenda. All interviewees were fully informed about the scope and main objective of the research, as well as the subsequent use and dissemination of the collected information. Prior to the interviews and focus groups, voluntary and informed consent was requested, and the anonymity and privacy of the interviewees were guaranteed. In the community of Barú, there are currently approximately 250 fishermen, all men; fieldwork was carried out with 142 fishermen and other members of the community who are authorities of the community council. A total of 4 focus groups and 22 interviews were conducted between July and August 2021, differentiating fishermen associations and specialties by type of fishing practice and fishing gear (divers, live-bait fishing, medium and large species fishing—Serranidae family—and mollusc gatherers).

In this methodological design, various techniques were used to identify and contrast qualitative, spatial and documentary information. Thus, different levels and scales of analysis were used to identify which approaches to sustainability are followed by environmental public policies in the Colombian Caribbean and what the associated practices and effects are (see Table A4 in Appendix A). For this purpose, the results of fieldwork with fishermen's organisations and leaders of the ethnic authorities of Barú allowed us to contrast the ways in which the city's management plans, coastal area management plans and ocean regulation plans have been operationalised. Additionally, policy frameworks have been formulated since 2011 and reformulated under the guidelines of Agenda 2030 in 2015 and 2021. Likewise, an ecosystemic analysis was based on a review of the state of land cover on the island that emerged from the spatial analysis. The results are presented according to the prioritisation of dimensions of justice for the analysis.

In the spatial analysis, this region emerged as a diverse coastal landscape with ecosystems of high conservation value, such as mangroves and tropical dry forest. These ecosystems are increasingly vulnerable due to tenure and use conflicts that were documented in the research from satellite images of 1987, 2004 and 2017 available for processing and analysis through ArcGIS software and contrasted with other research from the region [47,49,50].

4. Results

The results of this research are structured in three levels of analysis according to the objectives. First, the ethnographic work provided an in-depth reading of the social and ecological conflicts that have worsened with the new public policy models that favour conservation, real estate and hotel growth on the island but do not advance with equal speed in recognising the territorial rights of the Afro-descendant population. The next level of structuring of the results details the quantitative biophysical evidence of land cover transformation, mainly the transition from natural coverage to intervened areas that show the degradation of essential natural systems for the livelihoods of local communities and the ecological stability of the island. Consequently, we show the findings of the critical review of public policy on sustainability at the national and regional levels, the goals of the Colombian state in terms of SDGs and the policy frameworks that were designed with a rights-based approach on the surface but disintegrate social, environmental and cultural criteria in practice

4.1. Socioecological Conflict from the Actors' Point of View

Many of the conflicts that have made Barú a centre of disputes over land, coasts and natural resources have to do with the imbalance in the state's regulation of the rights of use of native populations. Individual tenure and collective tenure rights are in serious confrontation. Márquez [38], Bolaños et al. [47] and the Observatorio de Territorios Étnicos [51] typified the main conflicts in Barú and proposed differentiating those originating from land sales from those originating from private and state investment projects, such as the creation of the Corales del Rosario National Natural Park. In addition, the influence of private actors must be considered given the tourism boom and the construction of luxury houses since the late 1970s.

Today, the island of Barú is a landscape in which the dispossession and enclosure of the public is palpable, as stated by its inhabitants and as shown by the aerial photographs on Figure 2. The inhabitants have lost the best beaches and access to the sea, which has uprooted a community of fishermen and damaged the socioecological systems of fishing and agriculture. Both agriculture and fishing production declined in the 1980s, when land sales increased, national park restrictions and prohibitions were strictly enforced and the inhabitants of Barú found new jobs in tourism and hotel construction. The testimonies summarised in Table 1 show the tensions that are real obstacles to a sustainability agenda that exists only in public policy documents and the discursive framework of the state.



Figure 2. Community use areas on Barú Island. Sources: Spatial analysis of Google Earth images (2021) processed in ArcGIS.

Dimensions of Justice	Ecological	Social	Intercultural
Changes perceived by the local community related to territorial conflicts	In Barú, everyone was a fisherman. Until the 1990s, the average fisherman caught up to 10 kilos, and 20 kilos in the most productive months. Species such as jack mackerel and snapper were available with little catch effort. As there were no tourist boats or jet skis, there was little noise in the sea, and the fish were not chased away. Yes, there were luxury houses on the coasts, but they had not closed the mangrove swamp, nor had they prohibited the people from approaching the ports to catch live bait. What affected fishing the most is that the luxury houses and hotels made artificial beaches and removed sea grasses, causing serious damage. Additionally, agriculture has decreased by 80%, according to the focus group: <i>"Barú Island became one of the</i> <i>main suppliers of agricultural</i> <i>products to Cartagena; we</i> <i>regularly sent boats and sailboats</i> <i>with tomatoes, loquats and</i> <i>bananas"</i> .	The arrival of new inhabitants to the island generated many changes in the forms of local organisation. Most shocking was that the native population was considered cheap labour, and their historical presence and way of life were not valued. The new owners of the island closed the beach areas that had always been spaces for community use. Most properties with access to the sea to which wealthy families from the interior of the country arrived meant the loss of the coast, the beach, and the mangroves because these owners did not allow the presence of the natives except for those who were hired for service work. The community does not understand why the state allowed beaches, coasts, and mangroves to be appropriated by private individuals and hotels.	Local communities enjoy constitutional recognition and differential rights. The community authorities know this and enforce it, but in very asymmetrical contexts of power. A leader commented in the focus group, "As authorities of the territory, we are called to prior consultation. It is a right and an obligation of the state to carry it out for any project on the island that affects us. The problem is that the consultation has become a procedure for the community to approve the project; we are not considered, and the project cannot be modified even when we have warned that it could be harmful to the community. That is why many people say that prior consultation is a mere formality". This ignoring of the subjectivity of the fishermen and, in general, of the entire native community. According to the loss of identity references as a community. According to the focus group, "Already many young people want to be employees of the hotels and are not interested in the history and life project of the community".

Table 1. Synthesis of focus groups with fishermen.

Sources: Data obtained during fieldwork, 2021.

In contrast to the narratives and perceptions of fishermen and community members, the state has prioritised other dimensions of the SDG targets on the basis of a technocratic and instrumental knowledge system that involves little dialogue with local and ecological realities such as those of Barú. The follow-up report of the Colombian state presented in 2021 is proof [13]. In this report, the SDGs with the greatest progress are 6 (clean water and sanitation), 8 (decent work and economic growth) and 14 (undersea life). However, fieldwork and the interpretation of satellite images show that in the region analysed, there is no access to aqueducts or sewage systems, and employment of the population is reduced to sporadic hiring in the hotel sector, so SDGs 6 and 8 are still far from the targets. Regarding SDG 14, as explained in Section 4.3. the Colombian government reported some targets as being 100% in compliance by focusing its analysis only on the creation of protected areas.

4.2. Ecosystem Status

Regarding ecological sustainability, the data are convincing. Table 2 shows that coastal land cover has decreased in terms of shrublands and floodable forests, while the urban fabric and recreational facilities have grown. Highly floodable forests showed a recovery in 2017 due to community reforestation processes and the actions of environmental authorities. In the marine area, artisanal fishing spots went from 98 to only 10 fishing areas where this

activity can be practised. That is, between 1987 and 2021, the community lost access to approximately 90% of its marine territory.

Table 2. Hedging analysis.

Land Cover	1987 (Ha)	2004 (Ha)	2017 (Ha)
Dense shrubland	1,081,833	851,562	419,169
Dense highly floodable forest	1,002,868	765,026	850,652
Recreational facilities	0	26,069	31,482
Discontinuous urban fabric	0	14,823	60,530

Sources: D satellite images of 1987, 2004 and 2017 available for processing and analysis through ArcGIS software.

The environmental analysis used satellite images from 1987, 2004 and 2017 to create multitemporal documentation of land-cover changes evidencing the loss of natural covers such as dense shrubs (tropical dry forest) and dense highly floodable forests (mangroves) and an increase in artificial covers such as recreational facilities and discontinuous urban fabric. Table 1 shows the evolution of private establishments closely related to the invasion of traditional community lands. This pattern of privatisation in coastal areas has direct impacts on the community's livelihood systems, as the Barú people are essentially a fishing community that currently has restricted access to maritime areas.

According to the fieldwork, what best explains the loss of access to fishing resources is a combination of environmental regulations, the tourism boom and the consolidation of hotels and luxury houses that have privatised the coasts and navigation lines.

Figure 2 shows that most of the areas available to the community are in the interior of the island. Regarding the traditional roads that show access to the sea, three are in dispute with private owners from outside the community. The map shows that, except for the extreme southeast (points 21 and 22 on the map), there are no places for community use on the edges of the sea.

4.3. Competing Strategies and Governance

National public policies and local governance instruments in the Caribbean incorporate a rights-based approach at the rhetorical level, i.e., they are formulated with inclusive language, but in practice, there is no intercultural dialogue. For example, the Land Management Plan (POT for the Spanish acronym)³ takes a general perspective that the territory is an attractive platform on which to structure an economic development model but neglects other dimensions of sustainability. In this framework, any development is subordinated to the guarantee and viability of national and regional objectives. The general objective for Cartagena is stated as follows: "to ensure its vocation as a tourist center of the Caribbean, a competitive international port and an industrial city that promotes the reactivation of the rural area and favours the development of commerce and support services for the productive sectors" [52].

The planning and land use instruments mention "strengthening and integration of cultural identity" and "integration of the environmental dimension", but the loss of the identity of Afro-Caribbean communities is becoming increasingly serious and could be irreversible within a few years, as shown by anthropological studies in this region [38,40,46] It seems senseless to subordinate the cultural identity of the native communities to their previous integration, to the governmental system and to the actions and macroprojects of the POT. How can native communities be valued in this way? Is the POT or the institutional planning of rural space a possible scenario of articulation to process disputes over common goods? The displacement of activities due to changes in land use has forced the inhabitants to modify or disregard their ancestral practices.

The collapse of agriculture and fishing in favour of tourism or jobs in large companies has radically changed ways of life in Afro-descendant communities. The general objectives of the POT are a proposal for the development of rural and suburban land to facilitate territorial integration and articulation between different economic sectors of the district, with the rural component inserted into and subordinate to the general component of the plan. Such territorial integration points to a standardisation of models and regulations that is contrary to the rights-based approaches that these public policies rhetorically claim to follow. Empirical evidence shows that the articulation of different territorialities and ways of life is not sought; rather, the approach is to subordinate the territoriality of the natives to a general planning vision.

The guarantee of development of the life plans and use models that the communities seek to defend remains uncertain, limiting the implementation of their own or local forms of planning with greater levels of autonomy in the management of ecosystems. The constitutional rights of Afro-descendant communities appear to be insufficient; they are in open conflict with the objectives and planning systems that are said to be inclusive and aligned with the 2030 Agenda. These communities have access to the management plans only as guests who are invited to discuss territorial distributions and systems of use, as stated in the focus groups in Table 1. There is no figure or space where there is a dialogue on the initial objectives to be resolved by the planning. This fissure is especially problematic in relation to Afro-descendant communities with widely recognised rights. There is no recognition that governance is a function of the self-determination process.

The 2030 Agenda in the Colombian Caribbean Sea

Colombia has a robust strategy for the implementation of the SDGs⁴. It has a system of strategies, monitoring, reporting and accountability that is based on dialogue with stakeholders in the different territories of the nation. In formal terms, the strategy is well-conceived in terms of operability and access to information. However, it could be improved if a model of intercultural environmental justice were adopted in socioecological spaces that require it, for example, in community territories of the Caribbean, spaces of common use or public goods inhabited by native communities that, in most cases, have not received formal recognition of their presence.

Colombia presented a follow-up report on compliance with the SDGs up to 2021. The overall percentage of SDG progress in Colombia was 72.58%, according to the official report recently published by the government [13], with 54.83% progress towards the 2030 target. The goals with the greatest lag in terms of meeting the annual targets were SDG 2 (zero hunger), 10 (reducing inequalities) and 13 (climate action). Surprisingly, SDG 14 was the only one for which 100% progress towards the annual target and the 2030 target had been achieved. This is due to the strong conservationist approach to constructing the indicators of this commitment. The indicators measured the percentage of marine water monitoring stations with an acceptable to optimal Marine Water Quality Index (MWQI) category and hectares of marine protected areas. Although these are highly relevant indicators, there was no measurement of the processes of social appropriation of the seas, the sustenance of marine life for artisanal fisheries and the socioecological crisis facing the marine environment. Therefore, these parameters are incomplete, because they do not monitor the local populations that live on the sea and whose livelihoods are based on marine resources.

The Caribbean is a shared sea, since, due to its environmental and social affinities, it has been recognised as a unit by the United Nations Environment Program and, since 1992, has been called the Greater Caribbean or Caribbean Basin. As an ecosystem, it is an extensive region of the Western Atlantic that has a complex geological history. It encompasses the entire Gulf of Mexico and the northern coast of Brazil [53].

Public policies within the framework of sustainability must situate the Caribbean as a unit and consider integral actions among the countries of this great basin [54]. Many factors of ecological fragility are facing this ocean owing to the influence of hydrometeorological phenomena that degrade agricultural production soils. For example, the impact of water temperature change on coral reefs has led to a phenomenon known as bleaching, which leads to the loss of the structure and functionality of corals. In addition, water pollution problems have resulted from industrial discharges, increases in the amount of solid waste and the enclosure and privatisation of beaches and coastlines, which affect the structure and functionality of ecosystems, especially due to tourism.

The impacts of the degradation of natural systems are perceived in the livelihoods of the Caribbean population, and the collapse of fishing systems that have generated serious food security problems since the 1980s is of concern. Dependence on food imports ranged from 40% to 70% in Caribbean countries as of 2021, according to FAO data [55]. Therefore, it is not surprising that hunger is increasing in coastal areas and that SDG 2 has the greatest lag in Colombia.

5. Discussion

To move towards a sustainability that integrates the dimensions of justice, it is convenient to start at the beginning: understanding the territorial reality of the communities and establishing consensual objectives and plans. The shortcomings of Cartagena's territorial and environmental planning instruments should therefore be addressed and resolved in any proposal to be approved in participatory scenarios guided by intercultural socioenvironmental justice. For this reason, the following is a discussion of imbalances in the sustainability model that Colombian public policy has designed and applied in this part of the Caribbean, taking the case into account to suggest and support improvements in the model.

5.1. A Disappearing Way of Life

Artisanal fishing is the basis of the *baruleros'* traditional knowledge of the sea and navigation. However, fishing is in crisis in much of the Caribbean. Variations in water temperature, agrochemical pollution, urbanisation without environmental planning, the removal of marine ecosystems and, finally, tourism are some of the causes that have been pointed out by experts on the subject, who identify fish as one of the most threatened taxonomic groups in the area [56].

In Barú, conflicts over common goods or natural resources are caused by access to legitimate tenure rights in the face of actions that may threaten them, as stated by the FAO: "Private and collective tenure are limited by the rights of others and by measures adopted by States for purposes of general interest. Such measures should be determined by law only for the purpose of promoting the common welfare, in particular the protection of the environment" [57].

Not even the creation of the protected area has allowed sea grasses and corals to recover. In fact, highly conflictive situations have arisen between natives and park authorities due to the unequal application of environmental legislation. As Gudynas stated [58], environmental conflict involves the availability of and access to natural resources and is framed within confrontations that occur in the public space between organised collective actors with different environmental perceptions, values or perspectives. Such conflict undoubtedly involves states and their environmental policies.

All these conflicts have the same effect, and the privatisation of public lands, whether reserved wastelands and/or places of traditional use by the *baruleros*, is an authentic spatial injustice. According to spatial and cadastral data, the main land sales in areas of special environmental protection have occurred in places that have access to the sea, generating mangrove clearing and filling of marshes and other bodies of water.

All of this has serious implications for the conservation of ecosystem services, as the filling of beaches and cutting of mangroves have direct effects on the general state of the ecosystems that contribute to the maintenance of fisheries, the containment of coastal erosion and the conservation of biodiversity in permanent or temporary habitats for important species.

One of the major problems of the tourism boom on the island is the change in rural land use on the lands that are the traditional territory of Barú. The public policies through which these decisions are adopted allow the development of diverse economic activities in the territories. In 1993, 140 hectares of the island were declared a tourist-free zone. In 2005,
the national government issued guidelines for the country's largest tourism project in the Playa Blanca sector, which has generated many conflicts between the state, businesspeople and natives over ownership of the land and use of the beaches, which are essential to one of the traditional livelihoods of many families in the native communities.

As of 2021, more than 45 public–private investment projects had been identified on the island; of these, the inhabitants considered that 30 were generating greater pressure on the limited spaces available for the natives. Even with the achievements in prior consultation as a protection mechanism, the businesspeople–state–communities relationship continues to be very unequal, as do the environmental impacts and contradictions, with respect to the possibility of safeguarding territorial rights and local governance of natural resources.

The rise of tourism has proletarianised the islanders' way of life, which was formerly autonomous. This implies dependence for the inhabitants on the companies that have control over the economic activity and, therefore, implies an asymmetrical social relationship. Thus, we can recognise greater justice in a greater capacity for self-determination in the economic sphere not only in a political and cultural sense but also in real equality for these members of society in relation to other actors.

Fieldwork with the fishermen of Barú has enabled us to accompany the reflective exercises led by the community authorities (community council) from a collaborative approach based on academic knowledge. Although the capacity of scientific work in political transformations is limited, the results of this type of research contribute instruments and other points of view to the advocacy strategies of the communities with the state, the private sector and their own members.

5.2. Half-Hearted Justice

The Barú community was closed to outsiders for decades after the collective title was granted in 1851. The strategy was to conserve the territory: to remain and not give outsiders an opportunity to take it, even if this implied some drastic measures. Barú community leader Wilmer Gómez recalled, "At that time there were only *baruleros* in the territory because they would not let you marry outsiders. It was like a condition to maintain the territory" (interview, 2021). This helped to strengthen community life, as reflected in agrofood practices where planting was done without wires and with natural boundaries such as painted trees. In Barú, it is said that, at least until 1940, people owned the harvest but not the land; the land belonged to everyone [46].

Together and on a daily basis, the inhabitants were defining the community use of places within and outside the town. The coconut bonanza began at the end of the 1860s and lasted for more than 80 years. It not only energised the economic life of the inhabitants but also became a strategy for the occupation and settlement of neighbouring lands, such as Islas del Rosario and the San Bernardo Archipelago, where *barulero* farmers arrived to plant and care for the crops and then settled permanently [46].

The coconut crisis in 1950 reinforced fishing and the arrival of large tourism investors to buy the lands of peasants who were desperate because of large losses on their farms and the lack of state support. This situation generated the main conflicts that still exist today in the region. These conflicts are based on socioenvironmental inequality in accessing the best ecologically endowed areas: access to fresh water, access to beaches, better-drained areas and the presence of mangroves and other forest cover.

At present, the native communities of Barú and the neighbouring islands that have participated in prior consultation scenarios believe that reformulating the public policy of sustainable development is indispensable, since it does not fit in the same equation as promoting private investment and conservation areas and excluding local communities. That is not what the 2030 Agenda is about or what the SDGs are aiming for. The commodification of ecosystems that reinforces inequality does not contribute to sustainability.

In this reformulation or reimagining of public policies for sustainable development, based on Ostrom's postulates [26], access to information is crucial. For example, local communities must have comprehensive data to understand the implications of state and

native community lands for multinational hotel companies. If access to information is partial and unbalanced as a result of ill-considered prior consultations between the state, private actors and the community, as Ostrom stated, actors must make choices based on incomplete knowledge of all possible alternatives and their likely outcomes.

All this occurs in a contradictory universe, since the Colombian government promotes private investment as a way for the country's economy to recover in the post-conflict scenario but neglects the socioenvironmental conflict resulting from the privatisation of common goods [59]. In the design of policies that are aligned with the 2030 Agenda, false social inclusion is evident since the autonomy of Afro-descendant communities is recognised. However, the participation and information of these communities are limited in the scenarios of large tourism investments in their ancestral lands. This design creates a whole arsenal for new social and ecological conflicts.

Thus, a problematising look at sustainability policy in the terms that intercultural socioenvironmental justice demands can contribute to the repertoires of Afro-descendant social movements, which generally address land claims and biodiversity conservation in an articulated manner. Currently, the main social movement in Colombia is the Proceso de Comunidades Negras (PCN for the Spanish acronym), which has managed to reposition the policy of collective land titling in the framework of the Peace Accord [60] and generated scientifically informed positions on climate vulnerability and the contribution of peoples to biodiversity conservation⁵. The community of Barú has participated in political processes promoted by the PCN, but the movement's interest in the situation of coastal peoples and their claims for rights to the use of the sea remains scarce. Thus, this research can find areas of debate that contribute to the necessary transformations of environmental governance in the Caribbean.

5.3. Guidelines for Bringing Intercultural Socioenvironmental Justice Closer to Agenda 2030

From a critical perspective, in the implementation of the 2030 Agenda, the negations that can arise through public governance when other actors, points of view and integrated dimensions of sustainability are marginalised must be identified. In addition, this denial must be overcome through the integration of actors, perspectives and dimensions that are treated in a disjointed manner. To this end, certain guidelines are proposed to integrate critical factors (an improvement of contextual knowledge and implemented policies) and potential factors for a new action to overcome negations.

- An expansion of the theoretical framework is necessary for the understanding of a critical analysis of SDG policies.
- (2) The social and cultural conflicts between the asymmetric actors (state, private sector, local community) existing in the territories of SDG implementation that cannot be uncovered through conventional analyses and that are reduced to public actions to achieve the SDG targets should be considered.
- (3) The implementation of policies aligned with the SDGs cannot disarticulate the systemic and co-dependent nature of the relationship between different goals and their targets.
- (4) The differentiated contributions of local communities with their own ways of life to the SDGs with respect to the contributions of states should be recognised. Therefore, it is a matter not only of allowing communities to participate but also of maintaining the capacity for the self-determination of culturally differentiated local actors in the orientation of local public policies.

In the specific case of Barú, the Colombian state is currently waiting to resolve the request for a collective title presented by the community. If the state grants this collective title, this would help provide a formal basis of recognition that would strengthen the roots, land tenure security and use of common goods from governance and integral sustainability schemes (tenure rights, recognition of the autonomy of the Afro-descendant community, dialogue between territoriality models, and the conservation of the social-ecological system).

As has been argued, Afro-Caribbean peoples do not have a vision of the territory that rejects conservation or economic growth [46]. On the contrary, they are aware of the degradation of the natural system and the decline of fishing. The arrival of the hotel and tourism sector has not only brought problems but also boosted the local economy. However, the models that have been implemented embody only partial sustainability. The community actors see the effective recognition of their rights stagnating, the ecosystem degrading and the state and other actors leaving them without the capacity to develop their own model of socioecological sustainability.

The guidelines for intercultural justice then result from the contrast between and critical examination of the two strategies: that of the state and private actors on the one hand and that of local communities on the other hand. There is intercultural justice when the way of life of the community that is affected by the public policies in question is not impeded. In a situation of power asymmetry, traditional community governance cannot be assured given the impossibility of imposing it by public coercion; thus, the recognition and cooperation of the state are required for its continuity. Although the state formally recognises the communities, at the same time, the full exercise of their rights is impeded because the state, with its conservation policies, limits the native population's access to fishing and navigation zones and favours and legitimises the introduction of new actors from the private sector, which also impedes the collective way of life.

The systematic articulation of the three dimensions illustrated in Figure 3 represents a proposal to examine and guide marine–coastal public policies aligned with the 2030 Agenda in Colombia. The case of Barú shows that at all three levels, there are obstacles that prevent the integrated achievement of sustainability.

Formal recognition Internal **Ocean conservation** of territorial rights governance tools **Possibility of** structures Identification of Access to fishing exercising specific conservation areas banks rights (tenure, use, and use Shoreline use management, Mangrove cover permit participation, access) Shoreline protection **Preservation of** Structure of dialogue Fisheries regulation coastal and marine between public use areas stakeholders environmental sustainability social sustainability intercultural sustainability

Figure 3. Variables for examining the degree of intercultural socioenvironmental justice.

Governance arrangements are supposed to be mechanisms for addressing socioenvironmental crises and problems such as ecological-distributive issues [61], the degradation of natural systems, environmental justice or overexploitation. However, the intercultural character is often omitted from these environmental governance arrangements [10]. The Colombian Caribbean shows that problems of inequity in land distribution, a lack of participation in environmental policies, unequal distribution of rights to natural resources, human rights violations, food insecurity and exclusion of communities, among other factors, hinder the implementation of truly sustainable strategies. Exercises of power are determinant in environmental governance because the allocation, control and coordination of resources are influenced by the actors favoured in decision-making [62]. The rights of authority in decision-making associated with private property, in terms of power, favour those who formally own the land [63]. According to Arrieta [49], even if the community of Barú manages to persuade the Colombian state to issue the communal property title of the island, a large part of the spaces that were formerly areas of collective use have already been privatised. Privatisation has transformed the territory biophysically and has promoted other imaginaries among local inhabitants about the beaches. as well as notions of what is public and what is restricted. This new rationality that comes with private investment and that has used deforestation for the construction of hotels and recreational houses is changing the notion of the collective and fracturing community cohesion.

The study of common goods and multilevel governance tends to be based on a restrictive political theory in the understanding of inequalities and asymmetrical systems of rules and norms. The Caribbean cases, from which progress on the SDG targets is reported, do not include an adequate characterisation of the conflicts generated by the policy itself that allow little room for manoeuvring for native populations who are witnessing the materialisation of restrictive policies that degrade their livelihoods and ways of life.

Such degradation involves marine areas, or the *maritorium* (marine territory). Oceanic spaces are socioecological systems, so they cannot be monitored exclusively on the basis of data from meteorological stations or protected areas, as is currently reported in the degree of progress towards SDG 14. These places considered inhabited seas have deteriorated owing to factors such as over-occupation of the coasts, which increases the risk of flooding for local fishing populations.

The strategies analysed (state and private actors and community) define a space that is endowed with meaning and content as a way of articulating a social presence differentiated and differentiable by the mode of political articulation (state vs. communal) and economic articulation (which divides the territory between conservable and exploitable vs. integration of economic activities on a continuum of human use and enjoyment and conservation throughout the territory). This is a model of rationality that De Certeau [64] defined as scientific sense: the knowledge of the environment that expresses dissociation between a contemplative knowledge applicable to the protected reserve area and a model of strategic rationality that is projected in the exploitable zone vs. a reproductive rationality [65] in which reproduction of community life is linked to the sustainability of the natural world.

6. Conclusions

First, we believe that current governance in the area under consideration does not integrate the environmental and social dimensions and respect for the cultural identity of local communities. Although the designs of public governance carried out thus far have mentioned the need to articulate these three dimensions in economic, industrial and social development policies, these dimensions of development, the fruits of a modernising strategy, prevail over ecological preservation, increased levels of equality and freedom for local communities and self-determination of their way of life.

Second, and in view of the above, the dimensions of ecological, social and intercultural sustainability and justice, which, in some ways, are rhetorically present in public policies, cannot be considered separately, since they are interdependent. The systematic nature of the dimensions that integrate intercultural socioenvironmental justice demands that the three levels, owing to their mutual co-dependency, be integrated into the public policies of the 2030 Agenda and applied in governance policies. Socially balanced development that respects nature and the plurality of humanity must be a consequence of the integration of the levels of justice and sustainability and is not compatible with a development strategy that takes precedence over these levels or disarticulates them.

Third, a comparative examination of the degree of justice and sustainability between the two strategies considered here, the modernising public–private social development strategy with a predominance of instrumental rationality and the community development strategy that assumes a reproductive rationality [65], shows not only the differences noted above but also the greater capacity of the latter strategy to combine human development, equity and sustainability in an integrative manner. In this sense, this strategy is relevant and pertinent in promoting the objectives of the 2030 Agenda, particularly goals 2, 10 and 14. One of the best elements of Barú, as in other islands of the Greater Caribbean, is that the character of the collective is not mere rhetoric, nor is it reduced to a proclamation of the customary rights of Law 70 of 1993. In fact, Barú, both in the period of slavery and in the early days of abolitionist measures, was a unique example of community organisation and collective access to land and sea. Thus, this island is a case of enormous importance to show the impacts of modernising policies in the Caribbean and the current treatment of Afro-descendant populations by public policies for sustainable development.

Fourth, the Colombian government, within the framework of the 2030 Agenda, recognises that the increased pressures on ecosystems—which have diminished their functionality and supply of ecosystem services—also expose limitations in the generation of knowledge and research on oceanic issues [13]. This raises the challenge, according to the government, of articulating different disciplines to generate knowledge that supports decision-making and achieves greater socioenvironmental justice. However, the intercultural dimension of justice is not operative, since the government has not considered that, to generate better interventions from the public sector, this same generation of knowledge must include local communities: the people who know the sea and who have carried changes in their environments and their ways of life in their memory and in their local ecological knowledge. This intercultural barrier of not validating the knowledge of fishermen and not considering them valid subjects in a scientific conversation about the SDG targets is one of the great obstacles to sustainability.

Fifth, in this sense, we reaffirm the complex and integrated consideration of a public policy perspective that necessarily integrates intercultural socioenvironmental justice to treat traditional communities with equity and to recognise and position them as necessary actors in the struggle for sustainable human development, which integrates diversity and human wealth. Thus, research such as this study can have a practical impact on the community. Part of the reflective exercises led by the community authorities (community council) is to collaborate with fishermen in demonstrating how their way of life is reconfigured, and the community authorities are accompanied and complemented by academics with new approaches and instruments that become strategies for advocacy within and outside the collective.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.A.S.-D.F. and J.H.A.; methodology, J.A.S.-D.F. and J.H.A.; software, J.H.A.; validation, J.A.S.-D.F. and J.H.A.; formal analysis, J.A.S.-D.F. and J.H.A.; investigation, J.H.A.; writing—original draft preparation, J.A.S.-D.F. and J.H.A.; writing—review and editing, J.A.S.-D.F. and J.H.A.; visualization, J.H.A.; supervision, J.A.S.-D.F. and J.H.A. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Universidad Loyola Andalucía on 6 December 2021.

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: We thank the community council of Barú for granting permits for the fieldwork and the cartographer Elías Helo of the Observatorio de Territorios Étnicos of the Universidad Javeriana Bogotá for providing a free-use geographic information system to process satellite images.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Table A1. Instrument designed for recording and guiding semi-structured dialogues with stakeholders about the sustainability dimensions.

Spaces Regulated in Land Use Planning Policies (POT)	Type of Stakeholder Involved	Main Changes Perceived in The Natural System (Ecological Sustainability)	Major Perceived Changes in Livelihoods and Ways of Life (Cultural Sustainability)	Forms of Participation of Native Communities in Governance Decisions
Beaches				
Shorelines for navigation				
Weighing shallows				
Mangroves				
Floodplains for community agriculture				
Tropical dry forest areas				

 Table A2. Instrument designed to facilitate focus groups with community members.

Level 1: What explains the ecological and social cha	anges on Barú Island?	
Factors	Consensus	Disagreements
Stakeholders involved		
Periods or milestones		
State participation		
Community participation		
Participation of people from outside the communit	у	
Guarantees of prior consultations (Con. 168 of the l	ILO)	
Other		
Level 2: Effects on cultural and ecological sustainab emphasis is placed on certain biophysical or identit	vility (depending on the ty-related areas).	corresponding group,
Main impacts		
Food security		
Free movement		
Cultural practices		
Transmission of knowledge		
Other		

Common Goods Regulated in Sustainability Policies	Sentences or Statements That Coincide with the Local Perception
1. The beach	 1.1 The change in the regulation of the beach with the arrival of private projects has negatively affected the community. 1.2 The community has been able to adapt to the changes brought about by the restriction of use of former community beaches. 1.3 The loss of community beaches (which are now privately controlled) irreversibly damages the livelihoods of the people of Barú. 1.4 The establishment of private beaches does not negatively affect local communities. 1.5 The establishment of private beaches brings benefits to local communities.
2. The coastline	 State understood as the Maritime Directorate (DIMAR) and National Natural Parks 2.1 The regulation exercised by the state authorities to order the navigation lines negatively affects fishermen and navigators of the community. 2.2 The community has been able to adapt to the changes and restrictions imposed by the state's coastal and navigational regulations. 2.3 The loss of areas for navigation and fishing along the coastline causes irreversible damage to fishing activities and free circulation in the Barú Sea. 2.4 The establishment of regulations for navigation and fishing in the littoral does not negatively affect local communities. 2.5 The establishment of restrictions on coastal navigation and fishing brings benefits to local communities.
3. Mangroves	 3.1 Regulation of mangroves by actors outside the community (outsiders, private) negatively affects fishermen and boaters in the community. 3.2 The community has been able to adapt to the changes and restrictions on the use of mangroves brought about by external actors. 3.3 The loss of mangrove use for fishing and recreation generates irreversible damage to local communities. 3.4 The establishment of mangrove access barriers does not negatively affect local communities. 3.5 The establishment of mangrove access barriers brings benefits to local communities.

Table A3. Instrument to guide dialogues and focus groups about the valuation and local perception of the ecological and cultural effects on the management of the commons caused by the privatisation of coasts and other areas that have been administered by the community.

Scales	Levels of Analysis	Materials	Methods
National (Colombia)	Degree of incorporation of environmental, social and intercultural dimensions into the formulation of goals and	 Public policy documents Follow-up reports Government plans and land-use plans formulated as of 2015 (as a milestone in 	Documentary review and contrast of sources based on categories of analysis
Regional (Cartagena Island region)	with the 2030 Agenda	the formulation of the SDGs)	
Local (Barú Island)	Environmental, social and cultural sustainability policies actually implemented Effects of 2030 Agenda public policies on local livelihoods	 Satellite images for analysis of land-cover status Socioenvironmental diagnoses formulated by state environmental authorities and management plans formulated by the communities 	Land cover analysis through the multitemporal contrast of satellite images available for the analysed island (using ArcGIS software)
Microscales (spaces for collective use)	 Common property use practices Implications of community livelihoods 	Systematisation of interviews and focus groups with fishermen and other inhabitants of the island	Focus groups (4), semi-structured interviews (22) with a scope of 142 people contacted

Table A4. Levels and scales of analysis to identify sustainability approaches in environmental public policies in the Colombian Caribbean.

Notes

- ¹ It was declared a national natural park in 1977, and the area has been expanded in subsequent decades. The entire coastal area of the community of Barú is within the national park, so the competent authorities in the management of the area regulate the uses of the ecosystem in this community.
- ² Caballerías is a unit of measurement that has existed in the Caribbean since the colonial period. Its equivalence to the current metric system is not clear. In modern agrarian procedures, the state entities in charge study each case individually to determine the equivalence in hectares.
- ³ The Land Management Plan (POT for the Spanish acronym) is a technical instrument with a legal scope that each municipality of the country prepares to plan and organise its territory. Its objective is to integrate physical, socioeconomic and environmental planning, which must be conducted in consultation with civil society. It has existed since the issuance of Law 388 of 1997.
- ⁴ See document Consejo Nacional de Política Económica y Social (CONPES 3918 of 2018). https://colaboracion.dnp.gov.co/CDT/ Conpes/Econ%C3%B3micos/3918.pdf (accessed on 2 April 2022).
- ⁵ It is increasingly visible that expert panels and decision-makers in environmental policies are recognising the contributions of indigenous peoples to biodiversity conservations. For example, the Glasgow Climate Summit considered increasing the direct funding to native peoples and local communities and recognised the importance of closing the gap in access to secure tenure rights in environmentally important areas such as Barú.

References

- Vela-Jiménez, R.; Sianes, A.; López-Montero, R.; Delgado-Baena, A. The Incorporation of the 2030 Agenda in the Design of Local Policies for Social Transformation in Disadvantaged Urban Areas. Land 2022, 11, 197. [CrossRef]
- Shivakoti, B.R.; Bengtsson, M.; Zusman, E.; Miyazawa, I.; Ilona, A. Placing Water at the Core of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): Why an Integrated Perspective Is Needed. *Inst. Glob. Environ. Strateg.* 2015. Available online: https://www.jstor. org/stable/resrep00751 (accessed on 19 January 2022).
- Lawrence, R.J. Overcoming Barriers to Implementing Sustainable Development Goals: Human Ecology Matters. *Human Ecol. Rev.* 2020, 26, 95–116. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/27027239 (accessed on 11 January 2022). [CrossRef]
- McRuer, J.; Zethelius, M. The Difference Biocultural 'Place' Makes to Community Efforts towards Sustainable Development: Youth Participatory Action Research in a Marine Protected Area of Colombia. *Int. Rev. Educ. Int. Z Für Erzieh. Rev. Int. De L'education* 2017, 63, 847–870. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/44979983 (accessed on 12 December 2021). [CrossRef]
- 5. Parris, N. An Ocean Policy for the Wider Caribbean Region (WCR). *Soc. Econ. Stud.* **2016**, *65*, 7–56. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/26380109 (accessed on 12 February 2022).

- Haughton, M.O. International Environmental Instruments and the Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries in CARICOM States. In *Towards Marine Ecosystem-Based Management in the Wider Caribbean*; Lucia, F., Ed.; Amsterdam University Press: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2011; pp. 271–296. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt46n21t.25 (accessed on 15 November 2021).
- Clay, P.M.; Julia, O. Defining 'Fishing Communities': Vulnerability and the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act. *Human Ecol. Rev.* 2008, 15, 143–160. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/24707599 (accessed on 23 January 2022).
- 8. Moallemi, E.A.; Malekpour, S.; Hadjikakou, M.; Raven, R.; Szetey, K.; Ningrum, D.; Bryan, B.A. Achieving the sustainable development goals requires transdisciplinary innovation at the local scale. *One Earth* **2020**, *3*, 300–313. [CrossRef]
- Mebratu, D. Sustainability and sustainable development: Historical and conceptual review. *Environ. Impact Assess. Rev.* 1998, 18, 493–520. [CrossRef]
- Senent-De Frutos, J.A. Justicia cosmopolita y criterios de justicia en la sociedad global. In *Derechos Humanos Ante Los Nuevos Desafíos de la Globalización;* Adroher, A.P., Martínez, E.H., López de la Vieja, M.T., Eds.; Dykinson: Madrid, Spain, 2020; pp. 51–67. Available online: https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/articulo?codigo=7735396 (accessed on 3 February 2022).
- 11. Etter, A.; Andrade, A.; Nelson, C.R.; Cortés, J.; Saavedra, K. Assessing restoration priorities for high-risk ecosystems: An application of the IUCN Red List of Ecosystems. *Land Use Policy* **2020**, *99*, 104874. [CrossRef]
- Upton, S.D.; Tarin, C.A.; Sowards, S.K.; Yang, K.C. Rare's conservation campaigns: Community decision making and public participation for behavioral change in Indonesia, China, and Latin America. In *Breaking Boundaries: Innovative Practices in Environmental Communication and Public Participation*; SUNY Press: Albany, NY, USA, 2019; pp. 227–246.
- 13. Departamento Nacional de Planeación [DNP]. Informe Anual de Avances en el cumplimiento de los ODS en Colombia. 2021. Available online: https://www.ods.gov.co/es (accessed on 16 November 2021).
- 14. United Nations. The Second World Ocean Assessment (WOA II). New York. 2021. Available online: https://www.un.org/ regularprocess/woa2 (accessed on 3 February 2022).
- 15. Schiermeier, Q. Fisheries science: How many more fish in the sea? Nature 2002, 419, 662–666. [CrossRef]
- 16. Aguirre, A. *El Sargazo en el Caribe Mexicano: De la Negación y el Voluntarismo a la Realidad;* Sustentabilidad, Gaceta Digital del Centro Interdisciplinario de Biodiversidad y Ambiente: Baja California, Mexico, 2019.
- 17. Romanello, M.; McGushin, A.; Di Napoli, C.; Drummond, P.; Hughes, N.; Jamart, L.; Hamilton, I. The 2021 report of the Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: Code red for a healthy future. *Lancet* 2021, 398, 1619–1662. [CrossRef]
- Francisco, P. Laudato Si. Sobre el cuidado de la casa común; San Pablo, Madrid. 2015. Available online: https://www.vatican.va/ content/francesco/es/encyclicals/documents/papa-francesco_20150524_enciclica-laudato-si.html (accessed on 16 November 2021).
- 19. Temper, L. Blocking pipelines, unsettling environmental justice: From rights of nature to responsibility to territory. *Local Environ*. **2019**, *24*, 94–112. [CrossRef]
- McGurty, E.M. Warren County, NC, and the Emergence of the Environmental Justice Movement: Unlikely Coalitions and Shared Meanings in Local Collective Action. Soc. Nat. Resour. 2000, 13, 373–387. [CrossRef]
- Göbel, B.; Góngora-Mera, M.; Ulloa, A. Las interdependencias entre la valorización global de la naturaleza y las desigualdades sociales: Abordajes multidisciplinarios. In *Desigualdades Socioambientales en América Latina*; Ibero-Amerikanisches Institut, Berlin, Universidad Nacional: Bogotá, Colombia, 2014; pp. 13–46.
- 22. Senent-De Frutos, J.A. La tierra y la naturaleza en el horizonte de la subjetividad moderna. *Rev. De Fom. Soc.* 2010, 65, 33–56. Available online: https://www.revistadefomentosocial.es/rfs/article/view/1950 (accessed on 3 February 2022). [CrossRef]
- Apel, K.O. El problema de la justicia en una sociedad multicultural. In *Filosofía Para la Convivencia. Caminos de diálogos Norte-Sur*; Fornet-Betancourt, Y.R., Senent, J.A., Eds.; Mad, Sevilla, 2004; pp. 195–215. Available online: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/ chapters/edit/10.4324/9780203450833-16/problem-justice-multicultural-society-karl-otto-apel?context=ubx&refId=55db359d-0b99-411b-903d-77277cbee5cf (accessed on 12 January 2022).
- Rodríguez, G.A. La Participación En La Construcción de La Paz Con Justicia Ambiental En Colombia; Bárcenas, V., Torres, V., Muñoz, L., Eds.; El Acuerdo de Escazú sobre democracia ambiental y su relación con la Agenda 2030 para el Desarrollo Sostenible Bogotá; Comisión Económica para América Latina y el Caribe (CEPAL); Editorial Universidad del Rosario: Bogotá, Colombia, 2021; pp. 181–202. 298p.
- North, D.C. Institutions. J. Econ. Perspect. 1991, 5, 97–112. Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1942704 (accessed on 18 February 2022). [CrossRef]
- Ostrom, E. Governing the commons: The evolution of institutions for collective action. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 1990.
- 27. Turner, M.D. Political ecology III: The commons and commoning. Prog. Hum. Geogr. 2017, 41, 795–802. [CrossRef]
- 28. Hardin, G. The tragedy of the commons: The population problem has no technical solution; it requires a fundamental extension in morality. *Science* **1968**, *162*, 1243–1248. [CrossRef]
- Agrawal, A. Rules, rule making, and rule breaking: Examining the fit between rule systems and resource use. *Rules Games Common-Pool Resour.* 1994, 267282. Available online: https://hdl.handle.net/10535/3923 (accessed on 13 November 2021).
- 30. Brockington, D.; Duffy, R. Capitalism and conservation: The production and reproduction of biodiversity conservation. *Antipode* **2010**, *42*, 469–484. [CrossRef]
- 31. Castree, N. Neoliberalising Nature: Processes, Effects, and Evaluations. Environ. Plan. A Econ. Space 2008, 40, 153–173. [CrossRef]

- 32. Bromley, D. The commons, common property, and environmental policy. Env. Resour. Econ. 1992, 2, 1–17. [CrossRef]
- 33. Larson, A. Tenure Rights and Access to Forests: A Training Manual for Research; CIFOR: Bogor, Indonesia, 2012.
- 34. Larson, A.; Cronkleton, P.; Barry, D.; Pacheco, P. Más Allá de Los Derechos de Tenencia: El Acceso Comunitario a Los Recursos Forestales En América Latina; Occasional Paper No. 50; CIFOR: Bogor, Indonesia, 2009.
- 35. Schlager, E.; Ostrom, E. Property-rights regimes and natural resources: A conceptual analysis. *Land Econ.* **1992**, *68*, 249–262. [CrossRef]
- Delgado-Serrano, M.M.; Ramos, P.A.; Lasso Zapata, E. Using Ostrom's DPs as fuzzy sets to analyse how water policies challenge community-based water governance in Colombia. Water 2017, 9, 535. [CrossRef]
- López-Feldman, A.; Hernández, D. Cambio climático y agricultura: Una revisión de la literatura con énfasis en América Latina. El Trimest. Económico 2016, 83, 459–496. [CrossRef]
- Márquez, A. Acaparamiento de territorios marinos y costeros: Dos casos de estudio en el Caribe colombiano. Rev. Colomb. De Antropol. 2019, 55, 119–152. [CrossRef]
- 39. Camargo, A.; Camacho, J. Convivir con el agua. Rev. Colomb. De Antropol. 2019, 55, 7–25. [CrossRef]
- 40. CNMH. Barú: Los Conflictos de La Paz Las Disputas Por Los Modelos de Desarrollo Y Las Políticas de Conservación En Los Territorios Étnicos; CNMH: Bogotá, Colombia, 2017.
- Deavila, O. New world cities. In Challenges of Urbanization and Globalization in the Americas; The University of North Carolina Press: Chapel Hill, NC, USA, 2019; Volume 344, p. 2020.
- Ojeda, D. Green pretexts: Ecotourism, neoliberal conservation and land grabbing in Tayrona National Natural Park, Colombia. J. Peasant. Stud. 2012, 39, 357–375. [CrossRef]
- 43. Ivelic, B.; Barrale, M. Maritorio, ciudad y arquitectura. AP Contin. 2018, 4, 14–21. [CrossRef]
- Alcaldía de Cartagena. Revisión y ajuste del Plan de Ordenamiento Territorial (POT) del Distrito de Cartagena de Indias. 2020. Available online: https://pot.cartagena.gov.co/images/REVISIN-Y-AJUSTE-DEL-PLAN-DE-ORDENAMIENTO-TERRITORIAL. pdf (accessed on 12 January 2022).
- 45. Restrepo, E. Acción afirmativa y afrodescendientes en Colombia. En Restrepo, Eduardo Estudios Afrocolombianos hoy: Aportes a Un Campo Transdisciplinario. Editorial Universidad del Cauca: Popayán, Colombia. 2013. Available online: https://n2t.net/ark: /13683/ph6y/OCx (accessed on 13 November 2021).
- Durán, C. Es Nuestra Isla Para Dos?-Conflicto Por el Desarrollo Y La Conservación En Islas Del ROSARIO, Cartagena; Ediciones Universidad de los Andes Bogotá: Colombia, UK, 2007; 200p, Available online: Hdl.handle.net/1992/26254 (accessed on 26 November 2021).
- 47. Bolaños, O.; Herrera, J.; Arrieta, M.R. Collective land tenure in island areas of Colombia: Legal challenges and obstacles. In Proceedings of the World Bank Conference on Land and Poverty, 2020, Washington, DC, USA. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/340038688_collective_land_tenure_in_island_areas_of_colombia_legal_challenges_and_obstacles (accessed on 12 January 2022).
- Young, J.C.; Rose, D.C.; Mumby, H.S.; Benitez-Capistros, F.; Derrick, C.J.; Finch, T.; Garcia, C.; Home, C.; Marwaha, E.; Morgans, C.; et al. A methodological guide to using and reporting on interviews in conservation science research. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 2018, 9, 10–19. [CrossRef]
- 49. Arrieta, M. Implicaciones de Los Niveles de Tenencia de La Tierra En El Uso de Recursos Comunes Degree-Grantin Ecology; Universidad Javeriana: Bogotá, Colombia, 2019.
- 50. Herrera, J.; Senent-De Frutos, J.A.; Helo, E. Murky waters: The impact of privatizing water use on environmental degradation and the exclusion of local communities in the Caribbean. *Int. J. Water Resour. Dev.* **2022**, *38*, 152–172. [CrossRef]
- IObservatorio de Territorios Étnicos y Campesinos, Rights and Resources Initiative y Consejo Comunitario de Barú (2019); Análisis ambiental y cartográfico; Universidad Javeriana: Bogotá, Colombia, 2019.
- 52. Alcaldía de Cartagena, 2011. Plan de Ordenamiento Territorial (POT) del Distrito de Cartagena de Indias. Secretaría de Planeación. 2011. Available online: https://pot.cartagena.gov.co/ (accessed on 12 January 2022).
- 53. Ruiz, R. El Sargazo es un huracán en otra manera. La Jornada Maya. 27 de junio. 2019. Available online: https://www. lajornadamaya.mx/2019-06-27/Elsargazo-es-un-huracan-en-otra-manera--experto (accessed on 12 January 2022).
- 54. Chakalall, B.; Mahon, R.; McConney, P. Current issues in fisheries governance in the Caribbean Community (CARICOM). *Mar. Policy* **1998**, *22*, 29–44. [CrossRef]
- 55. FAO. El Estado Mundial de La Agricultura Y La Alimentación 2021. Lograr Que Los Sistemas Agroalimentarios Sean Más Resilientes a Las Perturbaciones Y Tensiones; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2021. [CrossRef]
- Brown, N.; Geoghegan, T.; Renard, Y. Un Análisis de Situación Para El Gran Caribe. Gland, Suiza: UICN. 56p. 2007. Available online: https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/9152 (accessed on 11 January 2022).
- FAO. Directrices Voluntarias Sobre La Gobernanza Responsable de La Tenencia de La Tierra, La Pesca Y Los Bosques En El Contexto de La Seguridad Alimentaria Nacional; 2012 (No. E11-38); FAO: Roma, Italy, 2012; Available online: https://www.fao.org/publications/ card/es/c/2f9b4ab8-8539-5ad4-aa2c-123a90e2c68b/ (accessed on 11 January 2022).
- 58. Gudynas, E.; Villalva, C. Crecimiento económico y desarrollo: Una persistente confusión. Rev. Del. Sur. 2006, 165, 6–12.
- 59. Deavila Pertúz, O. Ciudad de Derechos–Ciudad de Patrimonio: Turismo, desarrollo comunitario, y participación política popular en Cartagena; Observatorio del Caribe Colombiano: Cartagena de Indias, Colombia, 2016.

- 60. Cárdenas, O.B.; Herrera, J.; Guerrero Lovera, C.; Helo Molina, E. Bridging Research and Practice to Influence National Policy: Afro-Colombians Territorial Rights, from Stagnation to Implementation. *Bull. Lat. Am. Res.* **2022**. [CrossRef]
- 61. Martínez Alier, J. Conflictos ecológicos y justicia ambiental. Papeles 2008, 103, 11-27.
- Brenner, L. Gobernanza ambiental, actores sociales y conflictos en las Áreas Naturales Protegidas mexicanas. *Rev. Mex. De Sociol.* 2010, 72, 283–310. Available online: http://www.scielo.org.mx/scielo.php?pid=S0188-25032010000200004&script=sci_arttext (accessed on 15 November 2021).
- 63. Cole, D.H.; Ostrom, E. The Variety of Property Systems and Rights in Natural Resources. In *Property in Land and Other Resources* by the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy; Maurer Faculty: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2012; pp. 37–67.
- 64. De Certeau, M. La Invención de Lo Cotidiano: Artes de Hacer. I; Universidad Iberoamericana: Ciudad de Mexico, Mexico, 1996; Volume 1.
- Hikelammert, F.J. Crítica de La Razón Utópica, Desclée de Brouwer, Bilbao. 2002. Available online: https://rebelion.org/criticaa-la-razon-utopica/ (accessed on 25 February 2022).



Article



Importance of Land in SDG Policy Instruments: A Study of ASEAN Developing Countries

Raghu Dharmapuri Tirumala * and Piyush Tiwari

Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne 3010, Australia; Piyush.tiwari@unimelb.edu.au

* Correspondence: dtvraghu@unimelb.edu.au

Abstract: Allocating land-related social, economic, and legal benefits to people is crucial for meeting the commitments made by various countries for achieving sustainable development goals (SDGs). Economic growth in developing countries in the Southeast Asian region is very rapid, requiring primary resources such as land, which poses challenges for implementing nationally determined commitments towards SDGs. This paper quantitatively compares the relevant policy instruments issued by the key ASEAN countries to analyze the importance of land provision in achieving policy instruments and strategic plans, the article identifies the importance of land use in various policy instruments focused on achieving SDGs. Most countries use authoritative instruments to incorporate land-related aspects. The use of the symbolic, capacity-building, and incentive instruments is relatively lesser. Many countries give prominence to land for providing shelter or as an economic resource, while land use for managing gender equality is negligible. Policy makers could incorporate a more balanced mix of instruments and those addressing different dimensions of land use while redesigning their policy or strategy documents to implement SDGs.

Keywords: ASEAN; content analysis; land; policy; sustainable development goals

Importance of Land in SDG Policy Instruments: A Study of ASEAN Developing Countries. *Land* **2022**, *11*, 218. https://doi.org/10.3390/ land11020218

Academic Editors: Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

Citation: Tirumala, R.D.: Tiwari, P.

Received: 22 December 2021 Accepted: 27 January 2022 Published: 30 January 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

1. Introduction

The development paradigm based on meeting the needs of the current generation without hampering the needs of future generations was the basis for sustainable development as articulated by the World Commission on Environment and Development in 1987 [1]. This concept has been the basis of various agreements related to sustainable living amongst the countries, leading to the formulation of eight millennium development goals (MDGs) [2]. Subsequently, The United Nations Sustainable Development Summit adopted the sustainable development goals, comprising 17 goals, whose progress is measured through 169 specific indicators [3,4]. These goals were ratified by less than 193 member states. Various countries have formulated their strategies, through nationally determined commitments, to chart their respective progress to achieve the SDGs.

The concept of sustainable development is based on three pillars of economic growth, environmental protection, and social inclusion, each of them receiving a fair share in the Declaration of the UN Conference on Sustainable Development titled "The Future We Want" [5]. The focus on sustainable development coexists with achieving a greener economy while eradicating poverty [6]. SDGs have become an integral part of governments' policy and decision-making processes during the last few years. During their quest to implement the SDGs, different countries identify their local challenges and formulate customized solutions to keep track of their anticipated path for sustainable development. As every goal demands precise action or an attitude change [7], many countries have placed infrastructure development and improvement and the use of the available resources at the core of implementing SDGs [8]. A review of the nationally determined commitments of different countries indicates that countries have concentrated their efforts on reducing greenhouse gas emissions [8]. This emphasis addresses the environmental aspect of the SDG implementation.

Land, traditionally considered one of the factors of production, has been the mainstay for infrastructure development and is crucial for providing various civic services. The social and economic development, particularly in the urban context, depends on the availability of land, which further impacts the levels of hunger, poverty, and wellbeing [9,10]. With the growing world population, the per capita availability of land has declined. With an increasing demand for land in cities, its availability decreases for sectors such as agriculture. For example, land under agriculture use has declined significantly in Asia. In 2014, agricultural land use was one-third of what was available in 1961. The cropland declined from 0.45 hectare per capita in 1961 to 0.21 hectare per capita in 2016 [11,12]. Land is also used to augment governments' finances through various instruments used to finance infrastructure. Indiscriminate adoption of land-based financing tools has also led to a sharp increase in land price that has exacerbated the inequality between landowners and non-landowners. One of the adverse consequences of rising land prices is housing affordability, with stark differences across various countries [13].

Land has featured predominantly under the SDGs than the MDGs. MDG 7 (ensuring environmental sustainability) considers the land as a resource for improving the lives of slum dwellers. The importance of land is noted to be much more crucial in many SDGs. SDG 1 (removing poverty in all its forms everywhere), SDG 2 (end hunger, achieve food security and improve nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture), SDG 5 (achieve greater gender equality and empower all women and girls) and SDG 11 (make cities inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable) have indicators that underpin the land as shelter or source of income. The transformation to a new sustainable development model of the world economy from the hitherto industrial development model would mean better management of the underlying resources, including land. Many countries are developing their national and subnational plans, policies, and legislative instruments that support SDG achievement.

There is a substantial amount of research that focuses on creating indices to evaluate the performance of the SDGs [6,14,15]. Previous research has also discussed the relationship of SDGs with specific resources or sectors such as energy (mostly renewable) or reduction of greenhouse gases [16–18]. Land has been researched from the perspective of forest degradation, soil erosion, wetlands, etc. [19–21]. However, there is scant literature on whether policies or plans associated with SDGs incorporate elements that address land management. This research is inspired by this lack of literature and addresses the knowledge gap regarding the inclusion of land management in SDG-related policies. The research findings intend to provide inputs to a discussion on the current extent of importance accorded to land in the national documents relevant to SDGs' implementation and inspire further research on SDG-related policy analysis [22].

This study compares policy measures or actions undertaken by key developing countries of the Association of Southeast Nations (ASEAN) to address the land-specific indicators in the SDG targets. The ASEAN is an important collaboration in the global economy, with the member countries accounting for 8.5% of the world's population and having the fifth largest GDP, amounting to USD 3.2 trillion [8]. The region has witnessed a rapid economic growth of 5.3% per annum from 2000 to 2018 [23]. The region also consists of the least developed countries (such as Cambodia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, and Myanmar) [24]. According to The Long-Term Climate Risk Index, Myanmar, the Philippines, and Thailand were among the top ten countries most affected by extreme weather events during 2000–2019 [25]. The COVID-19 pandemic has severely impacted the region's economic growth, adding to the challenges of achieving the SDGs [26] (ADB SDG Accelerator Bond, 2021). A study of the key countries in the region would provide pointers for other developing countries for incorporating land in their national policy instruments/strategic documents. The rest of the paper is structured as follows. The contextual background of the countries being compared is presented in Section 2. The method adopted and the data used for the analysis is described in Section 3. The results and discussions are presented in Section 4. Finally, in Section 5, the conclusions are presented.

2. SDG Status of Key ASEAN Countries

This paper studies the SDG policy initiatives of seven ASEAN countries—Cambodia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, the Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam. As per the SDG Index 2021 [27] report (data for the year 2020), the total ASEAN population was 667.3 million, out of which these seven countries account for about 98% of the population. The data for Brunei Darussalam and Lao People's Democratic Republic is not readily available. Being more developed than the rest of the ASEAN countries, Singapore has also been excluded from this study.

The demographics profile of the seven ASEAN member countries has been set out in Table 1. The Table indicates that a sizeable population in these countries lives in slums. In the Philippines and Indonesia, approximately 10 million people live under \$1.90/day.

Country	SDG Ranking 2021	Population (Millions)	GDP (USD Million)	Poverty Headcount Ratio at \$1.90/Day (%)	Proportion of Urban Population Living in Slums (%)
Cambodia	102	16.49	27,089.39	0.48	45.1
Indonesia	97	270.63	1,119,190.78	2.42	30.6
Malaysia	65	31.95	364,681.37	0	NA
Myanmar	101	54.05	76,085.85	0.62	56.1
Philippines	103	108.12	376,795.51	6.22	42.9
Thailand	43	69.63	543,548.97	0	23.7
Vietnam	51	96.46	261,921.24	0.85	13.8

Table 1. Demographics of the key ASEAN developing countries.

Source: World Bank [28] and Sustainable Development Report website [29].

The Southeast Asian region is estimated to require an investment of about \$210 billion per annum for fifteen years between 2016 and 2030 to achieve climate-resilient infrastructure [26]. The region is estimated to have an investment shortfall of 3.8% of its GDP (4.1% when accounted for climate resiliency). The decade from the year 2020 has been termed as the Decade for Action for achieving the SDGs [30]. Most countries have been renewing their commitments and making suitable modifications to their chosen paths to achieve them. The challenges faced by many countries, particularly the ASEAN group, include huge investments, limited integration of SDGs into infrastructure planning, inadequate capacity in the government and private sector, and the complexity in translating the SDG targets, indicators to project outcomes [26].

Even though the ASEAN region has made substantial progress in recent years, the trajectory remains challenging as the pace of implementation is varied. Except for Thailand, none of the countries are in the top 50 countries to achieve the SDGs. Tables 2 and 3 present the current scenario of the SDG implementation process in the seven countries. The statistics of the top-ranked country, Finland, also give a perspective of the difference between the leader and the ASEAN countries. Finland is on track in achieving SDG 1 and is moderate in its progress in achieving SDGs 2, 5, and 11. Thailand leads the ASEAN group, followed by Vietnam and Malaysia on the SDG Index score. The rest of the four countries have similar scores and figure in the second half of the global ranking. Thailand and Malaysia appear to be on track to achieve SDG1, while the other five countries are having challenges in their path. All the countries have significant or major challenges in their progress, while four others appear to be having moderate progress in these SDGs. Thailand, Malaysia, and Myanmar appear to be stagnating in their progress in SDG 2, while

the progress of the other four countries is moderate. The progress of Myanmar, Cambodia, and the Philippines is stagnating in SDG 5, while the status of Indonesia, Myanmar, and the Philippines are similar with regards to SDG 11.

The available data on some of the SDG indicators are presented in Table 3. Malaysia and Thailand have very high access to basic service, i.e., water, whereas the other countries lag in providing access to water to a substantial portion of their population. The disparity in income of small-scale food producers is stark between Vietnam and Cambodia. The share of the urban population living in slums also varies significantly. Myanmar, Cambodia, and the Philippines have more than 40% of their urban population residing in slums; Vietnam fares better than other ASEAN countries with only 13.8% urban slum population.

The COVID-19 pandemic is estimated to have had a further debilitating impact on the ASEAN region's efforts to grow its economy sustainably. It is estimated that more than \$250 billion have been invested in the region to support economic recovery from the effects of COVID-19. However, some of these investments have a negative effect on climate resilience and sustainable infrastructure, thereby, hampering the progress towards achieving SDGs as intended [31].

I		1								; Chal- easing.	I		1			teway
	Goal 11 Trend	Moderate	Moderate	On track	Moderate	Stagnating	Stagnating	Moderate	Stagnating	nent—On track creasing—Decre	Vietnam	83.5% (2017)	2810 (2010)	NA	13.8% (2018)	on the SDG Ga
	Goal 11 Dash- Board	CR	S	SC	CR	MC	MC	SC	MC	aining achiever nges—MC, Dec	Thailand	98.8% (2017)	NA	58.7%	23.7% (2018)	ı is unavailable
	Goal 5 Trend	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Stagnating	Stagnating	Stagnating	h track or maint ng; Major challer	Philippines	76.5% (2017)	NA	NA	42.9% (2018)	7, and 11.a—data
	Goal 5 Dash- Board	CR	SC	SC	MC	SC	SC	MC	SC	ment—GA, C ng—Stagnati	anmar]	4.3% 2017)	NA	NA	(6.1% 2018)	11.2, 11.3, 11.
	Goal 2 Frend	oderate	gnating	oderate	gnating	oderate	gnating	oderate	oderate	al Achieve C, Stagnati	a My	9 (2)			0.0	umbers-
	2 ۲ b	M	Sta	Mc	Sta	Me	Sta	Me	Mc	iations: Go llenges—S(y.	Malaysi	99.9% (2017)	NA	NA	NA	indicator r
	Goal Dasl Boar	SC	MC	MC	MC	MC	SC	SC	MC	9]. Abbrev ificant chal 3 Gatewa	nesia	.1%)17)	IJ	IA	.6%)18)].* For the
	Goal 1 Trend	In track	In track	In track	In track	loderate	In track	In track	loderate	ad Data) [2 erate; Sign from SDC	Indo	73 (20	Z	Z	30 (20	Profile [32
			0	0	0	Σ	0	0	Z	t (Downloo sing—Mod wise data	Cambodia *	59.2% (2017)	83 (2009)	NA	45.1% (2018)	untry SDG
	Goal Dash Boar	GA	GA	CR	GA	SC	CR	CR	SC	nent Repor ely Increas ndicator 1	it 0	otal ition	PPP 5		rban ıtion	acific—Co
	ulation 1 2020	640,718	799,978	338,583	365,998	,523,621	409,794	718,971	,581,085	: Developn 2, Moderat 3; Set and I	Uni	% of T Popula	in 2011 Dollâ	%	% of u popula	vay Asia P
	G Pop ir	5,5	(69)	67,	32,	273,	54,	16,	109	bustainable emain—CF SDG Tar	Idicator	o basic nking	le of food ss	hip or : over land	Slum	SDG Gatev [32].
	2021 SD Index Rank	1	43	51	65	97	101	102	103	Source: Source	SCAPE Ir	Access to vice—drii water	3.2 Incom all-scale produce	l Owners ure rights ricultural	1 Urban Populatic	Source: Source Source
	SDG dex ore	5.9	4.2	2.8	0.9	6.3	4.9	4.5	4.5		UNES	1.4.1 serv	2.5 sm	5.a.] seci agi	11.1	
	2021 In Sc	<u> </u> 80	7	7	70	9	ę.	9	() 64		CAPE get	to basic ices	ulture vity and me	ship or ghts over ıral land	ıte, safe, ordable sing	
	try (SDG nking)	land (1)	land (43)	131 (51)	ysia (65)	197) resia	mar (101)	odia (102)	oines (103		UNES Tar	Access	Agric producti incc	Owner secure ri agricultu	Adequa and affi hou	
	Coun Rai	Finl	Thail	Vietr	Mala	Indor	Myan	Camb	Philipp		Target No	1.4	2.3	5. a	11.1	

Table 2. SDG Index Report Goal wise trend for the seven countries considered for the article.

3. Methodology and Data

This research aimed to assess the extent to which land and its related elements have been considered by different countries while developing their respective SDG-related policy documents. Content analysis is preferred for inferring the extent of usage of categories or keywords in a set of documents [33]. This replicable and systematic approach provides a way to interpret a large quantum of data by tabulating it in categories using coding rules. The method allows researchers to systematically sieve through a large volume of data to identify trend/s communicated by stakeholders through the documents [34]. The content analysis method used for this article is adapted from the approach used by Xie et al. in their comparative study of policy instruments to assess how China is faring in implementing the SDGs [35].

The process adopted for the content analysis is set out in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Process diagram for Content Analysis.

As a first step, SDG targets with clear land-related indicators are identified. The SDGs and the indicators that mention land either as an economic resource (farming, agriculture), shelter (residential, housing), public space (transportation, recreation, parks, urban green spaces), and to achieve gender equality from the perspective of females being entitled to use the facilities [35] are set out in Table 4 below.

Sustainable Development Goal	Target	Land Utilization/Entitlement Categorization as per Targets
SDG 1 Removing Poverty in all its forms everywhere	1.4 By 2030, ensure that all men and women, in particular the poor and the vulnerable, have equal rights to economic resources, as well as access to basic services, ownership and control over land and other forms of property, inheritance, natural resources, appropriate new technology, and financial services, including micro-finance.	Access to or ownership of land as an economic resource Access to or ownership of land as shelter
SDG 2 End hunger, achieve food security and improve nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture	2.3 By 2030, double the agricultural productivity and incomes of small-scale food producers, in particular women, indigenous peoples, family farmers, and fishers, including through secure and equal access to land, other productive resources, and inputs, knowledge, financial services, markets and opportunities for value addition and non-farm employment.	Access to or ownership of land as an economic resource
SDG 5 Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls	5.a Undertake reforms to give women equal rights to economic resources, as well as access to ownership and control over land and other forms of property, financial services, inheritance, and natural resources, in accordance with national laws	Ownership of land for achieving gender equality Access to or ownership of land as an economic resource Access to or ownership of land as shelter
	11.1 By 2030, ensure access for all to adequate, safe, and affordable housing and basic services and upgrade slums	Access to or ownership of land as shelter
SDG 11 Make cities inclusive,	11.3 By 2030, enhance inclusive and sustainable urbanization and capacity for participatory, integrated, and sustainable human settlement planning and management in all countries	Access to or ownership of land as shelter
safe, resilient, and sustainable	11.7 By 2030, provide universal access to safe, inclusive and accessible, green and public spaces, in particular for women and children, older persons and persons with disabilities	Access to or ownership of land as an economic resource Access to land as public spaces
	11.a Support positive economic, social and environmental links between urban, peri-urban and rural areas by strengthening national and regional development planning	Access to or ownership of land as economic resource

Table 4. SDG Targets and land utilization categories.

Source: Authors' compilation from the SDGs [36].

The method used by Xie et al. [35] is based on McDonnell and Schneider's theory for policy instruments analysis [37,38]. The method categorizes the policy instruments based on their nature (into five groups-authoritative instruments, incentive instruments, symbolic and advisory instruments, capacity-building instruments, and system change instruments). Authoritative instruments refer to those possessing official or legal power. By the virtue of government being policymakers, these instruments suggest the implementation of the measures which may demand, guarantee or forbid some actions or things [38]. The authoritative instruments typically cover zoning, urban planning, land use, regional planning, standards, and labelling. The incentive instruments involve the transfer of monetary benefits to the public, agencies, or institutions as defined or suggested by the instrument. They are usually combined with some rule or regulation to ensure the implementation of this rule or regulation as intended by the policymakers [38]. The incentive instruments pertaining to land include taxes, subsidies, property rights, payment for ecosystem services, etc. Symbolic and advisory instruments are used to communicate the policy elements or guidelines for directing the target audience's behavior [38]. The examples were symbolic and adversary instruments include voluntary commitments and guidance documents. Capacity-building instruments focus on developing the capacity of the various stakeholders involved in the process. The capacity-building initiatives can cover a wider gamut of information campaigns, education on infrastructure investments, R&D spending, and procurement, etc. System change instruments refer to those that enable

organizational, institutional, or governance structures for implementing the policies [38]. Directions relating to land readjustment, land information systems, registration, cadastre, and expropriation constitute system change instruments.

These policy instruments are then compared against the four dimensions of land utilization, i.e., land as an economic resource, land as shelter, land access for public spaces, and land and gender inequality. The various types of policy instruments are then plotted against the dimensions of land utilization to reflect the various characteristics of incorporation in policy or strategic documents. The types of instruments are plotted on the X-dimension and the land utilization characteristics are presented on the Y-dimension, as depicted in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Two-Dimensional Framework for Analyzing Policy Instruments.

The list of documents related to land utilization, SDG achievement in different countries, and the document considered for content analysis are presented in Table 5 below. These documents are collated from the respective countries' websites and the list compiled by the Urban Policy Platform facilitated by UN-Habitat [39].

Firstly, all irrelevant data and terms were removed from each document for content analysis. Only the relevant chapters were scanned to identify the measures. The following Table 6 lists the chapters and the text (paragraphs) considered for the research.

Country	List of Documents	Document Considered for Analysis	Observations
Cambodia	National Strategic Development Plan 2019–2023 [40] Strategic Framework on Decentralization and Deconcentration (2005) [39] National Spatial Policy (2011) [41] Capacity Development for Urban Management Project (2013) [39] Strategic Green Development Plan (2012–2030) [42] National Housing Policy (2014) [39] The White Paper on Land Policy (adopted in 2015) [39]	National Strategic Development Plan 2019–2023	Latest available document relating to SDGs
Indonesia	The National Medium-Term Development Plan For 2020–2024 [43] National Policies and Strategies for Urban Development towards Sustainable Competitive Cities for 2045 [39] National Spatial Policy (late 2000s) [39] National Urban Development Strategy (NUDS) [39] the Master Plan for Expansion and Acceleration of Indonesia's Economic Development (2011) [44] Main Message VNR Indonesia 2021 [45]	The National Medium-Term Development Plan For 2020–2024	Latest document available setting out the steps/initiatives taken/planned for SDGs. This document is available in English. The other document that could have been considered is Vision 2045, however, it is accessible only in Bahasa language.
Malaysia	Shared Vision Prosperity 2030 [46] National Heritage Act [47] National Physical Plan—3 [39] the 11th Malaysia Plan [39] National Urbanization Policy 2 [39] National Housing Policy [39]	Shared Vision Prosperity 2030	Latest available document relating to SDGs
Cambodia Indonesia Malaysia Myanmar Philippines Thailand Vietnam	Myanmar Sustainable Development Plan (2018–2030) [48] Myanmar Development Assistance Policy [49] Policy Priorities for 2012–2015 towards the Long-Term—Goals of the National Comprehensive Development Plan [39] National Urban Policy and Smart City Strategy [39] Master Plan for Yangon (draft) [39]	Myanmar Sustainable Development Plan (2018–2030)	Document provides a comprehensive country perspective of the SDG implementation
Philippines	Philippine Development Plan (2017–2022) [50] National Urban Development and Housing Framework 2017–2022 [39] National Framework for physical Planning Policy (2001–2030) [39] the National Urban Development and Housing Framework (NUDHF) (2009–2016) [39] Philippines Development Plan 2011–2016 [39]	Philippine Development Plan (2017–2022)	Document provides a comprehensive country perspective of the SDG implementation
Thailand	The Twelfth National 2017–2021 Sufficiency Economy Philosophy: Thailand's Path towards Sustainable Development Goals [51] Eleventh National Economic and Social Development Plan 2012–2016 [39] National Urban Development Policy Framework (1991) [39] the Bangkok Metropolitan Administration Global Warming Action Plan 2007–2012 [39]	The Twelfth National 2017–2021 Sufficiency Economy Philosophy: Thailand's Path towards Sustainable Development Goals	Document provides a comprehensive country perspective of the SDG implementation
Vietnam	National Action Plan 2018–2030 [52] National Urban Development Programme 2012–2020 [39] Vietnam Urban Upgrading Project (VUUP) 2004–2014 [39] National Urban Upgrading Strategy and Overall Investment Plan (NUUP) [39] Orientation Plan for Urban Development 2025 [39] 2030 integrated financing and investment strategy [39]	National Action Plan 2018–2030	Document provides a comprehensive country perspective of the SDG implementation

Table 5. Documents Used for Content Analysis.

Source: Authors' compilation.

Country	Document Name	Chapter/Section Considered	Count of Text (Paragraphs)
Cambodia	National Strategic Development Plan 2019–2023 [40]	Chapter 3—Macroeconomic Framework for NSDP 2019–2023 3.3—Targets and Policies for 2019–2023, Section 3.26–3.44 3.4—Economic Outlook 2019–2023, Section 3.45–3.58 Chapter 4—Key Policy Priorities and Actions 2019–2023, Section 4.1–4.191 [40]	224
Indonesia	The National Medium-Term Development Plan for 2020–2024 [43]	Chapter—6: Strengthening Infrastructure to Support Economic and Basic Services Development Sections considered for Paper—Environmental and Strategic Issues; Objectives, Indicators, and Targets; Policy Directions and Strategies Chapter—7: Strengthening the Environment and Improving Resilience Against Natural Disasters and Climate Change Sections considered for Paper—Environmental and Strategic Issues; Objectives, Indicators, and Targets; Policy Directions and Strategies [43]	238
Malaysia	Shared Vision Prosperity 2030 [46]	Chapter 6—Strategic Thrusts [46]	85
Myanmar	Myanmar Sustainable Development Plan (2018–2030) [48]	Goal 3 Job Creation & Private Sector-Led Growth Goal 5 Natural Resources & The Environment For Posterity Of The Nation [48]	171
Philippines	Philippine Development Plan [50]	Chapter 7—Promoting Philippine Culture and Values Chapter 8—"Expanding Economic Opportunities in Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries" Chapter 11—Reducing Vulnerability of Individuals and Families Chapter 12—Building Safe and Secure Communities [50]	227
Thailand	The Twelfth National Economic and Social Development Plan [51]	Strategy 2—Strategy for Creating a Just Society and Reducing Inequality Strategy 3—Strategy for Strengthening the Economy, and Underpinning Sustainable Competitiveness Strategy 4—Strategy for Environmentally-Friendly Growth for Sustainable Development Strategy 7—Strategy for Advancing Infrastructure and Logistics Strategy 9—Strategy for Regional, Urban, and Economic Zone Development [51]	357
Vietnam	National Action Plan [52]	Annex 1 [52]	145

Table 6. Text considered for content analysis.

Source: Authors compilation based on a review of the documents listed above.

The count of relevant text (paragraphs) in the respective country documents ranges from 85 in Malaysia to 357 in Thailand. From the above-listed text, land utilization-related policy instruments were identified and segregated in the tabulated format (Table 7), as shown in the sample below. Similar information for all the remaining countries data have been provided as Appendix A.

Myanmar	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as economic resource own- ership/access	Create market conditions to enable greater investment in agriculture, aquaculture and polyculture, and mechanization [48]			Revise and develop education and training in the agriculture, aquaculture and food sectors, responding to the evolving needs of farmers and the rural private sector [48]	
Land & Gender equality	Strengthen urban governance and related policy frameworks, including those related to urban land management, with a focus on gender-specific and youth-related concerns [48]				

Table 7. Content Analysis grid for Myanmar.

Source: Authors compilation based on a review of the documents listed in Table [48].

4. Results and Discussion

Results from the analysis of seven countries' SDG policy and strategic instruments are presented in the Table 8 below. The information in the Table refers to how many times instruments appear under respective categories, and the percentage of their appearance for the respective country. All the countries have a diverse mix of authoritative instruments, incentive instruments, capacity-building instruments, symbolic and advisory instruments, and system change instruments.

i. Categorization of Policy Instruments: X-Dimension

Table 9 below presents the extracted information of the distribution of the category of instruments for each country. The number of instruments across all the five categories has ranged between 7 and 20 in different countries. The differences amongst the number of land-related policy instruments across the various countries indicate the lack of uniformity on land-related aspects while progressing towards SDG implementation. The percentage of various categories of instrument used, in descending order, when taken together for all the countries is authoritative instruments (44%), symbolic and advisory instruments (26%), capacity-building instruments (13%), system change instruments (11%), and incentive instruments (6%). It appears that all the countries rely on statutory or legislative mechanisms and provide guidance documents to influence aspects of SDGs rather than focusing on capacity-building, or institutional governance or structural changes, or providing incentives for better behaviour.

Type of Instrument	Type of Land Utilization	Сал	nbodia	Inde	onesia	Mal	aysia	Mya	nmar	Phili	ppines	Thai	land	Viet	nam
		Cou	nt %	Cour	nt %	Coun	t %	Coun	t %	Coun	t %	Coun	t %	Coun	%
Authoritative instruments	Land as Economic Resource	4	20.00	7	18.18		14.29	7	22.22		7.14%	7	13.33		8.33
	Land as shelter ownership	-	5.00	ю	27.27		14.29		11.11	4	28.57%		6.67	7	16.67
	Land access as public spaces	2	10.00	0	0.00	-	14.29	2	22.22	0	0.00%	2	13.33	2	16.67
	Land & Gender equality	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	1	11.11	1	7.14%	0	0.00	1	8.33
	Subtotal		35.00	IJ	45.45	Э	42.86	9	66.67	9	42.86%	IJ	33.33	9	50.00
Incentive instruments	Land as Economic Resource	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%		6.67	0	0.00
	Land as shelter ownership	-	5.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	ю	21.43%	0	0.00	-	8.33
	Land access as public spaces	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%	-	6.67	0	0.00
	Land & Gender equality	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%	0	0.00	0	0.00
	Subtotal	1	5.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	ю	21.43%	7	13.33	1	8.33
Symbolic and advisory instruments	Land as Economic Resource	5	10.00		60.6	5	28.57	0	0.00	-	7.14%	0	0.00	0	0.00
	Land as shelter ownership	4	20.00	4	36.36	-	14.29	0	0.00	Ļ	7.14%	0	0.00	Ļ	8.33
	Land access as public spaces	1	5.00	1	60.6	0	0.00	0	0.00	1	7.14%	0	0.00	ю	25.00
	Land & Gender equality	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	1	7.14%	0	0.00	0	0.00
	Subtotal	~	35.00	9	54.55	Э	42.86	0	0.00	4	28.57%	0	0.00	4	33.33
Capacity-building instruments	Land as Economic Resource	0	0.00	0	0.00	7	14.29		11.11	1	7.14%	5	13.33	0	0.00
	Land as shelter ownership	1	5.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	1	11.11	0	0.00%	0	0.00	0	0.00
	Land access as public spaces	1	5.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%	1	6.67	1	8.33
	Land & Gender equality	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%	0	0.00	0	0.00
	Subtotal	2	10.00	0	0.00	1	14.29	2	22.22	1	7.14%	3	20.00	1	8.33
System change instruments	Land as Economic Resource	1	5.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%	3	20.00	0	0.00
	Land as shelter ownership	1	5.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	1	11.11	0	0.00%	1	6.67	0	0.00
	Land access as public spaces	1	5.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%	1	6.67	0	0.00
	Land & Gender equality	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	0	0.00%	0	0.00	0	0.00
	Subtotal	Э	15.00	0	0.00	0	0.00	1	11.11	0	0.00%	Ŋ	33.33	0	0.00
Total		20	100%	11	100%	~	100%	6	100%	14	100%	15	100%	12	100%

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments	Total
Cambodia	7(35%)	1(5%)	7(35%)	2(10%)	3(15%)	20(100%)
Indonesia	5(45%)	0(0%)	6(55%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	11(100%)
Malaysia	3(43%)	0(0%)	3(43%)	1(14%)	0(0%)	7(100%)
Myanmar	6(67%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	2(22%)	1(11%)	9(100%)
Philippines	6(43%)	3(21%)	4(29%)	1(7%)	0(0%)	14(100%)
Thailand	5(33%)	2(13%)	0(0%)	3(20%)	5(33%)	15(100%)
Vietnam	6(50%)	1(8%)	4(33%)	1(8%)	0(0%)	12(100%)
	38(44%)	5(6%)	23(26%)	11(13%)	10(11%)	87(100%)

Table 9. Distribution by Instrument Category.

Among all five categories, the proportion of authoritative instruments is highest in all countries except in Indonesia, making it the most prominently used instrument category. Incentive instruments have not been used in Indonesia, Malaysia, and Myanmar, whereas the Philippines mentions three incentive instruments. Thailand mentions two, while Vietnam and Cambodia have one incentive instrument. Except for Myanmar and Thailand, all the other countries have symbolic and advisory instruments. Cambodia has the maximum number of symbolic and advisory instruments, followed by Indonesia, the Philippines and Vietnam. Every country, except for Indonesia, has mentioned capacitybuilding instruments in their policy documents. However, the number of instruments is low, ranging from one to three per country. Cambodia, Myanmar, and Thailand mention system-change instruments in their policy documents, while the other four countries do not have any instruments under this category.

Indonesia has used only two categories of instruments, symbolic and advisory instruments. Cambodia has used all five types of instruments, with authoritative instruments, symbolic and advisory instruments being the more prominent categories. Malaysia has the least number of policy instruments relating to the land (7) and has used three types of instruments, with no incentive or a system change instrument. Similarly, Myanmar also has fewer instruments (9) and does not have any under the category of incentive instruments and symbolic and advisory instruments. The policy documents of the Philippines mention instruments under all the categories except the system change instrument category. Thailand also has instruments under all the categories except the symbolic and advisory instruments category. However, Vietnam does not have any system change instrument has instruments in all the other categories.

Government still use authoritative instruments as the preferred means to implement their plans. However, the usage of the other types of instruments indicates their increased openness to consider alternative mechanisms to communicate their intentions and translate the same into desired outcomes. The symbolic and advisory instruments are the next prominent category that points to the government's willingness to reach out through more guidance and best practices' dissemination efforts. These policy instruments are typically characterized by their adoption with lower prior requirements, wider stakeholders, and lower investment. The success of these instruments relies on greater dissemination and propaganda to reach a wider audience. These instruments have the potential to create consensus across different societal groups, and foster partnerships to implement the landrelated policies. The capacity-building instruments, and the system change instruments are not the widely used categories across the ASEAN countries. This indicates that the countries, while important to implementing land-related policies, are yet to support the implementation of SDGs through more comprehensive education or to commit resources to augment the institutional structures for land-related aspects. The use of incentive instruments appears to be insufficient across all the ASEAN countries. While the incentive instruments need to be used judiciously, they have the potential to quickly reduce the gap between the expectations of the governments and the operative conditions on the ground. As the countries are currently behind in their stated commitments of achieving the SDGs, it might be helpful to investigate the role of incentive instruments in greater detail.

ii. Categorization of Policy Instruments: Y-Dimension

Table 10 below presents the extracted information of the land utilization distribution in each country's policy instruments. Land utilization in the policy instruments is categorized into four groups, namely, land as an economic resource, land as shelter, ownership, land access for public spaces, and land for gender equality. The SDG-related policy instruments of all the seven countries incorporate elements relating to land as an economic resource, land as shelter, and land access for public spaces. However, the elements related to land for gender equality do not seem to be as important as the other three categories.

	Cambodia	Indonesia	Malaysia	Myanmar	Philippines	Thailand	Vietnam	Total
Land as Economic Resource	7(35%)	3(27%)	4(57%)	3(33%)	3(21%)	8(53%)	1(8%)	26(30%)
Land as shelter ownership	8(40%)	7(64%)	2(29%)	3(33%)	8(57%)	2(13%)	4(33%)	32(37%)
Land access as public spaces	5(25%)	1(9%)	1(14%)	2(22%)	1(7%)	5(33%)	6(50%)	24(28%)
Land & Gender equality	0(0%) 20(100%)	0(0%) 11(100%)	0(0%) 7(100%)	1(11%) 9(100%)	2(14%) 13(100%)	0(0%) 15(100%)	1(8%) 12(100%)	5(6%) 87(100%)

Table 10. Distribution by Land Utilization Category.

The count of the policy instruments related to land for shelter have the highest mention, with 37% of the total. The policy instruments related to land as an economic resource and land access for public spaces are almost equal at about 30%. The count of the policy instruments relating to utilization of land for gender equality show the lowest importance, at about 6% of the total. With eight each, Cambodia, the Philippines, and Indonesia, with seven policy instruments related to land utilization as shelter, have the highest number in the ASEAN region. All the other countries have two to four policy instruments related to land utilization for shelter. Thailand has the highest number of policy instruments mentioning land as an economic resource (8), followed by Cambodia (7). Vietnam's policy document has only one mention of land as an economic resource. All the other countries have three to four policy instruments mentioned in their respective documents. Vietnam's policy document mentions six policy instruments for land utilization for public spaces. Cambodia and Thailand have five such policy instruments. All the other countries have one or two policy instruments related to land utilization for public spaces.

A review of the land utilization policy instruments in Cambodia indicates that the highest importance is accorded to land usage for shelter (8) followed by utilization of land as an economic resource (7) and the availability of land for public spaces (5). This document does not have any policy instrument relating to land utilization for addressing gender inequality. Limited land availability, high reliance on the agriculture and fisheries sector, and the historical turmoil that the country has witnessed leading to social inequality could be the reasons for such a distribution. Cambodia's National Strategic Development Plan is based on its Rectangular Strategy Phase IV, which is a progressive improvement on the earlier phases. This document focuses on land, in terms of real estate, urbanization, construction, land use, and public private partnership. The document mentions developing laws related to the land—particularly land management, housing, and construction. The overarching focus appears to be on making affordable housing available using land reforms as a tool and encouraging public private partnerships. The policy instruments also ensure that illegal settlements are regularised as per the prevailing provisions.

The pattern is similar for Indonesia, with seven instruments for utilization of land for shelter, three instruments relating to land utilization as an economic resource, and one pol-

icy instrument for utilizing the land for public spaces. The fast-growing urban population, leading to greater aspirations for affordable housing, and the general congestion, particularly in the country's urban areas, could have influenced such a distribution. Indonesia's 2020–2024 National Medium-term Development Plan (RPJMN) is part of the 2005–2025 National Long-Term Development Plan (RPJPN). This plan has integrated the sustainable development goals to such an extent that, now, many of the SDGs are inseparable from the Indonesian Government's current development agendas. Moreover, this document acts as a precursor to the broader Vision 2045, whose objective is to achieve sustainable infrastructure, improved public services, and high human development. The focus of the policy instruments has been on providing legal certainty to land rights, enabling better access to land through land banks, promoting urban renewal, using public land for affordable housing find augmenting the income of the farmers and fisheries sector.

Out of the seven policy instruments relating to land in Malaysia, four relate to land as an economic resource, two relate to land utilization as shelter, and one for land access for public spaces. No policy instrument directly refers to land utilization for addressing gender inequality. Malaysia's Shared Vision Prosperity 2030 document has been developed keeping 15 guiding principles and 8 enablers at the core. The focus of land utilization in the policy document is on making the rural, semi-urban, and unutilized land more economically beneficial. There is an increased focus on ensuring equality for the indigenous people, balanced regional development, improving access to common infrastructures such as hospitals, transportation modes, etc. and access to affordable housing.

Myanmar has three policy instruments, each relating to land utilization as an economic resource and for shelter, two instruments relating to land for public spaces, and one for addressing gender inequality. Myanmar Sustainable Development Plan—MSDP (2018–2030) has been crafted by keeping 3 pillars, 5 goals, 28 strategies, and 251 action items in focus with a long-term vision to achieve broad objective of making Myanmar prosperous, democratic, and peaceful country. MSDP focuses on different cross-cutting themes such as equity and inclusion, sustainability in all its forms, conflict-sensitive approaches, and democratic principles. This plan aligns with SDGs and domestic and international commitments of the country as a part of the ASEAN Economic Community (AEC), Greater Mekong Subregion (GMS) Strategic Framework, and others. The land related policy instruments focus on strengthening the legal rights of urban households, creating an institutional and governance infrastructure to support the same, improving the quality of life through better public infrastructure, and implementing a national housing strategy that focuses on affordable housing for the low-income groups.

The Philippines also has instruments across the four land utilization categories. Eight of its instruments relate to shelter, three relate to land as an economic resource, two address gender inequality, and one relates to land access to public spaces. The Philippine Development Plan—PDP (2017–2022) has been built on three pillars of enhancing the social fabric (Malasakit), reducing inequality (Pagbabago), and increasing growth potential (Patuloy na Pagunlad). This plan focuses on alleviating poverty (in agriculture and lagging regions) and inequality. The land-related policy instruments emphasize strengthening housing as a means to eradicate poverty, having a better land titling system through appropriate institutional governance structures, providing incentives for affordable housing, and providing better public infrastructure, particularly for low-income households.

Thailand has accorded the highest importance to land as an economic resource (8) followed by utilization of land for public spaces (5) and the availability of land for shelter (2). It does not have any policy instrument that addresses land for gender inequality. Thailand's Twelfth National Economic and Social development Plan focuses on self-sufficiency and people-centred development. The land related policy instruments focus on enhancing land ownership opportunities in order to augment income, particularly of low-income groups, applying economic instruments to ensure land rights, the development of land banks, and to support infrastructure to ensure efficient land management.

Vietnam has the highest number of policy instruments accorded to land utilization for public spaces. It has four instruments that address the utilization of land for shelter and one instrument each for the other two categories. Vietnam's National Action Plan focuses explicitly on the SDGs-related indicators and outlines the phased implementation and activities to be performed by various entities. The national plan emphasizes urban development, promotes participation by various sectors to increase housing affordability, and provides incentives and initiatives to attract investments in housing.

The ASEAN countries put more prominence to making land available for shelter/ housing. The other two major uses in the SDG policy and strategy documents are using land as an economic resource and making land available for public spaces. Cambodia and the Philippines have the greatest number of instruments for land use as shelter, whereas Malaysia and Thailand give more prominence to land use as an economic resource. Myanmar has given equal importance to land usage as an economic resource and shelter. Vietnam is the only country with the highest number of instruments relating to land usage for public spaces.

The approach used for the study is a semi-quantitative analysis method that examines the contents of the policy documents in a systematic manner. This research studied the representative policy and strategy documents of the ASEAN countries to implement SDGs. The intention is to investigate the importance attached to land-related issues in implementing SDGs. However, there is no uniform or established mechanism to classify the policy documents and there are no standardized coding mechanisms. The classification system adopted in this paper synthesizes the work done by MacDonald and Elmore [37], Ingram and Schneider [38], and Xie et al. [35]. Another element that needs to be considered is the extent of usage of various instruments or the ideal combination of instruments needed for achieving the desired outcome. Given the early stage of the SDG policy formulation and incorporation of the land-related aspects, the equilibrium quantum of land-related instruments in the overall SDG implementation documents cannot be accurately estimated. This research assumes that the relative appearance of the types of instruments or the purposes of land usage is consistent with the intention of the respective governments. The relative presence of a particular type of policy instrument or the land use mentioned could be due to the broader range of elements that need to be covered. Hence, the equilibrium required of the respective land-related policy instruments would need to be studied in greater detail. There are numerous documents developed at the sub national level that also have elements related to land. A more extensive study in the future incorporating a wider group of countries at both national and subnational levels would provide a perspective of how much importance land related issues have been accorded in the SDG implementation.

5. Conclusions

The research investigates the importance accorded to land in various policy and strategy documents developed by countries in their quest to achieve SDGs. The policy and strategy documents of a representative group of countries from the ASEAN region have been studied using content analysis to draw inferences on how the land-related aspects have been used. Ensuring land availability for the shelter/housing purposes is the primary focus of the ASEAN countries. All the countries have their own priority areas where they have higher number of instruments; for example, Malaysia and Thailand have given preference to land used as economic resources. However, Cambodia and the Philippines have given preference to land use as shelter. For Malysia and Thailand, there is no specific policy instrument that is related to land utilization while addressing gender equality. Myanmar's policy instruments give equal preference to land as economic resource and land as shelter/housing. Land use for public space has the highest policy instruments for Vietnam. The usage of different types of instruments is not relatively balanced across the region. All the countries have, predominantly, used authoritative instruments. The usage of more collaborative, transformative, and capacity-promoting building is not as widely used. The reliance on authoritative instruments depicts greater control and supervision, which demonstrates the importance attached to the incorporation of land-based aspects in achieving the SDGs. The substantially lower use of other categories of instruments may compromise the strength of the executive, weaken partnership spirit and collaborative ventures. The dimensions of the land usage demonstrate a strong emphasis on providing shelter and promoting economic use. The importance of making land available for public spaces is relatively lower, while the number of instruments that indicate land availability to promote gender equality is significantly less.

The achievement of SDGs would mean a fair distribution of societal benefits and is contingent upon a myriad of factors, including the ability to implement initiatives and projects. SDG achievement is contingent upon a balanced, cohesive presence of all the elements pertaining to land. Incorporation of the various dimensions of land in their respective policy and strategy documents by the respective countries signals their commitment to sustainable development. Giving greater prominence to instruments that promote capacity-building, institutional reforms can form is a stronger foundation for the accelerated achievement of SDGs. As the countries progress towards their respective committed dates of achieving SDGs, there would be a need to strengthen the policy aspects that would necessitate the adoption of a wider range of instruments. A proper equilibrium in the various categories of the instruments and the different dimensions of land usage could be considered with the policymakers for fostering sustainable development.

Author Contributions: The research was equally conceived, designed, and written by the authors. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instru- ments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
	Preparing four regulatory documents: (1) drafting the Law on Management of Valuation Services and Real Estate Services; (2) developing the Law on Mortgage Busines A Magagapa nt (3) developing the Law on Real Estate Development Business Management (4) drafting a Prakas on the Management of Consumer Goods Business and developing the real estate valuation standard.		Pushing for the amendment of the law on investment, and the effective enforcement of this law and the law on special economic zones.		Continuing to enhance land reform and accelerate the development of a master plan and land use plan for land management, urban planning and construction, at both national and sub-national levels, aiming to manage and use land more efficiently
Land as economic resource owner- ship/access	All of these require the RGC to place priority on: (1) promoting agriculture sector and rural development; (2) sustainable management of natural resources and culture; (3) strengthening urbanization management; and (4) ensuring environmental sustainability and readiness to respond to climate change.		All the decrees and sub decrees have been listed under planned actions title—basically proposed actions in the NSDP—document		
	Proposed developing laws: (1) Law on Construction, (2) New Law on Land, (3) Law on Land Management and Urbanization, (4) Law on Housing, (5) Law on Cambodia's Coastal Area Management and Development				
	Strengthening the competency to manage urbanization, land use plan for the capital, developing land use plans for municipalities, district-khan, commune-sangkat nationwide; preparing strategic directions for land zoning; and residential management by using technology.				

Table A1. Cambodia.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instru-	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
	Proposed National Policy on Public Private Partnership on Land	Incentives Policy and National Program for Affordable Housing Develop- ment.	Encouraging the settlement of disordered buildings in municipalities and urban areas in the form of on-site development or resettlement in accordance with Directive No.03 on the settlement of temporary buildings on state land that are illegally occupied in the capital, municipalities, and urban areas	Developing the map for the temporary construction sites and poor communities and housing loan information in the capital and provinces.	Continuing social land concession programs to distribute lands to 500 poor and landless families per year and to distribute 500 land plots and/or houses per year to the armed forces standing at the borders.
Land as shelter			Promoting the construction of housing units for rent and sale to low and medium income and vulnerable people in accordance with the National Program for Development of Affordable Housing.		
ownership			continuing to focus on managing the real estate sector and strive to promote affordable housing in line with the RGC's policies		
			Promoting construction sector development and arrangement of cities and urban areas, especially Poipet and Bavet, by enhancing the development and enforcement of laws, regulations, technology and construction standards that ensure quality, safety, beauty, efficiency and smart city principles, as well as strengthening the implementation of an affordable housing program.		

Table A1. Cont.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instru- ments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land access as public spaces	Proposed National Policy on Public Private Partnership on Land		Further enhancing the beauty and services in cities and major urban areas through managing waste and sanitation; preparing pedestrian sidewalks, parking spaces, public parks; constructing rivers' edges and dam; improving public order and lighting in the city; conserving buildings of historical values; and enhancement of the quality and use of public transport in the city.	Formulating an infrastructure master plan for main cities and urban areas to support the development of roads, railways and waterways, electricity networks, and clean water networks, especially sewage and water treatment systems.	Formulating policies and strategies: National Policy on Public Private Partnership on Land and National Strategy on Municipality and Urban Area Development.
	Proposed National Strategy on Municipality and Urban Area Development.				
Land & Gender equality					

Table A1. Cont.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instru- ments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity- Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as economic resource own-	Strengthening traditional institutions and customary villages, protecting the rights of indigenous people in accordance with applicable laws including customary/communal land rights		Increase farmer's income by an average of 5% p.a. and fisher's income 10% p.a. (SDG targets) Increasing availability, access, and quality of food consumption		
etstup/ access	Improving the legal certainty of land rights through: (i) certification of land rights especially in areas directed as corridors of economic growth and equity, and also in the surrounding areas, including transmigration areas				
Land as shelter ownershin	Expanding housing finance facilities, especially for people with no permanent income and who build their houses independently		At the national level, policy integration is urgently needed in all supply chains for housing, especially in relation to land and financing.		
	Utilizing state-owned land to support the provision of housing for middle and lower-income groups		Inclusive urban renewal and land consolidation in the context of creating a city without slums		
	Providing resources for Land Object of Agrarian Reform (TORA), including releasing forest areas; Implementing land redistribution, among others, for the development of transmigration areas;		Increase public access to affordable, proper, and safe housing for 1 million households		

Table A2. Indonesia.

	I Authoritative Instruments	ncentive Instru- ments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity- Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
			The policy directions and strategies in the context of ulfilling the needs for adequate, safe and affordable housing and settlements in urban areas are to develop a public housing system through the provision of simple flats to own or rent that are integrated with the public transportation system, using the approach of forming urban public housing agencies in the respective metropolitan areas by providing land, managing assets, and rejuvenating areas including the developing new towns.		
Land access as public spaces		10	Providing land for development in the public interest through the establishment of a land bank, and improvement of land services through modern, digital-based services and recruitment of civil servants as land measurement officers		
Land & Gender equality					

Table A2. Cont.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instru- ments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as economic resource own- ership/access	Developing regional economic ecosystem including enhancing entrepreneurship programmes, encouraging start-ups and boosting rural industry competitiveness to bridge urban-rural economic disparity		developing suburban, rural areas and underutilised land to be competitive and creating more employment opportunities	Implementing a holistic rural development action plan by taking into account ecosystem development, human resource/talent, financing, skills and entrepreneurship, logistics and communications;	
			Smart Farming refers to the wide use and integration of high technology that is environmentally friendly in farming activities, in order to increase the quantity and quality of domestic harvests, while at the same time reducing the agriculture sector's dependence on labour. For example, drones can spray insecticide and internet of things (IoT) sensors can analyse farmland and monitor farming produce. The effectiveness of smart farming can be strengthened with automation, precision agriculture applications and vertical farming.		

Table A3. Malaysia.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instru- ments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as shelter ownership	Granting of land title to the indigenous should also consider their opportunity to participate in the development stream and the right to continue practising their culture and heritage. Therefore, issues on indigenous land ownership need to be given due consideration and a specific policy should be formulated to address them.		Community in economic transition involves vulnerable groups including communities that have migrated from estates, urban poor groups and settlers, and rural people in urban and industrial settings. Among these groups' issues are home ownership, access to basic facilities, and quality education. These issues need to be addressed thoroughly, to improve their social mobility and increase their participation in higher-income economic activities.		
Land access as public spaces	Improving access to basic facilities and infrastructure in rural areas such as hospitals, health centres, schools, roads, jetties, bridges, markets and telecommunication infrastructure				
Land & Gender equality					

Table A3. Cont.

Land as economic resource owner-ship/access Create market conditions to enable greater investment in agriculture, and mechanization economic resource owner-ship/access Enhance irrigation and drainage services, and support more efficient and sustainable water management systems Land as shelter Strengthen urban households' land rights/tenure and property rights and enforcement Land as shelter Strengthen urban households' land rights/tenure and property rights and enforcement Land as shelter Strengthen urban households' land rights/tenure and property rights and enforcement Land as shelter Strengthen urban households' land rights/tenure and property rights and enforcement Develop sustainable public transport systems, that are safe, convenient and access as such as water management (retention and reticulation) and expansion of public space (centres of learning /libraries, parks, playgrounds and green areas) are fully integrated into urban planning framework and decision making	In oritative Instruments 1	ncentive Instru- ments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Enhance irrigation and drainage services, and support more efficient and sustainable water management systems Land as shelter Strengthen urban households' land enforcement Land as shelter Strengthen urban households' land rights/tenure and property rights and enforcement Downership Enevelop sustainable public transport systems, including school transportation systems, that are safe, convenient and accessible to all Land access as public spaces Ensure that quality of life considerations such as water management (retention and reticulation) and expansion of public space (centres of learning/libraries, parks, playgrounds and green areas) are fully integrated into urban planning framework	t conditions to enable greater agriculture, aquaculture and .ure, and mechanization			Revise and develop education and training in the agriculture, aquaculture and food sectors, responding to the evolving needs of farmers and the rural private sector	
Land as shelter ownership ownership bownersh	gation and drainage services, nore efficient and sustainable management systems				
Develop sustainable public transport systems, including school transportation systems, that are safe, convenient and accessible to allLand access as public spacesEnsure that quality of life considerations such as water management (retention and reticulation) and expansion of public space (centres of learning/libraries, parks, playgrounds and green areas) are fully integrated into urban planning framework	n urban households' land ure and property rights and enforcement			Strengthen rural households' land tenure, property rights and related enforcement capacities	Develop and effectively implement a national housing strategy, including low-cost housing and housing for vulnerable groups, and implement affordable housing projects including resettlement of squatters and the improvement of slum areas
Land access as Ensure that quality of life considerations public spaces such as water management (retention and reticulation) and expansion of public space (centres of learning/libraries, parks, playgrounds and green areas) are fully integrated into urban planning framework and decision making	istainable public transport luding school transportation at are safe, convenient and accessible to all				
	quality of life considerations r management (retention and nd expansion of public spaces flearning/libraries, parks, ls and green areas) are fully o urban planning frameworks d decision making				
Strengthen urban governance and related Land & Gender policy frameworks, including those related equality to urban land management, with a focus or gender specific and youth-related concern:	rban governance and related vorks, including those related management, with a focus on ic and youth-related concerns				

Table A4. Myanmar.
	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as economic resource owner- ship/access	Ensure and protect the land tenure security of ARBs by completing the LAD and immediately install ARBs in awarded lands upon the issuance of emancipation patent or CLOAs. An inventory of lands and profiling of ARBs will be conducted to ensure an updated status of land distribution in the country and guide the delivery of support services in agrarian reform communities and clusters.		"Physically link production areas to markets through road and rail-based transport, inter-island water transport and logistics system."	Develop an integrated color-coded agricultural map to identify the comparative advantage of specific areas. It will contain updated sub-national information on soil characteristics, water availability, climatic types, topography, and socioeconomic conditions. The map will inform production decisions about suitable crops and agricultural activities	
Land as shelter ownership	Strengthen housing as a platform to reduce poverty and improve social outcomes. Housing programs will be linked with other social development programs. It will help maximize the "multiplier effect" of the provision of housing units as a means to reduce poverty, generate jobs and employment, and spur downstream economic activities	The budget will consider a proposed policy on an income-based subsidy scheme that will bridge the gap between housing costs and varying income levels of families	Intensify implementation of alternatives and innovative solutions to address the housing needs of the lower income classes and vulnerable sectors. Solutions such as public rental housing, mixed-income/mixed-use housing development, housing microfinance initiatives, incremental housing programs, and housing cooperatives will be used to enhance housing affordability. These solutions will help address the issue of low occupancy rate and cater more sustainably to the needs of the homeless, poor, and underprivileged beneficiaries.		

Table A5. Philippines.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
	Develop integrated neighbourhoods and sustainable communities, particularly for low-income households. This is to ensure that housing and auxiliary services and needs of resettled ISFs are adequately satisfied. The physical infrastructure of housing and location of human settlements must also ensure compliance with disaster risk reduction and management (DRRM) and climate change adaptation (CCA) requirements to mitigate risks and address vulnerability	In addition, voucher-type direct subsidies for socialized and economic housing will be explored. A voucher-type scheme can expand the delivery mechanism to include NHA and SHFC and the HDMF, LGUs, and government financial institutions (GFIs). Such a scheme introduces competition among players that comply with the substantive and procedural requirements of the Urban Development and Housing Act of 1992.	Adopt viable land acquisition approaches and fast-track the inventory of lands for socialized housing development.		
ıd as elter ership	Strengthen partnerships with stakeholders. As a cross-cutting strategy, the sector will strengthen its multi-stakeholder partnerships through a participatory approach. This ensures that local shelter plans are linked with the National Resettlement Plan (NRP). It will encourage PPPs for housing projects and improve the developers' compliance to the policy of balanced housing development. The government will also harness the services of volunteers from the academe, corporate, nongovernment, and international organizations in delivering social services, providing technical assistance, responding to disasters, and undertaking humanitarian efforts.	Housing finance reforms shall be instituted to meet the needs of starting families. The HDMF contribution system should be restructured to better match the earning profile and the required payment stream.	Inventory of lands and cadastral surveys will be fast-tracked to hasten the process of identifying land for housing projects.		

Table A5. Cont.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as shelter ownership	Housing finance reforms shall be instituted to meet the needs of starting families. The HDMF contribution system should be restructured to allow for a better match profile of members and the required payment stream.		The decentralization of housing and urban development efforts will be reinforced, especially on local shelter planning, comprehensive land use planning with a ridge-to-reef approach, land acquisition and development, curbing proliferation of informal settlers, implementation of a Regional Resettlement Action Plan (RRAP), and pursuit of NUA and SDGs, in coordination with the NGAs.		
Land access as public spaces			Enhance green spaces in urban areas		
Land & Gender equality	Secure tenure in affordable, safe and disaster-resilient housing will be provided to underprivileged and homeless families. Provide for the needs of the vulnerable. Cultural aspects, gender-responsive when providing housing for different groups, considered when providing housing for different genders and be elderly- and persons with disability-friendly.		A gender responsive CDD ("peoples' plan") approach will be promoted to involve the beneficiaries in the entire development process. Such an approach will help increase occupancy rates and efficiency in the collection, improve estate management, and ensure inclusive access to and control of housing and human settlement services and benefits.		

Table A5. Cont.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as	Enhance land-ownership opportunities along with promoting sustainable and holistic land access rights. Measures include land allocation to landless poor farmers, with conditions preventing the transfer of land transfer-training; financial provision for job-creation; expansion of opportunities to access professionally-relevant information, news and knowledge.	Collect land taxes progressively.		Developing models and processes of knowledge transfer in agricultural practice to farmers in order to change their systems to become compatible with climate change and to realise the potential of their land	Finally, a land bank should be established as a mechanism for distributing landholdings to farmers and poor households such that they would have land to eam a living as well as for shelter
economic resource own- ership/access	Integrate land management mechanisms to establish the overall direction for land policies towards fair distribution of ownership.			Design efficient land leasing systems to create opportunities in land utilization.	Advocating the passage of a Protecting Agricultural Land Bill
					The strategy on green growth for sustainable development emphasizes fair distribution of land solve the problem of public land encroachment and provide the poor with common rights to use land.
	Formulate measures that prevent land ownership by foreigners.				
Land as shelter ownership					Finally, a land bank should be established as a mechanism for distributing landholdings to farmers and poor households such that they would have land to earn a living as woll of for sholder
					דו א דווצ מס אא כיוו מס זיאו סוורזירי

Table A6. Thailand.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land access as public spaces	Foster universal and tailor-designed infrastructure that emphasizes appropriateness for children, women, disabled persons, the elderly and disadvantaged groups. This aims to have equal access to public services and equal opportunity to develop themselves to their fullest potential. Develop land management systems and resolve public land encroachment.	Apply economic instruments when providing communities with common land rights for collective use in developing the product revenue for communities.		Build a database system for land management, and issue clear and complete ownership documents for all types of public land.	The Community Land Title Act should be pushed forward so that communities can collectively manage land and natural resources efficiently
Land & Gender equality					

Table A6. Cont.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
Land as economic resource owner- ship/access	Review, make recommendations to improve the existing system of legislation to ensure equal rights for citizens, particularly women, the poor and the vulnerable, to access economic resources, basic services, the right to use land and natural resources, the right to own and exercise control over other forms of property as provided for by the Constitution.				
Land as shelter ownership	Review, make recommendations to improve the existing system of legislation to ensure equal rights for citizens, particularly women, the poor and the vulnerable, to access economic resources, basic services, the right to use land and natural resources, and the right to own and exercise control over other forms of property as provided for by the Constitution.	Continue to implement preferential policies for investment flows into housing schemes for low-income and medium income people; to eliminate temporary houses and slums in urban areas.	Adopt policies that encourage various sectors to participate in housing development, rent houses based on market mechanisms in order to meet the needs of target groups who are able to afford it. Face affordability constraints.		
	Issue policies that support housing development in order to provide housing to social welfare beneficiary groups who are in need of housing but are unable to afford it, based on market mechanisms.				

Table A7. Vietnam.

	Authoritative Instruments	Incentive Instruments	Symbolic and Advisory Instruments	Capacity-Building Instruments	System Change Instruments
	Improve management mechanisms for urban development. Develop an urban government model that ensures effectiveness and efficiency in sustainable urban management and development.		Issue guidelines on the planning of green urban areas, a set of indicators on green urban areas in order to guide urban development. Develop a set of criteria on the planning of green spaces, public spaces in urban areas, and issue technical/economic norms for green tree parks.	Develop processes for communities to participate in the preparation of urban planning schemes, urban development projects, urban management work generally.	
Land access as public spaces	Review urban centre master plans from the perspective of sustainable urban approaches (green urbanism, urban ecosystems, and urban economics) and plans for urban spaces to ensure the efficiency of ecological economics/isues.		Encourage investment, mobilize increased resources from society at large for the development of green spaces in the development of urban and population areas.		
			Speed up the construction of green urban centres, ecological urban centres and green public works.		
Land & Gender equality	Review, make recommendations to improve the existing system of legislation to ensure equal rights for citizens, particularly women, the poor and the vulnerable, to access economic resources, basic services, the right to use land and natural resources, the right to own and exercise control over other forms of property as provided for by the Constitution.				

Table A7. Cont.

References

- 1. Brundtland, G.H.; Khalid, M.; Agnelli, S.; Al-Athel, S.; Chidzero. Our common future. Brudtl. Rep. 1987, 383, 284–287. [CrossRef]
- UN. The Millennium Development Goals Report. 2015. Available online: http://www.unoosa.org/res/oosadoc/data/ documents/2015/mdg/mdg2015rev_0_html/MDG_2015_rev_July_1.pdf (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- 3. UN. Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform, United Nations. 2015. Available online: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld/publication (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- Gupta, J.; Vegelin, C. Sustainable development goals and inclusive development. Int. Environ. Agreem. Polit. Law Econ. 2016, 16, 433–448. [CrossRef]
- 5. United Nations. Outcome Document of the United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development, Rio de Janeiro. June 2012. Available online: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/733FutureWeWant.pdf (accessed on 3 October 2021).
- Hák, T.; Janoušková, S.; Moldan, B. Sustainable Development Goals: A need for relevant indicators. Ecol. Indic. 2016, 60, 565–573. [CrossRef]
- Griggs, D.; Stafford-Smith, M.; Gaffney, O.; Rockström, J.; Öhman, M.C.; Shyamsundar, P.; Steffen, W.; Glaser, G.; Kanie, N.; Noble, I. Policy: Sustainable development goals for people and planet. *Nature* 2013, 495, 305–307. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- UNFCCC. NDC Synthesis Report | Unfccc, Unfccc. Available online: https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-parisagreement/nationally-determined-contributions-ndcs/nationally-determined-contributions-ndcs/ndc-synthesis-report (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- 9. Besley, T.; Burgess, R. Land reform, poverty reduction, and growth: Evidence from India. Q. J. Econ. 2000, 2, 389–430. [CrossRef]
- 10. UN-Habitat. Affordable Land and Housing in Latin America and the Caribbean, 1st ed.; UN-Habitat: Nairobi, Kenya, 2011.
- 11. Ritchie, H.; Roser, M. Plastic Pollution—Our World in Data, Our World in Data. 2018. Available online: https://ourworldindata. org/plastic-pollution#ocean-plastic-sources-land-vs-marine (accessed on 15 April 2021).
- FAO. Land Use in Agriculture by the Numbers | Sustainable Food and Agriculture | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO. Available online: https://www.fao.org/sustainability/news/detail/en/c/1274219/ (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- 13. Singh, S. Land Acquisition in India: An Examination of the 2013 Act and Options. J. Land Rural Stud. 2016, 4, 66–78. [CrossRef]
- 14. Horan, D. National Baselines for Integrated Implementation of an Environmental Sustainable Development Goal Assessed in a New Integrated SDG Index. *Sustainability* **2020**, *12*, 6955. [CrossRef]
- Janoušková, S.; Hák, T.; Moldan, B. Global SDGs Assessments: Helping or Confusing Indicators? Sustainability 2018, 10, 1540. [CrossRef]
- 16. Swain, R.B.; Karimu, A. Renewable electricity and sustainable development goals in the EU. World Dev. 2020, 125, 104693. [CrossRef]
- 17. Güney, T. Renewable energy, non-renewable energy and sustainable development. Int. J. Sustain. Dev. World Ecol. 2019, 26, 389–397. [CrossRef]
- Razmjoo, A.A.; Sumper, A.; Davarpanah, A. Energy sustainability analysis based on SDGs for developing countries. *Energy Sour.* Part A Recovery Util. Environ. Eff. 2019, 42, 1041–1056. [CrossRef]
- 19. Tóth, G.; Hermann, T.; da Silva, M.R.; Montanarella, L. Monitoring soil for sustainable development and land degradation neutrality. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 2018, 190, 1–4. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sims, N.C.; Barger, N.N.; Metternicht, G.I.; England, J.R. A land degradation interpretation matrix for reporting on UN SDG indicator 15.3.1 and land degradation neutrality. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 2020, 114, 1–6. [CrossRef]
- Giuliani, G.; Mazzetti, P.; Santoro, M.; Nativi, S.; Van Bemmelen, J.; Colangeli, G.; Lehmann, A. Knowledge generation using satellite earth observations to support sustainable development goals (SDG): A use case on Land degradation. *Int. J. Appl. Earth* Obs. Geoinf. 2020, 88, 102068. [CrossRef]
- Tirumala, R.D.; Tiwari, P. Land-Based Financing Elements in Infrastructure Policy Formulation: A Case of India. Land 2021, 10, 133. [CrossRef]
- The ASEAN Secretariat. ASEAN Key Figures 2019, Jakarta. 2019. Available online: https://www.aseanstats.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/11/ASEAN_Key_Figures_2019.pdf (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- 24. UNCTAD. The Least Developed Countries Report 2020: Productive Capacities for the New Decade. 2020. Available online: https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ldcr2020_en.pdf (accessed on 8 October 2021).
- 25. Eckstein, D.; Künzel, V.; Schäfer, L. Global Climate Risk Index 2021, Germanwatch e.V. January 2021. Available online: https: //reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/GlobalClimateRiskIndex2021_1_0.pdf (accessed on 8 October 2021).
- ADB SDG Accelerator Bonds. ADB Proposes SDG Accelerator Bonds for Green Infrastructure Projects in Southeast Asia | Asian Development Bank, ADB. Available online: https://www.adb.org/news/adb-proposes-sdg-accelerator-bonds-green-infrastructureprojects-southeast-asia (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- 27. Sachs, J.D.; Kroll, C.; Lafortune, G.; Fuller, G.; Woelm, F. Sustainable Development Report 2021 Includes the SDG Index and Dashboards the Decade of Action for the Sustainable Development Goals; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2021. [CrossRef]
- World Bank. World Development Indicators | DataBank, World Bank. Available online: https://databank.worldbank.org/ indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD/1ff4a498/Popular-Indicators (accessed on 15 November 2021).

- 29. Sachs, J.D.; Kroll, D.C.; Lafortune, G.; Fuller, G.; Woelm, F. Sustainable Development Report—Data, Sustainable Development Report (formerly the SDG Index & Dashboards). 2021. Available online: https://www.sdgindex.org/ (accessed on 8 October 2021).
- UN. Decade of Action—United Nations Sustainable Development, United Nations SDG. Available online: https://www.un.org/ sustainabledevelopment/decade-of-action/ (accessed on 30 November 2021).
- GCF. FP156: ASEAN Catalytic Green Finance Facility (ACGF): Green Recovery Program. 2021. Available online: https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/funding-proposal-fp156.pdf (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- 32. SDG Gateway Asia Pacific. Country SDG Profiles SDG Data Gateway, SDG Gateway Asia Pacific. Available online: https://data.unescap.org/data-analysis/country-sdg-profiles (accessed on 9 October 2021).
- Kleinheksel, A.J.; Rockich-Winston, N.; Tawfik, H.; Wyatt, T.R. Demystifying Content Analysis. Am. J. Pharm. Educ. 2020, 84, 127–137. [CrossRef]
- 34. Stemler, S. An overview of content analysis. Pract. Assess. Res. Eval. 2000, 7, 17. [CrossRef]
- 35. Xie, H.; Wen, J.; Choi, Y. How the SDGs are implemented in China—A comparative study based on the perspective of policy instruments. J. Clean. Prod. 2021, 291, 125937. [CrossRef]
- United Nations. Transforming our world: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development | Department of Economic and Social Affairs, United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Sustainable Development. Available online: https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda (accessed on 8 October 2021).
- 37. McDonnell, L.M.; Elmore, R.F. Getting the Job Done: Alternative Policy Instruments. *Educ. Eval. Policy Anal.* **1987**, *9*, 133–152. [CrossRef]
- 38. Schneider, A.; Ingram, H. Behavioral Assumptions of Policy Tools. J. Polit. 1990, 52, 510–529. [CrossRef]
- 39. National Urban Platform. National Urban Policy Database, National Urban Platform Facilitated by UN Habitat. Available online: https://urbanpolicyplatform.org/national-urban-policy-database/#map (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- Royal Government of Cambodia. National Strategic Development Plan 2019–2023, Phnom Penh. July 2019. Available online: https://data.opendevelopmentcambodia.net/dataset/national-strategic-development-plan-nsdp-2019-2023/resource/ bb62a621-8616-4728-842f-33ce7e199ef3/view/ba44ac64-d773-4af4-bac7-cfc0df740d95 (accessed on 9 October 2021).
- GIZ-LMADP. National Policy Spatial Planning of the Kingdom of Cambodia. 2011. Available online: https://cityofwater.files. wordpress.com/2011/11/document_681.pdf (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- National Council on Green Growth. National Strategic Plan on Green Growth 2013–2030. March 2013. Available online: https://www.greengrowthknowledge.org/sites/default/files/downloads/policy-database/CAMBODIA%29 NationalStrategicPlanonGreenGrowth2013-2030.pdf (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- 43. Secretariat of Cabinet the Republic of Indonesia. The National Medium-Term Development Plan for 2020–2024. 2020. Available online: https://www.bappenas.go.id/files/rpjmn/Narasi-RPJMN-2020-2024-versi-Bahasa-Inggris.pdf (accessed on 9 October 2021).
- 44. Bappenas. Strategic Environmental Assessment Masterplan for Acceleration and Expansion of Indonesia's Economic Development (Sea Mp3ei) Executive Summary Danida International Development Cooperation Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark; Bappenas: Jakarta, Indonesia, 2014.
- Bappenas. Main Message Ministry of National Development Planning/National Development Planning Agency. June 2021. Available online: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/27859Indonesia_REVISED_Indonesia_VNR_ Main_Message.pdf (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- Secretary General. Shared Prosperity Vision 2030, Putrajaya. 2019. Available online: https://www.malaysia.gov.my/portal/ content/30901 (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- M. the Commissioner of Law Revision, Laws of Malaysia National Heritage Act 2005 Published by the Commissioner of Law Revision, Malaysia under the Authority of the Revision of Laws Act 1968 in Collaboration with Percetakan Nasional Malaysia Bhd; The Commissioner of Law Revision: Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 2005.
- M. Ministry of Planning and Finance. Myanmar Sustainable Development Plan 2018–2030. 2018. Available online: http://themimu.info/sites/themimu.info/files/documents/Core_Doc_Myanmar_Sustainable_Development_Plan_2018_-_2 030_Aug2018.pdf%0Ahttp://www.themimu.info/sites/themimu.info/files/documents/Core_Doc_Myanmar_Sustainable_ Development_Plan_2018_-_2030_Aug2018.pdf (accessed on 9 October 2021).
- Foreign Economic Relation Department. Myanmar Development Assistance Policy, Ministry of Investment and Foreign Economic Relations. September 2020. Available online: https://www.themimu.info/sites/themimu.info/files/documents/Core_Doc_ Myanmar_Development_Assistance_Policy_Sep2020_ENG.pdf (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- 50. National Economic and Development Authority. *Philippine National Development Plan—2017–2022;* National Economic and Development Authority: Pasig, Philippines, 2017.
- Office of the National Economic and Social Development Board. Thailand 12th Economic Plan, Bangkok. 2017. Available online: https://www.oneplanetnetwork.org/sites/default/files/thailand_national_economic_and_social_development_plan_ nesdp.pdf (accessed on 29 November 2021).
- Socialist Republic of Viet Nam. National Action Plan for the Implementation of the 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda, Hanoi. 2017. Available online: https://vietnam.un.org/sites/default/files/2020-08/kehoachhanhdongquocgia_04-07-ENG_ CHXHCNVN.pdf (accessed on 29 November 2021).



Article



Moving the 2030 Agenda Ahead: Exploring the Role of Multiple Mediators toward Perceived Environment and Social Sustainability in Residential Neighbourhoods

Massoomeh Hedayati Marzbali ^{1,*}, Aldrin Abdullah ¹, Mohammad Javad Maghsoodi Tilaki ² and Mina Safizadeh ¹

- ¹ School of Housing, Building & Planning, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Gelugor 11800, Penang, Malaysia; aldrin@usm.my (A.A.); mina.safizadeh@student.usm.my (M.S.)
- ² School of Humanities, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Gelugor 11800, Penang, Malaysia; maghsoodi@usm.my
- Correspondence: hedayati@usm.my

Abstract: Neighbourhood safety represents an important topic of study to illustrate the reasons behind the increases in crime and mitigate its effects in neighbourhoods. This study examines how the social and environmental features of neighbourhoods may influence the social sustainability of residents based on the assumption that the perception of safety and social cohesion mediates the effects of neighbourhood environment on social sustainability. A quantitative method was employed to collect data from residents in a low-rise residential area in Penang, Malaysia. The results of structural equation modelling (SEM) indicated the positive and significant effect of neighbourhood accessibility on perceived disorder, whilst the effect of accessibility on social cohesion was negative. Disorders may comprise social and physical disorders, and may have a negative effect on perception of safety, but not on social cohesion. The relationship between disorders and social sustainability is serially mediated by the perception of safety and social cohesion. This implies that those who perceived high disorderliness in a neighbourhood environment reported a lower level of perception of safety, social cohesion and lower levels of social sustainability. Attempts need to be made to reduce neighbourhood disorderliness to pave the way for 2030 Agenda goals implementation.

Keywords: social sustainability; accessibility; disorder; perception of safety; social cohesion; multiple mediators

1. Introduction

The necessity of sustainable development emerges from an implied conflict between the rapid human changes and the low speed of the renewal process of environmental resources [1]. This conflict can especially be seen within cities, where most transformations have occurred, changing them to the places where the sustainability procedure is difficult and required [2]. With the adoption of the 2030 Agenda by the United Nations, the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), as a set of goals and indicators, guide global development attempts in the years from 2016 to 2030. These 17 goals encompass a wide range of sustainable development issues, with the hope that governments will consider these goals to confront excessive poverty and the challenges of ensuring environmentally, socially and economically sustainable development in their respective societies [3]. The SDG framework of the 2030 Agenda defines a reference of worldwide guidelines, which are not mandatory, but beneficial in assisting policy development even at the local level of urban areas [4]. To make the 232 indicators of all 17 SDGs mentioned in the 2030 Agenda operational, countries must adjust and concretise them for their respective context [5].

Therefore, sustainable development has the essential objective of local and political decision-makers [6]. Principally, the 2030 Agenda is a comprehensive action plan that attempts to eradicate poverty and hunger; to reduce social and economic inequalities; to make communities safe from any form of crime; to build inclusive communities; to

Citation: Hedayati Marzbali, M.; Abdullah, A.; Maghsoodi Tilaki, M.J.; Safizadeh, M. Moving the 2030 Agenda Ahead: Exploring the Role of Multiple Mediators toward Perceived Environment and Social Sustainability in Residential Neighbourhoods. *Land* **2021**, *10*, 1079. https://doi.org/10.3390/land10101079

Academic Editors: Antonio Sianes and Luis A. Fernández-Portillo

Received: 6 September 2021 Accepted: 5 October 2021 Published: 13 October 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). improve people's well-being, health and education and learning; to keep human rights and promote gender equality; and to protect resources for the life of the planet underwater and on land [7]. In general, these 17 SDGs are unified and in line with the three aspects of sustainable development: (i) the environment based on the conservation of natural resources, (ii) the economy based on the good quality of life for all people and (iii) the society based on people's basic needs. While more complex dimensions of sustainability are developed and debated, sustainability is generally considered concerning the three mentioned aspects [8]. During the last few decades, the majority of the sustainability discourse has been influenced by ecological perspectives. The last decade, in particular, has experienced an increasing interest in the social features of sustainability [9]. Given that Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) have emerged as a new urban agenda, a growing interest in social aspects of communities can be observed. Urban sustainability discussion idealises a theoretical model comprising three integrated aspects: environmental, economic and social [10]. Evidence suggested that both social and physical characteristics of the neighbourhood environment can influence the residents' daily life and their social interactions [11]. Sustainability debates are no longer limited to the environmental dimension, but may also incorporate economic [12] and social dimensions [13]. Although numerous studies have investigated the neighbourhood environment and individuals' health among residents, research focusing on the effect of neighbourhood characteristics on social participation through formal and informal social roles is limited [14].

Whilst scholars tried to develop theoretical definitions and actions regarding the social aspect of sustainability [15], communities continued to negotiate the subjective nature of theoretical concepts that define socially sustainable communities. Social inclusion and cultivating a sense of belonging are known to be important components of social sustainability [16]. Notably, social sustainability is a multiscale phenomenon that started integrating into the urban decisions and designs from small- to large-scale from a neighbourhood to the region, for instance [17]. Evidence also states that the majority of the available sustainability assessment tools provided to measure the results of sustainable development goals merely cover the social aspect of sustainable development to a limited extent and are mainly characterised by the environmental dimensions of sustainability [18].

Increased exposure to neighbourhood disorders can have far-reaching implications for neighbourhood social aspects. Neighbourhood disorders, such as physical disorder (e.g., unkempt lawns and gardens, graffiti, littering and dumping of rubbish in public areas, poor street lighting, numerous vacant houses [19]) and communities with low levels of trust and connections [14] have been shown to prevent adults from participating in social activities. Perceived physical and social neighbourhood disorders have been linked with increased perception of safety and decreased social cohesion due to avoidance behaviours [20].

The relationship between perceived neighbourhood environment, such as perceived resources or problems (e.g., neighbourhood safety), neighbourhood social environment (e.g., social cohesion) and social sustainability is less clear [21]. As such, perceptions can affect the social and physical aspects of the residents' life, more so than objective characteristics in and of themselves [22]. Thus, examining the perceived neighbourhood environment can provide complementary information which can be useful in disentangling the effects of the neighbourhoods' social sustainability. Moreover, among numerous physical factors including land use mix [23], meeting places [24] and a mix of housing types [13] is neighbourhood accessibility, which is an important approach in evaluating the physical quality of neighbourhood environments [25]. However, studies on establishing the association of social cohesion and perception of safety as mediating factors are rarely available.

Although a large body of knowledge has recently been produced on this topic, as the urban social sustainability discourse has consequently moved from an 'under-theorised' status to an 'insufficiently theorised' status, further theoretical research should be conducted to consolidate the discourse and advance its theory. There is a need to build on these efforts and develop frameworks which may offer a comprehensive structure for analysis to link the qualitative and quantitative aspects of social sustainability [26]. Although there

are agreements about the general definition of sustainability and its relationship with neighbourhood characteristics, no worldwide solution for a sustainable neighbourhood has emerged. Previous studies are generally about case studies from developed countries. Few studies have been conducted from the developing countries' context. Consequently, based on precedent studies and seeking to reconcile the existing gaps, firstly, this study examines an integrated model of the neighbourhood environment, social cohesion, perception of safety, and social sustainability with micro-scale neighbourhood environment variables, which are rarely taken into account, in order to thoroughly investigate the relationship between the neighbourhood environment and social sustainability. An investigation of the causal relationships by using structural equation modelling (SEM), which has rarely been employed in the existing studies, comes second. Notably, the study empirically investigates the relationship between the physical and social characteristics of neighbourhood and social sustainability, considering the mediating role of social cohesion and perception of safety in an Asian context, especially in a rapidly urbanising and multi-ethnic society, such as Malaysia.

2. Theoretical Background

2.1. The 2030 Agenda and Sustainability

SDG#11 follows sustainable development regarding cities with 10 targets and 14 indicators at a worldwide level, which are neglected variously at the national level [27]. These indicators incline to be statistical and sometimes refer to the architectural dimension: especially pertaining to the social aspect, these indicators refer highly to social equity, equal accessibility of resources, social interaction and health and quality of life, which are more subjective indicators and yet main targets of sustainable development [28].

Therefore, the construction sector plays a significant role in the issue of SDG#11, with regard to the complicated relationship between the human need for space and the limitation of this resource [29]. This study mainly focuses on SDG#11, which deals with urbanisation and seeks to 'make cities inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable' [30]. In this sense, SDG#11 is the result of a process that starts at the global level in the search for sustainable development in a broad sense and increasingly evolves to recognise the key role of cities [31], providing a comprehensive reference model for the pursuit of sustainable development addressing several interlinked issues, with a focus on urban sustainability [32]. It can be considered as a global normative framework for urban transformations and urban policies. Its Target 11.7 requires cities by 2030 to provide access to safe and secure public spaces for all and to improve urban management through better urban policies and regulations [33].

Although social sustainability is the least developed component of sustainable development, it has been discussed as a fundamental part of sustainability since the 21st century [34]. The assessment of sustainability is based on the employment of various investigation and assessment approaches to generate information considering the choice, as they provide data necessary to investigate the outcomes of human actions for sustainable development [35]. Only, in recent years, there has been more attention drawn to the issues related to social sustainability as a fundamental component of sustainable development [36]. Moreover, evidence shows that identifying the level of sense of safety from the standpoint of sustainable development and determining the boundaries of safe existence allow for setting strategic medium or long-term goals [37]. In this sense, the usage of multi-criteria methodological frameworks is found for evaluating social sustainability; for instance, Munda [38] suggested the social multi-criteria evaluation method as a beneficial method for the application of social choices to the complicated contemporary problems. Meanwhile, Sierra et al. [39] reported several examples of multi-criteria methods, including social aspects. Given that the urban environment is a multidimensional system, projects must pay attention to different points of social and environmental views to make sustainable cities and architectures; consequently, multi-criteria evaluation is a useful framework to address them [40]. Due to increasing social inequalities, the formation of class distinctions and crime issues in the society, a growing interest in social aspects of communities can be observed.

Sustainability is no longer known as a mere environmental concern, but as a broad concept, which covers environmental and social aspects [41]. In a general perspective, social sustainability strategies attempt to improve the residents' quality of life and most relevant human needs including cultural and psychological ones, adaptability and consequently, sustainable development [42]. However, as previously mentioned, the social dimension of sustainable development goals regarding environmental and social suitability is limitedly studied and needs to be further investigated. The following research hypothesis has been developed:

Hypothesis 1 (H1). Accessibility is positively associated with disorder.

2.2. Social Disorganisation Theory

Social disorganisation theory was developed out of the University of Chicago during the 1920s. Shaw and McKay [43] work on urban communities revealed that high levels of residential instability, high levels of ethnic heterogeneity, poverty and family disruption, which are generally recognised components of disorganisation, diminishes the ability of communities to realise common values and maintain effective social control resulting in communities that are socially disorganised. Social disorganisation theory draws attention to the relationship between community organisation, formal and informal community social control [44]. This theory also refers to the inability of a community structure to comprehend the common values of its inhabitants and preserve effective social controls [45] and suggests that moral social orders created by social interactions can determine deviant behaviours and establish the needed bonds to control these behaviours [46]. As such, societal growths and urbanisation processes can disrupt the residents' social bonds, weakening social norms and their power to regulate and control deviant behaviours and disorders [47].

Flawed social structures in communities may lead to more disorders because the community is incapable of effective control and cannot prevent them [48,49]. Neighbourhood environmental characteristics are the pillars of social disorganisation theory, which states that residents of cohesive communities can control crime and disorder [50]. When neighbourhood community social cohesion is disrupted by negative neighbourhood structural characteristics, residents do not effectively self-regulate behaviours leading to social disorganisation [51,52]. This study focuses on this particular pillar of social disorganisation theory. Therefore, the following hypotheses have been driven from the results of previous studies.

Hypothesis 2 (H2). Social cohesion is positively associated with social sustainability.

2.3. Social Sustainability

The concept of sustainability gained prominence after publishing the Brundtland [53] report and social sustainability was considered as a component of sustainable development. Social sustainability can be defined as an ability to sustain the public community, since 'sustain' refers to maintaining a given state that is specified by both physical and non-physical characteristics. Therefore, physical characteristics such as accessibility, attractive public spaces, and social characteristics such as social capital, community and safety can affect social sustainability. Despite these fragmented approaches, a few studies attempted to investigate the relationship between social capital and possible determining factors of social sustainability, including the sense of community, residential mobility, attending the community affairs, etc. [54]. Developing sustainable communities requires urban planners and community organisers to make decisions which may affect environmental, economic and social systems. The most underdeveloped of these dimensions remains social sustainability [10].

One of the prime challenges regarding the term "social sustainability" is the difficulty to conceptualise it. No agreement exists on the criteria to be considered whilst assessing the concept of social sustainability so far [55]. The social sustainability components have not been fully recognised. This is due to the difficulty in quantitatively measuring social sustainability compared to economic or environmental sustainability [56,57]. However, the main attention is paid to the effect of the neighbourhood environment as potential venues for social interactions on social sustainability [34,58].

Whilst the focus of social sustainability studies has traditionally been on the macro scales (city and region), the focus has been shifted recently towards micro scales (neighbourhood and community) [18,59]. Furthermore, social sustainability 'hard' themes, such as employment and poverty alleviation, are increasingly being complemented or replaced by 'soft' concepts, such as social interactions and sense of place [35]. Dempsey, Bramley, Power and Brown [16] mentioned physical factors which are associated with sustainability including aesthetic public areas, satisfactory housing, adequate and proper local environmental facilities, accessibility and a walkable neighbourhood. According to McKenzie [60], social sustainability is a life-enhancing condition within communities which arrived through a process. Moreover, successful social capital is recently shown to be helpful in addressing the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic [61].

Overall, the basic criteria of social sustainability which will not change over time are the three aspects of social capital, cohesion and exclusion [62]. According to Lotfata and Ataöv [34], definitions of social sustainability in an urban context are presented under four categories of theoretical frameworks; (1) theories that mainly consider the existing positive conditions of urban life, stating that decisions regarding environmental or economic issues must not be higher than the community's ability for change; (2) the second framework generally focuses on the measurement of concepts, such as social interactions and sense of belonging; (3) definitions which are characterised by a focus on the future and the continued improvement of individual wellbeing to the future generations; and (4) the theories that offer a functionalist comprehension of social sustainability as a way of providing cohesion. The second framework, which relies on the assessment of social interaction (cohesion and inclusion), is the one most needed in urban neighbourhoods. For this study, a socially sustainable neighbourhood refers to a neighbourhood characterising communal involvement and social control over the neighbourhood. On the basis of the above discussion, the following hypothesis can be put forward:

Hypothesis 3 (H3). Accessibility is negatively associated with social sustainability.

2.4. Perceived Physical Environment

Social sustainability can be directly influenced by neighbourhood environmental factors. These influencing factors can be mainly categorised into two groups: social and physical factors [16]. The reasons why people tend to avoid neighbourhoods with high levels of disorder is wide in range. According to contributing literature, physical neighbourhood characteristics such as street connectivity and accessibility [63,64], neighbourhood walkability [65], street noise [66], residential satisfaction, exterior environment condition and safety from traffic were associated with social interactions and quality of life [63,67].

Wilson and Kelling [68] discussed in their Broken Windows theory, as well as Skogan [69] in the Disorder and Decline model, that disorder feeds back into the development or maintenance of social ties and the extent to which residents exercise social control on deviants. An increase in physical disorder may ruin the residents' cohesion and processes of social control over time [70] and may cause residents to leave the neighbourhood [71]. Physical signs of decay and social disorder, such as littering, vandalism or graffiti, may erode people's feelings of regular control and surveillance over the neighbourhood environment [72].

A relatively limited study exists which focuses explicitly on social sustainability, whilst a broader literature exists on the effects from disorder on overlapping concepts of social capital, social cohesion, social inclusion and social exclusion. For instance, Dempsey [64] found that suggesting that the quality of neighbourhood environment has a strong influence on social sustainability is inaccurate. Those features, which were consistently associated with social sustainability, tend to be dependent on the residents' perception. Dave's [23] research also revealed that higher household density and population density have no negative effects on social sustainability. Moreover, Yoo and Lee [54] found that a significant relationship exists among the neighbourhood physical environment, social capital and social sustainability. Larimian and Sadeghi [55] also provided the significance of improving neighbourhood environment characteristics and their positive and significant relationship with different dimensions of social sustainability and overall social sustainability. Therefore, these discussions lead to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 4 (H4). Disorder is negatively associated with social sustainability.

2.5. Perceived Social Environment

Social factors, such as social cohesion, social capital and safety can influence social sustainability [54]. Safety is the ontological influencing factor on social sustainability. Safety, and the perception of safety for humans and even non-humans, is the main principle which affects sustainability and social sustainability [73].

A properly designed and well-maintained neighbourhood environment provides a friendly and healthy atmosphere in the neighbourhood, which encourages physical activity and social interaction [24] and contributes to the residents' perceived safety and security and the social and visual appeal of the neighbourhood [72,74]. Therefore, the following hypothesis is drawn based on the above discussions.

Hypothesis 5 (H5). Accessibility is negatively associated with perception of safety.

Quality of neighbourhood perceived social environment exhibited a relationship with social capital [75] and social sustainability [76,77]. That is why researchers collaborate on a global scale to develop strategies help maintain social contact and thus reduce the psychological impacts of isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic [78]. Even if online, social relationships should be established online to share valuable information and obtain more knowledge from others [79]. Therefore, the following hypothesis has been driven based on the above discussion:

Hypothesis 6 (H6). Perception of safety is positively associated with social sustainability.

Furthermore, both actual crime rate and perceived feeling of safety may hinder the attainment of social sustainability in urban neighbourhoods. Social cohesion and inclusion are claimed in theory and policy to contribute to sustainable, fair and strong communities for the present and future [73]. This relates to a prevailing social order in neighbourhoods and the support of social interaction and networks between all residents. The sustainability of a community is about the ability of society itself, or its manifestation as a local community, to sustain and reproduce itself at an acceptable level of function. This is associated with social capital and social cohesion as concepts, which would encompass social networks, norms of reciprocity and features of social organisation [80], along with the integration of resulting social behaviour [81]. The sustainability of a community involves social interaction between community members; the relative stability of the community, the existence of and participation in local collective institutions, formal and informal and levels of trust across the community, including issues of safety from threats in the community [16]. On the basis of social disorganisation theory and the aforementioned discussions, the following research hypotheses are drawn:

Hypothesis 7 (H7). Accessibility is negatively associated with social cohesion.

Hypothesis 8 (H8). Disorder mediates the relationship between accessibility and social sustainability.

Hypothesis 9 (H9). *Perception of safety mediates the relationship between disorder and social sustainability.*

Hypothesis 10 (H10). Social cohesion mediates the relationship between disorder and social sustainability.

Hypothesis 11 (H11). *The relationship between disorder and social sustainability is serially mediated by perception of safety and social cohesion.*

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Study Area

The study area is a typical low-rise housing neighbourhood in Penang, Malaysia. In terms of ethnic composition, the area consists of a homogenous neighbourhood, which includes single-storey and double-storey houses. It is located in the central part of Penang Island. A probability sampling method was employed to select samples from the population. Overall, the area consists of approximately 1700 properties. A systematic sampling with a random start was employed to select the samples.

A team of interview staff were trained to administer the field survey and walk from house to house to conduct a person-administered survey with residents who were 18 years old or older. The main wage earner or the spouse in each household were identified as the survey respondent. Letters were sent to all selected samples a week before the first questionnaire interview was scheduled, informing the respondents of the purpose of the study. The survey was conducted before the COVID-19 pandemic which covered a sample of 247 residents (after data cleaning) with a response rate of 73%. The purpose of dispatching the letters was to ensure that the participants were aware of the study and that they would have made up their mind to participate to the survey. Prior to conduct the survey, the respondents were asked a screening question. The question involved asking respondents whether they have lived at the address for at least a year. Respondents who have lived there less than a year were excluded from the survey. Ethics approval was sought by the Ethics Committee of Universiti Sains Malaysia, involving human participants.

3.2. Survey Instrument

The current study is based on a quantitative approach, which employed a questionnaire survey and an observation checklist to collect data. The survey in this study was part of a larger study conducted in Penang, Malaysia, which covered a wide range of social and physical characteristics of the residents and neighbourhood environment. It comprises several sections to capture the respondents' demographic characteristics, their perceived social and physical disorder, perception of safety, social cohesion and social sustainability. An exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was performed to extract the first-order factor structures of the second-order disorder construct, comprising social and physical disorder as first-order constructs [19]. Before executing the main survey, a pilot survey was conducted to check the content validity and ensure that all items and respective constructs in the survey are valid for the target samples. A team of enumerators, which comprises two postgraduate students, was trained to conduct the survey and the observation checklist.

Accessibility was measured using two items: provision of sidewalks and traffic volumes [82]. These items were measured using an observation checklist for each street segment. To measure disorder, 13 items were developed based on previous studies [19,83,84]. These items include physical and social disorder. Participants responded to a series of statements related to different problems in the neighbourhood environment on a seven-point Likert scale (1 = highly not problematic, 7 = highly problematic) and the EFA was used to understand the underlying structure of the data. Physical disorder includes: (1) unkempt lawns and gardens; (2) houses and unattended fences; (3) upkeep of children's playgrounds; (4) littering and dumping of rubbish in public areas; (5) poor street lighting; (6) vandalism or graffiti on public properties; and (7) the condition of streets, sidewalks or road signs. Social disorder includes: (1) inconsiderate or disruptive neighbours; (2) noisy neighbours and loud parties; (3) problems regarding selling and dealing of drugs; (4) uncontrolled pets; (5) teenagers hanging around streets; and (6) motorbike racing.

Perception of safety refers to the degree to which individuals feel safe within their neighbourhood area [85,86]. Respondents were asked how safe they feel when (1) walking alone in the street during the day; (2) walking alone in the street after dark; (3) walking alone in neighbourhood during the day; (4) walking alone in neighbourhood after dark; (5) alone at home at night; and (6) in a park/playground in neighbourhood during the day. The response categories were based on a five-point Likert scale (1 = very unsafe, 5 = very safe). Social cohesion is the belief that other residents will act for the common good in the neighbourhood, adopted from previous studies [83,84,87]. This variable was measured based on the agreement of respondents with the social cohesion statements. The six items were (1) willingness to help neighbours; (2) closely knit neighbourhood; (3) trust in neighbours; (4) neighbours talk together; (5) neighbours get along with each other; and (6) neighbours share the same values.

Social sustainability was adopted based on previous studies [18,54,76]. Although Larimian and Sadeghi [55] employed the EFA-CFA approach to develop a measurement scale for social sustainability using a multi-dimensional model, no agreement exists on the criteria to assess this concept [21]. For the purpose of this study, we expanded on former studies by proposing a comprehensive measure of social sustainability in the neighbourhood environment which considers its multidimensional and complex nature. We focused on the dimensions of social sustainability related to the environment, using the neighbourhood as the scale of analysis. The model was developed by considering the effects of the social and physical aspects of the neighbourhood. The items were: (1) feeling sense of belonging to neighbourhood; (2) feeling a member of neighbourhood; (3) intention to keep living in neighbourhood; (4) participation in neighbourhood affairs; and (5) keeping an eye on what occurs in front of the house. The response categories were based on a seven-point Likert scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree).

3.3. Statistical Analyses

The proposed model and hypotheses were tested by performing a partial least squares (PLS) analysis using the SmartPLS3 software [88]. PLS was used because of its aptness to the exploratory nature of the study, in which some of the hypothesised relationships amongst the variables had not been previously tested. As the model comprises a higher-order construct, PLS is an appropriate software. A nonparametric bootstrapping method with 5000 replications was performed to examine the significance of the path coefficients amongst the latent variables.

4. Results

4.1. Respondent Profiles

The respondents have an average age of 45.2 years (SD = 14.37), and 50.2% of them are female. The majority of the respondents are Chinese (92%), followed by Malay (4%) and Indian (4%). Therefore, the profile shows a homogenous of survey respondents in terms of ethnicity. In terms of religion, the majority of respondents are Buddhist (80%), followed by Christian (13%), Muslim (4%) and Hindu (3%). Most of the respondents (77%) are married and living with spouses. Slightly over 50% of the respondents are educated at the university/college level, followed by secondary level (41%), primary level (6%) and informally educated (2%). The majority of respondents are homeowners (87%) and living in the neighbourhood more than 15 years (M = 18.73, SD = 12.02). According to the respondents' profile, residents in the study area are considered as stable families.

4.2. Assessment of Measurement Model

PLS-SEM was performed to assess the proposed model and test the research hypotheses. Several criteria were considered to determine the validity and reliability of the measurements, including outer loadings, convergent validity, composite reliability and discriminant validity (Tables 1 and 2). As shown in Table 1, the smallest outer loading value is 0.726 (PercSafety5), which exceeded the threshold of 0.6 [89]. The threshold value of 0.7 was considered for Cronbach's alphas, rho-A, and composite reliability (CR). As indicated in Table 1, all constructs have reliabilities of more than 0.70, which were acceptable. Convergent validity was measured by the average variance extracted (AVE), in which the threshold value is 0.5 [90].

Constructs	Items	Loadings	Alpha (α)	CR	rho_A	t Value	AVE
	SocSus1	0.918	0.951	0.963	0.952	76.648	0.838
Contal auro	SocSus2	0.950				143.652	
Social sus-	SocSus3	0.951				138.030	
tainability	SocSus4	0.900				59.772	
	SocSus5	0.856				36.980	
	SocCoh1	0.821	0.913	0.932	0.919	25.513	0.696
	SocCoh2	0.822				34.013	
Social	SocCoh3	0.822				23.973	
cohesion	SocCoh4	0.887				44.780	
	SocCoh5	0.875				47.224	
	SocCoh6	0.773				21.775	
Accessibility	Pathway	0.953	0.671	0.842	0.973	46.309	0.730
Accessionity	Traffic	0.743				11.257	
	PercSafety1	0.871	0.901	0.923	0.917	33.889	0.668
	PercSafety2	0.795				14.149	
Perception of	PercSafety3	0.871				29.339	
safety	PercSafety4	0.810				15.072	
	PercSafety5	0.726				19.269	
	PercSafety6	0.822				26.043	
	PhysicDis1	0.867	0.944	0.955	0.946	42.456	0.752
	PhysicDis2	0.901				70.358	
Dhysical	PhysicDis3	0.917				80.051	
disordor	PhysicDis4	0.791				22.913	
uisoiuei	PhysicDis5	0.864				39.566	
	PhysicDis6	0.822				28.663	
	PhysicDis7	0.899				60.708	
	SocDis1	0.838	0.930	0.945	0.931	36.768	0.741
	SocDis2	0.853				25.816	
Social	SocDis3	0.885				47.782	
disorder	SocDis4	0.832				33.993	
	SocDis5	0.898				64.733	
	SocDis6	0.857				42.625	

Table 1. Measurement model results for the latent constructs.

Table 2. Assessment of reliability and validity of constructs.

	Accessibility	Perception of Safety	Physical Disorder	Social Cohesion	Social Disorder	Social Sustainability
Accessibility	0.854					
Perception of safety	-0.052	0.817				
Physical disorder	0.305	-0.389	0.867			
Social cohesion	-0.142	0.311	-0.115	0.834		
Social disorder	0.380	-0.176	0.747	-0.097	0.861	
Social sustainability	-0.324	0.193	-0.224	0.750	-0.215	0.916

Note: The diagonals (in bold) represent the square root of the AVE.

Three criteria were considered to examine the discriminant validity of the study constructs. Firstly, following Fornell and Larcker [90], the square root of AVEs of each construct should be greater than the correlation estimate amongst the constructs (Table 2). Secondly, the heterotrait–monotrait (HTMT) ratio and confidence interval should be less than 0.85 and 1, respectively [91]. Table 2 shows that the square root of AVE exceeds the inter-correlation of the constructs in the proposed model, thus suggesting that the model has acceptable discriminant validity. Meanwhile, Table 3 shows that the HTMT ratios and corresponding confidence intervals for each pair are less than 0.85 and 1, respectively, thus indicating that the model possesses convergent and discriminant validity.

Table 3. Heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) results.

	Accessibility	Perception of Safety	Physical Disorder	Social Cohesion	Social Disorder
Perception of safety	0.182 CI.90 (0.131, 0.287)				
Physical disorder	0.329 CI.90 (0.232, 0.469)	0.413 CI.90 (0.286, 0.527)			
Social cohesion	0.163 CI.90 (0.093, 0.320)	0.324 CI.90 (0.199, 0.442)	0.153 CI.90 (0.128, 0.250)		
Social disorder	0.405 CI.90 (0.282, 0.554)	0.185 CI.90 (0.118, 0.311)	0.796 CI.90 (0.724, 0.861)	0.134 CI.90 (0.113, 0.249)	
Social sustainability	0.379 CI.90 (0.234, 0.523)	0.186 CI.90 (0.124, 0.311)	0.235 CI.90 (0.114, 0.365)	0.795 CI.90 (0.715, 0.861)	0.227 CI.90 (0.106, 0.380)

The potential for common method variance (CMV) was assessed by conducting Harman's one-factor test [92]. CMV will be observed when more than 50% of the variance was explained by the first factor. Therefore, all items for the latent constructs were introduced into the factor analysis, and the unrotated matrix indicates that the first factor explains 33% of the variance. Thus, CMV is not an issue in this study.

4.3. Assessment of the Hierarchical Disorder Construct

This study treats disorder as a second-order construct comprising two first-order reflective constructs (physical and social disorder) which represent 13 items. The degree of explained variance of this hierarchical construct is reflected in its components; namely, physical disorder ($R^2 = 89.8\%$) and social disorder ($R^2 = 84.7\%$). The entire path coefficient from disorder to its dimensions is significant at p < 0.01.

4.4. Assessment of the Structural Model

4.4.1. Direct Effects

Table 4 indicates the results of the path analysis, which is conducted to test the hypothesised direct effects amongst the latent variables. As depicted in Figure 1, the effects of accessibility on social cohesion ($\beta = -0.139$, p < 0.05) and social sustainability ($\beta = -0.184$, p < 0.01) were significant and negative, whilst accessibility has a positive effect on disorder ($\beta = 0.364$, p < 0.01). However, no significant association exists between accessibility and perception of safety ($\beta = 0.072$, p > 0.05). These findings implied that those who resided in street segments with a high level of accessibility reported lower levels of social cohesion and social sustainability and higher levels of perceived disorder.

As hypothesised, disorder has a negative effect on social sustainability ($\beta = -0.109$, p < 0.05), whilst social cohesion has a positive effect on social sustainability ($\beta = 0.736$, p < 0.01). Meanwhile, no significant relationship exists between perception of safety and social sustainability in the study area ($\beta = -0.080$, p > 0.05). Therefore, the results support H1, H2, H3, H4 and H7, but H5 and H6 are rejected. The R^2 value for social sustainability is 0.622.

Hs	Relationship	β	t Value	Decision	f^2	VIF
H1	$Accessibility \rightarrow Disorder$	0.364	6.751 ***	Supported	0.152 (Moderate)	1.000
H2	Social Cohesion \rightarrow Social sustainability	0.736	18.661 ***	Supported	1.268 (Substantial)	1.128
H3	Accessibility \rightarrow Social sustainability	-0.184	4.276 ***	Supported	0.076 (Small)	1.180
H4	Disorder \rightarrow Social sustainability	-0.109	2.277 **	Supported	0.025 (Small)	1.283
H5	Accessibility \rightarrow Perception of safety	0.072	0.820	Not supported	0.005	1.152
H6	Perception of safety \rightarrow Social sustainability	-0.080	1.817	Not supported	0.014	1.227
H7	Accessibility \rightarrow Social Cohesion	-0.139	2.107 **	Supported	0.020 (Small)	1.158

Table 4. Path coefficient and hypothesis testing (direct effects).

Beta = regression weight, t values are computed through bootstrapping procedure with 247 cases and 5000 samples; ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01.



Figure 1. Parameter estimates of the PLS analysis.

4.4.2. Indirect Effects

This study estimates four mediating relationships, as indicated in Table 5. The t values were calculated using the bootstrapping procedure suggested by Hayes [93] with 5000 samples by reading the specific indirect effects from the PLS output. Results show that t values of two indirect effects (H8 and H11) are significant at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels, respectively. Therefore, H8 and H11 are supported, while H9 and H10 are rejected.

To examine the strength of the mediation effects, the study calculated variance accounted for (VAF), where VAF > 80% implies full mediation, $20\% \le VAF \le 80\%$ indicates partial mediation and VAF < 20% does not indicate any mediation, as suggested by Hair et al. [89]. VAF was calculated to estimate the magnitude of the indirect effect by dividing the indirect effect by the total effect [94]. The VAF value indicates that approximately 29% of the total indirect effect of accessibility on social sustainability is explained by the partial mediating effect of disorder. Meanwhile, the relationship between disorder and social sustainability is serially and partially mediated by perception of safety and social cohesion.

Hs	Specific indirect Effect	Path Coefficients (O)	Standard Deviation (STDEV)	T Statistics (O/STDEV)	p Values	Decision	VAF (%)
H8	Accessibility \rightarrow Disorder \rightarrow SS	-0.040	2.112	2.112 **	0.035	Supported	28.57
H9	$\text{Disorder} \rightarrow \text{PoS} \rightarrow \text{SS}$	0.027	1.602	1.602	0.109	Not supported	-
H10	$\text{Disorder} \rightarrow \text{SC} \rightarrow \text{SS}$	0.025	0.061	0.411	0.681	Not supported	_
H11	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Disorder} \rightarrow \text{PoS} \rightarrow \text{SC} \\ \rightarrow \text{SS} \end{array}$	-0.079	0.021	3.705 ***	0.000	Supported	58.09

Table 5. hypothesis testing (mullect effect	pothesis testing (indirect effe	cts)
---	---------------------------------	------

Note. *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05, VAF (variance accounted for) = indirect effect/total effect. SC = Social cohesion; PoS = Perception of safety; SS = Social sustainability.

The R^2 values suggested that approximately 13% of the variance in disorder is explained by accessibility, whereas accessibility and disorder explained approximately 10.5% of the variance in satisfaction. Accessibility, disorder and perception of safety explained approximately 11% of the variance in social cohesion. The effect size (f^2) was also calculated to estimate the extent of the influence of an independent latent variable on the dependent variable. Effect size was calculated based on the change in the coefficient of determination (R^2). According to Chin [95], the values of 0.02, 0.15 and 0.35 indicated that the effect size is small, moderate and substantial, respectively. Results show that accessibility and disorder have small effects on social sustainability, whilst social cohesion on social sustainability. Moreover, accessibility has moderate and small effects on disorder and social cohesion, respectively.

The multicollinearity amongst the variables in the model is also tested, and the results did not highlight any cause for concern in using variance inflation factor (VIF), in which values are all below the suggested threshold of 5.00, as shown in Table 5 [96]. Hair et al. [89] suggested that the predictive relevance of the model should be examined through a blindfolding procedure. The Q^2 values for disorder ($Q^2 = 0.080$), perception of safety ($Q^2 = 0.062$), social cohesion ($Q^2 = 0.070$) and social sustainability ($Q^2 = 0.486$) are > 0, suggesting that the model has sufficient predictive relevance.

5. Discussion

As hypothesised, results indicated the negative and significant effect of accessibility on social cohesion and social sustainability. This argument is consistent with the findings of a recent study in compact neighbourhoods [21]. However, this result is inconsistent with the precedent studies [97,98], which revealed that accessibility and distance dynamics improve social interactions. The possible explanation could be that when the neighbourhood accessibility increases, the level of physical activity and the number of vehicles increase [54]; therefore, it may lead to the presence of strangers, who may disrupt the process of social cohesion and social sustainability. Another possible explanation is that a comparatively low neighbourhood accessibility may be beneficial to the social cohesion because a lack of strangers can pave the way for closely knit neighbourhoods, which are likely to exchange information, work together to achieve common goals and reinforce those relationships. This is consistent with a recent study [21,99]. Consequently, when social cohesion and social sustainability diminishes, more social and physical disorders appear.

The findings offer the following theoretical implications. The findings of this study indicate that neighbourhood environment characteristics in both social and physical aspects are pivotal indicators for the feeling of safety and a socially sustainable neighbourhood. A nicely designed and well-maintained neighbourhood should be among the utmost priority of urban planners and decision-makers. Similarly, this study provides new insight into the role of multiple mediators which may affect the relationship of the neighbourhood environment and social sustainability. Based on the findings, a powerful socially sustainable community with a high rate of social cohesion and perception of safety is attributed to residents who experience less disorder in their neighbourhood. Another theoretical implication refers to the multi-dimensional measure of disorder at the neighbourhood level operationalised as a second-order concept comprising social and physical disorder.

This study shed more light on the multi-scalar research area of urban neighbourhoods' social sustainability, which was unclear in the literature [17]. Previous research has indicated that the perceived quality of neighbourhood environment has a positive effect on social cohesion and social sustainability [54,81,100]. Our findings expanded on such research by revealing that the more people perceive their social and physical area of residency as being degenerated, the less they reported social cohesion and social sustainability.

In terms of the practical implications, this study suggests that urban local authorities should enhance the living conditions of residents by taking social and physical aspects, such as attempts to design and make beneficial use of public areas, plan occasional neighbourhood gatherings and regular maintenance of existing neighbourhoods. Furthermore, they can limit the accessibility of residential areas by available urban planning strategies to lessen the rush and chaos within the neighbourhood.

Using a quantitative approach, this study aimed to develop and validate a social sustainability framework based on an integrated model in the Malaysian context to improve the capability of urban neighbourhoods in facilitating social interactions and perceptions of safety, which is consistent with sustainable development goal #11. This further implies that both social and physical characteristics of the neighbourhood environment play a vital role in enhancing social sustainability at the neighbourhood scale. Social sustainability, in other ways, may contribute to improve the lives of residents. The social sustainability framework in this study includes several key elements of safe neighbourhoods in Malaysian context to enhance safety and social sustainability in neighbourhood environments. The current study also focuses on sustainable cities and societies to provide a better living environment, which is consistent with the Key Economic Growth Activities (KEGA) 12 under the Malaysia Shared Vision 2030 (SPV2030) initiative. The Malaysian government has established SPV2030 to mitigate the income inequality, strengthen social capital and improve wellbeing. Therefore, Malaysia needs to revise the development framework to preserve the environment and other resources in a sustainable manner; thus, the process of national development must be conducted by changing and adapting the social ecosystem to fulfil social sustainability and ensure social equality and social capita growth.

6. Conclusions

The present study aims to test a conceptual model which proposed the relationship between the social and environmental features of neighbourhoods and the social sustainability of residents based on the pivotal mediating role of the perception of safety and social cohesion, which mediated the effects of the neighbourhood environment on social sustainability. The conceptual framework was based on social disorganisation theory, and data was collected from a homogenous neighbourhood, including typical low-rise housing in Penang, Malaysia. By contrast, no significant relationship was found between accessibility and perception of safety. However, it is unsurprising, as few relevant studies also reported a weak effect of accessibility on the perception of safety [101]. These limitations are also acknowledged by a recent study [21]. By contrast, they found a positive relationship between accessibility and safety in compact neighbourhoods [21], which may refer to different types of neighbourhoods in terms of density.

Overall, results indicated that low-rise neighbourhoods have their promises in terms of social environment. The most explicit promise is that neighbourhood disorder is negatively associated with perception of safety, which is consistent with previous studies [102–104]. Results further suggested that disorder mediates the relationship between accessibility and social sustainability and the relationship between disorder and social sustainability is serially mediated by the perception of safety and social cohesion. This implies that those

who perceived high disorderliness in a neighbourhood environment reported a lower level of perception of safety, social cohesion and lower levels of social sustainability.

7. Limitations and Directions for Future Research

This study has a few limitations to be acknowledged. Firstly, while this study encompasses a wider range of dimensions than previous studies, it limited the concept of social sustainability and used it widely in its aspect of neighbourhood social sustainability. More dimensions could be considered, such as social satisfaction, social equity and population density in future studies. Secondly, the social and physical environment disorders were measured by subjective means, but the neighbourhood accessibility was measured with an observation checklist by the authors. Therefore, the findings could be different if the subjective measures were applied. An issue to consider in future studies is how best to measure subjective and objective disorderliness in the neighbourhood environment. Finally, the present study area represents a typical homogenous neighbourhood, which includes typical low-rise housing in Penang, Malaysia. The findings may not necessarily be applicable to other heterogeneous and/or high-rise neighbourhoods. Thus, further studies should be conducted to examine the other environmental dimensions which may influence the urban neighbourhoods' social suitability.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.H.M.; methodology, M.H.M., A.A., M.J.M.T., M.S.; validation, M.H.M., A.A., M.J.M.T., M.S.; formal analysis, M.H.M.; resources, M.S.; data curation, A.A., M.J.M.T.; writing—original draft preparation, M.H.M., A.A., M.J.M.T., M.S.; writing—review and editing, M.H.M., A.A.; visualization, M.H.M.; funding acquisition, M.H.M., A.A. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Universiti Sains Malaysia, grant number RUI 1001/PP-BGN/8016079.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Universiti Sains Malaysia, and approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee Universiti Sains Malaysia (protocol code USM/JEPeM/19050313).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank the Universiti Sains Malaysia for providing financial supports under RUI grant (RUI 1001/PPBGN/8016079).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Tiezzi, E. Tempi Storici, Tempi Biologici. Vent'anni Dopo; Donzelli Editore: Rome, Italy, 2001; Volume 43.
- Rotondo, F.; Abastante, F.; Cotella, G.; Lami, I. Questioning low-carbon transition governance: A comparative analysis of European case studies. *Sustainability* 2020, 12, 10460. [CrossRef]
- United Nations Sustainable Development Solutions Network (UN SDSN). Data for Development: A Needs Assessment for SDG Monitoring and Statistical Capacity Development; Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN): New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- Allen, C.; Metternicht, G.; Wiedmann, T. Initial progress in implementing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): A review of evidence from countries. Sustain. Sci. 2018, 13, 1453–1467. [CrossRef]
- Abastante, F.; Lami, I.; Gaballo, M. Pursuing the SDG11 targets: The role of the sustainability protocols. Sustainability 2021, 13, 3858. [CrossRef]
- Méndez-Picazo, M.-T.; Galindo-Martín, M.-A.; Castaño-Martínez, M.-S. Effects of sociocultural and economic factors on social entrepreneurship and sustainable development. J. Innov. Knowl. 2021, 6, 69–77. [CrossRef]
- Tsalis, T.A.; Malamateniou, K.E.; Koulouriotis, D.; Nikolaou, I.E. New challenges for corporate sustainability reporting: United Nations' 2030 agenda for sustainable development and the sustainable development goals. *Corp. Soc. Responsib. Environ. Manag.* 2020, 27, 1617–1629. [CrossRef]
- Rogge, N.; Theesfeld, I.; Strassner, C. Social sustainability through social interaction—A national survey on community gardens in Germany. Sustainability 2018, 10, 1085. [CrossRef]
- Ahman, H. Social sustainability—Society at the intersection of development and maintenance. *Local Environ.* 2013, 18, 1153–1166. [CrossRef]
- 10. Kohon, J. Social inclusion in the sustainable neighborhood? Idealism of urban social sustainability theory complicated by realities of community planning practice. *City Cult. Soc.* **2018**, *15*, 14–22. [CrossRef]

- Zhang, F.; Li, D.; Chan, A.P. Diverse contributions of multiple mediators to the impact of perceived neighborhood environment on the overall quality of life of community-dwelling seniors: A cross-sectional study in Nanjing, China. *Habitat Int.* 2020, 104, 102253. [CrossRef]
- 12. Dabbous, A.; Tarhini, A. Does sharing economy promote sustainable economic development and energy efficiency? Evidence from OECD countries. J. Innov. Knowl. 2021, 6, 58–68. [CrossRef]
- Bramley, G.; Power, S. Urban form and social sustainability: The role of density and housing type. *Environ. Plan. B Plan. Des.* 2009, 36, 30–48. [CrossRef]
- 14. Latham, K.; Clarke, P.J. Neighborhood disorder, perceived social cohesion, and social participation among older Americans: Findings from the national health & aging trends study. *J. Aging Health* **2016**, *30*, 3–26. [CrossRef]
- Vallance, S.; Perkins, H.C.; Dixon, J.E. What is social sustainability? A clarification of concepts. *Geoforum* 2011, 42, 342–348. [CrossRef]
- Dempsey, N.; Bramley, G.; Power, S.; Brown, C. The social dimension of sustainable development: Defining urban social sustainability. Sustain. Dev. 2011, 19, 289–300. [CrossRef]
- Shirazi, M.R.; Keivani, R. Critical reflections on the theory and practice of social sustainability in the built environment—A meta-analysis. *Local Environ.* 2017, 22, 1526–1545. [CrossRef]
- Shirazi, M.R.; Keivani, R. The triad of social sustainability: Defining and measuring social sustainability of urban neighbourhoods. Urban Res. Pr. 2018, 12, 448–471. [CrossRef]
- Marzbali, M.H.; Safizadeh, M.; Tilaki, M.; Abdullah, A. Does facilitating human–place bonds alleviate the negative effects of incivilities on health? *Sustainability* 2021, 13, 1894. [CrossRef]
- Lorenc, T.; Clayton, S.; Neary, D.; Whitehead, M.; Petticrew, M.P.; Thomson, H.; Cummins, S.; Sowden, A.; Renton, A. Crime, fear of crime, environment, and mental health and wellbeing: Mapping review of theories and causal pathways. *Health Place* 2012, *18*, 757–765. [CrossRef]
- Shirazi, M.; Keivani, R. Social sustainability of compact neighbourhoods evidence from London and Berlin. Sustainability 2021, 13, 2340. [CrossRef]
- Choi, Y.J.; Matz-Costa, C. Perceived neighborhood safety, social cohesion, and psychological health of older adults. *Gerontologist* 2017, 58, 196–206. [CrossRef]
- Dave, S. Neighbourhood density and social sustainability in cities of developing countries. Sustain. Dev. 2011, 19, 189–205. [CrossRef]
- Chan, E.H.W.; Lee, G.K.L. Critical factors for improving social sustainability of urban renewal projects. Soc. Indic. Res. 2007, 85, 243–256. [CrossRef]
- Bielik, M.; König, R.; Schneider, S.; Varoudis, T. Measuring the impact of street network configuration on the accessibility to people and walking attractors. *Netw. Spat. Econ.* 2018, *18*, 657–676. [CrossRef]
- 26. Shirazi, M.R.; Keivani, R.; Brownill, S.; Watson, G.B. Promoting social sustainability of urban neighbourhoods: The case of Bethnal Green, London. Int. J. Urban Reg. Res. 2020, 44, 1–25. [CrossRef]
- Abastante, F.; Lami, I.; Mecca, B. How COVID-19 influences the 2030 agenda: Do the practices of achieving the sustainable development goal 11 need rethinking and adjustment? *Valori Valutazioni* 2020, 26, 11–23. [CrossRef]
- 28. Lami, I.M.; Mecca, B. Assessing social sustainability for achieving sustainable architecture. Sustainability 2021, 13, 142. [CrossRef]
- Asprone, D.; Pascale, C.; Prota, A.; Rubino, E.; Manfredi, G. La sostenibilità in edilizia ed i metodi di valutazione: L'esperienza della ricostruzione post-sisma a L'Aquila. *Progett. Sismica* 2011, 2, 45–55.
- 30. United Nations. The Millennium Development Goals Report 2015; United Nations: New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- Akuraju, V.; Pradhan, P.; Haase, D.; Kropp, J.P.; Rybski, D. Relating SDG11 indicators and urban scaling—An exploratory study. Sustain. Cities Soc. 2020, 52, 101853. [CrossRef]
- 32. Franco, I.B.; Chatterji, T.; Derbyshire, E.; Tracey, J. Actioning the Global Goals for Local Impact; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2019.
- Vaidya, H.; Chatterji, T. SDG 11 sustainable cities and communities. In Actioning the Global Goals for Local Impact; Science for Sustainable Societies; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2020; pp. 173–185.
- Lotfata, A.; Ataöv, A. Urban streets and urban social sustainability: A case study on Bagdat street in Kadikoy, Istanbul. Eur. Plan. Stud. 2019, 28, 1735–1755. [CrossRef]
- Colantonio, A. Urban social sustainability themes and assessment methods. Proc. Inst. Civ. Eng. Urban Des. Plan. 2010, 163, 79–88. [CrossRef]
- Mehan, A.; Soflaei, F. Social sustainability in urban context: Concepts, definitions, and principles. In Architectural Research Addressing Societal Challenges; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2017; pp. 293–300.
- Kharazishvili, Y.; Kwilinski, A.; Grishnova, O.; Dzwigol, H. Social safety of society for developing countries to meet sustainable development standards: Indicators, level, strategic benchmarks (with calculations based on the case study of Ukraine). *Sustainability* 2020, 12, 8953. [CrossRef]
- Munda, G. Social multi-criteria evaluation: Methodological foundations and operational consequences. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 2004, 158, 662–677. [CrossRef]
- Sierra, L.A.; Yepes, V.; Pellicer, E. A review of multi-criteria assessment of the social sustainability of infrastructures. J. Clean. Prod. 2018, 187, 496–513. [CrossRef]

- 40. Costa, A.S.; Lami, I.M.; Greco, S.; Figueira, J.R.; Borbinha, J. Assigning a house for refugees: An application of a multiple criteria nominal classification method. *Oper. Res.* **2019**, 1–37. [CrossRef]
- 41. Lami, I.; Moroni, S. How can I help you? Questioning the role of evaluation techniques in democratic decision-making processes. *Sustainability* **2020**, *12*, 8568. [CrossRef]
- Kefayati, Z.; Moztarzadeh, H. Developing effective social sustainability indicators in architecture. Bull. Environ. Pharmacol. Life Sci. 2015, 4, 40–56.
- 43. Shaw, C.R.; McKay, H.D. Juvenile Delinquency and Urban Areas; University of Chicago Press: Chicago, IL, USA, 1942.
- Lynch, M.J.; Boggess, L.N. Ecocities, crime, and justice: Ecocity theory, social disorganization, and green criminology. Sociol. Spectr. 2015, 35, 309–328. [CrossRef]
- Schnell, C. Opportunity theories and the bachelor. In *Theories of Crime Through Popular Culture*; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2021; pp. 87–105.
- Sampson, R.J.; Groves, W.B. Community structure and crime: Testing social-disorganization theory. Am. J. Sociol. 1989, 94, 774–802. [CrossRef]
- Sampson, R.J.; Wilson, W.J.; Hagan, J.; Peterson, R.D. Toward a theory of race, crime, and urban inequality. In *Crime and Inequality*; Hagan, J., Peterson, R.D., Eds.; Stanford University Press: Palo Alto, CA, USA, 1995; pp. 37–54.
- Bellair, P.E.; Browning, C.R. Contemporary disorganization research: An assessment and further test of the systemic model of neighborhood crime. J. Res. Crime Deling. 2010, 47, 496–521. [CrossRef]
- 49. Cohen, L.E.; Felson, M. Social change and crime rate trends: A routine activity approach. Am. Social. Rev. 1979, 44, 588. [CrossRef]
- Daoud, N.; Sergienko, R.; O'Campo, P.; Shoham-Vardi, I. Disorganization theory, neighborhood social capital, and ethnic inequalities in intimate partner violence between Arab and Jewish women citizens of Israel. *J. Hered.* 2017, 94, 648–665. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bursik, R., Jr.; Grasmick, H. Neighborhoods and Crime: The Dimensions of Effective Community Control; Lexington Books: New York, NY, USA, 1993.
- Bursik, R.J., Jr.; Grasmick, H.G. Neighborhood-based networks and the control of crime and delinquency. In Crime and Public Policy: Putting Theory to Work; Barlow, H.D., Ed.; Routledge: Abingdon, UK, 1995; pp. 107–130.
- 53. Brundtland, G.H. World Commission on environment and development. Environ. Policy Law 1985, 14, 26–30. [CrossRef]
- 54. Yoo, C.; Lee, S. Neighborhood built environments affecting social capital and social sustainability in Seoul, Korea. *Sustainability* **2016**, *8*, 1346. [CrossRef]
- 55. Larimian, T.; Sadeghi, A. Measuring urban social sustainability: Scale development and validation. *Environ. Plan. B Urban Anal. City Sci.* 2021, 48, 621–637. [CrossRef]
- 56. Littig, B.; Griessler, E. Social sustainability: A catchword between political pragmatism and social theory. *Int. J. Sustain. Dev.* 2005, *8*, 65. [CrossRef]
- 57. Karji, A.; Woldesenbet, A.; Khanzadi, M.; Tafazzoli, M. Assessment of social sustainability indicators in mass housing construction: A case study of Mehr housing project. *Sustain. Cities Soc.* **2019**, *50*, 101697. [CrossRef]
- Mehta, V. Lively streets: Determining environmental characteristics to support social behavior. J. Plan. Educ. Res. 2007, 27, 165–187. [CrossRef]
- Hemani, S.; Das, A.K.; Chowdhury, A. Influence of urban forms on social sustainability: A case of Guwahati, Assam. Urban Des. Int. 2016, 22, 168–194. [CrossRef]
- 60. McKenzie, S. Social Sustainability: Towards Some Definitions; University of South Australia: Adelaide, SA, Australia, 2004.
- Al-Omoush, K.S.; Simón-Moya, V.; Sendra-García, J. The impact of social capital and collaborative knowledge creation on e-business proactiveness and organizational agility in responding to the COVID-19 crisis. J. Innov. Knowl. 2020, 5, 279–288. [CrossRef]
- 62. Du, M.; Zhang, X. Urban greening: A new paradox of economic or social sustainability? *Land Use Policy* 2020, *92*, 104487. [CrossRef]
- Engel, L.; Chudyk, A.M.; Ashe, M.C.; McKay, H.A.; Whitehurst, D.G.T.; Bryan, S. Older adults' quality of life—Exploring the role of the built environment and social cohesion in community-dwelling seniors on low income. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 2016, 164, 1–11. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Dempsey, N. Are good-quality environments socially cohesive? Measuring quality and cohesion in urban neighbourhoods. *Town Plan. Rev.* **2009**, *80*, 315–345. [CrossRef]
- Alidoust, S.; Bosman, C.; Holden, G. Talking while walking: An investigation of perceived neighbourhood walkability and its implications for the social life of older people. *Neth. J. Hous. Environ. Res.* 2018, 33, 133–150. [CrossRef]
- Parra, D.C.; Gomez, L.F.; Sarmiento, O.L.; Buchner, D.; Brownson, R.; Schimd, T.; Gómez, V.; Lobelo, F. Perceived and objective neighborhood environment attributes and health related quality of life among the elderly in Bogotá, Colombia. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 2010, 70, 1070–1076. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gebel, K.; Bauman, A.E.; Sugiyama, T.; Owen, N. Mismatch between perceived and objectively assessed neighborhood walkability attributes: Prospective relationships with walking and weight gain. *Health Place* 2011, 17, 519–524. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 68. Wilson, J.Q.; Kelling, G.L. "Broken windows": Atlantic monthly. In *The City Reader*; Routledge: Abington, UK, 1982; pp. 309–319.
- 69. Skogan, W.G. Disorder and Decline: Crime and the Spiral of Decay in American Neighborhoods; The Free Press: New York, NY, USA, 1990.

- Robinson, J.B.; Lawton, B.A.; Taylor, R.B.; Perkins, D.D. Multilevel longitudinal impacts of incivilities: Fear of crime, expected safety, and block satisfaction. J. Quant. Criminol. 2003, 19, 237–274. [CrossRef]
- 71. Liska, A.E.; Bellair, P.E. Violent-crime rates and racial composition: Covergence over time. *Am. J. Sociol.* **1995**, *101*, 578–610. [CrossRef]
- Armitage, R. Reducing Crime Through Secured by Design: A Systematic Review. In Proceedings of the National Training Event, Northampton, UK, 4–15 March 2017.
- 73. Eizenberg, E.; Jabareen, Y. Social sustainability: A new conceptual framework. Sustainability 2017, 9, 68. [CrossRef]
- Lewicka, M. What makes neighborhood different from home and city? Effects of place scale on place attachment. J. Environ. Psychol. 2010, 30, 35–51. [CrossRef]
- Mason, M.J. Attributing activity space as risky and safe: The social dimension to the meaning of place for urban adolescents. *Health Place* 2010, 16, 926–933. [CrossRef]
- 76. Larimian, T.; Freeman, C.; Palaiologou, F.; Sadeghi, N. Urban social sustainability at the neighbourhood scale: Measurement and the impact of physical and personal factors. *Local Environ.* **2020**, *25*, 747–764. [CrossRef]
- 77. French, S.; Wood, L.; Foster, S.; Giles-Corti, B.; Frank, L.; Learnihan, V. Sense of community and its association with the neighborhood built environment. *Environ. Behav.* 2014, 46, 677–697. [CrossRef]
- López-Cabarcos, M.Á.; Ribeiro-Soriano, D.; Piñeiro-Chousa, J. All that glitters is not gold. The rise of gaming in the COVID-19 pandemic. J. Innov. Knowl. 2020, 5, 289–296. [CrossRef]
- Xie, X.; Zang, Z.; Ponzoa, J.M. The information impact of network media, the psychological reaction to the COVID-19 pandemic, and online knowledge acquisition: Evidence from Chinese college students. J. Innov. Knowl. 2020, 5, 297–305. [CrossRef]
- 80. Coleman, J.S. Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2003. [CrossRef]
- Dempsey, N. Does quality of the built environment affect social cohesion? Proc. Inst. Civ. Eng. Urban Des. Plan. 2008, 161, 105–114. [CrossRef]
- Krizek, K.J. Operationalizing neighborhood accessibility for land use-travel behavior research and regional modeling. J. Plan. Educ. Res. 2003, 22, 270–287. [CrossRef]
- Foster, S.; Giles-Corti, B.; Knuiman, M. Neighbourhood design and fear of crime: A socio-ecological examination of the correlates of residents' fear in new suburban housing developments. *Health Place* 2010, *16*, 1156–1165. [CrossRef]
- 84. Marzbali, M.H.; Abdullah, A.; Ignatius, J.; Tilaki, M.J.M. Ethnic relations, crime and disorder in urban neighbourhoods: Moderating role of neighbourhood type in Penang, Malaysia. *Secur. J.* **2019**, *32*, 476–500. [CrossRef]
- 85. Abdullah, A.; Safizadeh, M.; Marzbali, M.H.; Tilaki, M.J.M. The mediating role of sense of belonging in the relationship between the built environment and victimisation: A case of Penang, Malaysia. *Open House Int.* **2021**, *46*, 173–188. [CrossRef]
- Hedayati-Marzbali, M.; Tilaki, M.J.M.; Abdullah, A. Assessing the effect of neighbourhood structure on residents' perceptions of safety in gated communities: A case study of Iran. Safer Communities 2017, 16, 3–19. [CrossRef]
- Sampson, R.J.; Raudenbush, S.W.; Earls, F. Neighborhoods and violent crime: A multilevel study of collective efficacy. *Science* 1997, 277, 918–924. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 88. Ringle, C.M.; Wende, S.; Becker, J.-M. SmartPLS 3; SmartPLS: Bönningstedt, Germany, 2015.
- Hair, J.F.; Hult, G.T.M.; Ringle, C.M.; Sarstedt, M. A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM); Sage: Thousand Oaks, CA, USA, 2017.
- Fornell, C.; Larcker, D.F. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J. Mark. Res. 1981, 18, 39–50. [CrossRef]
- Henseler, J.; Ringle, C.M.; Sarstedt, M. A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 2015, 43, 115–135. [CrossRef]
- Podsakoff, P.M.; MacKenzie, S.B.; Lee, J.Y.; Podsakoff, N.P. Common method biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. J. Appl. Psychol. 2003, 88, 879–903. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hayes, A.F. Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. Commun. Monogr. 2009, 76, 408–420. [CrossRef]
- Shrout, P.E.; Bolger, N. Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: New procedures and recommendations. *Psychol. Methods* 2002, 7, 422–445. [CrossRef]
- 95. Chin, W.W. The partial least squares approach for structural equation modeling. In *Modern Methods for Business Research;* Marcoulides, G.A., Ed.; Lawrence Erlbaum: Mahwah, NJ, USA, 1998; pp. 295–336.
- 96. Hair, J.F.; Ringle, C.M.; Sarstedt, M. Partial least squares structural equation modeling: Rigorous applications, better results and higher acceptance. *Long Range Plan.* 2013, 46, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- 97. Berg, P.V.D.; Sharmeen, F.; Weijs-Perrée, M. On the subjective quality of social Interactions: Influence of neighborhood walkability, social cohesion and mobility choices. *Transp. Res. Part A Policy Pr.* **2017**, *106*, 309–319. [CrossRef]
- Sharmeen, F.; Arentze, T.; Timmermans, H. Dynamics of face-to-face social interaction frequency: Role of accessibility, urbanization, changes in geographical distance and path dependence. J. Transp. Geogr. 2014, 34, 211–220. [CrossRef]
- Cairnduff, S. Sport and Recreation for Indigenous Youth in the Northern Territory: Scoping Research Priorities for Health and Social Outcomes; Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal and Tropical Health and Australian Sports Commission: Darwin, NT, Australia, 2001.
- 100. Park, S.-H.; Park, B.-H. Influence of neighborhood's characters on social capital. Soc. Welf. Policy 2012, 39, 85–123.

- Mancus, G.C.; Campbell, J. Integrative review of the intersection of green space and neighborhood violence. J. Nurs. Sch. 2018, 50, 117–125. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rossen, L.M.; Pollack, K.M.; Curriero, F.C.; Shields, T.M.; Smart, M.J.; Furr-Holden, C.D.M.; Cooley-Strickland, M. Neighborhood incivilities, perceived neighborhood safety, and walking to school among urban-dwelling children. J. Phys. Act. Health 2011, 8, 262–271. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Miles, R. Neighborhood disorder, perceived safety, and readiness to encourage use of local playgrounds. Am. J. Prev. Med. 2008, 34, 275–281. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 104. Ross, C.E.; Jang, S.J. Neighborhood disorder, fear, and mistrust: The buffering role of social ties with neighbors. *Am. J. Community Psychol.* **2000**, *28*, 401–420. [CrossRef]

MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel Switzerland www.mdpi.com

Land Editorial Office E-mail: land@mdpi.com www.mdpi.com/journal/land



Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.





Academic Open Access Publishing

www.mdpi.com

ISBN 978-3-0365-8509-3